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PREFACE

The present volume is an attempt to give a brief
and connected account of the life and thoughts of the
people of India in the middle ages when the serenity
of ancient India was broken by the advent of a new
colture. The materials are vast, and it has ot been
possible for me to esplore every source, specially on
account of my ignorance of Persian and Arabic. 1
have relied entirely upon the translations. A list of the
books in English which I bave utilised besides the large
uumber of papers which appeared in the journals and
magazines is given at the end.

My thanks are due to Prof. Susobhan Chandra Sarkar
B. A. (Oxon) of the Caleutta University, Dr. J. Van
Mancn of the Bengal Asiatic Socicty and Babu Surendra
Nath Kumar of the Imperial Library for valuable assistance.
My special thanks are due to DBabu Karunabindu
Biswas but for whase ready help the book would not
have seen the light.

U. N. Baw
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CHAPTER I
" ARAB INVASIONS

Rise of the Moslem Power.

When Harshavardhana was ruling in Northern Indin a
new movement was transforming the character of the
peoples of Arnbia and Western Asia. Mubammad inspired
the scattered multitnde round the deserts of Arabia with
a strong faith in the existence of one God. He was
acclaimed as the Prophet of Islam or true faith. On account
of his new doctrines he was persecnted, When life was in
danger, he fled from Mecca to Medina where he orga-
nised his followers as a band of vigorous soldiers.
Muhammad died in 632 A. D. in the tenth year after
his flight from Mecea. By that time he had brought
all Arabia under his rule, and started incursions into
the Roman dominions. He was succeeded by a number
of Caliphs who followed his policy of spreading  the
new faith by acquiring fresh territorics. Syria, Eaxypt,
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and North Africa were acquired and within a century of
the death of Muhammad the Moslem arms reached
France. On the east, Persia was invaded in 632, A D.
The Persian army was thoroughly shattered at the
battle of Cadesia in 636 A. D. and shortly afterwards
the king was driven beyond the Oxus. By 650 A. D.
the country beyond the Hindukush came under the
Moslem arms. In 664 A. D. the Arabs ipvaded Kabul,
made its prince a tributary and forced 12,000 persons
to accept Islam. The Prince -volted in 682 A. D.
and put the invaders into a & - plight. Dot the Arabs
soon retrieved their position. 1t is believed that when
they invaded Kabul a detachment under Mohalib tried
to explore India (664 A. D). They came as far as
Multan and carried some captives. But the experience
was not sufficiently encouraging to repeat the adventures,
The rugged mountains between Afghanistan and India
stood as formidable barriers till a strong Moslem Power
was established in the neighbourhood.

Conquest of Sind,

There  were trade relations between India and
the West along the seaconst. The Arabs as soon
as they acquired power thought of the spoils they
could obtain in India.  An expedition  was  sent
in 636-37 A, D. dwing the Caliphate of Owmar,
But this venture was not wvery successful and the
Caliph  prohibited further expeditions.  Sowe raids were
attempted through  Mckran, but all proved abortive,
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A number of Arab ships were secized at Debal, a sea-
port in Sind, in 711 A. D. The ships were carrying
rich presents from the ruler of Ceylon for the Caliph
Walid and- AVHajjaj, the Governor of Basra. Raja
Dahir, the king of Sind, was asked to restore the
the captured articles. But Dahir had no control over
the pirates. An expdition was then despatched by Hajjaj
which however proved disastrous. The failure made
Hajjaj indignant. He organised another strong expedition
under Muhammad, the son of Kasim, and entrusted to
him a well-trained army of 6000 troops.. Muhammad
was joined on his way by Muhammad Harun, the
Governor of Mekran, A large number of discontented
Jats and Meds also flocked to his banner. These people
were ill-treated by the Hindu rulers, and waated to
retaliate, with the help of the foreign invaders. Muham-
mad bin Kasim reached Debal in the spring of 712 A.D.
ITe had with him catapults and other engines for siege
operations. His attack was first directed towards a
temple over which was flying a red flag.  The stafl’ was
broken and the flag pulled down. The Hindus were
taken aback by the act of vandalism They put up a
strong defence, but could not stand against the dis-
ciplined troops of Mubammad. The Governor of the
place fled away, and the city was pillaged for' three
days. The temple was destroyed and 8 mosque built
in 1ts place. A Moslem city was planned. The Brah-
mans  were circumcised, and whoever resisted was put
to death, if he was a man above seventeen. Women and
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boys under scventeen were enslaved, A fifth of the
booty was reserved for Hajjaj and the vest equally
divided among the troops. A son of Dahir was present
at Debal at the time of the sieze. He fled to Brahmana-
bad on the fall of the city, but there he was followed
by Mubammad and was forced to surrender. The con-
queror then marched towards Nirun and Sehwan, After
reducing these places the Indus was crossed by means
of a bridge of boats. Dahir, the Raja of Sind, collected
50,000 troops with a large number of war elephants,
and massed them near Rawar. Muhammad had also
been reinforced by 2,000 horse from Persin  But he
was afraid of cngaging the vast army of Dahir. He
drew the Hindus to fight with him at a place chosen by
himself, When the battle was very intense a fire-ball
struck Dahir's elephant, and in utter dismay the animal
plunged into the river. The disappearance of the Raja
put the army into confusion, [a failed to restore order -
when he came back on a  horse, and was strack with a
sword by an Arab on his hend. His widow. Rani Bai
collected the secattered forces and put. up a strong
defence. When the provisions ran short and the garri-
son could not hold out any longer the Rani arranged
the performance of Jowhar, the practice of the. Rajputs
to save the honour of women by means of o huge fire,
into which all the women of the fort jumped as n
supreme act of snerifice. The Rajputs  then like brave
soldiers rushed ont of the gates, and fought valiantly ngainst
the besicgers to the last man, Muhammud then entered
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the fort, massacred about 6,000 men whom he found
there. The conquest of Sind was practically complete:
with the fall of Rawar. Brahmanabad submitted shortly
and Multan was occupied without difficulty. It is said
Muhammad bad formed the plan of invading Kanauj after
subjugating Sind.. Kanauj was separated from Sind by
the great desert and Muhammad possibly could not
have sent out an effective - expedition after making
provision for the -maintenance of peace and order in
Sind. Before he could mature his plan he was recalled
by the Caliph,

Settlerijent of 'Sipd.

The main object of these invasions was plunder
and the spread of Islam. Muhammad and his troops
received a large quantity of treasure for themselves
and  for “the.. Caliph and Hajjaj, He pulled the
temples down and erected mosques in their  places.
The Hindus were forced to accept Islam on pain
of death. " But when the conguest was accom-
plished the policy was modified. The Musalmans could
not posmbly convert the vast, population to the new
faith. In consultation with Ha]]a]' Muhammad gave
permission to the Hindus to ‘worship their gods ‘when
they agreed to pay taxes.” Those who became Musal-
mans were cxempted from the Jexda, but those who
still clung to their old faith had to pay the tax. The
temples, like the Churches of the Christians, the Synods of
the Jews, and the altars of the Magians were declared in-
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violate. This new policy reduced the hostility of the Hindus
. towards the . Arabs. The natives were given a large
share in the administration of the country. ~The Amirs
and Chiefs enjoyed great political privilleges. Taxes
were levied . on land according to the fertility of the
soill. The Jeric was regularly collected from the
non-Moslems. Justice was administered according to
the laws of the Quran, and private justice was generally
in the hands of the village panchayets. There was
-very little sympathy between the conquerors and the
conquered. The position of the Hindus became still
worse on account of differences among thewmselves.
So for sometime the Arab rule continned undisturbed
in Sind. Mubammad bin Kasim had retained the
Hindu Prime Minister of Dahir in his old post as the
fittest person to carry on the administration according
to the - old traditions. Elphinstone  remarks that the
treatment of the conquered country by the Arabs was a
mixture of ferocity and moderation. Those who sub-
mitted and paid tribute were kindly treated, but those
who refused were severely dealt with.

End of the life of Muhammad ‘bin Kasim.

Muhammad ruled Sind for three years, Ile was a
young man of twenty when he took the command of
the expeditionary force. e accomplished his taxk with
great skill and ability. Dut bis end was sudden, e
had sent the two beautiful daughters of Raja Dahir,
Parmal Devi and Suraj Devito Damascus as  presents
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to the Caliph Walid. The girls, were very clever and
were seeking means of avenging the death of their
father. When the eldest daughter was introduced to
the Caliph she wept and told that she was unworthy of
him as she had been, already dishonoured by Kasim.
This made the Caliph furious. He ordered that Muham-
mad bin Kasim should be brought to Damascus sewn
up in the raw hide of an ox, Kasim yielded bhis
ghost in three days. The dead body was opened in
the presence of the girls. They .were exceedingly happy
to see the enemy of their father so punished, but con-
fessed. to the Caliph afterwards that he was iunocent. It is
told that the Caliph ordered the lying princesses to be tied
to the tails of horses and dragged along the streets
till they were dead. The story seems to be incredible
on account of its gruesome details. It is likely that
Kasim was tortured to death by .the orders of the Caliph.
The Arab rule in Sind.

The death of Muhammad bin Kasim arrested
the progress of the Moslem power in India. He
was succeeded by Temim as the Governor of Sind,
The Culiph used to .send Governors till 831 A.
D. (257 A H). The province was latterly divided
into two states viz. Multan and Mansura, The
annual | revenue of Sind and Multan was . about
11,500,000 dirhams or three crores of rupees, The
"Caliph did not, however, send reinforcements of troops
to carry on the conquests, The Arabs became gradu-
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ally weak, and they were overthrown by the Rajputs
of Sumera. The Government of the country was then
restored to the Hindus. It is rather curious that the
Arabs who had extended their dominions from the
Atlantic to the Caspian should bave failed to retain
their authority in India, They also did. not suceced
in. spreading their religion in the conquered territory.
The principle of toleration that Muhammad. bin Kasim
enunciated was enough for the Hindus to retain their
old faith. The doctrine of the unity of God was not
new to them. Society was thoroughly organised in
hierarchical order. The Brahmans und Rajputs had
great influence over other classes. The first rule of the
Arabs created some confusion, But later on the Hindus
regained the even tenor of their life. Hinduism was
too elastic to be crushed under the burden of these
raids, The Arabs could not penctrate into the interior
of the country as the position of Sind was rather
isolated. It was cut off from the main land by deserts,
and the coast could not be casily traversed. Morcover
there were a'large number of strong states in the
country which the Arabs probably were afraid of en-
countering. The Punjab was ruled by the great Shahi
kings. The Tomars of Dclhi and the Chauhans of
Ajmir were no casy foe to deal with. Kanauj undoer
Yasovarman and his successors was a strong and flour-
jshing state. The Gurjara-I'ratihar kings of Rajputana
were the dread of the ncighbouring powers. The I'ala
kings were in the height of their power in Bengal On
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the downfall of the Chalukyas inthe Deccan the Rashtra-
kutas became very powerful. Moslems in Sind formed
an alliance with them. The Rashtrakutas were known
as the Balharas and they have been described as the
most powerful rulers in India. With the restoration
of the Hindu rule the people forgot everything regard-
ing the Arab conquest. There were left a few Musal-
man families here and there. But very little influence
can be traced in the literature, art and architecture of
the country. The Hindu temples and the old Hindu
buildings were destroyed and mosques and forts were
built with their materials. But theze new structures did
uot long survive the fall of the Arab power.

Effects of the conquest upon Moslem culture.

By their stay in India the Arabs came in contact with
a people possessing superior civilization and better in-
tellectual equipment. The Hindu philosophy of life
and thought as expressed in their literature and pratice
was of a vervy high order. The Indian society was more
polizhed than the rude life of the Arabs. Greater fami-
liarity increased the admiration of the conquerors for
the calture of the conquered. They employed the
Brahmans in ¢ civil administration of the country on
account of “their keen intellect, wide knowledge, and
great ability. They received lessons from them in the
different branches of knowledge, such as, philosophy,
astronomy, mathematies, medicine and chemistry. A
number of Indian scholars were invited to Baghdad
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and books carried from India and translated into Ara-
bic. Al-Biruni mentions that DBrahme Siddhanta of
Brahmagupta and his Khanda-Khadyeka taught the
-Arabs the first principles of scientific astronomy. Long
before the Saracens enriched their learning by the study
of Greek bocks they drank deeply of the fountain of
of Hindu culture. Hindu artisans and craftsmen were
also imported into Baghdad. India thus moulded the
Saracenic civilization in its inception in literature, art
and industry., Indian philosophy decpened the Moslem
thoughts, and received a new interpretation in the seats
of learning from Baghdad to Curdova. The physical
and exact sciences combined with the contributions of
the Greeks made the Saracenic culture so rich and
vigorous. Ancient India met ancient Greece on the
rich soil of the Tigris-Euphrates valley and gave to the
world in the middle ages a civilization which posterity
may well be proud of. Chemistry, Metallurgy, Astronomy
and Algebra made rapid progress under the fostering
<arc of the Moslem rulers, Although the Arab invasion
was no more than a passing show in the history of
India its importance in the evolution of world civiliza-
tion is not insignificant,



CHAPTER IT
'INVASIONS OF MAHMUD OF GHAZNI

Rise of the Turks.

After the downfall. of the Arabs India was not
disturbed by the Moslem raiders till the end of
the tenth century A. D. By that time the Caliphate
had undergone many changes. The Caliph Mer-
wan II of the house of Ommeia was killed in 750 A.D.
and was. succeeded by the Abbasides. The new rulers
were luxurious and pleasure-loving: Their culture be-
came softened by the translation of Greck literature.
The. Government of Spain -did not recognise the claims
of the descendants of . Abbas, the prophet’s uncle, to the
Caliphate, and since .then the empire has been divided.
The Caliph gradually came under the influence of the
Turkish guards. The old Arabs lost their position in
every department, civil and military. The distant™ pro-
vinces revolted one by one and established their own
governmenfs. The first to break away from the empire
was Khorasan, and then Transoxiana, Persia, and Seistan
became free. A dynasty known as ‘the' Samanis now
became prominent. They came from Bukhara or Balkh
and remained masters of Khorasan and Transoxiana
for-more than 120 years (892 to 999 A.D.). The Samani
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prince Abdulmelek had a Turki slave named Aleptagin.
In time thisslave rose to be the Governorof Khorasan. On
the death of Abdulmelek Mansur succeeded him to the
throne. But Aleptagin was not agrecable to the new
arrangement and consequently incurred the displeasure
of the sovereign. To save himself he fled to
Ghazni in the Suleiman mountains, accompanied . by
3,000 Mameluke. There he established an independent
kingdom after a reign of fourteen years in 976 A.D.

Subuktagin,

Aleptagin was succeeded by Subuktagin, a slave
bought from a merchant from Turkestan. He was
struck with the ability of the slave and miged hia
to high posts of trust. On the death of the Amir,
Subuktagin was acknowledged as his heir and then he
married his daughter. The Afghans gave him their al-
legiance and helped him in extending his dominions. Ie
conguered Lamghan, Seistan and Khorasan by 994 A.D.
He then built up a strong Moslem kingdom in the
neighbourhood of India, This tract was ruled by the
Hindus till then. The adjacent Hindu rulers now be-
came snxious for their own ssfety. They were very
often threatened by frequent raids. The kingdom of
Lahore then extended from Sirhind to Lamghun and
from Kashmir to Multan. 1t was ruled by Raja Juypal
who led a lurge army to Lamghan at the mouth of the
valley cxtending from Peshwar to Kabul, There he
was met by Subuktagin,  Jaypal was difident about
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his success against the hardy troops of the Amir. So
he sued for peace which ~the latter was not at first
willing to concede. Ultimately Subuktagin was persuaded
to accept the terms. Jaypal agreed to pay a tribute of
one million dirhams, and 50 clephants,and ceded some cities:
and fortresses. Shortly after his refurn from Lamghan
Jaypal broke the stipulations ~and put under arrest the
officers sent by the Amir to look into the execution of
the terms. The insult +was too much for Subuktagin.
He returned ‘with a vast army and matched towards the
Indus. Jaypal made an appeal to the Indian Princes
of Kanauj, Ajmir, Delhi and Kalinjar and assembled an
army of about 100,000, He marched towards Lamghan
to oppose the. troops from Ghazni, " Subuktagin was a
consummate general. He was not dismayed at the vast
number of troops lying on the plains. ‘He engaged the
Indians. by a series of attacks from the hills, and gave
them no rest. When the latter were exhausted and
failled to' maintain their position a’ general assault was
ordered. In utter confusion the Indians left the field
and were pursued up to the Indus with a heavy loss.
The. country up to the Indus was annexed and a gov-
crnor was appointed to rule the country from Peshwar.
An army of 10,000 <was left to maintain order. The
hill tribes such as Afghans and Khiljis casily transferred
their allegiance to the new rulers, and proved a souree
of great strength td the army of Ghazni. Subuktagin
also obtained large booty by plunder and forced 'Jaypal
to pay a heavy tribnte. The success thus won by
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Subuktagin. opened the door for further incursions.
The Moslem rule established at Peshwar deprived India-
of her main bulwark agaist invasions from the west.
On his return from India Subunktagin went to the rescue
of the Samani king against the Tartars. His faithful
services were rewarded by the confirmation of his
government of Ghazni, and his son Mahmud was granted
the governorship of Khorasan (993 A. D). His health
gave way on account of perpetual war and the stress
of constant campaigns. e died on his way back to
Ghazni in Aungust 997 A. D.

Sultan Mahmud.

Mubmud  was the cldest eon of his father.
He accompanied Subuktagin  on all his cam-
paigns, but at the time of his death he was at
Nishapur. His claims were disputed by his younger
brother Ismail who happened to be by the side of his
dying father. Iswail was defeated by Mahmud
and was made a prisoner. When sccure in  possession
of Ghazni he oceupied Khorasan, assumed the title of
Sultan and received his investiture from the Caliph.
Mahmud was ambitions and full of religious zeal He
was anxious to spread Islam in India where he expected
to gain large wealth and at the same tine to capture
new fields for his faith, He found Iadia rich and
prosperous and  the snccess of his first invasion in
1000 A. D. roused his cupidity to carry on a series of
raids and planders year after year till 1026 AL D,
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Expeditiion against Jaypal.

His father Subuktagm has  already farmlmmsed,
the Afghans Wlth the soldlery of Hmdustan They
found the Indians not  sufficiently orgamse(T ‘
to offer ‘r_eslst;mce The Hindus had begun tof
dread the depradation of the ruthless Moslems. Mah-
mud also found the frontiers unprotected, and in the
first year he captured some fortresses an retired with
immense booty. By this time Raja Jaypal of Lahore
made preparations to meet Mahmud near Peshawar.
He mustered 12,000 horse and 30,000 foot soldiers, with
300 elephants. Mahmud came with 10,000 picked horse
soldiers and engaged Jaypal in a terrible battle on the
28th November 1001 A. D, in which the Hindus suffer-
ed great loss. Jaypal was pursued beyond the Sutlej, '
and taken a prisoner, but released on promising to pay
a heavy ransom. The repeated failures to maintain his
position against foreign foes brought disgrace upon him.
8o he burnt himself to death leaving the throne to his
gon, Ananga Pal.

In 1004 A. D. Mahmud led an attack against the
Raja of Bhera on the banks of the Jhelum, The Raja was
driven out of his possessions and his kingdom was
annexed by the invader. Next year Mahmud invaded
Multan. Its ruler Abul Fatch Daud had been subdued
by Subuktagin. He was originally a Musalman but
later oo he discarded the orthodox practices and became
a Karmathian heretic. He formed an alliance with
Ananga Pal of Lahore, who proceeded towards Peshwar
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to oppose the forees from Ghazni. Ananga Pal was
defeated and he fled to Kashmir. Multan was then
_besieged. Abul Fateh surrendered at the end of seven
days. On promise of an annual tribute of twenty thou-
sand golden dirhams he was restored to his dominions.
Mahmud at this time received the news of the invasion
of his dominions in Khorasan by Ilak khan, king of
Kashgar who had already sent one army to Herat and
another to Balkh, He left the territories on the Indus
in charge of Sukh Pal, a grandson of Jaypal, who had
become a Musalman. By rapid marches he forced the
‘Tartar troops to withdraw to the other side of the Oxus.
Ilak Khan combined with Kadr Khan of Khotan met
Mahmud near Balkh.  Mahmud had learnt the method
of engaging elephants in the fightt He had brought
with him 500 elephants, which put terror into the hearts
of the Tartars and crushed the latter completely, Iluk
Khan fled across the Oxus, and never again troubled
Mahmud,  On account of the approach of the winter
Mabmud returned to Ghazni (1006 A. I.).

When Mahmnd  wag  fighting  agnainst  Ilak Khan
Sukh Pal recanted lis faith and declured himself in-
dependent. On return from his eampaigns Mahmud eame
hurriedly upon  the rebel  governor and put him under
arrest.

Last stand of Ananga Pal,

Ananga Pal, the Raju of  Lalore, leld  the
position of the vanguard of Hindustan. He realised
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the danger to which Indin was exposed by the
iovasions of Mahmud. The main gate of India
had already -passed iuto the hands of the ruler of
Ghazni. Ananga Pal had been trying all means to
organize defence against the foreigners. He lent his
support to Abul Fateh Daud of Multan, but was unfor-
tunately repulsed. In 1008 A. D. he appealed to the
Hindu rolers of Northern India to put their troops
under his command. The Rajas of Ujjain, Gwalior,
Kalinjar, Kanauj, Delhi apd Ajmir formed a strong com-
bination to support the Raja of Lahore. The Hindu
sentiment was so vigorously awakened that even the women
sold their jewels and ornaments to purchase the materi-
als for war. A large number of Gakkars and other
warlike tribes joined the Hindus. Thus a vast army
marched towards the frootier. It is said that it was the
largest army that had evep vet taken the field. Mahmud
got frightened at this array of the troops and remained
on the defensive near Peshawar. He took up a very
strong position from which he first despatched a strong
body of archers, abont six thousand strong to attack
the Hindus. The charge was met by the Gakkars who
hurled back the Moslems, killed about 4000, and threat-
ened the safety of Mahwud limself. They had rushed
into the intrenchments of Mahmud, and with their sword
and knives had killed a large number and thrown into
coufusion the Moslem cavaley. At this stage the ele-
phaot on which Ananga Pal rode got frightened at the

flight of arrows and fled from the' field. This was most
9
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unfortunate for the Hindus,  With the disappearance of
of the leader the army became demoralised. There was
none else to direct the operations of the motley groups,
most of them fled into different directions. Taking
advantage of this situation Mahmud ordered 10,000
" picked soldiers to pursue them, who killed double that
number. The result was disastrous for the Hindus.
With all the chances of success they lost on account
of the lack of proper organisation, Their failure was
also greatly duc to their reliance upon clephants.
Porus was Dbeaten by Alexander almost in similar
circumstances thirteen hundred years before. Aunanga
Pal was not the only competent Hindu general in those
days. If the combined troops of Hindustan had clected
some other person to lead them in the absence of
Ananga Pal then the events might have taken a different
turn. .

‘Sack of Nagarkot.

Mahmud heard of the great wealth lying in the
temple of Nagarkot in the Kangra Valley. The place
is considered very sacred, as there is a natural flume
issuing from the grounds within its -precincts. Ferishta
writes that the temple contained greater quantity of
gold, precious stones and pearls, than ever was collected
in the royal treasury of uny prince on enrth. Al this
treasure was giveu us offerings  to the grad by the
princes and rich pilgrims, and people in the  neighibour-
hood used to keep their  weulth in deposit there as a
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safe place. “After dispersing the Hindu troops assembled
under the leadership of Ananga Pal, Mahmud marched
towards the Kangra Valley. The temple was in charge
of an army of defenceless priests ‘who were easily
dislodged and the accummulated treasures ‘carried off to
Ghazni. It is said that among the booty there was a
house of silver thirty yards long and fifteen broad, and
a big canopy of fine linen forty yards long and twenty
broad supported on two golden and two silver poles.
On his retwrn to Ghazni the jewels,” pearls and rubies
with the vast quantity of silver and gold were displayed
before the public and the foreign envoys, and in houour
of the cvent a triumphant feast was held for three
days together: - The priests were dismayed at the ruth-
less plunder of their sacred -treasures, but could not
resist the hands of the Moslem *soldiers. The people
of India on account of their caste system relegated
the task of defence to the Kshatriyas who had all gone
to DPeshawar to fight under Ananga Pal. This shows
the weakness of the Hinda social system and on
account of this weakness the Hindus were defeated by
the people who did not make a fetish of their bu'th or
oceupation.

In 1010 A. D. Mahmud conquered Ghor, a moun-
tainous province east of Herat ruled by Muhammad
Sur - and the same year he came to India to punish
Abul Fateh Daud of Multan, who was taken as a
prisoner to Ghazni. He attacked Thaneswar, a sacred
place of the Hindus, on -the Jumna in 1011 A. D,
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plundered the temple and carried away immense booty
and a large number of captives. In the course of the
next three years Mahmud sent two expeditions to
Kashmir where Bhim Pal, grandson of Jaypal, had fled,
" About this time he extended his dominions upto the
Caspian, by conquering Samarkhand and Bokhara.

Expedition to Kanavj.

After the conquest of the territories beyond the
Hindukush Mahmud conceived the plan of penctrating
into the interior of India. Kanauj had the reputation
of an important kingdom since the days of Harsha
Vardhana, although it had since lost its ancient glovy, It
was then ruled by a Parihar king named Rajyapal.
Mahmud made gigantic preparations in 1018 A. D.,
recruited troops  from all parts of his dominions, and
gathered together an army of 106,000 horse and 20,000
foot. The soldiers became very enthusiastic over such
a distant campaign in  expectation of rich spoils.
Passing through Preshawar  he marched along the foot
of the hills, crossed the Jumna on the 2ad  December
1018 A. D, defeated Raja Har Dutta of Baran, com-
pelled the Raja with 10,000 men to become  Musalman,
and then came upon  Mahawan near Muttra.  Ilere the
Hindos under Kulchand put up a strong defenee, but
they were overpowered and lost about 50,000 men,
Kulchand killed his wife and children and then stubbed
himself to death,  Mahmud captured 185 elephants  and
obtained plenty of plunder.  From there he provecded
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to Muttra, another sacred ecity on the banks of the
Jumna. It was an ancient city cousisting of no less
than 1000 - temples of marble which must have cost
many millions of dinars to build. Mahmud was struck
with the magnificence of the edifices, he wrote that
another city like that could not. have been constructed
under a period of two hundred years. There he made
a halt of twenty days and his soldiers had a good time.
The city was plundered, the temples deseerated, and the
idols broken. It is believed that some stracture defied
the attack of the Moslems on account of their solidity
and survived the ruthless vandalism of the iconoclastic
marauders. The city which was once ‘the glory of
Hindustan and to which pilgrims. came from the distant
parts -of India with rich offerings was so terribly
ravaged that it eould not be recognised.

From Muttra Mahmud went to Kanauj in  January
1019 A. D. The Raja was unprepared and submitted
without any opposition. The city contained seventy
forts and a thousand temples which offered sufficient
scope for the plundering propensities of Mahmud’s
troops. After a stay of three days he returned through
Bundelkhand, plundering the cities which fell on the
way. He carried to Ghazni 5,300 prisoners® and a vast
quantity of booty.

Kalinjar Campaign.

The Rajputs felt greatly humiliated at the casy
surrender  of Rajyapal and treated him as a traitor.
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A combination was formed under the leadership of
Ganda, the Chandela Raja of Kalinjar, who sent his son
Vidyadhara to punish the cowardly Rajput prince.
Rajyapal was killed, and his throne was given to
Trilochanpal. The latter was in sympathy with the
Rajput combination and fought with them against
Mahmud. The Sultan returned to India in 1019 A D.
to punish the opponents of his ally. Jaypal 11, the
successor of Ananga Pal to the kingdom of Lahore,
foolishly disputed his passage to Hindustan, which not
only cost him his throne but led to the final amnexa-
tion of Lahore to Ghazni. A permanent garrison was
placed there for the first time on the east of the Indus
and thus the foundation of the future empire was laid.
When Mahmud reached Bundelkhand he found a vast
army assembled under Ganda. It was a difficult task
to fight against the well-cquipped Rajput  soldiers. But
Ganda considering  all resistance futile fled from the
field at night, leaving immense booty for the invaders.
Mahmud returned with 380 elephants and large quantity
of spoils.

He came back in 1021-22 A. D, and dirceted his
attack upon the stronghold of Kalinjar. Ganda now
offcred terms of peace and propitiated him by rich
presents of gold and jewels. On his retumm to Glazni
he was called to Transoxiana to crush a rebellion,

Somnath.

The appetite for the plunder of the rich tenplex
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had been whetted by his- continued success. With the
rich spoils of Nagarkot, Multan, Thaneswar and Muttra
he had adorned Ghazni, and his cupidity increased
when he heard of the great wealth of the temple of
Sompath. It was afamous place in the south of
Guzerat on- the coast of the Arabian sea. Mahmud
was not daunted by the difficulties of the expedition. He
started from Ghazni in September 1024 A. D. and
reached Multan in October. He had to cross a desert
350 miles broad. With the help of 20,000 camels the
supplies of war and the provisions for troops were
carried. When he reached Ajmir the Raja of the place
fled, leaving the people to protect themselves. Mahmud
plundered the city . and then marched southwards be-
tween the desert and the Aravali bills. He did not
meet with any opposition on his way to Anhilwara,
the capital of Guzerat. The Raja was taken by sur-
prise and could not resist the sttack. From Anhilwara
the march to Somnath was an easy affair. The temple
stood on a spur connected with the mainland by a
strip of land protected by high walls. The Hindus had
gathered all their strength to defend their sacred temple.
Rajputs had come there in large numbers. With great skill
Mahmud forced through the gates, The Hindus took their
stand round the temple. They faught stubbornly for three
days. On the first two days Mahmud was severely re-
pulsed On the third day when he found that the Raja
of Anhilwara had sent fresh troops in defence of the
temple he tecame ‘desperate, offered a fervent prayer
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to God, and gaining courage infused a new spirit in
his troops. The zealous Musalman troops led a
vigorous attack which it was impossible for the Hindus
to repel. Mahmud entered into the temple when about
5000 Rajputs gave up their lives. Only about 4000 men
escaped by means of boats, He found the temple a
a magnificent cdifice, its lofty roof supported by fifty-
six pillars, all bearing signs of great workmanship,
The pillars were artistically carved and set with valu-
able stones. A lamp hung down in the centre ina
golden chain shed light on the things inside the temple.
The lingam was a picce of stone five cubits high.
Pilgrims from all parts of India uwsed to come there
with rich offerings. It is eaid that the temple had nan
endowment of more than 10,000 villages, They used to
bring water from the Ganges to wash the doty.
One thousand DBrahmans were engaged to  worship
Somnath and 500 girls sang hymns and danced at the
door. The dome of the temple was covered with lead.
Mahmud in his iconoclastic zeal ordered the lingam to
be destroyed. The Hindux offered a  large amonnt  of
wealth if he would spare it. But he refused the offer
and preferred to be known as an jdol-breaker than as
an idol-scller. Ile was the first to strike it with hir
mace and was amazed to find within it a large quantity
of diamond and other jowels. It was a hollow picee
of stone. Two picees were sent to Mesen and Medina
and two to Ghazui, one of which was pliced ut the
publie mosgue and the other kept at the palnce, Maluud’s
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gain in this expedition was much beyond his calculation.
The amount of gold and jewels could not be measured.
The plunder of Somnath raised Mahmud very high in
the estimation of his co-religionists.

Mahmud stayed in Guzerat for a year. The Raja of
Anbilwara eluded his grasp and took refuge in Gandaba,
a fort on the sea~coast. Mahmud returned to Anhilwara
and placed on the throne a descendant of the ancient
roval family. Guzerat was, as now it is, a fertile country,
and its climate was mild. Mahmud contemplated trans-
ferring  his capital from Ghazni to Anhilwara, in order
that he might conquer the other parts of India. But
his ministers dissuaded him from this project. The
route by which he came was occupied by the Raja of
Ajmir and the fugitive Raja of Anhilwara. So he
returned along the coast of Sind.  But the journey in
the hot season through the deserts was full of troubles.
With great difficulty he reached Multan and shortly
afterwards he returned to Ghazni (1026 A. D)

By the end of the same year he .xeturned to  punish
the Jats who harassed him on kis way back from Som-
nath. The Jats took rcfuge in an island in the Indus
down Multan. Mahmud ordered aflect to be built and in
a naval engagement completely destroyed them. This
was the last expedition of Mahmud to India,

Last days of Mahmud.

Mabmud had his atteution directed to the affairs
in the other parte of his empire. In1027 A. D. he
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went to Baward to suppress the risings of the Seljuk
Turks. Next he invaded Persian Irak and annexed the
-country. Soon after his return to Ghazni he died at
the age of sixty on the 29th April, 1030 A, D. in sight
of the vast treasure he had carried from India.

An estimate of Mahmud.

From a small principality in ~the mountainous
tracts of Afghanistan Mahmud built up a  vast empire
which extended from the Caspian to the Arabian sea and
from Khurdistan to the Punjab. So far as India was con-
<cerned his conquests did not lead to any permanent
annexation except the kingdom of Jaypal. His ambition
was to gather wealth by force. The great distance of
these places from Ghazni might have dissnaded him
from any idea of consolidation. Even where he attempt-
ed permanent government as in Transoxiana and Persia
it did not long survive him. His cmpire soon
fell into pieces. Ile was a  warrior and a conqueror,
but he cannot be called an administrator or statesman, I1e
was guided more by avarice thuan by the zeal for the
spread of Islam. e did not apply force to convert
the conquered peoples although he was ruthless in des-
troying the Ilindu temples and idols. The wealth e
captured was utilised in promoting learning and  heauti-
fying Ghazni.  Ifis court wus attended by pocts and
literary men. A Turk in origin, his mother was
Persian, and W&~ Tucouraged the  spread of  Porsian

Ticrature.  Among  those who adorned bis court wore
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Al-Bironi, Utbi, Farabi. Baihaki, Unsuri and otherss
But the most important poet was Firdsusi who wrote
the fumous Shafhinamn in Persian.  Mahmud offered
rewards for any one who would write in verse an
account of the kings and heroes  Persia before the
Muhammadan conquest. Firdausi completed this work
after hard labour of thirty years. But he was dis-
appointed by the amount given o him by the Sultan.
He then left the court and wrote a satire. The Sultan
became sorry for his own avarice and sent G0 thous-
and gold dirhams to Firdausi, which the poet did not
live to receive. With this money his daughter cons-
tructed an  embanknient city of Tus where the
pot was born, to afford a good supply of water.
Mahmud founded a University in Ghazni with a big
library and museum. The University was richly en-
dowed for the maintenance of teachers and scholars.
Tt is said that he had in his capital “a greater assem-
blage of literary genius than any other monarch in Asia
has ever been able to produce”.

His expeditions to India had their influence upon the
development of the city of Ghazni He employed
Indian artisans in creating buildings. The magnificent
temples of Muttra, and the edifices of Kanauj inspired
him to embellish the capital with superb structures. He
built a grand mosque called the “Celestial Bride.” It
was richly furnished with carpets and candelcbras and
decorated with ornaments of silver and gold The
design and workmanship of this wonderful edifice came from
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ahe brain and hands of Indian architects, The nobility
of Ghami also followed in the footsteps of the monarch
and added a large number of mosques, porches, fountains,
reservoirs and other structures, Within a very short
time Ghazni became a very beautiful city. Mahmud's
court displayed the pomp and splendour of oriental
kings along with the solemnity of the court of the
Caliphs.

He was a stern ruler. He used to administer justice
impartially but be was not cruel. Although he under-
took many expeditions of war and bloodshed, he never
meted out any inhuman pubishments and the historians
do not accuse him of barbarous atrocities generally
associated with such despots.

His civil admivistration was mainly in the hands of
the Persians.  Abul Abbas and Ahmed Maimandi the
two cclebrated Persians, were Lis viziers. Abul Abbas
adopted the method of writing all publie papers in
Persian, and the latter maintained Arubic in permauncnt
documents. Since then Persian has been generally n-d
by the Moslem rulers in the east although the Persiuns
never conguered these countries,

Mahmiud recruited his army from all parts of Lis
empire. He had a body-muard of Mameluls (or Turki
laves a large namber of Tartar horse from Levond
the Oxus. 3000 Arb horse, besides Afghuns and Khiljis
He employed the Lill tribes in the ranks< e had
alsn noder him a considerable number of Hindu eavalry.
But the general communds were held by his Turk "nflicers
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The regular army six years before his death con-
sisted of 34,000 horse. This however had to Le supple-
mented by temporary levies in times of expedition.

Successors of Mahmud.

Hiz soun Muhammad succeeded him, but he did not
possess the commanding persounality of his brother
Masud. With the help of the soldiers Masud eccupied
the throne within four months of his father’s death.
He appointed Khuaja Abmad Maimandi as his minister.
He subjugated Mckran aud received the submission of
the whole of Persin except the province of Fars, The
Seljuks of Khornsan and Transoxiana rese in rebellion
and ravaged the dominions. Masud went personally to
Merv.  But there he was defeated and  somchow
managed to withdraw to Ghazni with great «difficulty. He
found himself desertedby his own soldiers and thusunable
to maintain order in his capital. In these circum-
stances he wanted to fall back upon India. Mahmud
appointed Ariyarak as the governor of Lalore. DBut on
the death of the Sultan the governor proved recalei-
trant. Ile was somchow brought to Ghazni and put
into prison. Niyaltgin was appointed in his  place.
There was another man named Qazi Shiraz in charge of
civil administration, The two officers were jealous of
each other. Niyaltagin sent an expedition to Benares,
and obtained great booty. The Qazi sent reports amainst
him to Ghazni. .\ Hindu official uamed Tilak who had
great influcnce with Masud on aceount of his charming
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personality and versatile genius was entrusted with the
task of punishing Niyaltagin. \

The rebel Governor was overtaken at Labore. In
an engagement Niyaltagin was defeated and fled from
the field. But he was captured by the Jats and his
head cut off. Masud then undertook an expedition
to capture the fort of Hansi to the east of Hisar,
in order to fulfil an old vow. He started in October
1037 A.D. It is said that he gave up wine and
ordered his men to abstain from drinking, so long as
the campaign lasted. In spite of stubborn opposition
of the garrison the fortress was captured and immense
spoils obtained. The Sultan went as far as Sonpat
near Delhi, and then returned to Ghazni. During  his
absence in India the Scljuks revolted against him. e
was defeated by them at Dandankan near Merv in
1040 A. D. He now prepared to come to India. Ile
did not listen to his Minister Maimandi who advised
him to stay in Ghazni. On the way the army mutinied
and restored his blinded brother to the throne. He
was killed by Ahmed, the son of Muhammad in the
fortress of Girl. Masud ruled for ten years, He was
generous to the learned men. Al-Biruni speaks very
Lighly of the qualities of Lis heart. e muiutained the
magnificence of his conrt and retained his sobricty after
bard drinking. The court life in his days became  very
low and depraved.

Maudud, the w#on of Masud, who wus at Bulkh, on
roceiving the news of the murder of his  father  came
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to India, defeated Mubammad and put to death all
who took part in the the previous transactions. The:
Seljuks at this time divided their conquests into four:
small kingdoms. Maudud did not interfere with them-
and so managed to maintain his position in Ghazni and
Transoxiana. While Maudud was busy with the aftairs:
in the west the Raja of Delhi overrnn the Punjab,
occupied Nagarkot and besicged Lahore. But the
Moslem garrison of Lahore repulsed the attack. Maudud
died in 1049 A. D.

On  his death his brother Abul Hasan came to the-
thrane, but was deposed by his uncle Abul Rashid in
two ycars. Rashid recovered the Punjab but was.
defeated by Tughral who reigned only for forty days..
A number of weak rulers followed in succession. Masud II
reigned from 1098 A. D. He  ruled for a number
of years from Lahore, His son Arslan succecded him
by putting his brothers into prison. But his step-mother,
who was a sister of the Seljuk Sultan Sanjar, placed
her son Behram on the throne with the help of her
brother. Arslan died in India in 1137 A. D.

Berham had the qualities of an able ruler. He was
a patron of learning, the most famous poet in lis court
being Nizami who wrote fine poems in Persia. e had
a long and prosperous reign from 1118 to 1152 "A. D..
During his reign the proviuces of the Punjab and Multan
were brought under complete control. A rising of the
Hindus in 1143 A. D. was crushed. The last days of
his reign were full of trouble on account. of the:
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affairs in Ghor which beeame a dependency of Ghazui
since the reign of Maudud. Bebram’s daughter was
married to its reigning  prince Kutab-ud Din  Sur.
This prince was treacherously killed by Behram and his
brother Saif-ud-Din Sur in revenge drove Belwam out of
Ghazni.  Shortly afterwards Behram retuned from his
retreat and killed Saif-ud-Din.  On receipt of this news
his brother Alanddin Husain came with a Jarge army from
Ghazni. He was in the beginning overpowered by the
superior forces of Ghazni but ultimately he won a victory,
Behram fled from the field almost alone. With some
reinforcements from India he managed to recover his
position. He died in 1152 A. D. His son Khusra Shah
succeeded him. On the return of Alauddin with a
large force he retreated into India. The city of Ghazni
with its superb buildings, and fine mausoleums was
devastated, the tombs of the Sultans, except those of
Mahmud, Masud and lbrahim were dug out, and every
trace of the magnificence was removed from the capital,
For this act of destruction Alauddin got the title of
Jehansoz, the incendiary of the world.  When Alanddin
returned to Ghor, Khusrn came back to Ghazni for a
short time. But on the death of the Seljuk king,
Sanjur, who was his ally and friend, he retived finally
1o Lahore. After a reign of seven years he died in
1160 A. D He was sueceeded by Khosru Malik who
reigned  for  twenty-seven  years till © 1ING A D,
Ghazni was oceupied by  Ghivasuddin+ Glori
appointed his brother  Muiz-ud-Din  better known nx
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Muhammad Ghori as its governor. Muiz-ud-Din
invaded Lahore in 1181 A. D. He attacked the capital
repeatedly. In 1186 A. D. Khusru woas faken as a
prisoner to Ghazni and then removed to the fortress of
Balarwan in Ghurjistan. He was killed in 1201 A. Dy
and his son Behram Shah met thh the same fate, The
dynasty of Subktagin came to an end with him  after
two centuries of rule.



CHAPTER IIL

THE PQLITICAL & SOCIAL CONDITION OF INDIA.
BEFORE THE MUHAMMADAN CONQUEST.

Political Condition of Aryavarta.

India was divided into a number of small states.
After the death of Harshavardhag there was no strong
ruler who could command the allegiance of all the chiefs
and princes. Lven Harsha had his suzerainty confined
to Northern India. The Pala kings of Bengal once
ruled from Kabul to the ecastern provinces. Their
dynasty lasted for four centurics and half till the last
king Indradumna Pal was overthrown by Bukhtiyar
Khiljii in 1197 A. D. But their dominions gradually
contracted to the districts of DBehar. The Rajput princes
carved out their principalitics in the Central and West-
ern Tndia, while the Sena Kings established their ascen-
dancy in Bengal. Sind was the first province in India
to pass into tae hands of the Musalmans, The country
wag split up into a number of small principalitios and
the weak Moslemm princes were easily removed from their
power by Mahmud of Ghazni. But on the withdrawal
of the invader they again regained their anthority. The
Raja of Lahore, Juypal, bore the brunt of the Mubum-
madan attack. Ile burnt himself to denth when he
could not roll the Muslim invasion back. Iis son
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Aunanda Pal fought singlehanded’ and had to make room
for the powerful  Ghazni family. ‘The Punjab opened
the gates to the successive waves of invasions from
the west. But still it took about two centuries  to
begin the conguest of Hindustan in all seriousness. To
the north of the Punjab lies Kashmir which on account
of its position as a hill-state defied the invaders for a
long time, Mahmud of Ghazni made an attempt to take
it but failed. Although the Hindu ‘rulers were not all
very able men they maintained their independence till
1339 A. D.. when a local Muslim dynasty wrested the
government, Finally Akbar annexed the country to the
Moghul empire in the sixteenth century, Guzerat and
Kathiwar were under the Solanki kings since 941 A. D,
The invasion of Mahmud in 1025 A. D. at the time of
the sack of Somnath did not produce any. great change.
One prince was replaced by another. Muhammad Ghori
also did not succeed in suppressing the old dynasty,
Ultimately in 1298 A. D. Ala-ud-Din Khilji succeeded
in annexing this prosperous province. Malwa wasruled by
the Parmars from the very early times. When: Mahmud
invaded India the famous Bhoja was on the throne.
His court at Dhar was the resort of the scholars and
learned men of the time, He also got himself recognised
by the neighbouring states. DBut after the death
of Bhoja the Solankis challenged the ascendancy of the
Parmars and by the twelfth century they were reduced
to insignificance. In 1310 A, D. the little principality
was conguered by Ala-ud-Din Khilji.
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Kanauj held an important position in the seventh
century as it was the capital of Harshavardhana, In
the beginning of the ninth century it was nnder the
influence of the Pala kings of DBengal. Later on it
became the capital of Gurjara-Pratihara kings, of whom
Mihira or Bhoja 1 was the most famous, In the tenth
century Kanauj ‘lost considerably to the Rastrakutas,
and the Chandels. At the time of the invasions of
Mahmuod Rajyapala offered mno resistance, When the
city was destroyed he removed bhis capital .to Bari on
the other side of the Ganges. DBy the end of the
cleventh century the Rathore had occupied the country,
Raja Jaichand was the last king of the dyuasty.

The country round about Delhi was ruled by the
Tomars since the middle of the eighth century. Mahmud
of Ghazni did not pay any attention to these people.
But his invasions made the Tomars careful of their
position, The city was fortified in 1056 A. D. The
neighbouring statc of Ajmir under the Chauhans gradu-
ally rose into importance. In 1158 A. D. Bisul Deva
of Ajmir overthrew the Tomars and conquered
Delhi. Prithwi Raja was - the powerful king of both
Ajmir and  Delhi when India was invaded by
Muhammad Ghori, and it wus he who organised the lnst
great defence aguinst the Muosalwans, The Chandels
of Jejakabukhti were in power south of the Jumna,
Kalinjar was their capital. They with the Kachchwas
of Gwalior punished Rajyapul for yielding to Mahmud
-and for this action they suffcred in the hunds of the
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Ghazni Siltan. Prithwi Raj dealt heavily . with them and
wltimately Kalinjar fell into the hands of the Muham-
madans in- 1193 A. D. The Kachchwas had long since
been driven out of power by the Parihars, The Chan-
dels of Kalinjar and Mahoba had constant struggle with,
the Kalachuris of Chedi, near Jubbalpur, who had terri-
tories on both sides of the Narmada, during the eleventh
century for supremacy in Hindustan. - Qotub-ud-Din
defeated the ‘I;ist Chandel king Paramardi Dev. The
Kalachuris also gradually decayed. Their possessions in
the south ‘were taken up by the 'Ganapatis of Warran-
gal and the Yadavas of Devagiri, and those on the
north passed into the hands of the Baghelas. Surround-
ed by the hills of Central India in the east of the
Aravalli range lies Mewar where the Gahlots or the
Sesodias ruled in proud isolation. Besides these Rajput
states there were a large number of small principalities
owing allegiance to some more powerful rulers or enjoy-
ing full freedom, We are told that 150 of them res-
ponded to the call of Prithwi' Raja to fight against
Muhammad Ghori, but there were many more who
stood aloof . ' v

" In the east were the kingdoms of Behar, Bengal
and Assam. By the middle of the eighth century Bengal
witnessed the rise of a powerful dynasty called the Palas
who in course of time extended their authority from
the Bay of Bengal to the Hindukush Range. In the
tenth century Bengal lost her position. The Palas were
gradually deprived of their territories, - A new dynasty
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called the Senas arose in the twelfth century, Ifron
the south the Palas were attacked by the Cholas o
of Kanchi, At times they had to scek the help of
the Rastrakutas,

The Dakshinatya.

. The condition of the countries south of the Vindhyas
was no . less . complex than those of the north. As in
the North there was not one strong kingdom maintaining
authority throughout the peninsula. The Vindhyas formed
a barrier between the north and the south although
there was po lack of communication. In the seventh
century when Harsha was consolidating the north the
Chalukyas under Pulakesin II brought almost the whole
of the south under his. rule. e forced Harsha to
acknowledge the Narmada as the southern boundary of
his kingdom, and made the Cholas, Pandyas and Keralas of
the south enter into an allianee with him. By the
middle of the century his position was challenged by
the Pallavas. The Chalukyas drageed their rule till
the middle of the cighth century when they were
superseded by the Ruashtrakutas, The latter wore the
carly inhubitants of the wsouth. They enjoyed their
political freedom before the duys of Asoka. But lJater
on they were ruled by the Andbras, and then the
Chalukyas. They combined under the lendership of
Dantidurga, an offspring of a Rashtrakuta chief and o
Chalukya princess and overthrew  the Chalukya king
Kirtivarman 1T in 748 A. D. The Rushtrakuta king
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Indra IIT defeated Mahipala, the king of Panchala, and
threatened Kanauj. They also annexed Surashtra and some
provinces of the empire of Kanauj, They maintained
friendly relations with the Musalman rulers of Sind,
and extended protection to the Arab merchants.

The Rashtrakutas .in their turn were defeated bv
‘Tailapa 1T of Vengi, belonging to the Chalukya family.
‘The later Chalukyas, as they are called the eastern
‘Chalukyas, carried their rule till 1190 A. D. They were
in constant conflict with the Parmars of Malwa in the
North, and the Cholas of the South. They defeated the
Cholas in the famous battle of Koppam in 1052 A. D.
The greatest king in the line was Vikramaditya or
Tribhuvanamalla who ruled for fifty years from 1076
A. D. The Chalukya power declined after 1138 A. D.
The Yadavas of Devagiri and the Hoysalas of Dwara-
samudra encroached wupon their territories. Someswar
was the last king of this dynasty. The country was
now  divided among the Yadavas of Devagiri in the
West, the Kakatiyas of Warrangal in the East, and
the Hoysalas of Dwara Samudra in the South. Bhillama,
a chief of the Yadavas, who acknowledged the supre-
macy of the Chalukyas, declared himself independent
on the decline of the powers of the latter. The
Hoysalas were led by Bir Ballal at the time of the
revolution. There was keen rivalry between the three
peoples, the Yadavas, the Kakatiyas and the Hoysalas for
supremacy in the Deccan. This weakened the position
of the Southern states and made it easy for Ala-ud Din
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Khilji and his general Malkk "Kafur to carry tb(‘ll‘”
conquests so far,

" Further south were the old lnngdoms of the Cholns,
Cheras and Pandyas. They were in existence before
the days of  Asoka. The Pandya kingdom was in the

" extreme south, extending over the modern districts of
Madura and Tinnevelly. The Chola kingdom included
the Madras district and some parts of Mysore. Chera
or Kerala was the Malabar coast including the districts
of Malabar, Travancore and Cochin. A new people
called the Pallavas occupied the Telegu districts bet-
ween the Krishna and the Kaveri by the second contury
A. D. By the middle of the sixth eentury they became
very powerful. Towards the close of the century they
had defeated the kings of all the Southern states,
including Ceylon, They extended their rule’ over North
and South Arcot, Chingleput, Trichinopoly and Tanjore.
They were deprived of Vengi by the Chalukya king
Pulakesin IT in 610 A, DD, They suffered at the hands
of the Chalukyas and lost their supremacy in 670 A, D.
- After the full of the Pallavas the Cholas raised their
heads, The Chola king Aditya (880—907-A. D) des-
troyed the Pallava supremney by overthrowing Aparajita
Pallava. The Cholas invaded the Pandya territory and
Ceylon, but they were crushed by the Rashtrakutas in
the tenth century, The king Ruju extonded the territo-
ries ‘of the Chola kingdom and mnde it a very powerful
state, He conquered Pandya, Chera and Ceylon, Rajendra
Choladeva (1007-1042 A. 1D.) eroseed the Bay of Bengal,
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captured Pegu, Tukkalan, Martaban, Nicobar and the
Andaman izhinds, defeated the Gangas of Mysore and
the Chalukyas of the Deccan, and went as far north
as Bengal After the death of Rajendra Choladeva they
could not maintain their supremacy., The Pandras, the
Cheras and the Gangas revolted. The Chalukyas
renewed their war, the Chola king Rajadhiraja was
killed in the battle of Koppam in 1032 A.D. Although
the Chalokras were terribly defeated at the battle of
Kudal Sangamam in 1062—63 A. D. Adhirajendra was
murdered in 1074 A. D. As he bhad no heir, the throne
rassed to a relative belonging to the Eastern Chalokya
family, aud the Chela and Chalukya kingdoms were com-
bined ueder Kulotunga (fiela. The Cholas were driverr
out of Mysore by the Hovzalas in 1117 A. D. The
constant quarrel between the Chelas aud the Pandyas
helped the conguest of Malik Kafur in 1310 A. D,

The system of Government.

The government of all these states was vested ir
the kereditary rulers. The kings of Northern Indiz
mostly belonged o the elass of Rajputs. The origin
of the Rajputs is stll a matter of controversy. The
orthodox view iz that ther descended from the
Sun and the Moon. Some believe that they had
their orizin in fire. Ferizshta says, “The rajas, not
satisfied with theirmarried wives, had frequently children-
by their female slaves, whe, although not legitimate
successors  to the throne, were stylad Rajputs, or the
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children of the Rujas, and the children of Raja Suraj.
were the first to whom the name of Rajput was given”.
The' story given by TFerishta is purely legendary, but
the suggestion of the origin of the new race may not
therefore be altogether mythical. The practices of
some of the modern Rujas to some extent support the
view. Ral Gola who succeeded to the throne of Ajmir
after the death of Rai Pithaura was an illegitimate
son of his, Col Tod in his Annals and Antiquities of
Rojastan  suggested  that the Seythian invaders were
gradually Hinduised and joined the ranks of the old
Rajas as  Kshatriyas. Elphinstone held that the Jats
might be of Scythian descent, but the Rajputs  were all
pure Hindus. Sir Alfred Lyall in his Asiatic Studies
has proved the admission of the aboriginal tribes and
the foreign immigrants into the Hindu community.
Evidently the Rajputs have not come from any one
source, Some of them might be from, Hindus, but
that some of them are of mixed . origin  caunot be
doubted. In course of time the Rajput princes evolved
a system of government and social customs by inter-
marriage and constant  intercourse  so that they might
be said to belonz .to one order. The Rajputs held
personal heroism in great esteem, and  developed
strong  clan-consciousness, The wmembers of o clan
were jealous  of their  dignity and honour, and would
prefer death to  disgrace, They were actuated by o
sense of chivalry and would fight bitterly for  winning
the hands of a damsel, The Rajputs  were not very
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particular of caste rules in the matter of marriage and
in the matter of food they were not so rigid as the
orthodox Hindus. B

The Raja was the sole authority in the state for all
matters, but he could not frame laws. He was
guided by the Sastras and the custpms and tradi-
tions of the people whom he governed. People had
10 voice in the administration of the country, They
had to submit to the orders of their chiefs and Rajas..
But the right of the people to revolt against an
undesirable Raja was inherent in them. In cases of
strong national rising there have been instances of
Rajas heing clected. by the people, eg. Bappa Raol of
Mewar and Gopala of Bengal were set up on the
throne by their own peoples. ,

The Rajas generally came from the people whom
they ruled. When any Raja had tried to impose his
domination over another people the bond between the
mlers and the ruled had been of a very loose type.
An Amb writer says: “When a king subducs a
neighbouring state, he places over it a man belonging
to the family of the fallen prince who carries on the
government in the name of the conqueror. The inhabi-
tants would not suffer it to be otherwise”. Although
the Raja was all powerful he distributed his functions
amongst his subordinate chiefs. He had to divide his
territories  among  his relations, who rendered military
service and general obedience, but had unlimited autho-
rity within their own cstates. A subordinate caief in
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his turn had to divide his lands among ‘his own
relations, and in this way the chain of wvassal
chiefs was lengthened out till it reached the furthest’
limit. There chiefs shared with the Raja the responsibility
of civil as well as military administration. This
system of gradual delegation of authority was not
deliberately adopted to avoid a combination of the
discontented loaders, but it was the natural result of
the tribal organisation then in vogue. The Raja was
the head of the tribe, and the chiefs were his brothers
and kinsmen, It was not necessary that the grant of
land must be confined to the members and relatives of
the royal family. Sometimes grants have been made to
strangers in recognition of services rendered. Some
Rajas bad also received the allegiance of the hill tribes
who maintained their internal independence, but were
always ready to help the Raja with their troops in times
of necessity. With the break-up of the Hindu states the
numbers of such half-subdued chieftains  increased.
Besides this there was another class of men holding
land for the purpose of collecting revenne and for satis-
factory administration of the affairs of the people living
on their estates.  Boesides these  privileged classes the
common people almost throughont India enjoyed self-
government in their villages.  Fach village community
was a little state untn itzelf, and was not much affected
by the change of rulers.  The nation in India has all
along lived in villages. The political change have not
modified the organisation of village life to any very
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great extent. The Rajas have not interfered in the
affairs of the people. They allowed -the villagers to
manage their own affairs, aud to enjoy their religious
freedom. On the fall of & dynasty the people ouly
considered  whether they  would .be  disturbed .in
their religious prictice, or in the - cnjoyment ' of
their property. If they were assured of sccurity
in these things they did wot trouble themselves
about the question of dynasty  or succession,
As soon ns the Musalman invaders came to understand
this attitude of the people, they employed Hindus in
their services both civil and military. The Rajputs
once 8o bold and patriotic easily transferred . their
sllegiance to the Musalman rulers,

Judicial and Revenue system.,

Justice was administered according to the Dharma
Sastras, Originally the Brohmans were the judges but later
on the administration of the penal code came under
the control of the kings, In the carly stage swearing
before Brahmans or trial by ordeal was very common.
Buta regular system of trial requiving written docu-
ments, witnesses and other modern ‘methods came
gradually into force, There were several tkinds of trinl
by ordeal, such as taking poison, tlu'owing into flowing
stream, swearing before gods, placing on the-scale of &
bulance, throwing boiling oil or-butter on the body and
putting hot iron in the band. In the case of . murder
n Brahman. was simply to do expiation by fasting,
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“prayers and alms-giving, if the murdered person was
other than a Brahman, but if the murdered person
was a Brahman the Brahman murderer had to answer
for it in foture life, his property was confiscated, and
he was banished from the country. A Kshatriya also
received the similar punishment as a'Brahman  eriminal.
But other castes had not only to do expiation but
received exemplary punishment, Punishment of theft
differed according to the value of the stolen object.
This might be as severe as blinding, mutilation or
death. : :
The revenue of the kings was derived from land.
The ruler had the first claim to a share of the produce
of the soil or pasture gronnd. He was also entitled to
to one-sixth of the income in recognition of the pro-
tection afforded to the subjects, their property and their
families. Trading business had to pay tribute. It was
obligatory with the people to give alms daily.  Usury
ar taking perceutage wax forhidden except to the
Sudras. Kalhana in bis  Rajtarangini says: “The wenlth
which the lords of the carth acyuired by oppressing the people
must fall a prey of rivals, or of cnemios or clre of fire”,
This explains to a great extent why the Rajas fuiled
to receive the support of their subjects against encemics.

The Military system,

The kingdoms of India were muintained by armies
reeruited on  diverse methods,  The soldiers were
drawn from the Kshatriyas and Rajputs, in  almost all
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parts of Northern India. Each ruler had an army of
mercenary soldiers in ordinary times, but in the time of
war he received the services of a large nnmber of the
martial people who joined the banner for the sake of
plunder. They did not receive any regular pay. But
gradually the XKshatriyas were granted-lands on con-
dition that they would render military service when
called for it The Rajas were greatly assisted by their
chieftains ih organising their forces. The troops ordi-
narily were recruited fron the people belonging to the
state. ~ But sometimes foreign soldiers were enter-
tained. In  Behar and Bengal people gave up warfare
under * the influence of Buddbism. Rajputs "ard
Kshatriyas from the banks of the Ganges 'and Jumna
were employed in the army in these provinces.

" The army ' consisted mainly of Infantry, - Cavalry
and Elephantry. In DBengal and Behar there
was also  navy. Sind and the lower part of
the Punjab also maintained naval forces, Dut some
countries specialised in one or other branch, Kanauj
distinguished itself for a strong cavalry, Bengal is said
to have no less than 50,000 eclephants whereas the
Rastrakutas had all the branches, foot, horse and ele-
phant equally strong. The Raja was the commander-
in-chief of the forces, He led the army in battle.
Success depended to a very great cxtent on his personal
valour, The death or disappearance of the Raja led
to disaster.

The Hindus were guided by their religious teachings
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in the wmethod of warfare. They had a sense of
bumanity and generosity even in fighting with their foes.
“At the time of Mahometan invasions from Ghazni”
says Elphinstone, “the IHindus were capable of
systematic  plans, pursued through several capuigns,
and no longer confined to inroads of a few weeks’
duration.” But they  were not thoroughly or-
ganised,. The Musalmans formed themsclves into
regular battalions, and = engaged the enemy by dividing
their own forces in a proper order. The Hindus
followed the method of a general charge. They attacked
the front and the flanks at once. Such charges wore
effective when the army was taken by surprise, but
were of no use against regular troops marshalled on a
systematic plan. The weapons of warfare were still
bows and arrows, spears and swords, The introduction
of firearms has subsequently changed the method of
warfare completely.

The Soc';al condition.

Religion has been mixed up with social life in India
throughout its long history, The Vedic age was followed
by the period of Buddha. Irom the fifth century before
the birth of Jesus to the twelfth century after his doath
there was constant struggle between  Hindaisia aned
Buddhixm, The teachings of Gautam Buddha drew  the
attention of the people to the need of a moral life,
Indian society underwent great changes under the
Buddhistic system.  Emphasis - was  laid  upon  the
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doctrine of Ahimsa or charity towards sentient beings,
A new philosophy of social service euriched the national
life in various ways. But corruption got into the Bud-
dhist order. The old standard of morality and discipline
gradually became-low and loose. Buddhists began to
worship idols and sank into immoral practices. Their
rationalism was superseded by the worship of the image
of Buddha in various forms. In the time of Harsha-
Vardhan we find that there existed 8 regular rivalry
between the Hindus and the Buddhists. The Buddhist
monasteries were centres of learning. But Benares
and Kashmir were resorted to by great Hindu scholars,
‘Some of these scholars tried to expose the philosophy
of Buddhism. Hindu princes in the Gupta period
revived the practice of animal sacrifice and caste system.
‘The greatest philosophical onslaught was delivered by
Kumarila Bhatta in the seventh century. He was a
great scholar, had studied many languages, Indian as
well as foreignn He was the teacher of the poct
Bhavabhuti who lived in the court of king Yasovarman
of Kanauj, ruling in about 700 A. D. He wrote the
famous book called Tanirevartika, By bis long and
keen controversy with the Buddhists he established the
faith in the Vedas and maintained that gods could be
worshipped by the sacrifice of animals.  He himself
belonged to o Brahman community accustomed to eat
meat. His teachings greatly influenced the mode of
living of the people. The Buddhistic mode of living
was superseded by the more vigorous methods of
4
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Kumarila, But still the doctrine of Buddhism had
great hold upon the minds of the people.

About a hundred years after Kumarila, came Sankara
from the South. He was born in a Namduri Brahman
family of Malabar at Kaladi in 783 A« D. From lis
childhood he had leanings towards Sunyas or asceticism
and on the Vindhyas he found a teacher called
Govinda Guru, who was a disciple of Gaundapada, a
commentator of Samkhya Karika. At Benares Sankara
perfected his studies. There he wrote books enunciating
his doctrines of Vedanta. He wrote commentaries on
the Prasthanatrayas, i. e, Ten Upanishads, the Bhagavat
Gita, and the Vedanta Sutra of Badarayana, He was
a keen dialectician and by his arguments he defeated
his opponents. He visited all the important places of
pilgrimage, and all centres of learning, such as Ujjain,
Kashmir, Assam. Ile opened the gate of the temple of
Sarada in Kashmir, and went as far as Badarika on
the Himalayas. 1lis influence was felt both in the
North as well as in the South. He organised an order
of teachers for preaching his doctrines throughont India,
Unlike Kumarila he condemned animal sacrifice, and
advoeated Sanyas, He restored the faith of the people
in the worship of Siva, Vislhnuy, Aditya and other
Puranic Gods. He absorbed the fundamental principles
of Buddhism in his new creed, and adopted the Buddhist
method of preaching his  gospel. 1le established  four
important  Muths or monasteries at Sringeri, Dwarka,
Puri and Dadarikn for carrying on his propaganda.
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These four places still continue the work of the Jagat
Guru. Srigeri is the most important of these places.
He died at a very old age at Badarika. These two
great teachers, Kumarila and Sankara undermined the
position of Buddhism. The restoration of the idolat-
rous practices became an easy affair since then. But
even in the eleventh century idol-worship was confined
to the illiterate masses. Al-Biruni who accumpanied
Mahmud of Ghazni writes : “but we declare at once that
they are held only by the common uncducated people.
For those who march on the path to liberation, or those
who study philosophy and theology, and who desire
abstract truth which they call Sara, are entirely free
from worshipping anything but God alone, and would
never dream of worshipping an image manufactured to
represent him.”

The famous temples in the cleventh century were
those of Aditya, the Sun-God at Multan, Chakrasvamin
at Thaneswar, of Somnath in Guzrat, of Sarada in
Kashmir. Most of the idols were broken by Mahmud
of Ghazni. This did not make the worship of the idols
less popular. On the other hand it accentuated the
feclings ef bitterness between the Hindus and Musal-
mans. The worship of idols increased the hold of the
Brahmans, and helped to grow local sentiments. Each
idol had its own place of worship, and its votaries
developed a keen sense of rivalry between the worship-
pers of the different gods. People thercby lost the
sense of unity which they possessed under the influence
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of Buddhism or Vedic Hinduism. The worshippers of
Siva looked upon the worshippers of -Vishnu or Sakti
or other deities as rivals or strangers.

If in some place the worship of a deity was reported
to have produced good fruits then that place became
famous and pilgrims of distant placés came to ofter
worship there. This was a method of increasing the impor-
tance of a place. Pilgrimages were considered meritorius
if not obligatory. In the holy places there were likes
or ponds which were greatly venerated by the pilgrims.
These sacred ponds were to be found mostly on moun-
tains. But in every place to which some particular
holiness was ascribed the Hindus constructed ponds
intended for the ablutions. The art of making ponds
was of a high order, says AlBiruni, the Muslims did
not know it, and therefore wondered at these beautiful
bathing places in which the pilgrims could descend and
ascend very comfortably, The sacred ponds at Multan,
Thaneswar, Puskar, Mathura and Kashmir were greatly
prized by the Hindu pilgrims, The temple of the Sun-
God at Multan was destroyed by Mahwud of Ghazni,
Till its destruction it was a great place of pilgrimage.
Benares was venerated by the Hindus above any
other place.

The Caste System.

The caste systemn was the distinguishing feature of
the Ilindu community, But even then it did not assume
the rigidity which it had gradually acquired in luter
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ages. We have seen that Non-Aryans and aborogines
entered the Hindu fold by accepting some discipline of
the Hindus. The four chief castes were Brahmans,
Kshatriyas, Vaisyas and Sudras. The differences of the
sub-castes were not very acute. Towards the end of
the twelfth century Ballal Sen introduced the system of
Kulinism among Brahmans, Vaidyas and Kayasthas in
Bengal which marked off the differences of the grades.
Inter-dining was not so- offensive as inter-marriage
between the different sub-groups. Inter-marriage between
a higher caste bridegroom with a lower caste bride was
allowed by law, but was not looked upon with favour.
The Brahmans occupied the highest position in the
comraunity. The universal duties of the Braliman were
works of piety, giving alms and recciving them. “He
must continually read, perform the sacrifices, take care
of the fire which he lights, offer before it, worship it,
and preserve it from being extinguished, that he may
be burned by it after his death”. Says Al-Biruni.
He alone could teach the Vedas, the Kshatriya had the
right to learn but not to tcach them. It was the daty
of the Kshatriya to rule and defend the people. The
Vaisya practised agriculture, tended cattle and removed
the nceds of the Brahmans. The Sudra was a servant
of the Brohman. He was forbidden to recite the Vedas,
to offer sacriices to the fire. If a Vaisya or Sudra
was proved to have recited the Veda then he was
punished by the rulerto cut off his tongue. Any man
taking to an occupation not allowed to his caste was
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considered to have committed a sin or a crime, Men
who were not Hindus were called Mlecchas or unclean.
But inspite of these differences the sense of equality
was not absent from the mind of the educated and
intelligent people. As it is said in the Dhagavat Gita:
“In the judgment of the intelligent man, the Brahman
and the Chandala are equal, the friend and foe, the
faithful and deceitful nay even the serpent and the weasel.
If to the eyes of the intelligence all things are equal, to
ignorance they appear as separated and different”. .

The laws of marriage had considerably changed since
the Vedic period. Marriage was confined to the same
caste. But a man could mary in his own caste or
in a caste below his, but nobody was allowed to marry
a woman of a caste superior to his own. As a general
rule inter-marriage was not practised. A man could
marry one to four wives, Sometimes a man in position
married any number of women. A widow could not
marry. She had the option of burning herself with her
dead husband. The wives of the kings were generally
burnt unless they were of advanced years orhad children,
lest they might commit something unworthy of their
dead husbands. Rajputs practised the method of burn-
ing very largely. A lthough the Swayamdara was still
prevalent among the Rajput princes, and the brides in
ripe age could choose their hushands, the Hindus as a
rule had adopted the practice of marrying at a very
young age. The parents arranged the marriage for their
gong, and preference was given in the Rastras to the
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martisge of a girl between the age of 8 and 10. There
was - no divorce among the Hindus, husband and
wife could only be separated by death. Marringe
‘between near relations was forbidden. In Southern
India marraige with maternal uncle’s daughter was
allowed but not in the North. Marriage was forbidden
* within five consecutive generations. '
The DBrahmans were very particular of their food.
Qriginally killing of animals was forbidden, this rule
‘was widely practised wnder Buddhist ynlers. But the
-desire for meat was very general, and they could kill
sheep, goats, gazelles, hares, rhinoceroses buffaloes, fishi,
water and land birds, such as sparrows, ring-doves, franco-
lins, doves, peacocks and other amimals not loathsome
to man nor noxious, and take their meat. It was forbidden
‘to eat the meat of cows, horses, mules, asses, camels,
elephants, tame poultry, crows, parrots, nightingales,
and all kinds of eggs. Drinking of wine was not
-allowed except to the Sudras. Beef-eating was allowed
in early times but it was forbidden later on, on account
-of sanitary and ecconomic reasons. Cow’s meat was
very hard to digest and cow was very useful in agri-
wenlture and domestic service.  Although meat-eating
was very common among the Brahmans in Northern
India, it was rigidly eschewed by the Brahmans in tho
South. )
The Brabman enjoyed many privilleges in socicty.
He was exempt from all tazes, and not lable to capital
punishment even if he had committed murder. A
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Brabman or Kshatriya was never executed for any
crime. The Kshatriya also had the privillege of enjoying
land free of rent as be was required to render military
service, All high offices in the state, civil or military,.
were held by the privileged classes. The Brahmans
were the chief ministers, and the Kshatriyas were gene-
rals. A Brabhman might be expelled from his caste if
he took his food in the house of a Sudra;

The conflict of cultures,

Although the ideals of Hinduism and Buddhism -
were not identical in course of time they produced one-
type of civilization. People could not distinguish be-
tween a Sramana and a Brabmana. The Buddhists were
influenced by Hindu theology, and the Hindus accepted
the Buddhist eanception of social life, Hindus were-
admitted into the Buddhist monasteries as pupils and
teachers,  Kumarila the champion of revivalism was a
student in a Buddhist college, The Hindus held in
veneration Buddhist Bhikshus and Arhats. The doctrine
of Ahimsa and charity found ready aceeptance. A
large number of stupas and wouasteries were built with
the money of the Hindus, DBuddha became an avatar
and an object of worship, and Budlhists began to
worthip 8 large number of deitics.  The propaganda
carried on by Kumarila no donbt undermined the hold
of the Buddhists, but the Duddhist philosophy was
not altogether absent from the Hindu thought. Before
the advent of the Mubammadans the cultures were
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almost of one type. The antagonism between the old
rival creeds had died out. Buddhism was still Jargely
followed in Kashmir, Behar and Bengal, but Hinduism
was making rapid progress.

At this stage the Mukammadan invasion produced
a fresh conflict. It will be useful to state the barriers
which separated Muslims from Hindus according io
Al-Birui.  The first barrier was of language. The
Hindus read Sanskrit, and spoke in their vernaculars,
whereas the Muslims read Persian and Arabie, and they
conld lardly understand the language of the Indians.
It was difficult for the Muhammadans to study Sanskrit,
and the Hindus were hot likely to give up the study of
their own language. Seeondly they differed from one
another in religion. The Hindus were very bitter
apainst foreigners, wonld call them mlecchas  on impure,
would have no connection with them, cither in marriage,
cating or drinking.. They would not receive anybody
from outside in  their community, and would exclude
any. beddy from the community if he dined or drank
with an ont<ider.  Islam, on the mbker band. was very
eomprehensive. It stood on the principle of the unity
of God, and would reecive an ontsider warmly if he
accepted the erced. In the third place they diflered
in their maoners bad custems, in their dress and  other
matters. And the circumstances which iucreased the
already  existinz  antagopism  between  Hindus  and
forcigners was the expulsion of the Buddhists, who
were nearer akin to the Hindus than to others, from
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Khorasan, Persia, Irak, Mosul, and the countries up
to Syria, and the invasions of India by the Muham-
‘madans.  The nature of the invasions and their results
upon Hindu enlture is thus described by Al-Biruni:
“Mahmud utterly ruined the prosperity of the country,
and performed the wonderful esploits, by which the
Hindus became like atoms of dust scattered in all
directions, and like a tale of old in the mouth of the
people.  Their seattered remains cherish, of course, the
most inveterate aversion towards all Muslims. This
is the reason, too, why Hindu sciences have retired
far away from those parts of the country conquered
by us, and have fled to places which our hand camunt
yet reach, to Kashmir, Benares and other places, And
then the antagonism  Dbetween them and all foreigners
receives more and more nourisliment both from politieal
and religions sources.”

The last thing which scparated the two cultures
was according to Al-Biruni, the self-conceit of the
Hindus, and their depreciation of anvthing forcign.
“We can only say, folly is an illness for which there
is no medicine,” says AlLBirnni, “and the Hindus believe
that there is no  country but theirs, no religion like
‘theirs, no science like  theirs, They  are haughty,
foolishly vain, self-conceited and stolil” The Munlim
scholar came to learn but he was repelled by the
superciliousness  of the Drmahmans.  Still he pursued
the study of the Hindu civilization and philosophy with
great assiduity, and has suecceded in  presenting a
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contemporary account in a spirit of philosophic detach-
ment. The progress of the Hindus in Mathematics,
Astronomy, Chemistry, Medicine and the Physical
sciences struck him greatly, and he fully appreciated
the rich philosophy of Vedanta, Upanishadas and the
Bhacavat Gita. A similar attempt on the part of the
Hindus to learn Moslem literatares, and to understand
their theology could have brought about a new culture
in India. But neither Hindu exclusiveness nor Muslim
fanaticism could help the growth of that happy combination.
The Muslims destroyed the Hindu temples and Hinda
books, whereas the Hindus hated the iconoclastic invaders,
and tried to keep themselves aloof from all Moslem
influcnce.  Inspite of all these causes to produce a
cleavage between these two civilizations we find  marks
of their intimate relations and mutual benefit in various
fields which it will pay a keen student of thoughts
and events to cavefully examine.



CHAPTER 1V
THE MUHAMMADAN CONQUEST
The House of Ghor.

Ghor is a small country in the mountains east of
Herat, Its iphabitants were Afghans belonging to the
tribe of Sur. They became converts to Islam in the
ninth century. Their ruler Mnhammad Sur was defeated
by Sultan Mahmud of Ghazni in 1010 A. D, but on
account of the latter’s engagements in India the Ghoris
maintained their independence. Sultan Mandud eaptured
the place and since then it became a dependency of
Ghazni. Kutb-ud-Din Suri was treacherously murdered,
but his brother Saif-ud-Din drove Sultan DBehram to-
wards the east. The Sultan however returned with
fresh forces from the other parts of his empire, made
Saif-ud-Din a prisoner aud later on had him slain.
His brother Ala-ud-Din Ghori took terrible vengeance
upon Ghazni, and destroyed the city. Since then the
rulers of Ghazni retired to India. Ala-ud-Din in turn
‘was defeated by Sultan Sanjar of the Seljuks, who held
both Ghazni and Ghor for a short time. He was soon
given back his kingdom, but he died in 1156 A. D.
His son Saif-ud-Din ruled only for a year, and was
succeeded by his cousin  Gliyas-ud-Din, who had as
his associate his brother Muhammad Shahab-nd-Din.
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The latter carried on the military operations and helped
his brother in the dutics of government. Ghiyas-ud-Din
subjugated the eastern part of Khorasan and ruled his
dominions alternately in Firozkoh, Ghazni and Herat.
Shahab-ud-Din came to India and laid the foundation
of the Moslem empire there,

Muhamma;l Shahab-ud-Din Ghori.

Mubhammad invaded Oeccha at the junction of the
Punjab rivers with the Indus in 1176 A. D. There he
defeated the Bhatti Rajputs. He then captured Multan
from the Karmathian heretics, and marched wpon
Guzerat. Bhim Deva, Raja of Anhilwara gave a crush-
ing blow and compelled him to retreat. On his way
back he made his position strong in Peshawar. In
1178 A. D. he conquered Sind up to the sea-shore,
He led two expeditions to Lahore then under Khusru
Malik. The first expedition was not very successful,
He entered into a treaty with Khusru, repaired and
garrisoned the fort of Sialkot and returned to Ghazui,
Kbusru called in the aid of the Khokhars, a tribe in
the fronticr, and besieged Sialkot. Muhammad by
stratagem put Khusru off his guard. As a mark of his
friendly relations he released the son of Khusru, who
was kept as a hostage in Ghazni, Khusru raised the
sicge and went to veceive his son, when Muhammad
led o strong expeditiow against Lahore, interposed him-
self between Khusrn and Lahore, and by a sudden
attack on his camp at night made him a prisoner, and



62 MEDIEVAL INDIA

gent him with his family to Ghiyasud-Din.  Thus the
last of the Ghazniwide rulers was removed from
India (1186 A. D.)

Invasion of Hindustan.

The dominions of Khusrn Malik extended up to the
Sutlej. This part of India, on account of its geographi-
cal position, had always heen subject to foreign invasions.
The Hindu chiefs in other parts developed their states
when the Moslems were in oceupation of the Punjab. In
the twelfth century there were four important kingdoms in
the North., The Tomars were ruling the country round
about Delhi since 756 A. D, but in 1153 A. D. they
were defeated by the Chauhans of Ajmir, who from
that date ruled both Delhi and Ajmir. DPrithwi Raja
was on the throne when Shahab-ud-Din  was contem-
plating to march towards the ecast. Kunauj claimed
superiority over other states. Its ruler Raja Jaichand
celebrated the Asvamedha ceremony in 1175 A. D.
But Prithwi Raja did not acknowledge the claim. e
carried away a daughter of Jaichand in disguise, and
gince then the Rathors and  Chaulians  were at
deadly feud. To the south-cast of Delhi were the
Chandels of Jejakabhukti,  They were defented by
Prithwi Rajn in 1182 A, D.  Another important
kingdom was Guzerat then under the Daghelas. To
the cast the Palas were ruling in Behar and the  Senas
in DBengal. Desides there were a number of Rajput
States in Central Tndia,
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The Rajputs were a race of brave soldiers. They
inherited the traditions of the ancient Kshatriyas. They
were very jealous of their honour ; they would rather
sacrifice their lives than submit to disgrace. They
were bound together in a chain of obligations on a
plan almost similar to the feudal system of Europe.
They were divided into & number of groups, each.
group under its own hereditary leader. Al the chiefs
owed their allegiance to the Raja who cxercised!
sovereign anthority. There was also a regular gradation
of the fief-holders, the superior lord recciving the ser-
vices of the subordinate vassals in times of war, Birth
determined the position of cach class and there was no:
re-adjustment of the ranks according to merit. Only
the descendants of the noble families could elaim
uobility and the common people had to be satisfied with
their low position. They had to serve and fight for
their masters. The Rajputs possessed their clan consci-
ousness in an uncommon degree. Theirpride was fanned
by the songs of the bards, and they used to challenge one-
another to cngage in frequent contests to establish.
their claims to glory, or to win the hands of girls.
They held women in great respeet and were always
guided by a high standard of virtues, The system lhad
its defeets as well as its merits, The Rajputs were
trained soldiers, and they were not afraid of going to the

 ficlds of battle, But the common people had no training
in the military art. With the destruction of the Rajputs.
the country lay prostrate at the feetof the conquerors.
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As the Rajput chicfs were jealous of one another, they
lacked the sense of unity and strong patriotism. For
personal reasons they very often invited enemies from
outside. The Rathors of Kananj did not join hands
with the Chauhans of Delhi and Ajmir when the
Musalmans attacked the latter, and felt great satisfac-
tion at the discomfiture of their rivals.

Battle of Tarain,

Muhammad Ghori first directed his attack npon
Delhi, captured Sirhind on the way, and marched to-
wards the plains of Panipat, Prithwi Raja had assemb-
led a vast army, including 200,000 horse and 3,000
‘lephants. Many other Rajput princes had sent troops
to his aid, with the exception of Raja Jaichand of
Kanauj. Prithwi Raj met Muhammad at Tarain, a
village fourteen miles north of Thauveswar (1191 A, D.).
He was at the centre of the army, while the wings
were pressed by the Rajputs. The Musalmans were
outflanked, and their chief was in great danger. In un
encounter with Rai Govind, the brother of the Ruja,
he was about to fall down from his horse when he
was carried by a faithful Khilji soldier to a place of
safety. The Musalmans were in a state of utter con-
fusion. They were pursued for forty miles, Mubammad
waited for his troops at Lahore and collecting the
remnants  proceeded to Ghor. The  humiliation went
decp into his heart. He was only secking an oppor-
tunity of retricving his lost reputation.  After the rout
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ot the Muslim troops at Tarain Prithwi Raja besieged
the fort of Tabarihind or Sirhind. The garrisorr under
the Kazi of Tulak defended the fort for thirteen
months, The Muslim officers who fled from the battle
field were publicly disgraced by Shahab-ud-Din.

“The second battle of Taraixi (1192 A. D).

Muhammad Shahab-ud-Din Ghori was not idle after
his retreat. He assembled a  vast army composed of
“Turks, Afghans and others. He marched at the head
of 120,000 :men, sll with a grim determination to take
vengeance upon the Hindus. Pirthwi Raja, on the other
haod, had collected & small number of troops. Many
of the Rajput heroes had died in the previous battle.
“The Rajput Princes were quarrclling among themselves.
Out of 103 warrior chiefs only 64 gathered under the
banner of Prithwi Raj. Raju Jaichand of Kananj was
so forgetful of his own position that he is said to
have been in league with the invader and supplied
him with elephants. Another vassal of Prithwi Raj,
the Haoli Rao Ilumir turned traitor and joined the
Ghori chief. A large number of Rajput princes re-
mained indifferent spectators of this contest which
decided the fate of Iudis. The troops of Jammu und
Kanauj went against Prithwi Raj. The best generals
on the side of the Hindus were Samarshi of Chitor,
brother-in-law of Prithwi Ruj, and his brother Rai
Govinds, Governor of Delhi, Prithwi Ruj tried to send
the Musalmans nwuy by offering terms of settlement,

)
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Muhammad replied “I have marched into India at the
command of my brother whose genecral only I am.
Both honour and duty bind me to exert myself to
the utmost in his service. I cannot retreat, therefore,
withont orders. But I shall be glad to obtain a truce
till he is informed of the sitnation of affairs and till I
have received his answer.” This reply put the Hindus
off their guard. That same night Muhammad made a
complete preparation at the field of Tarain, when two
armies stood facing cach other. The Sultan took the
Rajputs by surprise, who realising their position put
up a strong fight. The battle continued from morning
till sun-set. The Muhammadans employed tactics of
drawing the Hindus towards them when they would
pretend to retreat, and then attack them on all sides.
The Hindus were completely overthrown, Samarshi,
Rai Govind and many other chiefs died fighting.
Prithwi Raj fled from the field but he was
captured near Sirsuti and put to death. Among the
Rajput princes there was no one clse who eould
resist the " march of Moslem invasion,  Sirsuti,
Samana, Kuhram and IHansi fell into their hands in
quick succession, Muliammad then marched upon Ajmir,
reduced the capital of the Chauhans, and put to the
sword thousands of inhabitants who opposed him. Ile
destroyed the temples and built in  their places mosques
and colleges. Ile landed over Ajmir to Iai Gola, a
natural son of DPrithwi Raj, on condition of punctual
payment of a large tribute.  He then veturned. to
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Ghazni leaving his Tndian possessions in charge of his
general Qutub-ud-Din Aibek, who within a short time
occupied Meerut, Kol and Delhi. Henceforth Delhi
became the base of operations.

Conquest of Kanauj (1194 A. D).

Muhammad returned to India in 1194 A. D. He
now turned - his attention to the kingdom of Kanauj
under Raja Jaichand. The Moslem rule could not be
firmly established till the neighbouring Hindu States
had been thoroughly reduced. Muhammad was bent
upon building up a strong empire. Kanauj was a
strong state east of Herat. The kingdom extended
up to Benares. Although Jaichand celebrated the
Aswamedha sacrifice in 1175 A. D. he did not receive
the aid of the other Rajput Princes when he
was attacked by Mubammad Ghori. Most probably
they had no sympathy with him on account of his
failure to come to the relief of Prithwi Raj and partly
because they were doubtful about the success of another
combined action. Jaichand had a strong army and
relying on his strength he led the army himself. He
met the Moslems at a place on the bank of the Jumna
not very far from Etawah. The Rajputs fought bravely
but they were overpowered. Jaichand was wounded
by an arrow and killed. The Rathors left Kanauj,
and founded the new principality of Jodbpur. Mubammad
captured Kanauj, occnpied the fort of Asni where Jai-
chand had buried his treasures, and marched up to
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Benares. So the whole of Northern India  from
Peshawar to Benares now passed into the hands of the
Musalmans. The conquest did not produce any national
opposition. The Hindus took it as a matter of course.
The social system and political condition were mnot
very helpful for the growth of national consciousness
The Rajput chiefs had the monopoly of political pri-
vileges. They led the army and guided the civil
administration. The common people had never been
associated with the government of the country, The
rulers led a life of loose morals and were geuerally ragard-
less of the interst of the people. The princes used
to fight one another to win the hands of their brides,
usually they possessed a large harem.  Marriage and
possession very often created jealousy.  Sometimes
one strong ruler tried to impose hLis superiority over
others. The number of states was too large to be
brought under one confederacy. This was the inain
cause of the weakness of India in offering effective resist-
ance to foreign invasions. Besides the method of war~
fare followed by the Indian Princes was primitive.
They still relied upon elephants, whereas the  Moslems
had their chicf strength in the cavalry, The Moslem
arrangement of troops by dividing the army in groups
such 88 centre, wings, rear and reserve was more
cffective  than the mass movement of the Hindus,
The unity so essential in  national life was absent.
The fall of Kuanauj removed the last bulwark of
Hindustan,
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The achievements of Quiub-ud-Din,

To Muhammad Ghori India was not the only field
of his activities.  After the conquest of the principal
Rajput States he had to pay more attention to the
dominions beyond the Hindukush. The government
of the possessions in India was left in the hands
of Qutub-ud-Din  Aibek who  was very active in
in consolidating and extending the ' empire. Originally
he was a Turki slave brought to Nishapur as a child.
He was bought by a rich man, who had him educated
in Persian and Arabic. On the death of his master
he was sold to a merchant who made a gift of him to
Shahab-ud-Din. His knowledge and ability soon drew
the attention of the Ghori chief, who put him in com-
mand of the body of bhorse. Gradually he obtained
higher position and after the defeat of Prithwi Raj he
was entrusted with the government of the newly acquired
territorries in India. He was a brave soldier and an
able ruler. By his frankness and generosity he won
the esteem of the other officers, The Sultan also had great
confidencein his wisdom and statesmanship. . Shortly after
the conquest of Kanauj Qutnb-ud-Din was called to the
2id of Rai Gola of Ajmir who had been expelled from
the throne by Hari Raj. Qutub defeated Hari Raj in
an engagement near Ajmir and the usurper was killed
in action, The country was restored to Rai Gola, but
he had to submit to the supervision of a Muslim
Governor, From Ajmir Qutub proceeded to Guzerat.
There he defeated Raja Bhim Deva, ravaged the province
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and returned to Delhi with vast wealth (1196
A. D)

Muhammad Ghor! had in the meantime conquered
Biyana and laid siege to the fort of Gwalior, when
he was called back to Ghazni on account of the affairs
in Khorasan. Qutub took Gwalior after a protracted
siege. Again he had to proceed to Ajmir where
another rebellion had taken place. The Raja of Guzerat
and Nagor, with the asistance of the Mers a hill tribe
" near Ajmir had attacked Rai Gola. In the beginning
Qutub-ud-Nin was hard pressed and shut up within
the walls of Ajmir. On the arrival of reinforcements
from Ghazni he succeeded in pushing the besiegers
back, and took -cffective measures to stop their fur-
ther action. He pursued them to their very doors.
He went to Guzerat along Pali, Nadol and Siroh,
dispersed the feudatories of Bhim Deva on Mount
Abu, thoroughly crushed him in  Guzerat, occupied
his capital and returned to Delhi. Next he conquered
the two famous forts of Kalinjar and Kalpi in  Bundel-
khand.  The Chandel prince, Parmardi of Kalinjar
could not stand against the organised Moslem soldiers,
the fortress was occupied after a well contested fight
and the buildings and temples were  destroyed,  Qutnb
captured Budayun after the full of Kalpi, (1202
A. D).

Conquest of Behar and Bengal,

There was an adventurer in the camp of Qutub-ud-

Din named Mubammad bin Bukhtiyar Khilji. e was
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a man of enterprise, bold and sagacious. He first
entered the service of Ghazoi, and later passed on to
Muhammad Ghori. He was a man of ugly looks, and
on account of his unprepossessing appearance his
superior officers allowed him only a small stipend
which he refused and came to Hindustan, He collected
a number of troops, with whose help he conquered part
of Oudh and North Behar. In 1197 A. D. he advanced
towards Bebar. Indradumna Pal was then the ruler of
the country, The people were peace-loving and literary
in habits, The greater number of the people were
Buddhists or followers of the doctrine of inoffensive-
ness. The ecapital Qdandapur was really a great
monastery where learned men from different parts
used to come. The Musalman invaders considered
these Buddhists as idol-worshipping Brahmans and there-
fore fit objects of their wrath. By a bold attack on
the defenceless city Bukhtiyar captured the capital,
killed the Buddhists and destroyed the big library.
They first tried to know what those books contained.
But the scholars who could give them any information
had been killed. Afterwards they came to know that the
place which they considered a fort was really a college
known 2s Bihar. The Buddhists had given up warfare
and rclied upon enlightenment or culture.  The
monasterics at Nalanda and Bikrama-Sila were great
centres of learning, The Buddhists in later ages
became ritualistic and to an outsider there was no
difference  between a Buoddhist and o Hindu The
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conquest of Behar by Bukhtiyar Khiljiled to the des-
truction of the monasteries, and gradually Buddhism
disappeared from the country where it started and
developed. TFor his exploits in Behar Bukhtiyar reccived
a robe of honour from Qutub-ud-Din,

The expedition to Behar gave a taste to Bukhtiyar
of the wealth of the eastern provinces. There he
heard of the plenty of Bengal. In 1199 A. D. he
returned from Delhi and carried his conquests  without
opposition. The Sen Rajas were then ruling in Bengal.
They had their capital at Nadia. On “account of its
distance from the frontier Bengal was not generally
visited by the raiders. The people never expected
that the Musalmans would be able to come so suddenly
upon them through such a long distance. There is
difference of opinion regarding the way in which
Bengal was conquered. The  story  of  Minhaj-us-Siraj
in  Tebakat--Nusiri is so puerile that no wensible
historian can believe it to be true. That a party of
18 horsemen could have taken the eapital, and that
the aged king should run away through the back doors
is ridiculous. But stil the story hus heen circulated
by all historians. The modern rescarches made by a
number of scholars have exposed the hollowness of the
statement in the Tibakaf---Nasiri, No other Muslim
historian  has given this story, Bukhtiyar invaded
Bengal after thorouzh preparation. He placed his strong
horse soldiers at cvery outpost. Thus Dengal was
conguered by him and the Sena king removed his
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capital to Sonargaon ncar Dacca. Subsequently Bukh-
tiyar carried his arms as far as Kamrup. The city of
Nadia was devastated and plundered and the Musal-
mans  established their headquarters at Lakhnauti
With the conquest of Behar and Bengal the whole of
Northern India came under the sway of the Musalmans.
Bukhtiyar set up a eivil administration and “began to
construct roads for the movement of the troops.

The last days of Muhammad Ghori.

Shahab-ud-Din had to divide his attention between
his Indian possessions and the ecountries beyond the
Hindukush. The king of Khwarizam had subdued the
Scljuks in DPersia and was contesting the Ghoris for
the possession of Khorasan and the provinces in Central
Asia.  Shahab-ud-Din was leading the Ghori army in
Khorasan when he heard the news of his brother
Ghiyas-ud-Din’s death (1202 A. D.). Then he rcturned
to Ghazni to declare himself the Saltan. After settling
the affairs in the capital he resumed operations against
Khwarizam, pressed the king very hard, and pursued
him to his capital. But the king with help from Khora-
san and the other Tartar states repulsed the attack.
The Sultan had great difficulty in escaping to  Andhke,
half way between Balkh and Herat. There he was
forced to surrender and allowed to depart on payment
of a sum of money. The report of his defeat led to
confusion in most parts of his dominions. Taj-ud-Din
Yelduz, the governor of Ghazni, shut its gates against
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him. Another officer hurried to Multan, and by means
of a forged order got himself recognised by the army
as the representative of the Sultan. The Gakkars
marched through the Punjab and captured Lahore.
Qutub-ud-Din remained faithful to his master. Muham-
mad first went to Multan, crushed the rebellion and
recovered the provinece, Then he obtained submission
of Yelduz in Ghazni, Combined with Qutub-ud-Din he
tried to rope in the Gakkars, At an engagement on
the Jhelum they were defeated. The province was
thoroughly subjugated. e then wanted to lead another
expedition against Khwarizam. On his way back to
‘Ghazni he had pitched his tent at a village called
Dhamyak on the Jhelum where he was stabbed to death
by some Gakkars who had come there by crossing the
the stream (14th March 1206 A. D). Ilis body was
carried to Ghazni for burial. He was sueceeded by his
nephew Mahmud.

Muhammad Ghori modified the course of Indian
History by laying the fundation of Muslim rnle here.
He carried nine expeditions into  Hindustan, robbed the
country of vast treasures, and it is told that he had in
diamonds alone, of various sizes 500 mans (40 1bs weight),
Iis conquests far surpassed those of Sultan-Mahmud
of Ghazni and unlike the latter he nade provision for
the civil administration of the territories he acquired,
So flﬂ‘ as India is concerned Mahmud was no better
than a vandal and free-booter. Ile was a ruthless
plunderer carrying  devastation in the places held sagred
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by the Hindus. Muhammad Shahab-ud-Din bin Sam of
Ghor, although the greater part of his thirty-two years’
rule including three years’ sovereignty was spent elsewhere,
contributed considerably to the building up of an empire
in India. He tried to consolidate his conquests in which
work he was fully supported by his general Qutub-ud-
Din. The whole of Northern India excepting Malwa
acknowledged his sovereignty. Sind and Bengal were
in course of reduction and in Guzerat he held only
the capital. He did not thoroughly remove the local
chiefs from government. \They were allowed to carry
on the internal administration subjeet to the control of
the Sultan. The extant coins prove that the names of
the Hindu chiefs were retained along with the Suzerain.
They were struck in Nagri characters on one side and
bore the symbols of Siva and other Hindu gods on the other
as in the old coins. There was an attempt to conciliate the
the feclings of the Hindus and to win their support
to the new rulers. “Mubammad Ghori bore the character
of a just monarch”, says Ferishta, “fearing God, and
ever having the good of his subjects at heart. He
paid great attention to learned and devout men and was
never deficient in giving them to the utmost of his
powers”.



FIRST DYNASTY OF TURK MONARCHS OF DELHL

I

Qutub-ud-Din Albek
¢ 1206|—12]0 )

$

{1210-35)

11
Aram Shah (1210).

|31}
Shamsuddin Altamsh m. Daurvhler.
i

I ~ i
v \4 Vill { IX
Rukun-ud-Din Firoz Rizia Begum Muizzuddin ~ Nasir-ud-Din  Daughter m. Ghiyasud Din
( 1233-1236 ). (1236-1239). Bahram Mahmud alban,
i (1239-1241).  (1246-1263) | (1265-1287)

Alaaddin Masaud
A2i1-1261. -

1
Bughra Khan

Kaikubad
(1287-1290),

X1
Kaiumurs (1290),

VIANI "IVAHITIN



CHAPTER V.
THE MUIZZIYA SULTANS.

Sultan Qutub-ud-Din Aibek (1206-1210 A. D.).

On the death of Sultan Muiz-ud-Din Muhammad
bin Sam his vast empire fell into pieces. His nephew
Mahmud, the son of his brother Ghiyas-ud-Din, nomi-
nally succeeded to the throne of Ghazni, but the actual
government of Ghazni fell into the hands of Taj-ud-Din
Yelduz, who was originally a slave and rose to be a general.
‘On the assumption of Royal title Mahmud sent all the
insignin of royalty, a throne, a canopy, standards,
drums and the title of the Sultan to Qutub-ud-Din in
order that he might promote his interests. Qutub-
ud-Din received these marks of favour with great
respect and proceeded ‘to Lahore where he mounted the
throne on the 24th July, 1206,

Sultan Muhammad had a number of Turk slaves
who rose to eminent position. Qutub-ud-Din was one
such. He was bought by the chief Kazi and
governor ot Nishapur when he was a child. The Kazi,
finding that the boy was intelligent, sent him to school,
and had him educated in Persian, Arabic and Science.
The boy also learnt riding and archery. On the death
of his master he was sold to a merchant, who finally
sold kim to Sultan Muhammad Ghori. He was called
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Acbek as one of his little fingers was broken. Soon he drew
the attention of the Sultan by his noble deportment.
In course of time he rose to the position of the Master of
Horse. When Sultan Muizz-ud-Din  came to India
Qutub-ud-Din came with him and served him loyally in
his campaigns. Qutub-ud-Din was given the command
of the army when the Sultan was away in Ghazni, and
carried on the administration of the Indian pos-
sessions in his absence. He accompanied the Sultan
in his campaign against Jaichand, He also conquered,
on behalf of his master, Hansi, Meerut, Delhi, Rantam-
bhar, and Koel. He suppressed the rebellion of Hari
Raj in Ajmir, and led an expedition against Anhilwara
(1197 A. D.). He reduced the impregnable fort of
Kalinjar in 1202 A. D, occupicd Mahoba, and sub-
jugated Budayun on the way to Delhi, By that time
Bukhtiyar Khilji had conquered Behar and Bengal on
his behalf. So that before the death of Sultan Muham-
mad almost the whole of Northern India had come
under the control ‘of Qutub-ud-Din although all the
coqquercd‘ provinces did not enjoy the same type of
government, nor were they all equally governed.

The assumption of the title of Sultan by Qutub-ud-
Din was challenged by Tajud-Din of Ghazni. He
claimed the right to rule Lahore and came with an
army to India to scttle the dispute. Ile took Lahore
by expelling the governor of the place, but Qutub-ud-
Din drove him out of the city and pursued him upto
Ghazni. Tasjud-Din fled to Kirman. Qutub remained
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at Ghazni for 40 days, but by his riotous and immoral
conduct he lost the sympathy of the people who invited
Taj-ud-Din to come back and occupy the throne, Qutub
was driven out of Ghazni, Ile spent the rest of his
life at Lahore as a just ruler and a moral and temperate
man. In 1210 AD. he died there on falling from a horse
while playing in s match at Chaugan.

He was a brave soldier and a generous ruler. It is
sald of him that “his bounty was continuous, his
slaughter continuous”. Although he cnjoyed the tit.lg
of Sultan only for few years, he had in his hands the,
reins of government for twenty years. He was a great i
captain and was piven the surname of Lakhbuksh
on account of his bounty. As the first Moslem ruler
of Hindustan he was kind to the Hindus, and administ-
ered justice impartially. But he was a thorough-going
champion of Islam. He is said to have converted 50,000
Hindus to his own faith in one campnign. He built
two DMosques, one at Delhi and the other at Ajmir,
with the materials ‘of the temples he demolished.

Sultan Aram Shah (1210 A. D).

Qutub-ud-Din was succeeded by his son Aram Shah.
He was on the throno for barely one year. The pro-
vinces ruled by the nble generals of Qutub-ud-Din did
not acknowledge the authority of his incompetent son,
aud they gradually set up their own government, Qutub
had three danghters, two of whom, first and  third were
mavried to  Nasir-ud-Din  Kubache, governor of Sind,
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and the sceond to Shamsuddin Altamsh  on whom was
bestowed the jagir of Budayun. At the invitation of
the people of Delhi Shamsuddin deposed Aram Shah
and occupied the thrope. Iu this time of confusion
Hindustan was  divided into four prineipalities. Sind
was governed by Nasir-ud-Din Kubacha, Delhi and its
ncighbouring countriex by Shamsuddin, at Lakhnauti
the Khilji chiefs had thrown off their allegiance on the
death of Qutub-ud-Din. Lahore was climed by the
ralers of Sind, Delhi and Ghazni, for sowetime it was
ruled by Malik Tajuddin, semetime by Nusiraddin, and
sometime by Shamsuddin.

Sultan Shamsuddin Altamsh. (1210-1235 A. D..

Shamsuddin - Altamsh  was  the slave of a elave
Qut of jealonsy he was sold by his Drothers to a
company of merchants who carried  hiw to  Dokhara
There he was sold to a noble man who gave him
liberal education.  On the death of his master he pus~d
several hands and ultimately  he was  purchased by
Qutub-ud-Din at Delbi for X000 picces of ilve.
Qutub  wus greatly Gopressed with his  beauty and
talents and married his second daughter to Lim.  He held
many high positions as the favourite of the Sulan, till
lie becatne the general-in-cbief.  Me was povervor of
Budayun when Aram occupied the throne. The prinee
proving o failure was removed fromn the throne by
Shamsuddin Altawsh

On his aceession he was opponed by 2 nupder
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of Turki chiefs who were joined by the greater part
of his troops, and numerous merchants. In a battle
near Delhi they were defeated and their leaders all
killed in action or imprisoned. Shortly afterwards the
Sultan reduced the tributary Raja of Jhalwar to obedience.
Tajuddin Yelduz, the king of Ghazni, also recognised him as
the king of Delhi and sent to him the ensigns of royalty.
But he himself was not safe in Ghazni. When he was
driven out of his kingdom by the king of Khwarizam
he turned towards India. He easily obtained possession
of the Punjab and captured Thaneswar (1215 A. D.).
He sent emissaries -to the court of Delhi to raise a
faction in his favour. Altamsh now marched against
him and inflicted a crushing defeat upon him in the
field of Tarain. Tajuddin was taken as a prisoner to
Budayun where he ended his days. In 1217 A. D,
Altamsh went against Nasiruddin Kubacha, governor of
Sind, ‘who had declared Lis independence there and
gained complete viciory over him.

Chengiz Khan,

India was threatened with an attack of the Mongols
in 1221 A. D. The Mongols were a blood-thirsty
people carrying devastation wherever they went. They
came out of the mountain steppes of Central Asia and
swept away all marks of civilization from China to
the Caspian under the leadership of Temujin, better
known as Chengiz Khan. The Mongols had no religion
to teach, no pretension to culture. Their only method

6
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was to slaughter -and destroy, The  kingdom of
Khwarizam consisting of Khiva, Samarkand and Bukhara
was- ravaged . by them, the cities ruined, the
country . laid . waste and the people massacred. The
Shaly fled to -an island in the  Caspian, where he died of
broken heart. His son Jalal-ud Din  bravely defended
his country. ~ He .was pushod towards the east, and
took his stand on the Indus. An appeal to Altamsh
for asylum in Delhi- was not only rejected but the
envoy was wurdered. After a stubborn fight on the
Indus * Jalal-ud-Din jumped into the river on horse:
back and crossed to the other side with a handful of
followers. He gnthered a number of Gakkars and
proceeding southwards fell wpon Nasiv-ud-din - Kubacha,.
who was forced to take shelter within the fortress of”
Multan. He then overran Sind  and was  contemplat-
ing permancat oceupation of the place when * Lie
was called to Dersin. Indin’ was thuis  saved
from the Mongol invasion which had ruined
Central and Western Asia. If Altamsh had rendered:
help or given shelter to the Shah of Khwarizam
the Mongols might have pursued them beyond the
Indus. The beat of India was intolerable to them
50 these wild maranders went westwards, wnd relioved
Indin of a great danger. The dircet result of the
invasion of Chemgiz Khan  was the disappearanee  of
the powerful kinglom of Khwarizam fuits poighhour-
hood, and the weakening of the  forees of Nasir-ud-Din
Kuobacha,
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Subjugation of Bebar and Bengal

Since the death of Qutub-ul-Din Aibek the sue-
cessors of Muhammad Bukhtiyar Khilji had carried on
the government of Dehar and Bengal independently.
Ali Mardan bad struck his own coins and  his name
was read in the Khutba as an independent king. He
was followed by Ghiyas-ud-Din Dukhtiyar Khilji, who
established n strong government by bringing all the neighb-
owring districts of Gaur as far as  Kamrup in
the cast and Tichat on the west under his control.
Altamsh sent an army against him in 1225 A, D.
but Ghiyas-ud-Din signed  treaty agrecing to pay a large
tribute of ™) kakhs of silver tankas. Henceforth the
rule of the Sultan was acknowledzed, the coins were
struek in his name, and he was mentioned in Khutba,
Bebar forned a separate  admdnistration onder Lis son
Nusiruddin Mahioud wi>  also held the fief of Qudh.
On the withdrawal of the troops of Altamsh Ghiyas-
uddin seized the provinee of Behar, but he was defeated
adl slain by Nasiruddin Malynud, who took possession
of Daal und ruled the provinee till his death in 1229
A. D. The Khiljis rebelled agin and the Sultan went
there with his younger son.  After subjusating the
provinee completely he appointed  Aliuddin Jani as
governor and leaving the  provinee in his  charge
returned to Delbi in 1230 A, D.

Expedition against Nasirud-Din Kubacha.

Kubachiz was a slave of Muhammad Ghori, and had



84 MEDIEVAL INDIA

married two daughters of Qutub-ud-Din. He 'was
appointed to the government of Occha by Sultan
Muiz-ud-Din shortly after his defeat at Andhko. He
extended his rule over the entire country from Sirhind,
Kohram and Sirsuti to the sea coast. Ho also tried
to take possession of Lahore and fought with Taj-ud-
Din Yelduz over it. But Altamsh occupied the place
and appointed his sou, Nasirud-Din Mahmud, to the
government. When Jalal-nd-Din of Khwarizam entered
* 8ind, Kubacha was defcated by his general Uszbeg Pai
On the withdrawnl of Jalal-ud-Din from India Kubacha.
managed to maintain a strong government. He over-
threw an army of the Khiljis in 1225 A. D. Altamsh
marched against him the next year, He laid sicge to
Occha and sent his vizier Nizam-ul-Mulk Junaidi in
pursuit of Kubacha who had entrenched himself in the
fortress of Bhakkar, Occha was reduced after a
siege of two months and twenty days in 1227 A. D,
On receipt of the news of its fall Kubacha seut his
son Ala-ud Din Bahram to sue for peace. But before
the scttlement for terms he was compelled by Junaidi
to cross the Indus, in which lie was drowned. After
this the whole country submitted to Altamsh,

In 1226 A. D. Altamsh had reduced the fort of
Rantambhar, and the next yemr Mandor in  the Siwalik
hills. Soon after the conquest of the terrritories of
Kubacha, Altamsh reccived a unique honour from the
Caliph of Boghdad who sent an embassy with royal
robes to Delhi acknowledging him as a Moslem ruler.
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This recognition greatly strengthened the position of
Altamsh and enhanced his prestige as this was the
first notice taken by the Court of Baghdad
of the foundation of the new Indo-Muhammadan
kingdom,

Altamsh led an expedition into Gwalior in 1231
A. D. which had been recovered by the Hindus during
the reign of Aram. Raja Mangal Deva strongly defen-
ded the fort and after a siege of eleven months it
capitulated in 1232 A. D. The Raja made his escape
at night, but above three hundred of his followers were
put to death. ‘

Next year he proceeded towards Malwa, and without
great opposition he captured the fort of Bhilsa, and
occupied the city of Ujjain. In this city there was a
maguificent temple dedicated to Mahakali It was
swrrounded by a wall one hundred cubits high. The
temple was demolished and the images destroyed. The
statue of Vikramaditya which was standing within the
temple and the image of Mahakali were taken to Delhi
and broked at the gate of the Juma Musjid. The
conquest of Malwa practically brought the whole of
Hindustan under Moslem rule. He was on his way to
Banian in the hill tracts of Sind-Sagar Doab when he
was taken ill and was brought back to Delhi in a
critical condition. He expired on the 20th Shaban 633

A H. (30th April, 1235 A. D.) after a reign of twenty-six
years,
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Altamsh and his Government.

Shams-ud-Din Altamsh was the greatest of the Slave
kings. Although he rose from a humble position he
filled the throne of Delbi with honour and dignity.
Tt was under his able management that the seattered
provinees of Hindustan were consolidated under one
government. The conquests made by Qutub-ud-Din and
his royal master did not fully submit to the authority of
the central government. Some of them revolted and some
established independent government. Altamsh succeed-
ed in making them all acknowledge the authority of
the Sultan of Delhi. But it will be too much to say that
the admunstmtmn of the country was redneed to regular
system. “The power. of Muhammadan bulLuxs, as rulers”
says Thomas, “as indeed those of all lordships of Hindu-
stan, from its carliest history, scem to have been most
indeterminate, at times, and in certain districts, exten-
ding to absolute possession of soil and people on the
part of the king and full and perfeet subjection on the
part of the local government und those they ruled over
liable, however, at any woment, 1o endless fluctuutions,
as the strength of the sovercign, the power of the
provincial governors or the spirit of independence of
the people rose or fell. In other cases, allogianee
confessedly extended only xo  far as a nominal recogni-
tion of supremacy, or cven a  tacit abstinenee from
direet denial of cuch ; suffice it to say, that amang the
multifarions tenures, and the many  clhanges Iniperialism
was constantly liable to, one general rale of abrolutism
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prevailed that the length of the .5word was the limit
of the sway. By his able generalship Altamsh reduced
the whole of of Hindustan, from - Bengal “to Sind, and
from the Punjab to Malwa, to" obedience. The provin:
<cial governors had sufficient powérs in their hands so that
they could revolt whenever they desired or weré compelled
to do so. He was kind and -religious. The Qutub Minar
near Delhi stands as the monument of his great imagination.
It is a lofty plllar 942 feet high, 48 ft. 2 in. in dia-
meter af the base! Its capital has been ruined. It
has four projecting balconies, one at 90, the second . at
140, the third at 180, and the fourth at 208 feet from
the ground. Between these balconies are ~raised belts
containing inseriptions. Some histofians are of - opinion
that the bascment storey was built by Qutub-ud-Din
himself and Altamash completed it: * The inscriptions

mention the date nf the conqucst “of Delhl a8 087
AH 4 .

Rukn-ud»Dm Firoz Shah (May 1-Nov 19, 1236 A, D)

Rukn-ud-Din the younger son of Altamsh was at
Delhi at the time of his father’'s death. He had some
training in  administration as he liad served as Gover-
nor of Buday un, and then of ' the Punjab. He "had
become heir-appareit on the death of his eldest brother.
So without " any opposition he ascended the throne on
the 1st May 1236. Shortly after his coronation -he
abandoned  himself to debauchery and other excesses,
and negleeted his duties.  The business of government
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was carried on by his mother Shah Turkan, a cruel
and ambitious woman, who put to death all the women
of Shamsuddin’s harem, and even his youngest son
Qutub-ud-Din. The conduct of the king and his mother
led toa revolution. The revenues from Dengal were
interrupted on the way by the governer of Oudh, who
declared  himself independent. The governor of
Budayun, Labore, Multan, and Hansi formed a  combi-
nation against the king. The Vizier Nizam-ul-Mulk
Junaidi deserted him and joined the rebel governors
who then all proceeded towards TLahore to form a
junction with the nobles of the north and west. Rukn-
vd-Din marched against them but some of his principal
chiefs left him on the way and returned to Delhi.
They placed Riziah Begum the cldest daughter of
Altamsh on the throne. Shah Turkan was put in  the
prison. Rukn-ud-Din was returning hastily to Delhi
when he was met by a force from Delhi, and taken
as a prisoner and died afterwards in  prison.
He reigned only for six months and twenty-eight
days.

Sultana Riziah Begum (1236-39 A. D.\

Riziah Begum was an intelligent and cultured Jady.
She was bronght up in freedom and had served as
the Regent when  Altamsh was  engaged in the sicre of
Gwalior.  On her aceession to the throne she  displayed
all the virtues of a king, changed her dress, and put
on the imperial robes.  Livery day ¢he uend to give
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public audicnce. At first she was engaged in revising
and confirming the laws of her father, which had been
suspended in the last short reign. She disbursed justice-
impartially and within a short time succeeded in
cstablishing her supremacy. “Eastern eyes witnessed the-
singular spectacle of an unveiled and diademed Empress
—the firet in  India—directing the hosts of Tslam under
the canopy of the immemorial regal seat on an ele-
phant”, says Thomas. But in the Islamic world the
rule of a woman was not unknown. In Khwarizam the
names of Mallkka Turkan, and Turkan Khatun were
familiar to the people as two very able rulers. Riziah
also had taken the power from Shah Turkan, who was
“ruling in the name of her son.

The rebel governors who had met at Lahore were
mt disposed to support the new sovereign. They
advanced towards Delhi, and vrged all the officers of
the empire to join them, The late Vizier Junaidi was
one of the confederates. Malik Nasir the Jaigirdar of
Oudh came with troops to support tho Queen, but he-
was dgfeated and taken prisoner. By her stratagem
Riziah sowed  dissension among the rehel cliefs,
and succeeded in  dispersing them. Some of the
chiefs were glain in action and their leader Nizam-ul--
Mulk Junaidi escaped to the Sirmur hills where he
died.  Kabir Khan, the governor of Lahore was.
confirmed in his government on submitting to her
authority. The governors of Lakhnouti and Sind were
also retained on promise of obedience to the Sultana.
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8o Riziah’s sway was acknowled«ed from Debﬂ to
Lakhnouti. ‘

She made some new appomtmonts after suppressing
.the. rebellion of the nobles. The promotion of Jalal
ud-Din_Yak‘ut, an Abyssinian, ‘from the position of
Mastef'of;the Horse to that of Amir-ul-umra created
much discontent. Her intimacy with this man was
rescnted by the Turki party. The first person to throw
off his allegiance was Malik Kabir Khan, the governor
of Lahore. . The Queen marched against him and got
his submission casily as he was descrted by his collea-
gues, Kabir Khan  impressed  the Queen so much that
she added to his charge the government of Multan.
The most dangerous rebellion was that of Ikhtiar-ud-
Din Altuniah, governor of Sichind, The Sultana
proceeded in person to check the rising, but the
Turkish chiefs o her army rcbelled on the way, and
in the tumult the  Abyssinian  favourite was killed.
Riziah was taken as a prisoncr to Sirhind, where she
was espoused by Altunia. The Turkish officers had on
their return  to  Delhi  raised Prince Baliram to
the throne, Riziah with the help of Altunia, colleeted
an army of Gakkars, Jats and other tribes and marched
towarde Delhi. In a battle near Delii the Sultann
was defeated, and  she flod to Sirbind,  Shortly  after-
wards she returned and in n buttle  near Kaithal she
was defeated, she and  her hukband were captired by
the zemindars and put to death on the  14th November
1240 A, D, (Rabi-at-Awwal, A, UL 638), She had all
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the qualities of an able ruler, éa'gacioiis, just, beneficent.
She was 'good to her subjects and the learned fouind in
her a patron.  But inspitc of all these qualities
she could not save herself from the ]oalousy of
her nobles. She was not free as Queen of Delhi
to bestow her love on an Abyssinian, She could have
proved onc of the ablest ~momarchs if she could
exercise some f,elf-coutrol S

Muizz-ud-Din Bahram [1240-41 A D),

Bahram had come to the throne with the help of
the disaffected nobility, but he Wwas not sufﬁcxont]y strong
to get rid of them. Ikhtiar-ud-Din’ Alaptgin who had
married a widowed sister of the king beeame the most
powerful man in the state, Bahram employed two Turki
slaves to murder Ikhtiar and the Vizer., Tkhtiar was
killed, but the Vizier survived the attack, ' Then a
conspiracy was set up to depose the king, who however
got prevmuq intimation of the plot. The conspirators
were in  turn removed from Delhi or killed. The high-
handed manner in which the conspiracy was broken
alarmed all parties, and the loyalty of the troops was
tampered with, About ' this time Lahore was invaded
by the Mongols. The Sultan sent” the Vigier and
a number of officers to drive them away. Dut the
Vizier entered into a conpiracy with the officers and
returned from the banks of the Beas. The capital was
besieged for three months and a half, and Bahram
eaptured and slain, '
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Ala-ud-Din Mas’aud (1241.46 A. D. ).

On the fall of Bahram, Izz-ud-Din Balban a son-in-
law of Altamsh, with the help of a faction proclaimed
himself king. But the more influential nobles sclected
Ala-ud-Din  Mas’aud, son of Ruokn-ud-Din Firoz, and
removed Izz-ud-Din from the throne, This shows how the
matter stood in those days. At the same time Nasir
ud-Din Balban was appointed viceroy of Nagore, Sind
and Ajmir. The Vizier Mahzab-ud-Din proving very
arrogant and overbearing the nobles got himn assassina-
ted. Nasir-ud-Din was given the government of
Bahraich, and Jalal-ud-Din that of Kananj. Suitable
arrangements were , made in other parts of the empire
and peace was restored.

Bengal was invaded by an army from Jajnagar from
the south-east (1244 A. D). Mas’aud sent Malik Karn
Beg Tamar to help Tughan Khan, the Governor of
Bengal against the invaders, who were completely
defeated by them. But the two officers fell out, and
Tughan Khan was recalled by the Sultan. The next
year news Treached Delhi that the Mongols under the
leadership of Mangu Khan had invaded India as far
as the Indus, and had attacked Occha. The king
marched against them with a big army but by the
time he reached the banks of the Beas, the Mongols
liad withdrawn from India. On his return to Delhi
Mas’aud became reckless. He abandoned himself to
wine and women and alienated the nobles by lis acts
of cruelty, oppresgion and injustice. The nobles invited
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Nasir-ud-Din to free them from the tyrant. But before
Nasir-ud-Din had reached Delhi the nobles had secured
the person of Mas'aud and had put him into prison
where he lived till his death.

Nasir-ud-Din Mahmud (1246—65 A. D.\.

Nasir-ud-Din had the reputation of a good man
and a generous patron. Dy temperament he was a
scholar and recluse, and earned his living by copying
the Quran. He had given a good account of himself
in the administration of Bahraich, but he did not
poseess the qualitics nceessary to keep the turbulent
nobles under coutrol or to enforce good government
among his imperfectly conquered subjects. The weak-
ness. of the Sultan was made up by the ability of his
Vizier Malik Ghiyas-ud-Din Balban who received the
title of Ulugh Khan, The executive power was entirely
vested in him. He guided the officers of the kingdom
throughout the reign, with only a short interval.

The greatest danger of the time was the invasion
of the Mongols. They had occupied the province of
Ghazni, Kabul, Kandahar, Balkh and Herat, and ex-
tended their sway up to the western banks of the
Indus. DBalban formed a strong frontier province out
of the Punjab, Multan, Bhatnir and Sirhind, and placed
it in charge of his nephew Sher Khan. A standing
army was organised to watch the movements of the
Mongols. In the month of July 1247 A. D. the king
proceeded in  person towards Multan and encamped on
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the banks of the Sodra, and the army wunder DBalban
was diverted towards the hills of Jud and Jilam. The
Gakkars were dealt very harshly for allowing the
Mongols to pass through their country. Several
thousands of them were taken prisoners and the old
Jagirdars who failed to supply the requisite contingent
.of troops were deprived of their titles and sent as
prisoners -to  Delhi, Their cstates were settled upon
their sops and relations on promise of rendering
military scrvice and  supplying  troops. In this way
king’s authority was firmly cstablished in the Punjab
and Multan,

Towards the end of the year the Sultau suppressed
a rising in the comtry between the Ganges and the
Jumna and then procceded towards Kara. Two Hindua
Rojas of Kalinjar had taken possession of the country
south of the Jumm, and destroyed the garrison from
Malwa to Kara. Nasir-ud Din defeated them in a baitle
at Kara and obtained much Dhooty. Next year the
Vizier quelled a rising in Rantambhar and in  the hills
of Mewat. Ior cight mounths the king was engaged
in pursuit of his brother Jalul-ud-Din  who had fled to
;the hills of Chitor, but returned unsuccessful. In 1249
A D. the king went to Multan and placed Mulik
Tzz-ud-Din Balban in charge.of Nagor and Occha, The
ungratefnl Malik raised the standard  of rebellion next
year, but was casily  erushed. Shortly after Lis return
to Pelhi he hiad to undertake an expedition  against
Narwar where Raja Chahar Dea had built a fort on the
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summit of a rock and made full preparation to
meet the Muhammadans, A fter a sicge lasting sovoral
months, the Hmdus sutrendered.  The Sulhn then.
marched tmulnphqntl\ thrmwh Chanderi and \Lxlwa,
and appointed an officer to govern these provinces.

Sher Khan, the governor of Lahore and Muitan dlove
the \[ongr.ls out of Ghazm and oempled that provmce
.on belnlf of the Sn]t'm. He was rewarded by the
addition of Occln to his dmroe. _ Yzz-ud-Din Balbao - w1s

transferred to Budayun (1252 AD). The asccnd-mq ‘of
" of Balban in the court, and his able administration of
the affairs of the state created some jealousy,  Imad-ud-
Din Rihan, who owed a gleat deal fo_ Balban, told
“stories against him to the ‘ﬂult'm, and thus mnu'wed to-
‘bring about his fall. “The’ Vizier was ordered to go to
* his estates in the q1wal).ls: hills and Hansi.". Imad-ud-Dm
rephaced him in the mes hvout, and all officers who
owed their position to Balban _were reinoved from ofhw
Even Sher Khan, the . able governor of the Punnb was
Adlan'mced, because some forts in  Multan were captumd
by a body of rebels from Sind; and his position was
Dbestowed upon Arslnn Khan, The Turki party resen-
ted greatly the supcraosalon of the old officers, “and
entered into a- conspiracy to overthrow Imad-ud- -Din.
The governors of Kara, Manikpur, Oudh, Budayun,
Sirhind, Samana, Kuhran, Lahore, Siwalik and” l\a"m
,prc\'mlcd upon Balban to t‘ch back the helin of thc
state in the interest of good "government and publie
welfare. The discontented nobles joined theit force at
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Kohram and marched towards Delhi with DBalban at
their head. Twad-ud-Din sent an army to disperse them,
which however marched towards Iansi leaving the
route of the insurgent nobles free, Bulban and his party
sent a message to the king assuring him of their loyalty
if he removed Imad-ud-Din from the court. In these
circumstances the king sent Imad-ud-Din to Budayun,
recalled Balban, and reinstated Sher Khan in.his former
government. The return of Balban to power was
received by the people with joy which was also of no
Jless satisfaction and relief to the King,

Imad-ud-Din was secking -an opportunity 1o create
troubles. He found that Kutlugh Khan, who had married
Malika Jehan, the widowed mother of the king, was
aggrieved over his transfer to DBahraich. They were
Jjoined by Aibek Kishlu Khan, and revolted against the
king, Balban took Imad-ud-Din a prisoner und put
‘him  to death, but Kutlug Khan fled to Chitor. In
1257 AD. the governor of Sind and the Ilinda Ruja
«of Satnoor rose in favour of Kutlugh, and the combined
army marched towards Delhi. Balban discovered a plot
in the capital to deliver it up to the insurgents, and the
-conspirators were arrested without delay. The confede-
rate army was dispersed by the vizier before the gates
of Delhii  The governor of Sind returned with hix urmy
reduced,zbut Kutlugh Khaun disappeared  forever, The
Mongoly crossed the Indus towards the end of the year
but on the approach of the royal army retreated.

The Rajputs and the IHindu Rajas in the Siwalik
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hills and Mewat once again rose against the Delhi
government. They put together a larve number of
horse and foot and ravaged the country. On the
approach of the Vizier they took their stand behind
the mouatains. Balban vizorously carried on his cam-
paizn for four months, and - ultimately forced the
Rajputs to an engagement near Rantambhar, in which
both sides suffercd terribly. Of the Hindus more than
10,000 men were killed, and 230 of their chiefs were
taken prisoners and mercilessly put to death (1259 AD.)
Many of the rebels were tlayed alive. An embassy came
from Hulaku, grandson of Chengiz Khan, when Ulugh
Khan was busy in suppressing the risings in the
Siwalik  hills. After the subjugation of the chiefs the
ambassadors were received with magnificent pomp which
impressed them of the grandeur of the court of Delhi.
A recrudescence of the risings in the hills took plice
in 1260 A. D. The -Vizier went promptly to punish
the insurgents and about 12,000 of them were captured
and put to death.

Nasir-ud-Din died on the 1Sth February 1266 A. D.
after a reign of more than 20 years. He was a good
and pious man. He had only one wife and kept
no mistresses. The Queen lad to cook his food and
do all domestic duties. She was not allowed even
maid servant. The Sultan considered  himself a
trustec for the state and was determined not to burden
it with needless expenses. e used to earn his bread
by copying the Quran. He was perfeet in  penmanship

1
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and wused to write a very fine hand, His reign was
full of important events. There were risings in the
country as well as invasions from outside. His
nobles were not all faithful to him. The Hindus also
tried to embarass the government. But inspite of all
these difficulties he managed to carry on the adminis-
tration so long because of the statesmanly foresight and
vigorous generalship of his minister Ghiyas-ud-Din
Balban, .

Ghiyas-ud Din Balban (1265-87 A. D)

The accession of Balban to the vacant throne of
Nasir-ud-Din was a matter of course. There were none® .
to dispute the claims of this de facfo ruler who had
used the late Sultan as his puppet for twenty years.
He was a slave of Sultan Shams-ud-Din Altamsh
belonging to his own tribe of Alberi, who treated bi
with great kindness. The forty Turki slaves of
Altamsh  became very powerful after his death. They
occupied high positions during the weak government of
his successors. They entered iuto a solemn covenant
to support one another to divide the empire among them-
selves. They managed to remove from office niher
Maliks and noblemen and  formed themselves into an
oligarchy.  They were calld  Shamsi  slaves, and
received the title of Khans. Dut as they had
a common history they  expocted to divide the
spoils  equally. But  jealousy and dizsension soon
divided them: “what art thou that I am not, and what
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wilt thou be that T shall not be?” Their arrogance
brought contempt and ridicule upon the throne which
at one time was so exalted and dignified. “Fear of the
governing power,” says Zia-ud-Din Barni, “which is
the basis of all good government, and the source of
the glory and splendour of states, had departed from
the hearts of all men, and the country had fallen into
a wretched condition”. Balban was one of these Shamst
slaves, and the first act of his reign. was to restore the
cfficiency and dignity of the government by removing
them, and making the people submit to authority. He
was relentless in the administration of justice, and con-
siderate of the feclings of the people. Most of the “forty
slaves” were put to death, and particular carc was
taken that none but men of merit and good family should.
be admitted to any piblic office. No man of low
position or mean extraction could expect any employ-
ment. The state to him was a purely Moslem state.
“He made it a rule,” says Ferishta “never to place any
Hindu in a situation of trust or power, lest that race
should employ its delegated authority to the destruction
of the Mahomedans” He considered himself the guar-
dian and protector of the Musalmans and but for the
Mongol invasions he would not have allowed the Rais
and Ranas to repose in quiet and would have taken
all the spirit out of the opponents and encmies of the
Taith, This is what he said to his intimate friends, as
reported by Barni -

He felt that the security of his governmcnt lay in a
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well-organised army. The cavalry and infantry were
placed under the command of the Maliks of experience,
of brave and faithful chicfs who could maintain their
dignity and honour, In the neighbourhood of Delhi he
cleaned the jungles, roads were cut through densc
forests, and the country was freed from marauding
hordes, and lawless outrages. In every part of the
empire he built forts and rebuilt and fortified the old
ones, Special attention was given to the forts in the
Punjab and the frontier provinces. Cultivable lands
were set apart for garrisons, which served a double
purpose. It was not necessary to collect revenue for
the payment of the soldiers, and lawlessness and robbery
were suppressed by the existence of those troops. Ile
devoted the most part of his revenues to the equipment
of his army. In his opinion elephants and horses con-
stituted the strength of Hindustan and he considered
one elephant worth five hundred horsemen. He tried
to keep up the discipline and spirit of the army by
constant hunting. The country for forty miles round
. Delhi was preserved for the Sultan, where no one else
was allowed to take game, _

In the first year of his reign he was engaged in
suppressing the Mewatis who had become a source of
danger to the eapital. These turbulent peoples occupied
an extensive tract about cighty miles south-enst of
Delhi, took to robbery on the high way, and became so
troublesome that caravans and mecrchants could not pass.
They carried their incursions cven to the gates of the city,
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would come to the Sar-hauz and assault ‘the water-
carriers and girls, and snatch away the clothes from
their persons. The western gate of the city had to be
closed at afternoon prayer and no one ventured to go
out after that hour. The Sultan devoted the first year
in removing this danger. He scoured the jungles and
about 100,000 Mewatis were put to the sword. A fort was
Jbuilt at Gopalgir, with a number of outposts in the
neighbourhood of the city, all placed in charge of
Afghans with assignment of land for. maintenance. It
is said that a tract of land with the circumference of
100 miles was cleaned and made fit for cultivation.
The Sultan then made arrangements to clear the Doab,
and granted towns and villages to a number of chiefs
with instructions to suppress all lawlessness, Soon after
he proceeded to open the road to Hindustan. Robbers
infested the route . from Bengal to Delhi by way of
Benares and Jauopur. They had formed strong outposts
at Kampil, Pattiali and DBhojpur, and rendered the '
movements of merchandise and pilgrims absolutely unsafe.
The Sultan personally supervised the operations for
rounding them off, and remained in these places for
five or six months. The rebels were put to the sword,
and strong forts were built at Kampil, Pattisli and
Bhojpur, which were garrisoned by Afghan troops. The
old fort of Jalali was repaired. The soldiers in all
these places were granted cultivable lands for their
maintenance,

Soon after his return to Delbi the Sultan marched
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to Katcher (modern Rohilkund) where the disturban-
ces were so wide-spread that even Budayun and Amroha
were affected. The chiefs failed to keep order. He
crossed the Glanges in two nights and three days and
ordered his five hundred archers to burn down Katcher
and to kill all the rebels excepting women and children
below eight years. The slaughter was so terrible that “the
blood of the rioters ran in streams, heaps of the slain
were to be scen near every village and jungle and the
stench of the dead reached as far as the Ganges”
The severity of the operations had its effects and many
rebels submitted. The army  was enriched by immense
plunder. Roads were cut through the jungles, and the
country Dbeecame so quiet that no rebellion took place
in Katcher, Budayun, Amroha, Sambal and Kanwasi in
the life time of the Sultan. Thus the robbers and
free-booters were exterminated and the highway robbery
stopped by the construction of roads in all directions.

The next campaign was directed towards the Jud
mountaing, where he spent two years in  bringing about
the submission of the people. e brought wmany thon-
sands of horses from these parts to  Delhi, as they had
a reputation of strength and endurance iu those days.
Two years after this -campaign the Sultan went to
Lahore. The city and its neighbonrhood had suffered
preatly through the incursions of the Mongols. He
rebuilt the fort, repcopled the towns and villages and
crected a number of publie buildings.

In the course of these campaigus it was bronght {o
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the notice of the Sultan that the soldiers who were
granted land for military service were too old to fight,
and their sops and successors did not render the
service that was expected of them. On an inspection
it appeared that abont two thousand horsemen had
teceived villages in the Doab. Balban issued an order
for the confiscation of the lands from all who could not
render military service, and for the granting of pensions to
those who were enjoying these lands according to their age
or condition. This order created great consternation
and through the intercession of Fakhr-ud-Din, the old
Kotwal of Delhi, it was rescinded. Sher Khan, the
governor of the frontier provinces of Lahore, Sannam
and Dipalpur, kept away from Delhi as he was afraid
that the Sultan was determined to get rid of all the old
Shamsi slaves upon oue pretext or another. He had a
distinguished career and rendered great service to the
empire.  He did his best to ward off the Mongols.
He repaired the forts of Bhatinda and Bhatoir, and
had subdued the unruly tribes, such as, the Jats, the
Khokhars, the Bhattis, the Minas, the Mandahars and
others, He was a nephew of the Sultan, but it is believed
that he was poisoned at his instance in pursuance of
the plan of eradicating the race of the Shamsis who
could claim equality with him. A magnificent tomb was
erected in his honour at Dhatnir. On his death his
charge was distributed among a number of faithful nobles,
but those who succeeded him were not competent to main-
tain order. So the Mongols returned to their old method
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of depredation on the frontier districts. His cldest son,
Muahammad Sultan was appointed governor of all Sind
and the other dependent frontier districts. His court
at Multan was a great centre of culture, He made a
selection of poems from the most eclebrated authors,
the best poems were read to him, and their merits
discnssed in his presence. Amir Khusru apd Amir
Hazan attended Lis court for five years He also sent
an invitation to Shaikh Sadi to come to Multan, but on
account of his old age the poct could not accept it. The
prince was a favourite of his father, and was acknow-
ledged as heir-apparent. The Sultan appointed his
younger son, Bughra Khan, governor of Samana. Sarnam
and adjacent districts, and gave him full instructions
regarding his duties. This prince was not so able as
hiz elder brother, so he was asked to refer all difficult
questions to the Sultan. Wken the Mongols crossed the
Beas; Prince Muhammad from Multan, Bughra Khan
from Samana, and Malik Barbak Bektar from Delki
were sent azainst them, each with seventeen or cighteen
thousand horse and turned them back. The enuntry
enjoyed peace for a number of years after this

Rebellion of Tughril Khan.

The relations between  the centmal  government and
the distant provinces were not very cloze. This was
particularly 0 in the case of DBengal. “Shrewd and
knowing people” says Zia-ud-Din DBami “had given to
Lakhnauti the name of Bulghakpur /the city of strifc),
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for since the time when Muizz-ud-Din Mubammad Sam
conquered Delhi, every governor that had been sent
from thence to Lakhnauti took advantage of the distance,
and of the difficulties of the road, to rehel. If they did
not rebel themselves others rebelled against them, killed
them, and seized the country. The people of this
country had for many years evinced a disposition to
revolt, and the disaffected and evil-disposed among
them generally succeeded in alienating the loyalty of the
governors,” Bengal had all along remained independent
of Delhi exeept for a short time in the reign of Shams-
ud-din Altamsh. Balban appointed Tughril Khan a faith-
ful Turk slave, to the government of Lakhnauti, He
was a brave and warlike soldier and started his work
very ably, In 1279 AD. he invaded Jajnagar, and
brought from there a large number of clephants
and immense treasures. He was advised by his
friends not io report to Delhi of his exploits and
spoils, On the contrary they represented to him
the desirability of severing the connection with Delki
and ecstablishing an  independent kingdom. The Sultan
was old, his sons were busy with the Mongols and the
nobles of Hindustan had no leaders, and thercfore
they were not in a position to frustrate his ambitions.
Tughril assumed royal insignia under the title of Sultan
Mughis-ud Din. His name was read in the Khutba, and
struck on the coins. By his large benefactions he won
the support of- the people. Balban had no peace of
mind on receipt of the news of this rcbellion. His
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orders to submit were disregarded. The two expedi-
tions, onc under Aptagin, known as Amir Khan, the
governor of Oudh, and the other under Malik Tirmani
Turk failed disastrously. The Sultan was overwhelmed
with shame and anger and resolved to march in person.
He asked his son Bughra Khan to follow him in the
rear of his army. Arrangements were made for the
government of Samana and Sannam, and he directed
his eldest son to look after the frontiers. Malik T*ukhr-
ud-Din, was appointed his licutenant at Delhi with full
powers to carry on the government in his absence,
From Delhi he went to Samana, and then passing
through the Doab crossed the Ganges and marched
through Oudh where he raised an army of two lnkhs of
men.  With the help of a larze number of boats he
crossed the Saraju. The march to Lakhnauti in the rainy
season was full of difficultics. When the Sultan
reached TLaklmauti through mud and water and the
pouring rain e found that Tughril had cvacuated his
capital with troops, officers and clephants, There was
searcely any important person left behind, DBalban
reccived information that Tughril had gone towards
Jajnagar,  After rcorganising  his  forces at Lakhnauti
he procceded with rapid marches and in a few days
he reached Sonargnon, Rai Dunuj Rai the zamindar
of that place agreed to guard the river against Tuglril.
He marched for many more days but could not get any
information regarding the enemy. The Sultan declured
that he would never give up the pursuit. “They were
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playing for half the kingdom of Delhi, and if Tughril
took to the water he would pursue him, and he would
never return to Delhi, or even mention it, until the
blood of the rebel and his followers had been poured.”
The army reached near Jajuagar but still no trace of
Tughril could be had as he had taken a different route.
An advance party was sent with seven or eight
thousand horse, marching almost twenty miles ahead of
the main army, and before the advance party-scouts
were sent to reconnoitre in all directions. One day
a scout party came acruss a number of corn-dealers
who were returning home from the camp of Tughril
When two of them were beheaded they told that Tughril
was posted within a mile. The reconnoitring party
found the weamp in a state of perfect peace. They
rushed into the camp with only forty horsemen. The
party of Tughril was thrown into confusion under the
jmpression that Balban had overtaken them. Tughril
fled towards the river, but he was shot by an arrow
and brought down, his head was cut off and the body
thrown into the river. In the meantime the advance
party under Malik Barbak reached the place. Sons
and daughters of Tughril fell into their hands, and
they captured about two or three thousand men and
women. The leaders of the party were rewarded by
the Sultan, On receipt of the news of vietory, Balban
returned to Lakhnauti with the captives. Gibbets were
creeted along both- sides of the bazar, more than two
miles in length. Sons “and  sons-inlaw and other
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captives and all those who had any sympathy with
Tughril were killed and their bodies placed upon
gibbets. For two or three days Lakhnauti was borrified
at the punishments. Bughra Khan was appointed to
the government of Lakhnauti, and was given strict
instructions regarding the methods he should follow.
He was specially asked to remember that “if the
governors of Hind or Sind, of Malwa or Gujrat, or
Lakhnauti or Sonargaon shall draw the sword and
become rebels to the throne of Delhi then such punish-
ment as has fallen upon Tughril and his dependants
will fall upon them, their wives and children and all
their adherents”. He returned to Delhi after an
absence of three years.

Death of Prince Muhammad. !

Prince Muhammad came from Multan with the
tribute accumulated in the last three years, and the
horses. His father received him with great affection,
and in the course of Lis stay at Delhi for three months
he gave him instruction as to how he should behave
when he would become the king. His stay was cut
short on account of the attack of the Mongols upon
Multan. He hurried to his province, drove out the
Mongols with great slaughter and recovered all the
territories ocupied by them. In 1233 A. D. the Monaols
returned with 20,000 chosen horse under the leadership
of Samar (Taimur Khan) of the family of Chengiz Khan,
governor of Ghazni, and plandered the country about
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Dipalpur and Lahore. Muhammad met them on the
bank of the Ravi, and after a fierce battle of three
howrs put the Mongols to flight. But when he pursued
them he was overtaken by the Mongol army in an
isolated position and killed. The main army however
succeeded in repelling the enemy. Amir Khusru who
wag in the prince’s party was taken as a prisoner but
released later on. The news of the death of the Prince
broke the heart of the Sultan. Henceforth Muhammad
was called the “Martyr Prince”. His son Kaikhusru
was sent to Multan to take his place.

The Sultan was now more than eighty years old
and his health broke down under this severe blow. He
sent for his younger son Bughra Khan from Lakhnauti,
and asked him to remain with him till his death in
order that he might succeed him. After two or three
months when his health slightly improved Bughra Khan
left for Bengal without leave from his father. But
within 2 few days the condition of the Sultan became
worse, and three days before his death he nominated
Kaikhusry, the son of the Martyr Prince as his successor.
But the officers were not favourably disposed towards
him. Immediately on the death of Balban they placed
Kaikubad, the son of Bughra Khan on the throne with
the title of Muizz-ud Din (1286 A. D. )}

Character of Balban.

Ghiyas-ud-Din Balban was looked upon ns the
father of his people. e brought order out of chaos,
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consolidated the government and inspired awe in the
hearts of those who intended to revolt. He left his
mark upon the administration of Delhi as a minister,
a general and a king. He was faithful to his master,
resolute as an adminisctator and impartial as a judge.
He was stern in awarding punishment, irrespective of
the position of the miscreant. “In the administration
of justice he was inflexible” says Barni, “showing no
favour to his brethren or children, to his associates or
attendants, and if any of them eommitted an act of
injustice, he never failed to give redress and comfort
to the injured person. No man dared to be too severe
to his slaves or handmaids, to his borsemen or his
footmen”. He ordered Malik Dab-bak, the chief of
Budayun to be beaten to death for killing one of his
servants in the state of drunkenness. He appointed
spies throughout his empire for giving confidential
reports about the misdecds of the officers. When he
became the king he gave up drinking wine to which
he was addicted as a Khan, and did not indulge in
gambling or in the company of wine-drinkers. So
high was his sense of dignity that he could never
converse  with persons of low origin or do anything
which might lower the dignity of the sovercign. He
adopted the following rule for his condnet

(1) To assume dignity, excreise power at
proper  seasons, allow nothing to induce Lim to
forget the majesty  of God, or the lappiness of his
subjects.
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{2) Not to permit immonlity and indevency to be
openly practised within his realm, without imposing
beavy fines or some other punizhwent.

(3) To make selections from men of character for
the offices of vovernment, and not to permit men of
potoriously vicious habitz to fod an asylum within bis
realm

(1) To be patient and just in the administration of
Justice.

He placed these ileals before bis sous, and in his
own life ke remained true to them. He advised his
son Pricce Muobammad not to spare pains to discover
men of genius, learning amd courage amd 1o cherish
them by kindness and munificence.  We are informed
he drew to his court many scholurs eminent in varions
branches of science and  litersture, such 23 Sheikh
Farid-ud-Din Masaud, entitlsd Shakargunj, Sheikh Daha-
ul-Din  Zacharia apd Lis sen, Sheikh Dudr-ud-Din
Arif of Ghamni, the philosopher, Kutubuddin Dukhtiyar
Kaki and Siddi Manla famons for their lkarming and
saintly life. Desides, more than fifteen sovervigns of
Central Asta, Persia, Turkey and Afzhanistan, who were
expelled from their ecountry by Chenziz Klhan found
shelter at Delhi They were accommodated in  polaces
and granteld  princely  allowanees.  Some of the most
famous men of larning in Asia in those days came in
the retinue of these princes and the court of Delbi
on secount of these reasons became kuown as the most
plite and momnifeent in the worll,  The poct Amir
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Khusru was the tutor of Prince Mubammad, and he
used to preside at the meeting of the learned men in
the house of the prince. The house of the second
Prince Bughra Khan was the mecting place of the
musicians, dancers, actors and story-tellers, The nobles
imitated the king and the prinees, so that Delhi became
the centre of grandeur, magnificence and pomp as it
became a place of culture, ‘learning, refinements, amuse-
ments and other social amenitics. The Nauroz anui-
versary of the king’s birth, and other festivals were
celebrated with great pomp.

Muizz-ud-Din Kaikubad (1287-90 A. D.)

Through the machination of Amir-ul-Umra Fakhr-
ud-Din, Kotwal of Delhi, who lad then the greatest
influence in the city, Kaikubad was installed on the
throne. He was a handsome young man of eighteen,
with an amiable disposition and equable temper. He
bad been brought up under the cye of his grand-father
with  great strictness, and lad never indulged in
frivolities nor tasted a cup of wine, Ife had u taste
for literature and his knowledge of books was
extensive, He reccived thorough training in polite
arts and 1nanly exercises. As sonn as he eame to the
throne he forgot his old lessons and pave himself up
to pleasure and dissipation. lis ministers and com-
_panions followed his example, and the licentiousness of
the court. spread throughout the city. The king lad
no time to attend to his duties. The business of
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government was surrendered into the hands of Malik
Nizam-ud-Din, son-in-law of Kotwal Fakhr-ud-Din,
To give full freedom to his passions the Sultan left
the Red Palace and resided in a newly built palace
at  Kilo-ghari on the banks of the Jumna, The nobles
and attendants of his court also followed him there,
and within a short time Kilu-ghari became the resort
of all pleasurc-seckers. , '
Malik Nizam-ud-Din was crafty and ambitions. He
found that circumstances might favour him in  wresting
the throne from the feeble hauds of the dissipnted
prince. He therefore hatched plans of. removing all
thorns from his way. Kai-khusru was still the favourite
«of many, and he once tried to occupy the throne with
.the help of Timuwr Khan, the Viceroy of Ghaani,
Nizam-ud-Din set Kai-kubad against him as. his rival,
Kai-khusru was summoncd from Multan to Delhi and
was murdered on his way at Rohtak. Khwaja Khater,
the Vizier, was next disgraced and  banished on
the plea that he was corresponding with Kai-khusrn,
Next he procured the punishment of the chicf nobles
and heads of illustrious  families on the chargo
of treason. One-day all of them were arrested iu
the palace, the principal nobles were killed and
thrown into the Jurona, and their property confiscated.
A large number of men of high rank were deported to
distant forts, and their familics seattered. In this way
Nizam-ud-Din established his authority, His ascendaney
over the king wns so great that no one could bring

8
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any charge against him. His wife was called the
“honorary mother of the Sultan” and she became the:
“directress of his female apartments” His designs were
very plain, and his father-in-law, the old Kotwal warned
him not to cherish any thoughts of usurping the throne.
But he did not listen to the advice of his well-wishers,
Reports of the state of aftairs at Delhi reached
Bughra Khan. IHis letters of advice and caution were
left unheeded. Nizam-ud-Din did his best to sow the
seed of distrust between the father and the son. Ulti-
mately the father came to see the son. The mecting
took place in Qudh on the banks of the Saraju. Bughra
Khan succeeded in removing the suspicion that he aimed
at the throne of Delhi. They remained in Oudh for
twenty days and cexchanged several visits. Dughra
Khan gave much good advice to his son and confiden-
tially asked him to get rid of Nizam-ud-Din as casily
as possible. Kaikubad took the advice of his futher to-
heart and tried for a few days to amend his ways. But
the wily Nizam-ud-Din knew his weakness and by
means of temptations which the king could bardly resist
he dragzed him again into lis rounds of dissipation and
pleasure. When his constitution gave way and he realised
his helpless positiin he remewbered his father’s  advice.
He wanted to get rid of Nizam-ud-Din as the main cause
of his rain. Ile ordered the minister to  proceed to
Multan, to look alter the govermment there, but Nizam-
ud-Din delayed at Delhi with a view to  carry out his
own designs.  Some  attendants of the king put poixon
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into his wine with the consent of the king, and thus
brought about his death. Delhi now was thrown into a
state of anarchy. Jalal-ud-Din Firoz, Naib of Samana,
was summoned to Delhi, and was charged with the business
of government as Aris-ul-Mamalil. But as he was of the
tribe of Khiljis the Turk nobles became jealous of him.
To add to the confusion the Sultan was struck with
paralysis, and confined to his bed. The Turk nobles to
save the situation placed. the infant son of Kaikubad on
the throne. Jalal-ud-Din went to Bahar-pur and held
there an inspeetion of his troops. A plot was laid to
capture him, but tlis failed, and a number of Turks
went to the side of Jalalud-Din, Two days after this
Kaikubad was kicked out of life and thrown into the
Jumna by a Malik whose father had been put to death
by the orders of the Sultan, Jalal-ud-Din was brought
by his friends to Kilughari, and there enthroned as the
people of Delhi were still very hostile towards him. By
the death"of Knikubad the rule of the Turks came to
an end, '



CHAPTER VI
THE KHILJI DYNASTY

f |
Jalal-nd-Din Yugrish Ihan
{1200-961.
. | !
|
Rukn-‘ud-Diu. Daughter m,  Ala-ud-din
1296, (1296-1315)

' !
Shahab-ud-Din Kutb-ud-Din
mar Mubarak
(1315-1316) (1316-1331),

Jalal-ud-Din Khilji (1290-96 A. D.).

The new Sultan belonged to a tribe distinet from
the previous kings of Delhi. There is some dispute
regarding the origin  of these people. They were pro-
bably descendants of Turks, and connected with Chengiz
Khan, They scttled in the hills between Ghor and
Jurjistan. Some of them came to India, and entered
the scrvice of the Sultans, On  account of their Jong
residence in - Afghanistan  they are  often mentioned as
Afghans although they were Tiuwrks or Turtars like the
Slave Kings, Jalal-ud-Din was not suee  of the loyalty
of the nobles and citizens of Delhi. So he lived in
Kilu-Ghari, and held his darbar  there. In course of
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time the new city became as magnificent as the old
capital.  Gradually he won the estcem and affections
of his people by his character and sound method of
administration. In the seecond year of his reign when
all opposition. subsided he made his entry into the old
palace although he still continued to live at Xilu-Ghari,
He was a man of seventy when he ascended the throne,
and possessed many good qualities. He was naturally
kind and benevolent and would not punish the wrong-
doers. The people took advantage of his soft nature
and put troubles in his way. Various recbellions were
got up to overthrow him.

The furst to rise was Malik Chhaju, nephew of Balban,
governor of Kmra. At the instigation of the adherents
of Balban and other influential persons he declared
himself independent, and laid his claim to the throne of
Delhi. Many inhabitants of Delhi were in  sympathy
with his ambitions. He marched towards the capital at
the head ofa big army. The Sultan procceded
in person to mect the cnemy and sent his son
Arkali Khan in advance from Budayun. The loose
followers of Chhaju were casily dispersed, Chhaju, his
chief ally Malik Amir Ali, governor of Oudh, and other
nobles were bronght as prisoners before the Sultan.
The captives were very kindly treated. Chhaju was sent
to Multan and allowed to draw very handsome allow-
ance. When his courtiers remonstrated against this
undue lenieney he is reported to have repeated a verse
which meant : “Evil for cvil is casily returned, but he
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only is great who returns good for evil” He expected
that the nobles who were excuzed their guilt would
repent and would feel olliged to him. He was very
unwilling to shed Muoslim blood. But in those days
clemency had no place in the troubled condition of
Hindustan. People wanted strong government. The
Soltan was o good that he could not even punizh the
thags and thicves. Once a band of thousand thags
were captured at Delhi, but the only punishment they
received was a safe voyage to Lakhnaui. This softness
of the Sultan increased robbery and crimes of various
gorts. The nobles in the court openly talked rebellion
and overthrow of the Sultan. On ote occasion a party
of nobles met in the house of Malik Taj-ud-Din Kuchi
and in the course of their couvivial talks discussed who
should assassinate him.  On  receiving information of
this meeting the king had them all arrested.  DBut on
the pleading of Malik Nasrat Shab, a witty courtier,
be pardoned them all and oniy asked them to leave the
city fora year.

The ouly instance of rudeness was the murder of the
Daricesh Sidi Maula, for which the Sultan suffered
great disgrace. Sidi Maula was a darwesh from Persia
and came to Nelhi in the time of Balban. Ile never
went to the Mosque for prayers, nor did he receive any
presents, but he used to distribute large quantities of
food daily. It is said he spent daily “1000 maunds of
flour, 700 maunds of meat, 200 maunds of suzar, bosides
rice, oil, butter and other  necessaries in proportion™.
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He ‘built a magnificent Khankal or academy and house
«of entertainment for travellers fukirs and the poor.
His popularity was very great on account of his
wonderful  generosity. The intriguing persons now
tried to exploit his influence and instilled into his mind
the ambition of occupying the throne of Jalal-ud-Din.
They arranged that the Sultan would be assassinated
while be would go to the mosque for prayers. One
-of the party not satisfied with the share allotted to him
after the revolution informed the Sultan of the plot.
Sidi Maula and the party of conspirators were brought
before the king. But then they protested their innocence’
their frial through the ordeal of fire was arranged in
the plain of Bahar-pur. But as the method was
against Muhammadan  law it was given up. The
culprits were variously punished. But Sidi Maula was
being carried to a vault under the palace when the
king addressed some Kalandars who were standing there
“Oh  darweshes avenge me of the Maula”, onc of them
gave him several cuts with a razor, and at the instance
of Prince Arkali Khau an elephant trod him to death.
This incident cast gloom over the capital and to add to
the misfortunes of the king there was a famine the same
year, and flood next year. His eldest son died shortly
after, About this time the Sultan marched through
Central India as far as Malwa. He took Jhain and
Malwa, and besieged the fort of Rantambhar, where the
Rai with the Rawals and their wives and children had
taken refuge. But when he found that the reduction

H
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of the fort would cntail great loss of lives he raised
the siege and left for Delhii In 1292 A. D. about
150,000 Mughals under the leadership of Abdullah,
grandson of Hulaku invaded Hindustan. The king mar-
ched with a strong army to meet them. The Mughals
were defeated, Abdullah withdrew with his main army,
but Ulghu, grandson of Chengiz Khan, remained behind
with about 3000 of his men. They all became Musalman
and were given quarters in Delhi. A davghter of
Jalal-ud-Din was married to Ulshu. As the climate
did not suit them most of thew left India in a year
or two. Some of them remained permanently in India
and received the title of “New Musalmans”, The
quarter in which they lived was called Mughalpur.
The same year the Sultan went in an  expedition to
Mandur and Jhain and brought vast amount of booty.

Ala-ud Din’s march to the Deccan 1294 A. D.

The place of Malik Chhaju in Karra was given to
Ala-ud-Din a nephew and <son-in law of the Sultan.
He was an ambitious young man, and from the very
beginning of his carcer in this new provinee he
devised plans of increasing lis iufluence, With the
permission of the Sultan he attacked the ncighbouring
country of Bhilsa and bronght great wealth from there
with two bronze images which were thrown down before
the DBudayun gate for the Musalmavs to place their
feet on. For this suceers Aln-ud-Ilin was given in
addition the provinee of Oudh, At DBhilsa he had
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heard of the wealth of Deogir and made enquiries
regarding the route to that place. On return to
Karra he prepared for an expedition without the
knowledge of the Sultan. He asked permission to
proceed towards Chanderi in scarch of plunder, but
his real objective was Dengir.

Ala-ud-Din was not happy at home on account of -
some misunderstanding with his wife and his mother-
in-law. The Sultan knew that he was anxious to go
out into  the world to find some position for himself.
So he was indulgent towards him and granted to him
the required permission and remitted for a year the
revenue of Karra. With the revenue thus released
Ala-ud-Din got up an army consisting of three or four
thousand horse and two thousand infantry and marched
towards the south in 1294 A.D. The small rajas
throngh whose territorics he had to pass were given
to understand that he was going to seck employment
in the court of the Raja’ of Rajmundry in Telingana.
He therefore marched unop posed and in two months
reached Fllichpur on ‘the outskirts of Maharashtra.
From Ellichpur he went to Ghatilajaura,

* The Musalmans had not crossed the Vindhyas before
this. The people of Maharashtra were ignorant of their
ways, The Yadavas had cstablished their rule since the
beginning of the thirteenth century. Their  capital
Devagiri was a centre of Hindu culture. The kings
had accumulated great wealth, and it was known that
there was a large quantity of gold- and silver, jewels and
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pearls in the treasury. When Raja Ramchandra Dev
received the news of the approach of the Musalmans he
sent a small force to Ghatilajaura, which was easily
defeated by Ala-ud-Din. Then the Musalmans pressed
on Devagirl, Ramchandra Dev put together about four
thousand men including domestics and met them at a
distance of four miles from the city. But he could not
stand  before the trained army and retreated into the
fort. Ala-ud-Din plundered the city and invested the
fort. In order to create consternation in the minds of
the people he circulated the story that he only led the
advance guard, and that the main army of the Sultan
was coming behind him. The Rajas in the Deccan, out
of fear, did not venturé to leave their kingdoms. The
supply within the fort of Devagiri was exhausted. So
Ramechandra Dev offered to pay 50 maunds of gold
{about 1500 Ibs) and large quantity of .pearls and jewels
with thirty elephants and some thousands of horses which
had been already captured. Ala-ud-Din then agreed to
leave on the fiftcenth day of his arrival there.
Ramchandra Dev’s son. Sankar Dev, in the meantime
had collected a large army, and when coming to Deva-
giri he saw the Musalmans returning with so much
treasure.  Inspite of the cxpostulations of his father he
demanded  restoration of the booty, but Ala-ud-Din in
great indignation defied the challenge. Malik Nasrat
was sent to besicge Devagiri with one thousand horse
and with, the rest of his army Ala-ud-Din attacked
Sankar Dev. The Mubrattas had come in large numbers,



THE KHILJI DYNASTY 123

and easily dispersed the Moslem troops. On receiving
the news Malik Nasrat left his post and rushed into
the field with his thousand horse. .In the thick clouds
of dust the Mahrattas did not know from where they
-came and believed the main army under the Sultan had
arrived. This fear upset them and they fled from the
field in all directions. Ala-ud-Din then returned to
Devagiri. Raja  Ramchandra Dev could not hold out
any longer. He did not receive the espected help from
the Rajas of Kulburga, Telingana, Malwa and Khandesh.
His provisions had also run short, In utter helpless-
ness he had to submit to still more humiliating terms
-and to cede Ellichpur. A garrison was left there to
«collect revenues.  Ala-ud-Din / returned unmolested
through Khandesh, Malwa and Gondwana.

"I;he Last days of Jalal-ud-Din.

Sultan Jalal-ud-Din was kept absolutely in the dark
regarding the movements and exploits of Ala-ud-Din
till 1206 A. D. when he received the news while he
was out hunting near Gwalior. The foolish king was
happy at the success of his ncphew and expeeted that
the booty would be brought to him. His Naib-barlak,
Abmad Chap, advised him to proceed townrds Chanderi
and to meet Ala-ud-Din on his way back to Karra.
“This was not agreeable to the Sultan, and on the advice
-of other councillors he returned to Delhi. Ala-ud-Din
-on the other hand, on his arrival at Karra sent a letter
-of submission to the Sultan and asked forgiveness for
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his irregularities. This was merely a bluff, for he at
the same time was preparing to attack Lakhnauti, The
Sultan wrote an affectionate letter and assured him of
safety. But the messengers were put under distraing
at Karra and could not inform the Sultan of the true
state of things there. With the help of his brother
Almas Beg, who was™ also another son-in-law of the
Sultan, Ala-ud-Din persuaded him to come and pay
him 2 visit at Karra, as he was afraid of going to Delhi.
The unsuspecting. old Jalal-ud-Din was full of kindness
for his brave ncphew and son-in-law, and disdaining
the advice of his councillors he started from Kilu-
ghari with only a thousand horse, He took a boat at
Dhamai, and the main army under Ahmad Chap march-
od on Jand. When he reached Karra Ala-ud-Din was
waiting with his forces between Manikpur and Karra.
At the request of Almas Beg he landed with only a
few attendants before afternoon prayer.  Ala-ud-Din en
meeting him fell at his feet and the Sultan affectionately
took him in his arms, when the traitor gave a signal
to his men.  Muohanmad  Salim of Samana gave the
first blow with a sword, when it failed he struck
again, The Sultan running towards the river cried out
“Ah thou villain  Ala-ud-Din! what hast thou done !
Another  man named  lkhtiyar-ud-Din  threw  him
onthe ground and cut off his head {(July 1296 A, D)
All the attendants of the Sultan also were derpatched
to the next world  almost immediately,  “Villainy and
treachery  and murderous  feelings, covetousness  and
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desire of riches, thus did their work”, writes Zia-ud-.
Din Barni. The severed head of the venerable king
was placed on a spear and caried through the camp.
Afterwards it was sent to Oudh to be exhibited there.
The royal canopy was immediately displayed over the
head of the perfidious villain, and all the men accosted
him as the new Sultan. Success no doubt came to the
wicked but none cseaped the relentless hands of Nemesis.
“Although  Ala-ud-din  reigned successfully for some
" years” says the Chronicler, “and all things prospered
to his wish, and though he had wives and children,
family and adherents, wenlth and grandeur, still he did
not escape retribution for the blood of his patron, He
shed more innocent blood than ever Pharaoh was guilty
of. Iate ot length placed a betrayer in his path, by
whom his family was destroyed...and the retribution
which fell upon it never had a parallel even in any

infidel land”
Sultan Ala-ud-Din Khilji (1296-1315 A, D.).

On receiving the news of the catastrophe Ahmad
Chap retarned to Delhi with the main army. Malika-
i-Jahan in precipitate haste put her youngest son Rukn-
ul-Din on the throne. She did not wait for Arkali
Khan who was much better fitted for the position, nor
did she consult any of the nobles. By this act of
indiscretion she lost the support of all sensible people.
Emboldened by the dissensions at Delhi Ala-ud-Din
marched towards the capital. Dy seattering gold among
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the greedy he increased the number of his followers,
and ucder the shower of the rich presents brought from
the Deccan the memory of the ungrateful treachery was
washed away. Tive months after the foul murder Ala-
ud-Din reached Delhi. On his approach Malika-i-Jahan
and Rukn-ud-Din were deserted by the Omras, they
then fled towards Multan. The next day Ala-ud-Din
encamped on the plain of Siri. Towards the end of
the year the coronation took plaee with great pomp.
The new Sultan took up his residence at the Red Palace.
In addition to the distribution of money and presents
he won the good-will of the Maliks and Amirs of the
late Sultan by giving them offices and fiefs. In order
to secure his position still further both Arkali Khan
and Rukn-ud-Din along with Malika-i-Jahan, and their
maliks and  @mirs were captured at Multan.  The
princes were blinded and sent to the fort of IMansi
where they were afterwards murdered. The sons of
Arkali Kban were murdered, Malik-i-Jahan and the
wives of the princes were brought to Delhi. The cap-
ture of the princes greatly incrcased the authority of
Ala-td-Din. He had no rival left to claim the throne.
In the second year of his reign he started confiseating
the property of the wmaliks and amirs of the late Sultan
and made them di~gorge whatever they had taken from
him. By this means the trensury was enriched by a
crore. Only three persons were spared and they had
not taken anything from Ala-ud-Din.  An invasion of
the Mughals through Sind was repelled near  Jalandhar
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the same year. This victory incrcased his hold upon
the people still further.

Invasion of Guzerat (1298 A.D. .

’ Ala-ud-Din was not satisfied with what he got by
accession to the throne of Delhi. By his previous ex-
peditions against Bhilsa and Devagiri he had scen the
weakness of these smaller states. His march to the
South was unopposed. The report of the prosperity of
Guzerat had also reached him. He sent his brother,
Tlugh Khan, and  his vizier, Nasrat Khan, with a large
army to reduce the country. Its ruler Rai Karan fled
to Devagiri to  seck the protection of Ram Dev. The
Musalwans ran  through the whole province, and advan-
ced as far as Cambay. Among the captives were
Kewala  Devi, the beautiful “wife of Rui Karan, and
Kafur, 2 handsome slave who figured in the history
later on.

On the return march the Mughal troops mutinied
at Jhalwar as the geuerals demanded a fifth part of
their spoils, They killed Malik A’zzud-ud-Din, a
brother of Nasrat Khan and went to the tent of Ulugh
Khan, but as the prince had already escaped they killed
a son of the Sultan’s sister. Nasrat Khan then sounded |
the trumpets, and the soldiers marching towards his tent
the new Musalmans dispersed and took shelter with the
ncighbouring Hindu Rajas. Ulugh Khan and  Nasrat
Kbhan then marched to Delhi with rich plunder from
Guzerat. The wives and children of the mutincers had
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to pay heavily for their sins. People were staggered at
the inhuman crueltics perpetrated upon innoeent women
and children. This is the first instance of seizing women

and children for the fanlts of men, ,

"The Mughal Invasions.

The Mughals under the leadership of Saldi Khan
had captured Siwistan about this time. Zafar Khan was
sent against them. Ie defeated the Mughals and sent
Saldi Khan and his men in chains to Delhi. Zafar
showed great Dbravery on this occasion, and his
fame became so great that cven the king became
jealous of him. He was granted the government of Samana
as his reward, Shortly after this Katlagh Khwaja, son
of the king of Mawaasen Nahr, came with 20 fomans
{i. e 200,000) of Mughals with a view to conquer the
whole of Hindustan. e marched straight to Delhi
and reached the bank of the Jumna without opposition.
Panic spread through the country, people began to flock
to the capital and within a few days scarcity became
very acute, In this crisis  Ala-ud-Din massed together
a vast army, consisting of about 300,000 horse and
2700 elephants. Tt is said that “In no age or reign
had two such vast armics been” drawn up in areay
against cach other, aud the sight of them filled all men
with amazement”  Alw-ud-Din  drew up his forces on
the plains of Kili ontside Delhi. Zafar Khan commanded
the right wing, Ulugh Khan the left, and the king him-
self was in the centre, The Mughals  unable to bear
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the charge of Zafar Kban retreated in a state of
confusion. Zafar pursued them - more than 36 miles,
but Ulugh Khan who was ordered by the king to bring
up the rear did not follow him up out of pure jealousy.
The Mughals finding Zafar's arny detached from the
main army made a rally and surrounded him. The
gallant Zafar and his heroic body of troops died fighting
to the last man. Although the Mughals gained a victory
they did pot venture to undertake further risk, and
retreated at night. The name of Zafar Khan became a
terror to the Mughals, and “if their cattle refused to
-drink they would ask if they saw Zafar Khan” Ala-ud-
Din felt happy at the retreat of the Mughals, and the
death of Zafar Kban who was becoming so powerful
was uot a less relief to him.

His wild projects.

Ambition aas no limit. Puffed up with success
Ala-ud-Din formed impossible schemes, and entertained
extravagant desires He was a man of no learning and
be was w0 badtempered and obstinate that nobody ,
would dare oppose him or argue with bim. “In his
-exaltation, ignorauce and folly, be quite Jost his head”
says Daroi He lad two projects in his mind, viz
A1) to establish a new religion and creed with the belp
of his four friends, Clugh Khan, Zafar Khan, Nasrat
Khan, and Alp Khan, and to spread it by means of
the sword, and (2) like Alexander to conquer the whole
habitable world Once the Sultan consulted Alau-l-

9
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Mulk, uncle of ‘the historian Ziau-d Din, and Kotwal
of Delhi about his schemes. The old Kotwal fearlessly
said “Religion and law and creeds, ought never to be
made. subjects of discussion by your Majesty, for these
are the concerns of prophets, and not the business .of
kings. Religion and law spring from heavenly reve-
lation, they are never established by plans and designs
of man” He advised the king not to talk about -these
matters. Chengiz was a great conqueror but he could
not establish a  Mughal religion among the Mubam-
madans, on the contrary many Mughals became
Musalmans, This wise advice of the Kotwal impressed
the Sultan, and he said “From henceforth no one shall
ever hear me speak such words.” With regard to the
second project Alau-l-Mulk said. “these are not the
days of Alexander” He ndvised the king to pay
attention to two things before all others, viz the
subjugation of Hindustan and closing the road of
Multan against the Mughals. e’ further cmphasized
that these things could not be accomplished unless the
 king gave up drinking wines aud kept aloof from
convivial . parties and feasts. The king was pleased
with this exccllent advice and promised to observe it,
aod rewarded the Kotwal adequately. This happened
after the return of Zafar Khan from Siwistan, and
before the war with Katlagh Khwaja.

Fall of Rantambhar.

Rantambhar, a fortress an the  Chambal, was held
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by Hambir Dev, a descendant of Rai Pithaura. A
number of Mughals who left the Sultan’s army during
the mutiny at Jhalwar had taken shelter in Rantnmbhar,
The Sultan ordered Ulngh Khan from Biyana and
Nastat Khan from Kara to proceed to capture the
fort. They took Jhain an iron fort and an ancient
abode of idolatry on the way and besieged Rantambhar
(1299 A, D). Nasrat Khan while supervising the con-
struction of & mound and a redoubt was struck by a
stone from the fort and died within two ov three days.
Hambir Dev collecting about 200,000 men. forced Ulugh
Khan to retreat to Jhain. Receiving news of the
disaster Ala-ud-Din marched out of Delhi. He stayed
at Tilpat for a few days for hunting. One day having
strayed away from the main party he spent a night at
a village called Badih with only ten horsemen. Early
in the worning the Sultan sat on a stool while his
attendants were closing up the circle. His nephew
Akat Khan formed the plan of following in the foot-
steps of his uncle, and obtaining the throne by killing
him. Supported by a few new Musalmans he began
to shoot at the king, While he marched forward to
cut off the hend of the Sultan he was told by the
paiks who surrounded bim that he was already dead.
Akat Khan hurried to Tilpat where he scated himself
on the throne. The  Sultan recovering  his
senses, marched with his followers to the place
and then the uwsurper fled o Afghanpur where
he was captured and belieaded. Ilis  brother:
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and other accomplices were captured and put to
deatl. - . '
Then Ala-ud-Din reached Rantambhar after a few
days and was joined by Ulugh Khan, He filled the
ditches round the fort with bags full of sand and raised
a high wall from which the defenders were attacked
with stones. In the meantime detachments of troops
subdued the territories of Jhain as far as Dbar. The sicge
lasted more than a year. While the Sultan was busy at
Rantambhar two more revolutions tonk place. Ilis
nephews Umar Khan and Mangu Khan rose in Budayun
but before they could gain sufficient support they were
captured and brought to Rantambhar where they were
blinded by orders of the king, The second revolt was of
a more serious nature. It was led by Haji Maula, son of
aslave of Amir-ul-Umara Fakhr-ud-Din, the late Kotwal
of Delbi. The people of Delhi were greatly oppressed by
Turmuzi Khan who as Deputy of the Kotwal was in
charge of the city. Haji Maula gathered together a
number  of armed followers from the discontented mob
and took the Kotwal by surprise while he was having
his mid-day nap. After killing Turmuzi Khan he produced
a boy as a descendant of Sultan Shamsud-din and placed
him on the throne. The riot continued for seven or
cight days, After three or four days Malik Hamid-ud-
Din, Amir of Koh, with some troops entered the city
and overpowered the rebels. On the seventh day Iaji
Maula was killed and his party dispersed. Iroceeding
to the Red Palace Ilamid Khan deposed and killed
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Alvi sitting on the throne. Ala-nd-Din could not leave
Rantambhar. to settle the affairs of Delhi. He sent his
brother Ulugh Xhan who succeeded in restoring order
within a short time. Every body connected with the
rising was severely punished. The sons and grand-sons
of the late Kotwal Fakhr-ud-Din were killed although
they were not in any way connected with the conspiracy.
No further rebellion troubled the Sultan. He now
concentrated all his energies upon Rantambhar. The
Rajputs held out for more than a year. Finally the
Musalmans succeeded in escalading the walls of the
fort. Hambir Dev, with his noble band of troops and
Mughal horsemen who had taken shelter there were put
to the sword (July, 1301 A.D.). After the reduction of
the fort, which was considered the strongest in Hindu-
stan Ala-ud-Din returned to Delhi leaving Ulugh Khan
as governor of the place. Ulugh Kban died after four
or five months.

Capture of Chitor. -

In 1303 A. D. he sent an  expedition to Warrangal
through Bengal, and be bhimseclf proceeded against Chitor.
It took him six months in reducing the fort. He
suffered great loss in reducing the principal place of
the Rajputs of the Sesodia tribe. The Sultan had
‘heard of the great beauty of Rani Padmini. In the
first encounter Raca Bhim Singh was defeated and
taken as a prisoner, A message was sent to the Rani
that if she came to Ala-ud-Din’s harem her Lusband
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would be released. In consultation with the Rajput heroes
she agreed to go to the Muslim camp. She was-allowed
to take with her seven hundred attendants in strict
privacy. When they had entered the camp the proud
Rajput warriors who had gone under cover freed the
Rana and carried him off to Chitor. DBut the Musalman
troops attacked the fort with irresistible fury., The
noble defence of the Rajputs and specially the heroism
of the two young warriors, Gora and Badal form a
glorious chapter in the legends of Rajputana. Before
the fall of Chitor Rajput women headed by Padmini
entered fire to save the honour of their race. It is
estimated that about 30,000 Rajputs gave up their lives
for upholding their honour. The government of Chitor
was entrusted to the King's eldest son Khizr Khan and
the place was named Khizrabad, But shortly afterwards
the prince left the place and it was given to Maldeo,
the chief of Jalor, who ruled the state as a tributary
of the Raja. Towards the end . of Ala-ud-Din’s reigm
Hamir, a son of the former Raja expelled Maldeo and
restored its inpependence.

Fresh Inroads of Mughals.

When Ala-ud-Din was engaged in Chitor, and his other
forces had been to Warrangal the Mughals again resolved
to attack Delhi. Receiving the news of Targhi approach-
ing towards the capital with 120,000 borse the Sultan
postponed his plan of going south and returned to Delhi,
The army of Hindustan had also returned  from



THE KHILJI DYXASTY 135

War rangal but had not yet reached Delhi. All the roads
to Delhi had been cut off by the enemy. Ala-ud-Din
<ame out of the city and took his position at Siri bug
he could not drive away the Mughals. The city was in
a beleagured condition for two months, but one day the
Mughals suddenly disappeared to the great relief of the
Sultan and the citizens of Delhi.

The constant attacks of the Mughals made Ala-ud-
Din realise his position. He felt the urgent need of
organising the defence of his territories. He began to
fortify and rebuild the forts and increase his army, and
gave up his ideas of goiug out into campaigns. He built
a palace at Siri and remdved his capital there. All the
forts lying on the route of the Mughals were refitted
and new forts were built wherever necessary, Strong
garrisons  were placed in  Samana and Dipalpur, and
expericnced and tried officers were deputed to the forts
in the Punjab and the frontiers. He increased his forces
very largely but found that a large army required heavy
expenditure which the treasury was not sufficiently strong
to meet. He proposed to reduce the pay of the army
but his advisers counselled him to reduce the prices of
provisions by regulations. This appealed to the king
and he issued a number of regulations fixing the price
of every nrticle of use, An officer was appointed as
controller of the markets. Arrangements were made for
paying tribute in kind, and a number of granaries were
erected in different places. Whenever there was scareity
the granarics were opened and grains. sold at the fixed
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price. All the ~carriers in the kingdom had to submit
to the orders of the controller of the markets. No-
merchant could secretly sell anything above the fixed
price. The revenue officers had to give an undertaking
that they would sce that corn was sold to the carriers.
by the rafyals on the corn-fields. Every day the Sultan
had to be kept informed of the condition of the markets
and the market rates. These regulations were strictly
enforced and by this means the Sultan succeeded in
maintaining a strong army. He was no longer afraid of
the Mughals, although a number of raids were under-
taken by these people.

In 1304 AD. Ali Beg, a descendant of Chengiz
Khan, and Tartak or Khwaja Tash advanced as far as
Amroha with about 40,000 horse. They were defeated
by Malik Nayak Akhur Beg and the leaders with several
thousand troops were brought as prisoners to Delhi,
and were slain under the fect of the elephants, Other
raids were similarly dealt with, The number of the
slain was so great that a town was built with their
heads outside the Badayun gate, The last raid was
led by Igbalmanda who was slain with many thousands
of his followers. No Mughal returned alive, This inci-
dent put s0 much dread of the Musalinans in the minds
of the Mughals that they did not dream of coming to
Hindustan for many years. Henceforth the Punjab and
the frontier provinces beecame prosperous under peaceful
adininistration. For these years the government of
Dipalpur  and , Lahore was in the hauds of Ghazi
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&

Malik who sent'a challenge to: the Mughals every'
winter.

Conquest of Malwa.

When the affairs of the Punjab and the - frontier
provinces were settled the Sultan sent Ai-ul-Mulk to
complete the conquest of Malwa. * RaiMahlok Deo and
his minister Koka had a big army ’consisting of about
forty thousand eavalry and a large number ‘of infantry.
Ain-ul-Mulk entered Mandu in the darkness of night
and killed the Rai who tried to esecape (Nov. 1303 AD.)
Within a short time he reduced the eities of Ujjain,
Mandu, Dharanagari and Chanderi, The Raja of Jhalwar
surrendered  without  opposition.  Ain-nl-Mulk  was
appointed governor of Malwa and Mandu.

The conquest of Siwana, a fort about one hundred
parasangs from Delhi completed the conquest of
Northern India. Rai Satal Deo, the Raja of Siwana,
had a strong army and the Muslin army could rot
reduce the fort in five or six years. In 1308 A. D.
Ala:ud-Din came in person, the fort was taken and the
Raja killed according to Amir Khusru, but Ferishta
says that the Raja ultimately surrendered and was
forced to part with a large portion of his territory,

Subjugation of Devagiri.

Ramdeo, Raja of Devagiri, had agreed to pay an
annual tribute when Ala-ud-Din invaded his territories
in the reign of Jalal-ud-Din. But when the Saltan was
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busy with his affairs in  the north the Raja did not
send his tribute for threc years. So Ala-ud-Din des-
patched an expedition against him in 1307 A. D. Kafur
who had risen in the favours of the king became a
Malik and was placed in command of the army con-
sisting of 30,000 horse. Khwaja Haj was appointed
sccond in command, and it was arranged that Ain-ul
Mulk, governor of Malwa, and Alp Khan, governor of
‘Guzerat, with their respective troops would join Kafur
on the way. Kewala Devi, the captive Rani of Guzerat,
who had been forced to marry Ala-ud-Din was anxious
to have her surviving daughter Devala Devi with her.
On her solicitation the Sultan dirccted Malik Kafur to
comply with her request. After passing through Malwa
Malik Kafur halted at Sultanpur on the border of the
Deccan and Alp Khan according to his instructions
demanded Rai Tej Karan to give up his daughter
Devala Devi. The Raja could not agree to this humilia-
ting proposal. He applied to “the Raja of Devagiri for
help.  To avoid the difficulty Ramdev wanted the girl
for his son Sankar Dev. Bot Rai Karan being a Raj-
put was not willing to give her daughter to a Mahratta.
Circumstanced as he was lie had to give his unwilling
consent and sent the princess with Bhim Dev, brother
of Sunkar Dev. TRai Karan, being assured of the
support of Devagiri, opposed Alp Khan on his march
through Baglana to join Malik Kafur. The Raja was
however defeated and fled to Devagiri. e was pur-
sued by Alp Khan, and the Moslem troops marched
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towards Devagiri  Alp Khan had lost all hope of
secaring Devala Devi when she fell into his hands by
an accident. The army halted at a place within one
day’s march from Devagiri, when about 300 soldiers
went to see the caves of Ellora. On their way they
saw a body of horse coming. This was the party of
Bhim Dev escorting Devala Devi.  The MMoslem troops
in a desperate condition attacked the Mahrattas and
within a short time scattered them in all directions
The horse of Devala Devi being pierced by an arrow
she fel on the ground and was captured. From
the talk of her female attendants her identity was dis-
covered. Alp Khan returned with her to Guzerat
and from there to Delhi. Prince Khizr Khan
fell in love with her and foally married her,
which has been deseribed in the poems of Amir
Khosru,

Malik Kafur contioued his march to Devagiri. The
Maharashtra was laid waste and finding resistance use-
less Ram Dev  surrendered unconditionally. He was
taken to Delhi alonz with a large quantity of treasures
and seventeen clephants. The Sultan received the Raja
with kindoess and granted him the title of Rai-Rayan
and he was restored to his government, with the addi-
tion of some more districts. The Raja remained loyal
to the Sultan for this kindoess and  henceforth
paid tribute regularly. The distrit of Nowsari
ncar Guzerat was granted to him as o personal
cstate.



140 MEDIEVAL INDIA

Expedition to Telingana.

The country in the cast coast south of Orissa was-
known as Telingana. It touched the kingdom of the
Yadavas on the west. At the request of the Raja of
Orissa an expedition was sent against it through
Bengal (1303 A. D). But this expedition proved a
falure. In 1309 A.D. Malik Naib Kafur was
sent through the Deccan which was now under
the control of Dethi. Malik Naib was accompanied by
Khwaja Haji.” The army passed through Masudpur,
Sultanpur, and crossing the Narmada reached Nilkanth
on the border of Devagiri. Ram Dev gave them every
assistance through his territories, The road was very
difficult as they had to march over stones, hills, streams,
ravines and narrow pathways. Passing through the
territories of Vijaynagar the army reached Sabar, a
fort within Telingana. All the forts on the way to
Warrangal, the capital of the kinpdom. were captured,
the country was devastated by the Moslem troops.
The outer works of the fort of Warrangal were of
mud. The Raja with the chiefs remained within the
stone fort in the interior. The people offered resistance
to the incoming troops to their best. The siege con-
tinned for some months. The Musalinans escaladed
by means of ladders, and in many places the mud walls
gave way. When they could not stand uny more Raja
Pratap Rudra Dev, called by the Moslem writers Rai
" laddar Dev, sent a golden imuge of himself, with
chain round the neck as a mark of sul;miﬁsinn, and
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along with it a large quantity of presents. The Malik

_accepted the presents but would not reccive the image.
He sent for the Raja who came to him next morning
with all the treasurcs and jewels he had in his treasury.
He did not keep anything for himself, and further
promised to pay an annual tribute to Delhi. Malik
Kafur returned with 100 clephants, 7000 horse and
large quantities of jewels and valuables (March, 1310
A. D). One thousand camels could not carry the
heavy spoils. He marched through Devagiri, Dhar and
Jhain. On reaching Delhi he was decorated with
honours and his plunder was cxhibited before an
assembly of chicfs and nobles.

March to the extreme outh.

There were still a number of Hindu Kingdoms in
South India. The Hoysala Kings of Dwara-Samudra
were very prosperous and in their neighbourhood was
Mabar, on the sea coast 300 parasangs in length from
Kulam to Nellore. Tt was a great centre of trade carrying
on business with China on the east and Persia and
Arabin on the west. Malik Kafur marched against these
kingdoms in November, 1310 A. D. He proceeded
through Devagiri, crossed the Godavari at Puithan and
reached the sea coast after three months’ march from
Delhi. The Hindus who came to oppose him were all
swept away before the wave of Muslim onslaught.
Vir Ballal had recently built up a strong kingdom.
Taking 'advantage f a quarrel hetween fwo brothers
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of the royal family of M’abar he went to plunder the
coast, but on the approach of Malik Kafur he returned
to his own capital. He was however afraid of resisting
Kafur, and like the Rajas of Devagiri and Warrangal
easily submitted. Vir Ballal not only surrendered all
his treasures and a large number of eclephants, Kafur
further demanded tbat he should either accept Islam
or become a Zimmi on condition that he paid a
regular tax. The Raja accepted the latter position but
would not part with his sacred thread.

From Dwara-Semudra  Malik Kafar marched to
Mabar. There were two Rais in M'abar. One of them
fled into the jungles and the Malik could not trace
him. The Musalmans destroyed all the temples at
Birdhul, destroyed the images, killed the Brahmans and
bagged =2 large quantity of gold and jewels from the
temples and palaces (April, 1311 A. D.)

From Birdhu) they proceeded to Madura, when the
city was deserted by the Rai with his Ranis. There
were only two or three elephants which the Malik
captured and the temple destroyed. The army now
returned to Delhi with 612 clephants, 96,000 mans of
gold, a large quantity of jewels and pearls, and 20,000
horses.  Gold was  distributed amongst the emirs and
officers according to their rank. "The old inhabitants
of Delhi remarked” says Barni “that so many clephants
and so mugll gold lad never  before been brought into
Delli. No one could renomber anything like it nor
was there anything like it recorded in history. .
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Rebellions and intrigues towards the close of the
reign. ’

“The conquests of Malik Kafur in the South marked
the highest level of the Sultan’s prosperity and powers.
The last three years of his reign were full of troubles.
He tried to concentrate the business of government
in one office, but there was no able minister. He had’
full confidence in Malik Kafur, who was hated by the
Tiobles. His sons were not properly educated, they were
given independent charge before they were fit for it.
The kingdoms which have been plundered and made
tributaries were not thoroughly subjugated. They were-
seeking opportunity to throw 'off their allegiance. The
first to revolt was Sankar Dev nf Devagiri, who had
suceceded his father Ram Deva. At the time of Malik
Kafur's march to Dwara-Sumudra he did not render any
‘assistance. The Raja of Telingana also said that he
would pay his tribute at Devagiri. Sankara Dev also
-withheld his tribute for sometime. Malik Kafur pro-
-ceeded for the fourth time to the Decean (1312 A. D).
Sankar Dev  was defeated and brutally killed. Kafur
ravaged the Mabarashtra and Cuanara as far as Raichur
and Mudkal. He stayed for sometime at Devagiri and
cxacted tribute from the kingdoms of - Telingana and
the Carnatic. .

There was a conspiracy set up by the new Musalmans
against the Sultan. Many of the nobles of their race
had lost their employment or their grants reduced
during the Mughal iuvasions. They formed a plot of

N
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capturing the body of the. king when he would be out
hawking. But before it could mature the report of
their conspiracy reached the Sultan. The Sultan gave
orders to root out the race of these Mughals, and we
are told 15000 of these unfortunate creatures were
killed in one day, although only a few were implicated
in the plot. »

On account of iotemperance and excess the Sultan
ruined his constitution, ;and was attacked with dropsy.
His days were numbered. Difterent parties started
intrignes over the succession to the throne. Malik
Kafur had been summond from Devagiri and Alp Khan
from Guzerat. The Queen neglected her husband and
was trying to secure the throne for her son Shadi Kban
with the help of Alp Khan by marrying one of his
daughters to the prince. Khizr Khan, who was nomi-
nated as heir-apparent, was waiting for the time to
mount the throne, while he was busy in riotous revelry.
The king was casily irritated, and Kafur poisoned his
cars by pgiving reports against the Queen, Alp Khan
and Khizr Khan. The prince was first sent to Amroha
and then imprisoned in Gwalior, Alp Khan was put
to death and the Queen was turned out of the Red

’alace. These intrigues  produced  great  discontent
throughout the empire. A revolt took place in Guzerat
where Kamal-ud-Din Garg who was sent by Kafur was
killed by the adherents of Alp Khan. In  Chitor the
Rajputs had asserted their  independence, by turning out
the Musalman officers, and in  Maharashtra Ilarpal Dev



© THE KHILJI DYNASTY 145

the son-inlaw of Ram Dev had ‘driven out the
. Mubammadan troops, and had declared himself as the
independent Raja of Devagiri. When these disquieting
reports began to pour in from all directiops Ala-ud-Din
died on the 19th December, 1316 A. D) after a reign
of more than 20 years. It is believed thut death was
hastencd by his favourite cunuch by means b poison.

Alaud-Din’s Character and policy.

Ala-ud-Din was a ‘typical despot. He' believed
in personal rule more than anything else, He rose to
power by wickedness and. treachery and naturally there-
fore be was suspicious of all around him. “Ne was
aman of no learning” says Zin-ud-Din Barni “and
never associated with men of learning. He coul not
regd or write a letter. He was bad-tempered, obstinate
:and hard-hearted, - but the world « smiled upon him, ¥or-
tune befriended him, and his schemes - were - generally
successful, so  he only beeame the more reckless and
arrogant.” Ferishta says that he realised the disndvan
tages of illiteracy, acquired some proficiency by private
stady, and showed particular favour to twfg eminent
men viz. Kazi Moulana Kohrami and Kazi Moghis-ud-
Din, He used to . consult the latter very often. When
he sequired great wealth by his extensive campaigns ho
directed . his attention. towards good government. - The
numerous rebellions in the first part of his -1;cign'-made
him enquire of the ecanses of ‘these “troubles. -After
«eliberations.for some nights with his. nobles he accepted

10
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the following ag/ he main causes: (1) The Sultan
did not pay du ?ltention to the business of the state,
and on accountof this, grievances of the people were
not redressed ; / () Drinking of wine and holding par-
ties for the 'pupose’ greatly helped conspiracies ; (3)
Too much irtimey among the nobles and frequent inter-
marriages increased their power ; {4) Increase of money
made people independent.

He applied himself to remove these *causes. He or-
ganised a system of espionage by which he kept him-
self informed of the movements of the people and their
grievances “He procured intelligence of the most secret
discowses of the families of note in the city” says
Fenskteu “s3 well as every transaction or movement in
the nost distant provinces, and executed justice with
such rigotts that robbery and theft, formerly so common,
weg 106 heard of in the Jand. The traveller slept secure
on the highway and the merchant carried his commodity
ir ' cafety from the sea of Bengal to the mountains of
hbul and from Telinghana to Kashmir” This is really
sgh praise. Ibn  Batuta who visited India in the reign
of Mubammad Tughlak confirms this opinion by
saying “He was one of the best of Sultans, and
the pcopl of India culogize him highly.” Of course

had no value when we consider the
state of things in India. e gave up

wine
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After the issue of this order conspiracies diminished.
He also forbade too much inter-mixing and feasting
of the nobles. He confiscated the property of all des-
criptions, held by propietory right, in free gift or as a
religious endowment. “Many were left without any
money” says Barni, “till at length it came to pass
that excepting Maliks and Amirs officials, Multanis, and
bankers no one possessed even a trifle in cash.” The
people had to be always busy with the thought of
earning their livelihood, so that they could not dream
of rebellion.

He was particularly harsh upon the Hindus. A set
of special rules and regulations were promulgated to
griod down the Hindus. Oue rule was applied for the
payment of tribute, o that the burden® upon the poorest
was not the heaviest. All cultivation had to be carried
at a definite rate, and half the produce had to be paid.
A tax was imposed upon buffaloes and goats and other
animals giving milk, The pasture lands were also taxed.
Collection was enforced very strictly. The revenue
collectors and clerks were hated by the people for
their cruelty. The pressure of taxation was so heavy
that “No Hindu could hold up his head and in their
house no sign of gold or silver, fankas or jilals, or of
any superfluity was to be seen.” Even the wives of the
well-to-do persons in utter destitution had to serve for
hire in the house of the Musalmans, The epirit of
the Mohammadans as it was explained by Kazi Moghis-
ud-Din, was to consider the Hindus as Kharj-Guzars
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or payers of tribute, and Zimmi, and it was held as a
religious duty to keep them in abasement, to slay
them, to plunder them  and make them captive
and they thought that it was the command of
the Prophet who said “Convert them to Islam or
kill them, enslave them and spoil their wealth and
and property”. Ala-ud-Din followed the policy of
oppression not as a religious bigot but with a view to
crush disaffection and the spirit of rebellion. He once
told the Kazi “Although I have not studied the
science or the Book, I am a Musalman of a Musalman
stock. To prevent rebellion in which thousands perish
I issue such orders as I conceive to be for the good
of the state, and the benefit of the people. Men are
heedless, disrespectful and disobey my commands ; I am
then compelled to be severe to bring them into obedience.
T do not know whether this is lawful or unlawful, what-
ever I think to be good of the state or suitable for the
emergencey that I decree.”

The state meant, of course the king with his biz
harem, and the large retinue of attendants and roldicrs
who were constantly cmployed to keep him in power.
We are told that his houschold servants only
numbered 17,000 and that he had a cavalry of 475,000,
The Sultan once asked the opinion of the Kazi
regarding the rights of the king and his children in
the public treasury. The Kazi said it depended upon
what the king considered bimself, an ordinary fighting
man, 2 chief officer, or something more than any of
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them. When *his " reply did not please the all-powerful
Sultan the poor Kazi in fear of his life said, “I do
fear your Majesty’s sword, and Ilook upon this my turhan
as my winding sheet; but your Majesty questions me
about the law and I answer to the best of my ability.
If however, you ask my advice in a political point of
view, then I say that whatever your Majesty spends:
upon your harem no doubt tends to raise your dignity
in the eyes of men and the exaltation of the king's
dignity is a requirement of good policy.”

He made sufficient display of the wealth he acquired
by his campaigns against the rich Hindu States or
oppressive levies upon the Hindu subjects. “His
wealth and power were never - equalled by ' any
prince “who sat before him on the the throne of
Hindustan, and they surpassed by far. the riches
accumulated in  the ten campaigns of Mahmud
Ghazni, all of which were left for others to enjoy,”
says Ferishta. It is described by Zia-ud-Din  Barni
regarding the carly part of his reign that he had little to
do beyond attending to his pleasures, giving feast and
holding festivals. Every year he had two or three sons
born, affairs of the. state went on. according to his
wish and to his satisfaction, his trcasury was over-
flowing, boxes and caskets of jewels and pearls were
daily displayed before his eyes, he had numerous
clephants in his stables and scventy thousand  horses
in the city and environs. This grandeur was greatly
enhanced by the plunders brought by Malik Kafur
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from the South. Ilis iron administration increased
peace on the land and his Musalman nobles who
remained loyal to him became prosperous. He extended
his patronage to the holy and learned persons. “Order
and justice prevailed in the most distant provinces “says
Ferishta, “and magnificence raised her head in the land,
Palaces, mosques universities, baths, mausolea, forts
and all kinds of public and private buildings, scemed
to rise as if by magic. Neither did there in any age
appear such a concourse of learned men from all parts.
Fortyfive doctors, skilled in sciences, were professors
in the Universities” The best known poet of his reign
was Amir Khursu, There were many historians and
chroniclers receiving pensions from the court.

Although ~ Ala-ud-Din  extended his sway' from
Kashmir to Madura and from Guzerat to Bengal,
exacted his tributes from all parts, administered justice
ruthlessly to enforce order, amassed great wealth with
the help of a gigantic army he could not lay down the
foundation of a gevernment which would endure in
India. He was an oppressor of the Hindus who consti-
tuted the main population. He humiliated the Maliks
and nobles by his rigid regulations. Ilis patronage
towards Kafur a man of obscure origin alicnated the
sympathy of the men of his court. He humilinted or
severcly punished the men through whose treachery of
their old master he came to the throne. The system of
government there was none. The vast empire that he built
was like a pyramid standing on its apex, and it toppled
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down as soon as the master hand was removed. His
sons were unfit to maintain it as they were not pro-
perly trained for the high position.

The successors of Ala-ud-Din.

Malik Kafur ran the government for thirty-five days
after the death of Ala-ud-Din, in the name of Shahab-
ud-Din Umar, the youngest son of the late Sultan, and
scarcely six years old. A spurious will of Ala-ud-Din
was produced in the assembly of the nobles and
officers on the second day after his death, and after
granting the child the throne Xafur blinded Khizr
Khan who was the heir-apparent at Gwalior and Shadi
Khan in the palace of Biri, and their mother was thrown
cout of the palace and put into close confinement. The
partisans of Khizr Khan were severely dealt with,
He also intended to disable Mubarak Khan by blinding
him, -so that he might not entertain any idea of
succeeding to the throne. Bui the men who were sent
to perform the atrocious deed, influenced by the
appeals of the Prince gave up the idea, and instigated
Malik Mashir, the commander of the foot-guards to
set up a conspiracy, The Pasls entered the apartments
of Malik Kafur at night and killed him along with
his confederates.

These Paiks who were tn the service of Ala-ud.Din
released Mubarak Khan and made him the Regent.
But Mabarak  shortly afterwards assumed full
- sovereignty by sending Shahab-ud-Din  Umar to
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- Gwalior where the prince was doprived of his
eye-sight. '
Kutub-ud-Din ascended the throne in 1317 A. D. He
was a young man of eighteen and had many friends among
the Maliks and Amirs. The men who helped him to the
throne demanding too many privileges were dispersed and
killed in the very first year of his reign. He contracted
friendship with a Parwari young man named Hasan, whom
he raised to distinction, conferred upon him big estates
and gave him the title of Khusru Khan. He was made
the Vizier and Commander of the forces. He granted
amnesty to 17,000 political prisoners on the day of his
accession and carned popularity by granting six months,
pay to the army, and increasing the grants and allow-
ances to the nobles. He revoked all the rigorous regu-
lations of Ala-ud-Din and people were allowed to earry
on their transactions frecly. The confiscated lands were
restored to- their owners and the country returnd to the
natural state of things. The chronicler says, “In his
reign there was no dcficiency in the crops, no alarm
from the Mughals, no irreparable calamity from above
visited the earth, no revolt or great disturbances arose
in any quarter, not a hair of any one was injured, and
the pame of grief or sorrow never entered the breast or
passed from the tongue of any one”
" The revolt of Alp Khan in Guzerat was suppressed
by Ain-ul-Mulk in the very first ycar of the rcign, and
Zafar Khan, father-in-law of the Sultan took the place
of Alp Khan as governor of the proviuee, In 1318 A.D. -
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the. Sultan ~ proceeded against  Harpal —Dev of
Devagiri, who had asser ted independence after the death
of Malik Kafur. On the approach of the army of Delhi
the Mahrattas fled in all directions. Harpal Dev was
captured and flayed alive, Malik Yaklakhi was appoint~
ed governor of Devagiri and the Mahratfa country com~
pletely brought under control. Khusru Khan was sent
to M’abar with a large army to follow in the footsteps:
of Malik Kafur, and the Sultan returned to Delhi.
Khusru marched without opposition throughout the
South and remained there about- a year. But he was a
base and designing fellow. On his way to Mabar he
plotted with other base followers. like himself to remove
the king from the throne. He also-formed intrigues
against some old Maliks who were loyal to the Sultan.

. But Kutb-ud-Din was so infatuated with the vile
Parwari that he sent for him from the Decean to con-
found the Maliks. He spent his time in dissipation and °
low pleasures, appointed to high office young men of
low birth, and disgraced and insulted the old nobles.
“The good qualities which the Sultan had possessed
were now all perverted. He gave way to wrath and
obscenity, to scverity, revenge and heartlessness. He
dipped his hands in innocent blood, and he allowed . lhis
tongue to utter disgusting and abusive words to his
companions and attendants” says Barni, Khusru Khan
on his return to Delhi  procured the punishment of the
Maliks who compluined against him. He mow brought
a large number of Parwaris to Delhi and with their
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help basely assassinated his master, and perpetrated
indescribable inhumanities. Members of the Royal
~family and the Maliks and Amirs were killed in large
numbers, and Khusru mounted the throne under the
title of Sultan Nasir-ud-Din (March 24th, 1321 A.D.).
Khusrn and his band of Parwaris were now in full
possession of the Palace. The Hindus under the impres-
sion that the Muslim rule had come to an end joined
them. But as they came from' the lowest class in the
-community the Rajputs and other respectable peoples
-did not co-operate with them. Some of the officers
-of the late Sultan were retained in service but the
important positions were filled by Parwaris, The women
-of the royal harem were distributed among them, while
Khusro kept to himself the widow of the late king.
“The flames of violence and cruelty reached to the
skies. Copics of the holy book were used as scats, and
idols were set up in the pulpits of the Mosque” says
Barni, Every attempt was made to increase the power
and importance of the Parwaris and Hindus so that
Khusru . may be assured of his position, Ile cither
removed from the scene or influenced most of the old
officers,  But he was afraid of Ghazi Malik, the Gover-
nor of Dipalpur. In order to obtain his support he
made his son Muhammad Falchr-ud-Din Juna, afterwards
Sultan  Mubammad Tughlak, master of the horse. DBut
Fakhr-ud-Din fled from the court after two months, and
his father Malik Ghazi proceeded towards Delhi with a
“wast army. Khusrn distributed three years’ salary to. the
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troops to win their support. But the Musalmans mostly
left him. The two armies met at Lahrawat outside
Delki, and after a well-contested battle Khusru fled
towards Tilpat. He was captured in a garden, and
beheaded. The Parwaris and Hindus were killed where-
ever they were found. Ghazi Malik on the second day
after the battle removed from Indrapat to Siri, called an
assembly in the Hazar-Satun, and enquired if there was
any descendant of the old royal family alive, so that he
might place him on the throne. There was however
none left and the nobles said: “Thon, O Ghazi Malik,
hast claime upon us. For many years thou hast been
a barrier to the Mughals, and hast prevented their
coming into Hindustan. Now thou hast done a faith-
full work, which will be recorded in history; thou hast
delivered the Musalmans from the yoke of Hindus and
Parwaris ; thou hast avenged our benefactors and hast
laid every one, rich and poor, under obligation ...... All
we who are here present know no one besides thee who
is worthy of royalty and fit to rule” The nobles assem-
bled there placed him upon the throne with one voice,
and he was henceforth known as Sultan Ghiyas-ud-Din.
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CHAPTER VIL
" THE TUGHLAK DYNASTY.
Ghiyas-ud-Din‘ Tughlak, .

The new ‘Sultan was a. man of mature experlencc
He was a veteran soldier and an able administrator.
He belonged to a tribe called l[amunwk Turk, ie. of
mixed birth, asit is believed that some Turks married Indlan
wolnen, and,produced this new tribe. Ferishta saya that
the mother of Ghiyas-ud-Din was 2 Jat woman and
Tughlak is a vulgarism from Kutlugh. Marco Polo
also says Karaunas meant mixed breed. Ibn Batata
says Karounas were the people inhabiting the country
between Sind and the country of the Turks. Ghiyas-ud-Din
was very poor and came to Sind as the servant of a
merchant. He later on ‘entered the service of Ulugh
Khan, brother of Ala-ud-Din Khilji, when he was
governor of Sind, as a Puek or foot-man. By his cour-
age and bravery he gradually obtained promotion. Ulugh
Khan made him his master of the horse, and Kutub-
ud-Din Mubarak placed in his charge the frontier pro=
vince of Dipalpur. As'lord of the marches he bad to
defend the country against the Mughals, and thus he
acquired position and power which no other governor
<could claim,

His advent to power resulted in ‘many healthy
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reforms. Within a week -the old unrest disappeared
and government of the country took a regular course.
The surviving members of the old royal family were
treated with honour and respect. The nobles received
their due position and every body was content. He
revised the Jand revenue system and introduced an equi-
table method. Only one-tenth or one-eleventh of the
gross produce was demanded as revenue. The raiyals
were left sufficient to improve their cultivation. A new
spirit was shown towards the Hindus, whom he did not
like to reduce to poverty and destitntion but at the
same time he did not want them to be “blinded with
wealth,” The old buildings and forts were repaired,
and a code of laws based upon the Quran was drawn
up so that people might feel security of life and pro-
perty. He also invited to the court men of genius and
learning, The defensive works in the frontiers were
fortified and strong garrisons were placed there against
the Mughals. Within a short time the country began to
enjoy peace and prosperity.

During : the troubled condition of Delhi the Hindu
chiefs of the South tried to throw oft their alleginnce.
The Raja of Telingana had not paid his tribute for
some years, So in 1321 A. D. the Sultan sent his eon
Malik Fakhr-ud-Din now ecalled Ulugh Khan, with &
large number of nobles and big forces from Chanderi,
Budayun and Malwa. The people of Devagiri joined
the prince. Without opposition the army reached the
fort of Warrangal, where the Hindus assembled in large
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numbers. Ulugh Khan invested the place, vigorous.
fight went on for some days, till Rai Laddar Dev, in great.
distress, sued for pea~e. But Ulugh Khan would not
be satisfied with any thing less than the reduction of
the fort and capture of the Rai. In the meantime a
report was circulated in pursuance of a design, that the-
Sultan was dead. Some of the armies fearing danger-
left the prince who now hwrried back to Delhi. The-
Sultan made an example of Ubaid the poet, who spread
the false story, and other rebels by impaling them alive..
Four months afterwards Ulugh Khan returned to the-
Decean with strong veinforcements. His first conquest
on this occasion was Bidar. Then he attacked Warra--
gal, and after a few days the fort was captured, and.
the Rai swrrendered with all his Rais and Muladdims:
with their families, elephants and horses. The Rai
was sent to Delhi, Warrangal was called henceforth:
Sultanpur, and new officers were appointed for the:
administration of the province of Telingana and cap-
tured there forty elephants. The empire at this time-
was 50 well-protected = that the Mughal armies.
which attacked. the forntiers were heavily repulsed,
and two of their generals brought as prisoners to-
Delhi.

Some of the Maliks who left the camp of Ulugh
Khan in the Deccan fled to Bengal. There Ghiyas--
ud-Din  Bahadur Shah, a grandson of Nasir-ud-din.
Bughra Khan, had quarrelled with : his brothers,.
Nasir-ud-din  and  Shahab-ud-Din,  Bughra Khan.
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ruled as an independent king at Sonargaon in
East Bengal. Nasir-ud-Din  held the fief of Lakh-
nauti, including North Behar. Complaints were sent
40 the Sultan against the tyranny and oppressive rule
of Bahadur Shah. Ghiyas-ud-Din  marched towards
Bengal leaving his son, Ulugh Khan as his viceroy at
Delhi.  Nasir-ud-Din surrendered at Tirhut and Ghiyas-
ud-Din Bahadur was soon brought as prisoner. Tatar
Khan, an adopted son of the Sultan was appointed
governor of Sonargaon, Nasir-ud-Din was confirmed as
governor . of Lakbnauti with the overlordship of
Sonargaon, and Bahadur Shah was carried back to Delhi
as one of his nobles. On recciving news of his victory.
Ulugh Khan made preparations for his reception at
Afghanpur, about eight miles from Tughlakabad, where
the Sultan had removed his capital. A palace of wood
or kushk was erected in three days, and when the
Sultan returned from Bengal he was reccived there with
great pomp. At the close of the feast the pavilion
collapsed, some say on ccount of the fall of a
thunder-bolt, Ibo Butata says on account of the march
of the clephants, and the Sultan with his younger
son Mahmud was killed by the fall of the structure
(February, 1325 A, D). There is sufficient evi-
dence to prove that the whole thing was arranged, and
that Clugh Khan although nominated as beir-apparent
was anxious to chorten his period of apprenticeship.
“But”, as Ferishta has said, "God only knows the real
truth.  Ghivas-ud-Din  died after a reign of o litde over
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four years, and he left his mark upon the administra-
tion of the country in every department,

Muhammad Tughlak (1325-51 A, D).

The throne of Delhi was never adorned by a more
accomplished or a more competent ruler than Ulugh
Khao, who succeeded his father under the title of
Muhammad Tughlak. He was a good scholar and an able
general. He was also endowed with a rich imagination.
He was proficient in the different branches of learning
such as physics, logic, and studied thoroughly the Quranic
literatures and the philosophical writings. He had a
fine taste for literature, and could write poetry, and he
had the reputation of a good caligraphist. “No learned or
scientific man, or scribe, or poct, or wit, or physician,
says Barni, “could bave had the presumption to argue
with him about s own special pursuit, nor would he
have even been able to maintain his position against the
throttling argun.cots of the Sultan” He was also kind
and generous and would even visit the patients in the
hospital. But 8s the autocratic ruler of the vast domi-
nions of India he could not brook any opposition to
his will. Me could not bear any criticism of his-action
nor could he tolerate the - fanaticism of the Mullas. He
was very harsh in giving punishment. “His mind was
cast to know” says Thomas, “no mercy or compassion
28 & judge, and he was led to carry out his best-inten-
tioned mensures with an utter disregard of human suffer-
ing” The Moorish traveller, Ibn DBatuta, who was

1
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present in his court describes him as a compound of
generosity and cruelty. “Muhammod s a man” says he,
“who, above all others, is fond of making presents and
shedding blood. There may always be seen at his
gate some person becoming rich, ‘or some living one
condemned to death.” He was strictly religious and free
from the common vice of those days. Inspite of all
these good qualities people rember him as a cruel monarch
full of idiosyncracies and mad projects. Ie succecded
to a vast empire, and himself tried to keep the distant
provinces under proper coutrol, but most of these states
cut themselves' off from the government of Delhi shortly
afterwards. His reign therefore may well be studied as
the most interesting cpoch in the history of the wmiddle
ages. In the beginning of his reign he was harrassed by
the attacks of the Mughals. They conquered Lumghan,
Multan and the northern provinces and were marching
upon Delhi when the Sultan purchased peace by offering
valuable presents almost equal the price of the kingdom.
They retreated through Guzerat and Sind and carried
rich plunder and many prisoners.

The wild projects of the Sultan,

He formed a number of schemes without consulting
any of his friends or advisers. Whatever he considered
as good he tried to carry out at whatever cost it
might be. In pursuance of his wild schemes he dis-
regarded the feelings and convenience of the people, and
tried to carry them out with all the ferocity of his
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temper. When they falled be became still more wild,
and his oppression became still more unbearable, and
the distant districts began to revolt. “These schemes
effected the ruin of “the Sultan’s erpire” says Bariii,
“und the decay of the people. Every one of them that
was enforced wrought some wrong and mischief, and
the minds of all men, high and low, were disgusted
with their ruler. Territories and districts which had
been securely selected were lost.”

(2). The first project which created great bitterness
and hardship was his attempt to enhance the tributes from
the Doab, oppressive abwabs or cesses were imposed and
“collected so rigorously that therasyats were impoverished
and reduced to beggary” Many people gave up culti-
vation and fled to the jungles. To add to the distress of
the people there was deficiency of rain, and the
result was famine which continued for some years.
Thousands of people died of starvation. He later -on
tried to mitigate the distress by distributing food for
six months, granting agricultural loans and excavating wells.
But these measures did not go very far in solving the
situation. -

{b) His second project was the removal of the
capital from Delhi to Deogiri. It is rather difficult to
guess why he ordered the transfer. Ibn Batuta says
that he was angry with the citizens of Delhi for send-
ing him letters full of insults and invectives. “He decided
to ruin Delhi, so he purchased all the houses and inns
from" the inhabitants, paid them the price and then
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ordered them to remove to Daulatabad” The fact that
he ordered the entire population of Delhi to remove
to Devagiri which - began to be called henceforth
Daunlatabad lends support to the view of Ibn Datuta.
Ferishta says that the Sultan was pleased with the situation
of Devagiri as it was more central than Delhi. This
view is corroborated by the earlier historian Zia-ud Din
Barni. Delhi, Guzerat, Lakhnauti, Sat-gaon, Sonargaon,
Tilang, M’abar, Dwara-S8amudra and Kampila were
almost equidistant from that plaee. According to
Ferishta bhis counsellors were in favour of Ujjain.
Devagiri held the key to the Deccan which was then
considered to be the richest part of India. But this
does not explain the drastic order for the transfer
of every body, even the cats and dogs. The capital
could have been removed without destroying Delbi, It
is cvident that he had some grudge against the old
capital. Ibn Batuta visited Delhi when it was still
deserted, and his information may not be altogether
without foundation. Devagiri was seven hundred miles
from Delhi. Trees were planted along the roads to give
shade to travellers, and moncy was given to those who
could not defray their own expenses. The journey
was 80 tedious that many people died on the way.

Delhi was an old city and rivalled Baghdad and
Cairo. Barni says it spread over four or five Los. Ibn
Batuta is very lavish in his praise of this city as
a famous city uniting beauty and strength. It was
the largest city in Indiy, and in fact of all
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countries  subject to Islam in the East. The wall sur-
rounding the city was eleven cubits thick, and there were
twenty-eight gates. It commanded a strategic position,
as not only it held the route to the plains of Northern
India, but it could also watch the movements of the
Mughals in the north-west frontier. All the provinces
of Northern India could be approached from it by well-
known routes. It had ample scope for growth aod
expansion, as already it consisted of four ecities viz.
Delhi, Siri, Tughlakabad and Jahan-panah. Daulatabad
did not possess all these advantages. It was not pro-
perly connected by natural routes with the eastern
provinces, nor was it possible to maintain the defence
of the frontiers against the Mughals from such a long
distance. Daulatabad stood on the top of a small hill.
Mubammad Tughlak invested much mouey and labour
in making it fit for the capital. He erected a number
of new buildings, dug a deep ditch round the fort, and
set up a number of reservoirs for storing water on the
hills, Inspite of all ite charms Daulatabad could not
make the citizens of Delhi happy in their new homes,
After a few years pestilence raged in the city, and the
Sultan gave permission to the people to return to Delhi.
But it took a long time to repeople the old capital.

¢} The third project of Muhammad Tughlak was
of a very sweeping nature. He wanted to arganise a
gigantic army to bring about the conquest of the whole
habitable world. The gold and silver he had in the
treasury was not sufficient for the purpose. He there-
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fore formed the project of a token currency without
the necessary safognards for the success of such 2
scheme, Kublai Khan had devised the plan of paper
currency in China, and it was a success there. But
Mohammad Tughlak issued an order that eopper coins
would be equivalent to silver and gold coins. A token
currency in order to be successful requires that the
issning authonty should be one, and that any other
party issuing or manufacturing sych cnrrency should
be properly punished and that there should be
stability of government in the country so that people
may have full confidence in the issuing autharity.
The experiment of Muohammad Tughlak lacked all these
requisites, Many people hngan to manufacture copper
coins. The issue of gold and silver coins was not
stopped. Tribute was paid in copper coins, but the
state had to make payment in gold and silver. In
course of time there was so much copper eurrency in
circulation that the value of the old coins rose four-fold
or five-fold, The Royal Mint did not possess any
special machinery to mark off its own output from the
coins manufactured by others. This depreciated currency
produced dislocation of trade, and after sometime when
the Sultan saw his mistake he repealed the edict. The
experiment however depleted the treasury considerably.
“The Sultan beeame very bitter at his failure,

(d). Muhammad Tughlak wasted s vast amount of
money in his projects for sending expeditions outside
India. Ile had a plan of conquering Khorasan and
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Irak. He tried to influence the officials and leading men
of these countries by oftering them vast sums of money,
“These men got the money but did not help Muhammad
in his projects. He had raised an immense army of
370,000 horse for the purpose. For full one year the
army was maintained out of the treasury, but when the
plan of the expedition fell through it was disbanded.
The loss to the treasury on this account was immense. -
He sent an expedition with 100,000 horse and a host
~of infantry against the Hindu King of Karachil on the
Himalayas between India and China. The vast army
perished and only ten men returned to Delhi to give
the news of the disaster. All these failures made the
‘Sultan furious, and weakened his hold upon the princes
:and peoples of India.

Revolts and distrubances.

Mubammad Tughlak had brought under control
almost the whole of India. His empire consisted of no
Jess than twenty-three provinces, according to one
.authority, scattered from the borders of Afghanistan to
Malabar in the south and from Guzerat to Jajnagar in the
-east. In the Punjab were the provinees of Lahore, Multan
Kohram, Samanah, Siwistan, Ucch, Sirsuti, Hansi, Delhi ;
further east were Budayun, Kanauj, Oudh, Karrah,
Bihar, Lakhnauti, Jajnagar, in the west Guzerat, in the
centre Malwa, Kalanur, in the south Devagiri, Telin-
gana, Dwara-Samudra, and Malabar. The old rulers in
these places were replaced by governors appointed from
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Delhi, But the method of selection made the government
liable to great risks. The Sultan was a man of mixed
tribe, and the majority of the nobles were Turks and
Khiljis, The court was filled with adventurers from
abroad, and the rulers had no confidence in the Hindus.
All these parties in trying to obtain their own supre-
macy quarrelled amongst themselves and the Sultan
could not count upon the allegiance of any one of them.
None of them were interested in the stability of gov-
ernment, and therefore they were prepared in aiding or
instigating any rebellion. “So that the annals of the
period” says Dr. Thomas, “represent a mere succession
of outbreak, no sooner was one section of the empire
brought back to its allegiance than another division
would scek to assert its independence” The Sultan
had to take the ficld himself and when he went to
suppress rebellion in one place it broke out in another
part. Delhi was distant from most parts and the
removal of the capital to Daulatabad did not improve
matters. The roads were not in good order, nor were
they safe. Tributes collected from the South accumnla-
ted at Daulatabad, money from Bengal hardly reached
the capital, The governors of the different provinces
tried to reduce the control of the Sultan.

The first person to revolt against the authority of
the Bultan was Dahram Abiya at Maltan, This hap-
pened wher Muhammad Tughlak was at Devagiri, The
rebel was casily defeated. The Sultan after this victory
stayed for two years at Delld, About this time the
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Doab was ruined by heavy taxes. Land-holders and
village chiefs were some killed, some blinded on refusing
to pay. The whole country of Baran was plundered
and devastatedl. The heads of the Hindus were hung
upon the ramparts of the fort.

In 1333 AD. Bahram Khban, governor of Sonarga-
on died, and his armour-bearer, Fakhruddin killed
Qadar Khan, governor of Lakbnauti, plundered his
treasures, and obtained possession of Satgaon, Lakhnauth
and Sonargaon. Henceforth Bengal became an indepen—
dent kingdom. The Sultan instead of recovering the
provinee, ravaged Hindustan from Kanauj to Dalamaa.
“Many of the inhabitants fled and took refuge in the
jungles” says Barni, “but the Sultan had the jungles
gurrounded and every inhabitant that was captured
was Killed.”

A third revolt took place in M’abar, where Syed
Hasan had become independent. The Sultan was at that
time near Kanauj. On receipt of the news he started
for Devagiri, taking re-inforcements from Delhi
The famine made his journey troublesome. He
demanded heavy tributes from Devagiri, but failing
to satisfy him maoy persons committed suicide. He
sent Ahmad Ayyaz as his licutenant to Delbi, and he
personally weat to  Warrangal. But on account of the
outbreak of cholera a large number of his troops
perished, and he himself returned to Daulatabad ill. He
appointed Malik Kabul naib-wazir for Telingana, and
then Shahub Sultan was appointed governor of Bidar
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with the title of Nasrat Khan. His tator Katlagh
Khan was left in charge of the Mahratta country, and
then on his way to Delhi he gave permission to those
with whom Daulatabad did not agree to return to. the
old capital. But famine had reduced the country deso-
late, and people could not procure their necessarics.
The entire country from Malwa to Delhi was full of
distress and anarchy. The Sultan advanced loans for
cultivation, but people spent the money in purchasing
necessaries for which they were severely punished. The
rains failed and the cultivators were helpless and in-
active. A number of wells were dug for supply of
water, but they did not much help enltivation. e
suppressed the rebellion of Shaher Afghan in  Maltan,
and procceded to deal with the rebels of Sanuan and
Samana, who had built mandals (strong-holds), refused
1o pay tribute, and created disturbances. The Sultan
killed a large number and bronght their chiefs as priso-
ners to Delhi. They forced to accept Islam and to
take service under Musalman nobles. In the Sonth
the Hindus of Warrangal under Kanbya Naik overthrew
the Muslim rule. Disaffection spread throughout the
land. .

After a few years the Sultan failing to mitigate the
distress of the people allowed then to migrate to other
parts, Ie himself encamped at a place called Sarg-
dwari, on the banks of the Ganges near Kampila,
Iere he received provisions from Karra and Oudh at
a much cheaper price than at Delli, Ain-ul Mulk,
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governor of Oudh and Zafarabad, rendered great service
to the Sultan. His position in his provinces was very
strong, and many nobles from Delhi went to him for
shelter. Katlagh Xhan, governor of Daulatabad had 2
difficult time on account of the disaffection of his officers. °
Nasrat Khan of Bidar, and Amir Ali of Kulburga re-
belled in 1346 A.D. Katlagh Khan succeeded insuppressing
both the risings. But the Sultan wanted to replace him
by Ain-ul-Mulk, which the latter considered as n nunish-
ment on account of his connections with Oudh and
Zafarabad. ‘Ain-ul-Mulk suspected that the king was
desirous of reducing his powers. So he revolted against
him, and suddenly attacked the royal camp at Sarg-
dwari. The Sultan took Ain-ul-Mulk a prisoner after
o battle but treated him well, and restored him to his
.government, as he believed that he had been misled by
-others. Then he proceeded on his pilgrimage to the
-shrine of Salar Musa-ud-Ghazi, at Bahraich, and shortly |
-afterwards returned to Delhi.

Confirmation by the Caliph.

As o Musalman Muhammad Tughlak felt that his
position  should be recognised by the Caliph. - At that
time the Caliphate was divided into two parts. The
‘Caliph of Egypt reprosented the line of Abbas. So
Muhammad Tughlak sent representatives from Sargdwari
to Egypt with an offer of his submission. In 1843 A.D.
an embssy from the Caliph came to the Sultan with '
robe. The Sultan received him with great respect and
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henceforth he called himself a deputy of the Caliph, and
ordered the name of the Caliph to be read in the
prayers.

Affairs in the Deccan and Guzerat.

The Sultan remained for three or four years at Delhi
after his return from Sarg-dwari. He now did his best
for the promotion of agriculture. A large amount of
money was allotted for distribution as loans, but the
officers appointed for the purpose dishonestly helped
themselves with the money and the country did not
get any benefit. The Sultan in this period patronised
and favoured a large number of Mughals. He devised
many plans for increasing his revenues. The discontent
increased on account of his harsh punishments. To
increase the revenues in the Deccan he divided the
Mahratta country into four parts, each under a
governor, Instructions were given to the governors
to put an end to the lives of those who were not well
disposed towards the Sultan. Reports against Katlagh
Khan reached Delhi, so he was recalled from Danlata-
bad. His brother Nizam-ud Din was sent to take his
place. Katlagh was a tutor of the king. He had
increased the income of the state by strict eollection,
but all monmey was accumulating at Dharn-giri. The
recall of Katlagh Khan was a ead blunder, as it anta-
gonised a large number of officers, and created suspi-
cion in the minds of the people. The new arrange-
ments were  very unsatisfuctory. The officers were
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oppressive and exacting, A man of low birth called Aziz
Himar was appointed governor of Dhar and Malwa. He
was given special instructions to extirpate the foreign
amirs who were not likely to be loyal to the central
government. Aziz proeured the death of eighty such
foreign amirs and was presented by the king with a
robe of honour, This created a feeling of consternation
among the nobles of Devagiri and Guzerat. The king
had promoted to high rank a number of men of mean
origin, who he considered would be ready weapons in
his hands for his wicked designs. The amirs in
Guzerat rose against Makbul at Dihui and Baroda,
carried off his horses and treasures and then proceeded
to Cambay. The news of the revolt reached the Sultan
in Feb. 1345 A. D. and he then marched towards
Guzerat. He did not accept the offer of Katlagh Khan
to lead an army to suppress the rebellion. During
his absence Firoz, Malikk Kabir and Ahmad Ayyaz
were appointed to look after the business of government
at Delhi, Azz, governor of Dhar, went in advance to
deal with the "rebels, but he was killed by them, and
his army defeated. '

The Sultan proceeded along Sultanpur, Anhilwara,
through the mountaine of Abu towards Dihui and
Baroda. The rebels being unable to stand against the
royal army fled to Daulatabad. They were overtaken
by some troops sent from Broach near the Narmada.
The foreign amirs of Broach who were sent after
them along with Malik Makbul were killed there under
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royal commands by the Malik. Those who could
manage fled either to Deogir or to Guzerat. During
his short stay at Broach the Sultan took steps for
collecting the dues of Broach, Cambay aod Guzerat,
with great vigour. At the same time he sent two persons
Zin-banda, and Pisar Thanesari, notorious for their
wickedness to hold an enquiry regarding the cause of
disaffection in Deogiri, and another order wis despat-
ched to the Naib-Wazxir to send 1500 horsemen from
Deogiri to Broach with the prominent foreign amirs.
Nizam-ud-Din, in execution of this order, detailed 1500
horsemen along with the foreign pobles under the
direction of the two noblemen who came to Devagiri
from Broach. The awmirs suspected foul play and
murdered the two nobles on the way, and returning
to Devagiri put Nizam-ud-Din under confinement. The
officials sent by the Sultan were killed, and the trea-
sury was brought from Dharagir. They then placed
Makh Afghan one of their leaders on the throne. The
foreign amirs in other parts soon joined them. The
Sultan then came to Devagiri and easily crushed the
rebellion. Some of the amirs fled before him to the
fort of Dharagir, While the Sultan was busy settling
the affairs in the Drcean he received the news of a
rising in  Guzerst under the leadership of Taghi, a
cobbler. Taghi was joined® by the foreign amirs and
many mudaddims of Guzerat.  They kept the governor
and his officers imprisoned, plundered Cambay and
marched towards Broach. The Sultan left Devagiri in
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charge of some officers aud proceeded towards Broach,
On his arrival there Taghi fled. An army was sent
after him towards Cambay but it was defeated.
by him. The Sultan then went himself to hound him
out. Taghi fled from Cambay to Ahmedabad, and from
there to Anhilwara. He killed the governor Shaikh.
Muizzu-d Din and his officers. The Sultan encountered
him at Karra. More than five hundred men were-
killed, but Taghi managed to escape. Tirst he went to
Anhilwara, then to Kant-barahi, and from there to-
Girnal (Junagad) and finally to Thatta where he found
shelter. The Sultan now applied himself to settle the-
affairs of Guzerat. But before he could reduce the-
country he received the' news of another rebellion
in Deogir under the leadership of Hasan Gangu. The-
governor had been killed and his army routed. The-
nobles who were loyal to the .Sultan fled to Dhar. The-
Sultan became depressed at the outbreak of so many
insurrections, Ahmad Ayyaz was summoned from Delhi.
with an army but the Sultan did not want to encounter
the rcbels at Deogiv without thorough preparation..
He therefore first underteok to scttle the affairs of
Guzerat and to capture Taghi. He spent three rainy
seasons there. After reducing Guzerat and Girnal he -
went in search of Taghi. On the way he was attacked
with fever at Kondal. He gathered a large number of
troops from the neighbourning chiefs with horses and
elephants. About 30 kos.from Thatta his illness became
serious when bhe took some fish which he could not.
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digest, after the fast of Muharram. On the 21st Muba-
qram 752 A. H. (1351 A. D.) the Sultan succumbed to
4he malady, when he was only 14 kos from Thatta.



CHAPTER VIIL
FIROZ SHAH.

¥iroz Shah Tughlak (1351-88 A. D.).

On the death of Mubammad Tughlak in Sind there
was great confusion in the royal camp. There was
gone to keep the army in order. Besides the Mughals
plundered in front and the rebels of Thatta began to
harass from behind. Fear and anxiety filled every heart.
On the third'day the nobles met in council, and agreed
that the best course for them was to place the crown
.on the head of Firoz Shah, who by his long association
with the late Sultan, and by his close relationship with
him and his able administration of Delhi during the
absence of the king had established his claim. Firoz
‘hesitated to accept the risky position. But the wishes
-of the nobles prevailed and he prayerfully received the
«crown on the 23rd March 1351 A, D. )

Tiroz was in his forty-fifth year when he succeeded
to the thwome, His father Sipah-salar Rajab was a
brother of Sultan Ghiyasud-Din Tughlak, and his
mother was a Rajput lady, being a daughter of Rana
Mall Bhatti of Dipalpur. Ghiyas-ud-Din demanded the
Rana to marry his daughter, Bibi Naila, with his
brother, but the Rana haughtily refused, This brought
great disaster upon his estate. The Rana’s mother

12
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wept bitterly over the fate of the people and hearing
her lamentations the girl said “If the surrender of me
will dcliver the people from . such. misery, comply ins-
tantly with the demand, and send me to him, consider
then that the Mughals/ have. carried off onme of your
daughters.” Firoz. was born in 1209 A, D, When he
was seven years bld lis father died, and he was brouzht
up by Tughlak Shah. He  was given thoromgh instrac-
tions in the duties of royalty: In the reign of Ghiyas-
ud-Din Tughlak he attended him in all his travels, and
and held high office under Muliammad Tughlak as *Naib
DBurbak. ~ For cfficient ~ administration Muhammad had
divided Delhi into four par ts, ‘and Firoz was in charge
of one of them, and dlschax‘rrcd his duties to the satis-
faction' of all. : :

' TImmediately on his - aceession otder was restored in
‘the army, the Mughals were defeated, and the: people
of Sind did not venture to further harass the Delli
army and their ‘march to Delhi was not opposed by
any body.

‘A rival on the throne at Delhi,

The government of Delhi was carried on by Khwaja-
iahan Ahmad Ayyaz who was sent from Thatta by
the late Sultan after the ‘death of Malik Kabir and
Katlagh Khan, "He was an old man of cighty and was
a faithful officer. On the death of the Sultan a messen-
’ger-brought him the news that not only the Sultan liad
‘died but the Mughals had attacked the royal forces and
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that bothi Tatar Khan and Firoz Shah had been. missing!
Believing - the report to be trne he placed an infant{
son of Muhammad Tnghlak on the throne, But wheti,
he realised his mistake he was apprehensive of his own
safety. He tried to gather an army and to set up a
party in his favour by distributing whatever the royal
treasury contained. Firoz marched by way of Multan
and Dipalpur. The report of the affairs at Delhi made
him very thoughtful. But on his march he received the
allegiance of all' officers and great nob]eq and. offerings
of money from the wealthy. His army was also’ consi-

i derably ‘strengthened by the large number of soldiers

accepting service under him. At Delhi matters went in

- his favour when Khan-i-Jahan left Khwaja-i-Jahan, and

rjoined Firoz Shah at Ikdar ncar Sarsuti. Finding his-

position untenable the old Khwaja-i-Jahan made up his
raind to acknowledge his blunder and to throw himself
on the mercy of Firoz. Some of his noblés deserted
liit for this' action. Khwaja-i-Jahan went to Fathabad-
{Ikdar) and approached the throne “with chaing around
lie neck, his turban  off, a falika on his head, and a
naked sword fastened to his throat”. ~The Sultan
received him' kindly, and he was willing to forgive him.
Firoz was like a son to'the old Waxir and' used to
look upon him with great respect. He was desirous of
even reinstating him in his high office, but his nobles
were determined to sce him punished for the grave
offence of overthrowing the: authority -of the Siltan.
After-long deliberations' h¢' was ordered to « proceed “to:
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Samana which was granted tohim as a fief, But he was
beheaded on the way, The Khwaja received the punish-
ment in a spirit of calm resignation with the name of
God on his lips.  Tiroz probably was not responsible
for the cruel deed. Freed from all fear of intrigues
the Sultan reached Delhi amidst great rejoicings
(Sept. 14, 1351 A. D).

A plot against Firoz

Khudawan@-Zada, sister of Muhammad Tughlak,
tried to set up her son Dawar Malik, as the successor
of her brother. But the nobles dissuaded her from
taking such a course in view of the disturbed conditions
of the country, She agreed and acknowledged the
claims of Firoz. At Delhi she was allowed to reside
in a place of the late Sultan. Firoz Shah used to visit
her every Friday after prayers. Khudawand and her
husband Khusru Malik devised a plot of killing him
when he would come to visit them. But their son
Dawar Malik warned Firoz as soon as he reached there,
and he managed to escape before the plot could be
exccuted. For this reason Khudawand was removed
from the Palace and was granted only a small allowance
and her husband was banished,

The Policy of Firoz Shah.

The new Sultan was & man of different nature from
his predecessor. He was soft and forgiving, and was
unwilling to  shed “bload, Although his mother was a
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Rajpat lady be was brought up as a strict Munsalman.
He forbade the ercction of new Hindu Temples, des-
troyed many old temples, and built mosques in
in their places. He imposed jizya upon the Hindus,
and exacted from them a special tax as the price of
toleration.  Shins, herctics and free-thinkers were
severely punished. But be was very kind to the
Musalmans of his own persuasion. He had great faith
in the Quran aod the Imawns. Like his predecessor
he got himself recozmised by the Caliph, and received
a diploma from him. He built a large number of
mosques, colleges “and wonasteries and granted allowances
to the learnel doctors of the law of Iskwu. On the
advice of the Shaikh-ul Islam Shaikh Kutbu-d-Din he
promised to give up drinkingy wine, and the game
of huniinz. But he could not get rid of any of these
evils,

On the assumption of office the first act of the
Sultan was to cancel the old debts Muhamuad
Tughluk advancel a lurze sum of moncy to people for
restoring their land, village and quarters after the dark
days of fumive. Khiwaja-I-Jahan also distributed jewels
and  diamonds amongst them when Firoz Shah was in
Sind. The Sultan now relieved the people of theie great
anxety by destroying the reconds of the loans in the
ozea court. He stopped the collection of many frivolous,
un'awful and ubjust cesses, and issued strict onders to
receive enly the regular government dues. The revennes
of the state were derived from these sourves, first
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Kharajor tenth part of produce from the cultivated
lands, second Zakat or alms, third jiziya or poll-tax on
Hindus and non-Muslims, and fourth EKhams or fifth of
the spoil and of the produce of mines. His predeces-
sors used to demand four-fifths of the spoil, this palicy
he disapproved as unlawful. The goods required for
the royal houschold were purchased at the market
price. These reforms were greatly appreciated by the
poeple. They became rich and prosperous.

Another reform for which he had been strongly
criticised is the system of granting jagirs to his officers
He granted villazes in lieu of their salaries to the officers
according to their ranks, Sultan Ala-ud-Din disapproved
of this method as encouraging pride and insubordi-
nation. But Firoz discarded from his mind any such
thought. Further he restored villages, lands and ancient
patrimonies of every kind to those who had forfeited
their property in previous reigns. These acts of
generosity made the people attached to his throne, anl
in the whole of forty years’ reizn he did not suffir
from any rebellion. He also clearly defined the law of
succession, s0 that when an officer in the army diel
bis property or jagir remained with his successor.

His tenderness of heart is also seen in his modi-
fying the mcthod of punistinent. Amputation of any
limb, plucking out the eyes or other kinds of severe
tortures practised by the oll kings he stopped. Thix
reform  was  intended mainly for the Musalmans, but it
was extended to all men. The Sultan says in Fuluhat-s-
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Firox Shahi, “Through ‘the mercy which God has shown
to me thése severities and terrors have been exchanged
for tenderness, kindness and mercy. Fear and respeet;
bave thus taken firmer hold of the bearts of men and
there has been no need of executions, scourgings,
tortures or terrors” He was a benevolent monarch
and tried to promote the welfare of the people by
extensive public works. A number of canals were dug
for the improvement of agriculture, many buildings
were erected and a large number of gardens cultivated.

Expeditions to Lakhnauti.

During the disturbed reign of Muhammad Tughlak
the rulers of Bengal assumed independence. Shams-
uddin Haji Ilyas Alai mounted the throne in 1340 A. D.
and since then he subjugated all the territory up to
the borders of DBenares, In 1333 A. D. IFiroz Shah
qmarched from Delhi with 70,000 Khang and Maliks, 2
lakhs of infantry, 60,000 cavalry, and a large number
of clephants, through Hindustan, The army of
Bhams-ud-din  was posted at the junction of the
Kosi and the Ganges. Firoz Shah found it difficult
to cross the river there, therefore, he marched about
100 kos up the Kosi and crossed the river below
Champaran. On receipt of the news of his crossing
Shams-ud-din  retreated into the fortress of Ikdala.
Firoz Shah marched ~through Camparan and Rachap,
and besieged Panduah the capital of I’;Ienga]. The Rai,
‘Ranas and xemindars of Bengal came in Jarge numbers
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to the Sultan. Ikdala was invested for 22 days, but
the place was diffieult to rednce, as it was in the midst
of the river, and as the rains would make the position
of Yiroz Shah precarious he resolved to withdeaw his
camp 7 kos towards Delhi.” Shams-ud-din was informed
that the Dclhi army was retreating, so he came out
of Tkdala in pursuit of the Sultan’s forces. On the
approach of the Beogal army Firoz Shab turned back
and drew up his army in thres divisions, In a furious
engagement Shams-ud-din was defeated and he again took
refuge in the fort. Firoz Shah triumphantly entered
Panduah, but on account of the piteons appeal of the
women he desisted from devastating the city, Tatar
Khan advised the Sultan to complete the conquest,
but Firoz Shah was not willing - to press as he found
that Bengal was a land  of swamps, and the previous
Sultans of Dethi did not succeed in maintaining their
rule over this distant proviuce. He therefore made
overtures for peace, which Shams-ud-din was too willing
to accept.  An envoy was sent to the Snltan with rich
presents, The boundaries of the kingdoms of Bengal
and Delli were defined, and henceforth Delhi agreed
not to interfere in the affairs of Bengal, It is suid that
150,0000 heads were found in the field after the Dbattle.
Firoz Shah eaptared forty-cizit elephants and killed three.
Pandual was renamed Ifirozabal, and  Ikdala Azad-par.
This  expedition  to  Lukhnauti took the Sultan
cleven months to finish.  Shams-ud-din  kept his
friendly relations with Tiroz Shah by sending
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occasionally  cmbassics with gifts and presents to-
Delhi. ' .
After the departare of Firoz Shah from Lakhnauti,.
Shams-ud-lin led an expedition against Fakhr-ud-Din of
Sonargacn, killed him in action and annexed his territory,
His son-in-law Zafar Khan fled on a boat by sea to Thatta,.
and from there he went to Delli to represent his case
before the Sultan, who was then residing at Hisar
Firozah. In support of the claims of Zafar Khan the
Sultan made preparation to march upon Lakhnauti ine
1359 A. D. In the meantime Shamsud-din had died, and:
his son Sikandar had come to the throne. The Sultan’s
army consisted of 60,000 cavalry, innumerable infantry
ang 470 elephnats. He had also with him many big
boats. H2 marchel through Kananj and Oudh to
Jaunpur.  The ecity of Jaunpur was founded om
this occasion in memory of the late Sultan Muham-
mad Jauny, and ‘Firoz Shah stayed there six
months to supervise the works. From Zafarabad
few miles below Jaunpur, on the Gumti, he sent
army to Sikandar Shah to settle the terms of peace in
view of the impending rains, DBut as the negotiations
did not prove very successful Firoz Shah marched upon:
Panduah, Sikandar Shah now teok his position within
the fort of Ikdnla which-the Sultan soon invested. The
sicge was dragzed on to some length and both parties
became tired, Tiroz Shah agreed to pence on  the
condition that Zafar Xhan should be given the kingdom
of Sonarpaon, to which Sikandar readily ncceded.
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But Zafar Khan did vot like to go bick to Sonargaon,
50 henceforth Sikandar Shah remained in  undisputed
‘possession of Bengal. '

Firoz Shah new returned to Jaunpur with forty
-tlephants from Lakhnauti, He now thought of leading
an  expedition into Jajnagar which was then reputed to
be a rich kingdom containing innumerable eclephants.
Theré was plenty of corn and fruit in the country.
The rais were Brahmans and the name of the reigning
king was Adaya. The Sultan marched through Belur
and: when he . reached Jajnagar {modern Orissa) the
Rai fled to an island in the river. The country was
roined by the Musalmans and the Rai meekly submit-
ted. He presented to the Sultan twenty big clephangs,
and promised to  send some every year. On the return
march Firoz Shah received presents from many other
Rajas. Ile lost his way in the hills and forests of
‘Chota Nappur, and no news of the Sultan could be
bad for six months. These expeditions in Lakhnanti
and Jajnagar took the Sultan two years and seven
months,

.

Siege of Nagarkot

The shrine of Jwalamukhi at  Nagarkot had ronsed
the cnpidity of many a ruler. Firoz Shah led an ex-
pedition in 1360-61 AD. The Rai of Nagarkot retired
within the strong fortress and  kept the Musalmaus at
bay for six months. IHe showed (Pt conrage and
<endurance in putting up his defence against heavy odds.
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But ultimately he surrendered and the Sultan besto_wcd.
on him robes of honour and an umbrella. It is related
in the history of Ferishta that the idol in the temple
was the image of Nowshaba, the wife of Alexander the
great. There was about 1300 volumes of Hindu books
in the library attached to the temple and one of these
books was translated by order of Firoz Shah.

-

Campaigns in Sind.

Sind. was a land of regrets to Firoz Shah. He was
very sorry that Mubammad Tughlak failed to conquer
that province and died in the course of his campaigns.
I'iroz considered it his duty to avenge his predecessor
and to finish the work left undone by him. He organis-
ed a huge army of 90,000 horse and 480 elephants, and
at Bhakkar collected 5000 boats. Within a few days
the army reached Thatta (1371 A.D). Jam Babiniya was
then the master of Thatta on the other side of the
Indus. He also made preparations for defending his
country. But before any crgagement took place three-
fourths of the horses belonging to the Sultan perished
on account of the outbreak of a pestilence, and their
difficuities further increased by the high price of grain.
Jam DBabiniya came out with an army of 20,000
horse, 40,000 foot soidiers, but when the Sultan made
a vigorous charge the encmy fled. Firoz Shah howerver,
found that it was not safe for him to risk another
engagement  with his reduced army. So he resolved to
withdraw to Guzerat to get reinforcements. Zafar Khan
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with - his Bengali Regiment led the rear. The people of
Smd tried to stop the retrcat, but they were defeated
by Zafar Khan. The boats belonging to the Sultan fell
into the hands of the enemy, although he managed to
carry his bageage to Guzerat. The retreat aloug the
sea coast was full of risks. The horses were destroyed
by the postilence, famine carried away a large number
of troops, and they were led to the Ran of Kach where
the whole army was about to be destroyed. No news
of the Sultan could be had for six months. - Khan-i-
Jahan by his shrewd intellizence managed to maintain
the loyalty of the people at Delhi. After the weary
march through the salt arcas and  deserts for
months  together the army reached Guzerat. The
governor of Guzerat was dismissed for not sending
relief to the Sultan. With the revenunes of Guzerat
the Sultan recruited fresh troops. Khan-i-Jahan also
sent large supplies of munitions and moncy from Delhi.
Zafar Khan was appoioted governor of Guzerat. The
sccond campaign of Firoz Shalh was more fortunate.
His troops were in good spirits. Jam DBabiniya had
also gathered a large army of troops and rebuilt his
fortss The Sultaw’s forces under Malik Imad-ul Malk
and Zafar Khan crossed the Indus by marching up one
hundred and twenty kos. A terrible battle ensued, but
before the issues could be decided the Sultan sent words
to stop the battle lest the number of the Musalmin
slain be very large, Imd-ul-Mulk was then gent to Delhi
for getting re-inforcements. Knan-iJatan gathesed forces
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from all parts of the kingdom, such as Badayun, Kanauj,
Sandila, Oudh, Jaunpur, Bihar, Tirhut, - Chanderi, Dhar,
the Doab, Samana, Dipalpur, Multan, Lahore .and other
parts. Imad-ul-Mulk returned with all possible speed.
Jam Babiniya now surrendered. The conquest of Sind
was now achicved, and the Sultan Firoz Shah returned
to Delhi with the Jam in his train. When Tamachi the
brother of Babiniya rebelled some years later he was
sent to bring his brother captivee To the end of
his life he remained faithful to the Sultan. In the
affairs of Sind the = Sultan showed great weakness. He
endangered the lives of his men on account of his poor
preparations. Moreover he had not the courage to pur-
sue his conguests. He lacked resolution and when
victory was in his hand he threw it away by his femi-
nine softness. The success of his campaigns was due
to Imad-ul-Mulk and the KXhan-i-Jahan, More than two
and half years were spent in these campaigns.

When Firoz Shah was preparing to start for Thatta
from Guzerat he received iutimation that there was a
dispute between the two rival claimants to the throne
of Daulatabad, and that it was an opportune time for
him to assert his authority there. He did not take any
notice of Bahram Khan and thus let the Deccan slip
from his bands. On his return to Delhi reports of
trouble came from M’abar. Shortly after Daulatabad
Mabar revolted and accepted Kurbat Hasan Kangu as
its king. But Kangu lost the sympathy of the people
by his childish actions and & Hindu chief named Bakan
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became the ruler. The officers at  Delhi were prepared
to go to the Decesn but the Sultan “was resolved never
more to make war.- upon men of ‘Muhammadan faith”
He gave up all idea of military eampaigns; and devoted
the restlof his-life to civil administration and public
works, - :

Recruitment of Slaves. .

' Firoz 'Shah was very fond of enlisting slaves. So
manj slaves were admitted that' there was a distinet
department  for fnaunging  their affairs. They were
fnaintained on a liberal scale, some joined the army,
some ‘were " allowed to devote their time to religious
work, and somec even weut on pilgrimage to Mceea.
About 12,000 learnt mechanical arts and beeame arti-
sans, and 40,000 attended the Sultan as gunards. We
are told that the total number of slaves in Delhi and
in other places within the empire was no less than
180,000. The fief-holders and officers were given ‘spe-
cial instruction to capture slaves and to send the best
to the court. On the oceasion of their visit to the
court feudatories used to bring beautiful slaves' a8
presents, but they reccived remission in their tributes
to the extent of the value of the presents which were
regularly appraised under an ediet of the Sultan. When
the number of slaves was in excoss, they were sent to
to the feudal dependencies and to amirs and wmaliks.
They were employed in all sorts of occuputions and the
Gultan used to take ' great deal of interest in them,
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On the death of the Sultan:they were: mercilessly doue-
to death but many escaped aad by their great.

influence - brought  about - the disintegration of the-
cmpire, - o A

The Civil Administration.

The long reign' of Firoz; Shah produced peace and
happmess throughout Hindustan.  His method of goverhr
ment was the promotion of -mutnal trust and good-will.
rather than coercion or military regulation which his pre-
decessors followed.. This.produced plenty in the land
and coriched the tressury. He removed the frivolous
and unlawful cesses, and confined his collections-to-
only -four heads -approved by - the Sacred Law.. He-
reduced the share “of state in the spoils of war.
The presents made by the feudatories were valued, and
their tributes were correspondingly reduced. His domi-
nions were reéduced as Bengal and the Decean sccedéd
from the empire. Inspite of - all these the revenues of.
the territorics of Delhi amounted to six crores and.

eighty-five lakhs of - taukas (6,85,00,000). The revenues
from the Doab were cighty lakhs of tankas. The: land,
tevenue was moderate. Besides Jand large number of
gardens and - canals which' the Sultan brought into-
existence also increased the revenue.

He introduced the method of paying the officials by
assignment of revenue. Fiefs and distrists were granted
to them, according to their : rank, By this policy the
officials - became , attached to their lands. They became
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rich and independent. So far as Firoz Sheh was
.concerned these. men did not rebel against him, but
‘these jagirdars became very influential afterwards, and
‘brought about the disintegration of the empire,

The Army.

i 'The Sultan maintained a standing army consisting
of 80 ‘to 90 thousand horse. Bosides theré were large
awnbers of slaves, There was a regular registry of
Ahe horses, but facilities were given to the defanlters to
produce . the animals within the period of grace which
-generally was extended to two months. Registration
could be effected by sending the substitutes, if any
body  went on busines. If an officer of the army died
£hen he was to be succeeded by his son, in the absence
«of son by son-in-law, or in hig absence by a slave or
aear relation and failing any such person by Lis wife.
“The regular - soldiers were granted lands sufficent for
«omfortable living. Irregulars received payment from
dhe treasury, others were supplied assignment upon
revenues. These assipnments  were , marketable and
wany persons grew rich by purchasing them, The
Bultan was very kind to the soldiers and his policy of
andue favour Was enforced at the expense of efficiency.

“The Public Works.

The wost important feature of the reign of Iiroz
Shah Tughluk was the large number of his public works.
He founded new cities, built mosques, and villages, dng
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canals, and laid out a large number of gardens. Ferishta
mentions that he built 900 towns, 100 caravansarais,
40 mosques, 30 colleges with mosques, 20 palaces, 100
hospitals, 150 bridges, 50 dams, and baths and pillars
wells and other things. Of the cities Fathabad, Hisar
Firoza, Firozabad and Jaunpur were very important.
Firozabad was only five kos from Delhi, The Sultan
began to reside here and it grew into a very big city.
Tt extended from Indrapat along the Jumna to the
Kushk Shikar, a distance of six miles and it included
eighteea townships. Jaunpur in Oudh became the seat
of the Sharki kings. He rebuilt the celebrated Jami
Musiid at Delbi, repaired the Kutb Mifar, and rebuilt many
tombs and colleeges connected ' with the names of the
previous Sultans. He removed “tHe two Asoka pillars
from Khizrabad and Meeruf, one to Firozabad and the
other-to the Kushk-i-Shikar. He built one hundred and
twenty Khan Kahs or monasteries for the reception of
travellers in Delhi and Iirozabad, and these monasteries
were full of guests throughout the year. The expenses
of these establishments were met from the public treasury
He built a Shifa-Khana or Hospital. The most impor-
tant of his public works was the construction of canald:
from the Jumna and Sutlej to Hisar Firoza. The Sutlj
Canalstill exists along a distance of 200’ milesand the Jumna
canal has also been traced from DBadhah Mabal to
Karnal and along the old bed of the Chitang to Hansf
and Hissar. There were also two other canals construec-
ted by the Sultan.- He increased the fertility of the

13
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soil by these irrigation works. These canals not ouly
helped agriculture but were a source of revenue to
the state. He used to collect 10 per cent of the profit
as his share known as Sharb. Another source of his
income was the cultivation of large acres of waste
lands. From these fwo sources he increased his
revenues by about two Iakhs of tankas. He laid out
1200 new gardens in the vicinity of Delhi-and restored
30 old gardens started by Ala-ud-Din, eighty in Silaura
and forty-four in Chitor. Many new fruits were
cultivated in these gardens.

Industrial and Economic Policy.

The large number of his public works gave employ-
ment to many persons. They also helped the develop-
ment of industry and agriculture. The king had thirty-
six cstablishments for the supply of the requirements of
the state. There were two types of workers, those who
were in receipt of regular paymeot called rayafi and
others with no fised income called gar-rayati. Each
establishment was cntrusted to a Khan or Malik for
management and there was a general superintendent of
all the Kar-Khanas who issued orders to the different
departments. The financial adininistration of these Kar-
Khanas was separate from the gencral finance. There
was a regular audit of the accounts of the different fiefs
The unemployed were given service according to his
merit. The cconomic organization of the state was
cufficiently good  for cosuring the income of the state
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as well as for promoting the welfare of the people. He
abolished all imposts and practices which interfered
with trade. - :

Treatment of the Hmdus -

Firoz Shah was preatly under the influence of the
Quran. He would always consult the Doctors of the
Law regading the various problems that confronted him.
He was very credulous and bad great faith in the cal-
culations of the learned men of his religion. He encour-
aged the Hindus to accept Islam by holding out the
promise of remission of the Jiziya. By this means he con-
verted many Hindus, He forbade the public worship of
idols. A charge was brought against a Brahman of
constructing a wooden tablet bearing images of gods
and demons. Many people used to go to the place for
worshipping this. The Sultan ordered the. Brahman
either to become a Musalman or to be burned. The
Brahman prefered death. For the first time in India
he imposed Jizéya upon the Brahmans. A loud protest was
made. A Jarge number of Brahmans from four cities
came to Firozabad, remained there without food for
several days, but still the Sultan did not take any pity
on them. Ultimately he was persuaded to reduce the
tax to ten tankas and “fifty Jitals for each person. The
Jiziya was levied in three classes, viz, first class forty
tankas, second class -twenty tankas, and third class ten
tankas, He forbade the erection of Hindu temples, and
pulléd down many old temples, and with their materials
new mosques were built.
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His Ministers.

© The first Wazir of the Sultan was Khan-i-Jahan
Makbul. He was a Hiudu of Telingana, called Kattu
He came to Delhi in the time of Mubammad
Tughlak and cmbraced Islam. Muhammad was im-
pressed by his sagacity and intelligence and appointed
him as his Deputy Waxir. He was granted the fief of
Multan. He was then known as Kiwam-ul Mulk. On the
death of Muhmmad Tughlak he supported the cause of
Firoz Shah and deserted Kuwaja-i-Jahan  Firoz made
him his Wazxir with the title of Khan-i-Jahan.© He was
the real ruler of Delhi till his death in 1370 A. D. He
had a big harem and many children. They wereall well-
provided. On his death at the age of eighty his son
Junah Shah became the minister under the title of Khan-
i-Jahan. He ncted in the high position for twenty years,
and he had full powers in all the affairs of the state.
Both the father and the son were very able men. But
for them the government of Firoz would have long ago
broken into picces.

The last days of the Sultan.

The Sultan became old and infirm, and the Wasir
Khan-i-Jahan had full control over him. The ecldest son
of the king had died, Khan-i-Jahan brought an accusa-
tion against Prince Muhammad Khan that he had been
plotting to murder his father, The old king believing the
story to be true ordered the capture of the guilty person.
But the Prince came to the palace in the garh of a woman,
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and threw himself at the fect of his father. The Sultan
accepting the version of the DPrince gave him full
powers to deal with -the traitor. After a short engnge-
ment Khan-i-Jahan fled towards Mewat. Firoz Shah
abdicated in favour of his son, who mounted the throve
with the name of Nasir-ud-Din Mubammad (1387 A. D)
Khan-i-Jahan was betrayed by a Rajput Zemindar, and
belieaded by Sikander Khan.  Shortly afterwards there
was a rising io Guzerat and its governor Sikander
Klin was killed: Nasir-ud-Din  Muhammad abandoned
himself to the cnjoyment of pleasure, and did not take
any action. The nobles then organished a couspiracy
to overthrow him. They pat together about 100,000
e For two days there was a deadly ficht between
the two partics. On the third day the old king was
brought in a palanguin and on secing him the soidiers
left the Prince and gathered round the king. The
Prince fled and Firoz Shah took the reins of government,
which however “his  fecble hands could not loug retain
e placed his grandson Ghiyas-ud-Din, the son of his
eldest son Fateh Khan on the throne. The first order
of the uew Sultan was to do away with all the adher-
cuts of his uncle Muhammad. The old Sultan Firoz
Shah died at the age of 90 on the 23rd Oect. 1388 A. D.
After his death the empire fell into weak hands, and it
soon followed the path of dissolution.



CHAPTER IX.
FALL OF THE TURKS
The Successors of Firoz Shah.

The Sultanate of Delhi was based upon the princi-
ple of force. The despotic rulers had maintained their
authority by enlisting in their services a large number
of able soldiers. There was no definite rule of succes-
sion, nor any code of governinent acceptable to the
people. Before the death of Firoz Shah the forces of
distintegration had been working. His son Ghivas-nd-
Din was a dissolute young man without any ability to
rule. On coming to the throne he tried to eapture
Prince Muhammad who had  been hiding in the Sirmur
hills. But when he retreated into the fort of Nagarkot
the pursuit was given up. The cruclty of Ghiyas-ud-
Din  towards his brother Salar, and cousin Abu Dakr,
son of Zafar Khan led to another conspiraey. The
Sultan was overtaken on  the bhanks of the Jumna
when he tried to escape and was put to death. {(Feb. 18.
1389 A.DJ). His rule lasted a little more than five
months.

Abu Bakr was now placed upon the throne with
the help of Rukn Chand who became the new Wazir,
Buat ou account of an iutrigue to nsurp the throne
Rukn Chand was executed along with his aceomplices.
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Mecanwhile  Sultan Shah, governor of Samana, and a
friend of the Sultan was murdered. So Prince
Muhammad eame out of his rectreat, occupied Samana
and challenged Abu Bakr in several engagements.
With the helpofan old Ifiroz Shahi noble named Islam Shah
Abu Bakr was made a prisoner and Muhammad ascen-
ded the throne under the title of Nasir-ud-Din
Mahammad Tughlak (November 1389).

Muhammad had a chequered carcer. He ascended
the throne in the life time of his father. But he was driven
out on account of the intrigues of the nobles in the court
His restoration  was also  duc to another leader of the
“Slaves of Iiroz Shah.” He held a rival court at
Firozabad for some time. The Hindus were disgusted
with the government of Abu Bakr and the high-hand-
ness of the slaves. The houschold troops of the Sultan

" had scized the elephants from the royal stable in the time
of confusion and refused to swrrender them when ordered
by the Sultan. Al the forcign slaves were then hounded
out of their hiding places and put to death. Tor some
time the Sultan was engaged in suppressing the rebellion
of the Rajputs and the Hindn Zemindars., Islam Khan
defeated the Rathor ehief Narsingh Bhan and reduoced
all the rebel chiefs to  subjection. Sultan Muhammad
went personally to Ktawah, razed the fort to the ground
and plundered the country as far as Kananj and Dalaman,
built a new fort at Jalesar and renamed it Muliammad-
bad. A charce of treason was now bronght against Islam
Khan, on the false evidence of his nephew Jajun, an
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unconverted Hindu and he was -condemend to-death.
Bat the fall of the- minister was due-to the machination
of his rival Khwajah Jaban (1391 A. D.). Distwrbances
now broke out in Mewat, Delhi was threatencd by
Bahadur Nahir, and the Gakkars raided Lahore, In
the midst of these troubles Nasir-ud-Din.Muhammad
died of fever at Muhammadabad in 1394 A. . His som
Humayun who succeeded him died 45 days after his
assumption of office.

. The next Sultan Mahmud, a son of the late Sultan
Nasir-ud-Din Muhammad was a feeble prince. As he
was a minor the nobles began to appropriate as much
power as they could. The risings in the difterent parts
of the empire were not suppressed, and the chiefs were
unwilling  to  render allegiance. Khwaja  Jahan
founded an independent kingdom at Jaunpur. Sarung
Khan, governor of Dipalpur strengthened  his position
by defeating the Gakkars, When the Sultan went on an
expedition to Gwslior and Biyana, a conspiracy was sct
up against S'andat Khan Barbak. A fight now cnsued
between S'andat Khan and the Amir-ul-Omra Mukarrab
Khan in the neighbourhood of Delli. The Sultan on his
entrance into Delhi fell into the hands of Mukarrab
Khan, S'aadat took his position at Firozabad, and
placed Nasrat Khan, the son of I%ath Xhan and o
grand-son  of TFiroz Shah, on the throne, S'madat was
deserted by his own followers, the houschold troops
and finally put to death by Mukarrab Khan, The
nobles were divided into several parties and for three
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years there * were. two. Sultane. at the same time one
holding court at Delhi and the other at  Firozabad.
A state of anarchy prevailed and the country between
these two places was a scene ‘of blood-shed.. When the
two partics were fighting and Nasrat Shah was driven
out of Tirozabad by the perfidy of Malla Ikbal Khan,
who later on killed Mukarrab Khan and posscssed the

person of Sultan Mahmud, Timur had crossed. the
Indus.

Invasion of Timur.

Timur or Tamerlane was a Chaghatai Turk. At
the age of 33 he became the Amir of Samarkand, and
gradually extended his sway over Persia and Afgha~
nistan. Ie was an  orthodox Musalman and had =«
strong desire to become a ghasi by killing the infidels.
With this view he was thinking within himecf whether
e would lead an expedition to China or to Hindustan.
He was told by his officers that Hindustan lad four
defences and if he could break them down then he
could become the conqueror. The four defences were,
(1) the five great rivers 2) woods and forests and.
trees (3) the soldiery, landholders and the princes and
Rajus and lastly (4) the clephants. But 100,000 braye
Tartar horeemen of the Amir could casily bring him.
victory. He was anxious to win the honour of the
conguest, to obtain the great wealth, but above all he
told his officers “My objeet in the invasion of Hindustan.
is to lead an expedition against the ifidels that according
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‘to the law of Muhammad (upon whom and his family be
‘the blessing and peace of God), we may convert to the
true faith the people of that country and purify the land
‘itself from the filth of infidelity and polytheism, and that
‘we may overthrow their temples and idols and become
Ghazis and Myjahids before God” e was advised by
the religious men that it was the duty of the Sultan of
Islam to exert his utmost to suppress the enemies of
the faith. When Timur was preparing for the preat
-expedition he received a petition from Prince Pir
Muhammad Jeliangir, governor of Kabul and the adjuin-
ing countries for help for careying  on the sicge of
Multan. This prince had demanded of Sarung, governor
of Multan, to pay a yearly tribute. Dut Sarung defied
him. So Prince Pir Mahammad Jehangir first assaulted
TUech and then invested Multan. This petition gave
Timur an additional cause for the expedition.

The details of the expedition were recorded under
the order of the Amir, and they have appeared in his
memoir under the title  of Malficzat-i-Timuri, Sharfu-l
Din Ali Yazdi had greatly borrowed  from the book in
compiling his  Zafar-Namn, a book very widely used.
The report of disorders at Delhi had reached Samarkand.
So he started in March 1395 A.D, leaving Prince Umar
as his viceroy in Sumarkand. Passine throngh  the
Hindukush he came to Kater, botween Kabul aod
Kashmir. The people there were ildolaters, who  were
subjugated after three days’ hard fishting. They first
submitted and agreed to accept Islam, but at night they
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made an attak upon the Tartar camp. So they ~werd
all slaughtered, and ~their women and children were
captured. S T
¢ Timur crossed the Indus - on Tuesday, ‘the 24th
September, - 1398 A.D. and cncamped on the outskirts
of the. Chol desert. ‘There he received the submission
of the chiefs of the Jud mountains. Then he marched
through the deserts and reached the banks of thé Jhelum,
There in an island lived a chief named Shahab-ud Din.
He had professed loyalty to Prince Pir Muhammad
Jehangir, but later on revolted. On the approach of °
Timur he fled towards Ucch. Near Multan he was
opposed by Prince Pir Muhammad, and the whole party
was dispersed, most of them. being killed. From there
the Amirs marched to the junction of the Chenab with
the Jhelum. The river was crossed by means of
bridge built in six days and the army of cxpedition
reached Tulamba. A ransom of two lakhs was collected;
a concession being made in favour of Sayids and
Ulemas.  Fresh reinforcements also reached by that time.
The troops plundered the granaries to recoup “their
exhausted store. About 2000 zemindars who fled into
the jungles were slain and ‘their women and property
captured. After a week he left Tulamba, and encountered
Nasrat  Khokhar near Jal on the banks of the ' Beas.
He then marched along the Beas and halted apposite to
Janjan. There he received the news of the Victory at Multan
and that Sarung had surrendered. A few days later the
army crossed the Beas. He then marched from Janjan by
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Sahwal and Aswan to Jahwal, Through féar the peaple
of Dipalpur and its neighbourhood had taken refuge in
the fort of Bhatnir. A detachment with baggage was
sent via Dipalpur to Samana, and Timur with 10,000
troops, marched upon Bhatnir, onc'of the strongest
fortresses in  Hindustan. The defence was ably “led by
Rai Dul Chand with the help of a strong body of Raj-
puts. But when he found that the fort could not hold out
very long he submitted, and at the intercession of a
Sayid the fighting was- stopped. The Rai, however, did
not come mext day to pay his homage according to the
terms of the armistice. A vigorous attack then was
renewed. The fort was terribly battered, so the Rai
had no other alternative than to surrender, The life, of
the Rai was spared. All the refugees in the fort were
driven out and distributed among the amirs as slaves
and their property coufiscated. At the sight of the
atrocities the Bai  and his brothers again shut themsel-
ves up in the fort and when surrounded by the Tartars
they meckly surrendered. A heavy ransom was collect-
od by the raiders, which the people resisted. The fort
was then esealaded.  The Rajputs showed great bravery,
but they were overpowered i)y the terrible soldiers of
Timur.  About ten thonsand Hindus laid down their lives.
The honses were burnt and the whole place destroyed.
The defence of Bhatniv by the Iiudus is n glorious
event in the history of the invasion which came like 2
lurricane and  swept away everything before it without
any very great opposition.
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At Sirsuti the Hindus were mercilessly slaughtered,
and their wives and children made prisoners, They
proceeded to Fathabad, then through.the country of the
Jats - who were very turbulent and would not allow any
traveller or merchant to pass unscathed. Iunishing
these people and putting a large number to death he
proceeded towards Samana. At Kaithal all the detach-
ments joined Timur, and he now made a thorough pre-
paration for an attack upon Delhi.

From Kaithal the army marched in a regular battle
array .and after a few marches reached Panipat. The
people . of all the villages on the way had fled towards
Delhi. He received some opposition at Loni, at the
junction of the Jumna and Kalini. The fort was burnt
and the Hindus massacred. Timur then engaged a party
of Mallu ¥han near Jahan-numai, There in order to be
relieved of the burden of feeding and to avoid any risk
of being overpowered by them Timur ordered the mas-
sacre of all the Hindu prisoners captured from the
beginning of his campaign in Hindustan, numbering no
less than 100,000. The Musalmans took .a brutal
pleasure in killing these helpless victims as an act of
carning religions merits Then Timur gave orders to
cross the Jumpa, The army was arranged in regular
order, Timur himself remaining in the centre. The Tar-
tar soldiers were afraid of the elephants and the trained
soldiers of the Indian army. Mahmud Tughlak marched
forward to meet the Tartars with a strong army con-
sisting of 10,000 strong cavalry, 40.000 infantry and 125
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elephants. The Delhi troops fought manfully, but they
were no match for the invaders. They were thoroughly
defeated and the Sultan took his refuge within the fort.
Timur then entered the capital and on the banks Tof the
Hausi-Khas where stood the tomb of Sultan TFiroz
Shah he received the allexiance of the princes, armies
and the officers. Sultan Mahmud and Mallu  Ikbal flad
at night towards the desert. The report of their flight
put the enemy on the alert, and all the gates of Delhi
were carcfully gnarded. The next day Timur hoisted
his flag on the walls of Delhi, and held his court at the
Jd-gah near a gate of Jahan-panah which open towards
the Hawzi-Khas (Wednesday Dee. 17, 1393 AD)
Through the intercession of Sayids, Ulemas, Shaikhs
and the leading Musalmans he spared the lives of the
citizens. Great rejoicings were held, and poets and
literary men who composed verses in praise .of the
conqueror were rewarded. Publie prayers were held
on the nest Friday, aod the Khutha vas read in the
name of Timur. Orders were given to announte the
victory in-all parts of Hindustan, and to collect the
ransom money from the city.

Sack of Delhi.

A party of Turk soldiers had gone out to plunder the
houses of the citizens, and committed atrocitios. Timur
sent some amirs with a larre number of soldiers to
check their unlawful depradations,  Another party of
soldiers accompanied the ladies of the harem to sce the
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palaces of Hazar-Sutun in the fort of Jahan-panah..
A third party went to collect the foreed contributions,
Thousands of Tartar soldiers had gone out to collect
provisions. Timur also had given orders to seize all
the fugitives within the city. These soldiers laid.
violent hands upon the citizens. In self-defence the-
Hindus and gabrs “drew their swords-and offered resis--
tanc. The flames of strife were thus lighted and spread
throughout the whole city from Jahan-panah and Siri to-
Old Delli, burning up all it reached. The savage Turks
fell to killing and plundering. The Hindus set fire to-
thexr houses mth their own bands, burned their wives
gand children ‘in them, and rushed into the fight and
were killed. The Hindus and Gabrs of the city showed
much alacrity and boldness in fighting”. On Thursday
and Friday 15000 Turks were engaged in slaying,
plundcrmg and destroy ing. But the next day the Turks
lost all control, and carried on a general sack. Every
one captured a larze namber of slaves and immense-
booty. Ounly the guarters of the Sayids and Mucalmgms
were spared. - Timur with a burning faith in his reli--
gion writes, “Although . I was desirous of sparing them
T could not succced for it was the will of God that
this calamity should {fall upon the city. Thousands of
Hindus had taken refuge within the Musjid-i-Jami of
old Delhi, on Sunday, but this house of prayer was ﬁo
protection to them. The Musjid was cleared and the
Hindus put to death. Old Delhi was then plundered.
“High towers were built with the heads of the Hindus.
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and their bodies became the food of ravenous beasts
and birds” says Yazdi in Zafar Nama. After the sack
of :three cities of Siri, Jahan-panah, and Old Delhi,
“Timar took a ride round them, The description he
gives of these places is interesting, “Siri is a round city.
Its buildings are lofty. They are surrounded by forti-
fications built of stone and brick, and they are very
strong. Old Delhi also had a similar strong fort and
it is larger then that of Siri From the fort of Siri to
that of Old Delhi which is a considerable distance
there runs a strong wall built of stone and cement.
The part called Jahan-panah is situated in the midst of
the inhabited city. The fortifications of the three cities
have thirty gates, Jahan-panah had ‘thirteen gates, seven
-on the sonth side bearing towards the cast and six on
the north bearing towards the west Siti has seven
gates, four towards the outside and three on the inside
towards Jahan-panah. The fortifications of old Delhi
have ten gates, some opening to the exterior and some
dowards the interior of the city.”

* Timur was struck with the grandeur of the Musjid-
#-Jami, and desirous of building a similar structure in
Samarkand he collected several thousands of mechanics
and crafismen and distributed some among his nobles,
and some he reserved for the royal officers serving in
the other parts of the empire,

Timur's Retreat.
After a stay of fifteen days in Delhi Timur became
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anxious to carry his bloody campaign against idolators
further afield. He fist went to Firozabad three kos
from Delhi. On the way to Meerut he reccived the
homage of Bahadur Nahir. Eicht days after his start
he reached Meerat and obtained a victory over the fort.
Destroying the houses and buildings and massacring the
people the Turks proceeded along the Ganges towards
Hardwar. He killed a large number of Hindus at this
place which was very sacred to them. Here he thanked
God that he had purified the land from the foul exis-
tence of the abominable infidels, and then resolved to
return to Samarkand his, capital and paradise.

He passed through the Siwalik Hills, captured the
fort of Nagarkot and proceeded to Jammu. A detach-
ment of his troops went to Lahore to punish the Kho-
khars for their faithlessness. At Jammu Timur received
the submission of Sikander Shah of Kashmir. He
placed the provinces of Multan, Lahore and Dipalpur
in charge of Khizr Khan, who had been kept in prison by
Sarung, the governor of Multan, and escaping from
there came to Timur for protection. Passing along the
foot of the hills he reached Bannu, and then marched
to Samarkand. Timur gave a rude shaking to the
people of Indin. Besides the -horrible massacres, pillage
and plunder he thoroughly undermined " the prestlge and
dignity of the throne of Delhi.

Fall of the Tughlaks,

- For two mouths after the departure; of Timur
14
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the city of Delhi remained in a state of disorder and
desolateness.  Nasrat Shah came with 2000 horse from
Meerut in March 1393+ A. D. and occupied Delhi. But
shortly afterwards he was turned out of the capital by
Malla Tkbal Khan who was then residing at Baran.
Ikbal began to reorganise  the administeation and was
joined Dy. Sultan Mahmud ia 1401 A, D. The Sultan
spent the years of exile in Guzerat and Malwa. During
the civil war most.of the . provinees had cut themsclves
off from Delhi and Tkbal ‘lad to arrange for the
goverpment of Delhi and the Doab only,

Khwaja. Jahan lad established the independent
kingdom of Jaunpur. On his death in 1400 A. D.
his adopted, son became the king ynder the title of
Mubarak, Shab. Malla Ikbal procceded against Lim
but he-was vigorously repulsed by Mubarak Shah near
Kanauj.  Within a short tine Mubarak Shah died and
was succeeded by his brother Ibrahim Shah Sharki
Sultan- Mahmud  had sn: unenviable position. 1le was
merely .the nominal ruler, the actual powers being in
the hands of :Mallu Ikbal. When Mahmud and Ikbul
-went, on an_ expedition : against Jhrahim Sharki the
Sultan . went over, to the camp of the Sharki king in
4heihppe of obtaining real power in Jaunpur. Jor
ithis action:; Lsbal Jufy, bim in charge of Kanauj while he
managed Delhi Ikbal trigd.: to., recover, Govplior, from
Brahma Dev, whose father Narsine Dev had tuken
the place during the 1n\'lsmn°’lof‘l¢’l'un fid Butildib
retuiied mnsuecossli. Ta 1404,4.D. hndefeated the, Hajas

e
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of Srinagar, Gwalior, :and ;-Jhalwar:near Emwah, andy
then marched ; against.- Sultan ;Mahmud ‘at. Kanauj, .but;
fuilsl 1o redace; she; fort. Nexi. year he, progeeded towards)
Malkag, occupied Samana. oy the::way; and was.slain i
a bartle - agdinst | Khizr,. Khan tie governpr. of Mukan;
Dipalpur ; and -Lahgre.:(November,, .1405 .. D)) :Sultap.
Mabmad now returned .to , Dehi -at.the inyitagion, of)
Daulat Khan Lodi and Ikhtiar Khan whe -were then,
in charge of Delhi. He gave up the idea of taking
Maltan, and sent Daulat Kban Lodi against Beiram
Khan of Samana. He could not retain Kanauj as
it was captured by Jbrahim Shah of Jawapur. The
troops deserted the Sultan when they found that he
was incapable of yqling audy derigted his whele time to
pleasure and dcbuuchnry Ibrahim Shah marched towards
Dalbi, but was' talled’ 'off 10 defend 1€ own kingdom
of Jaunpor azainst Mazafar Shah of Guzerat. The
weak rule of Mahmod encouraged Kligr:,Klmas to
invale Difhi. He was joined by some of the-bficers
of 'the 'S.llt.m.‘ ' Hd” favested the city twice. Oa the
first ocecagion the Sultan  shut himself ep at Flrozabad
and the mext time at Siri  On both the occasions Khizr
Khan' had* 14! withdraw without any efforts of Mahmud.
The Sultan ended lur‘m-fl(?-:? , ,le5 jn Feb. 1412 A, D.
and with him f o) of Delhi from the
race of the Turksc 10t I L

The nobles at ,D(lh; nuu«l Daul:xt Khan Lodi to
the throze in .{pnl 1412°A D. " Tle was joined by
two military leaders - Malik! Idzi4, atid Muhariz Khan
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The people of Kateher (Rohilkand) ackuowledged. his
authority. ITbrahim Shah of Jaunpur attacked Kalpi,
but as Khizr Khan was marching towards Delhi, Daulat
Khan- had to remain at the capital. After a siege of
four months Daulat Khan surrendered. (May 23, 1414
A, D.) He was kept confined in Hissar Firoza, where
he died, aod Khizr Khan became the founder of a
new dynasty.

SAYAD DYNASTY.
Khizr Khan Slayad (1414:2)

| ;
Mubarak II Falrid

(1421-33) |
Muhammad Shah IV
(14334113)
Alam Shah
* (1443-51)

LODI DYNASTY.
Bahlol Lodi (1451-88)
Sikandar IJI (1488-1517)
[heabiim 11 (1517-26)



CHAPTER X.
DECLINE OF THE EMPIRE .

Sayad Khizr Khan 1414-21 A. D,

Khize Khan, governor of . Multan was the son of
Malik Sulaiman. His father was the adopted son of
Malik Mardan Daulat who was governor of Multan in
the time of Firoz Shah. On the death of Malik Shaikh,
the son of Mardan Daulat, Sulaiman became the
governor. He was succceded by his son Khizr Khan
Sarung Khan, Brother of Mallu Tkbal, who was governor
of Dipalpur, invaded Multan in 1395 A. D. and wrested
the governorship of that province from Khizr Khan.
He was defeated by Prince Pir Mubammad, and on
his way back to Samarkand Timur appointed Khizr
Khan as his viceroy of Multan, Lahore, and Dipalpur.
Khizr Khan traces his descent from the prophet
Muohammad and therefore has the title of Sayad been
attached to his name. He never assumed the title of
Sultan, but ecarried. on the government of  the
country as the Deputy of Timur, and after the death
of Timar, of his son Shahrakh Mirza.

Most of the. provinces. had by that time become
independent, and his rule was confined to Delli, and
the districts round it besides the provinces of Multan,
Dipalpur and Tahore which had been confarred upon
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him by Timur. Even within this limited area the
revenne was not properly collected. The Zemindars of
the Doab and Katche¥, s Biddyui’ and the neighbouring
places did not £, pay their reveuues for some years, On
assnmption B bﬂiégl{iﬁ;f' R am)ocha Malik Tohfa

as his Vizier witly, the jtitlqy of Taj-ul-Mujky . qud
([-onferred the gov?r?;nent of Multan ang Path(;pur

;1‘{30‘111)' Avda” Ra’hm, th)e“ qc]opte son” o hm Father
- L} 1) i ||
IS)ann,’ and" the governmeut ?f the Do;lb was

“I I'I’H(il ) k‘r PURATE 'J cna e g e
R 1é|\;1

Th?' )])l v1‘|‘10eq of. Kah hor ci‘x‘t?'vaqod bls nétontmn in
S| o 1, o 1 l,
the ﬁlat year of 'his’ r?lvﬁ On the’ approa 'of Taj-ul-

vMda et

N N"'inv"i{qi“h eadey of

' ra a, lea c).' 0 the " jnsurgents fled

'bm}} fuf '”‘I‘h”:'\li'mcr’ l1"¢,‘\c(qud the submission of
Fnb'xt ' h;m, go'v'(-‘rnoi" ' (')f ljlldayun. and  marched

| Ay o] e
tﬁ|!‘Ol’l:'h '” ‘ll.llltll)’l' "I /K'\l}]pﬂia qu handwar to Etawal.

'fme po%qeﬂil({n of ""Jalesar 'which had fallen

iyl il 1ty b
';'%’é"i:'rlgﬁ“:%‘,,{i‘hjl”' the' Ra]pufq of Chandwar. The

T a“““"“t“‘i d\e ;rovcrnor of Sirhind, but
‘VK“ (D army came from Do]hl tLhov fled to the hills.

" st 1 l|l Poeeh
i13’ Mme down )npon"tw plaing and ravaged the
7oy

com'l l} ?or sevgal years,” In 1417 A. D, they besicged
}n blle ﬂl HI?ond‘c.l' I\r1]lk Toghnn was overtaken
mn, gover T of Samana, and compelled to

pa}'!‘ . }'lbutc On subx{nttmg to the authority of Khizr
g]‘mn e s :Tﬂ'ow'(:d o retain Jalandhar, In 1416 A.
"Kh Khan""Went * out to oppose Alimad Shah of
Gh%’r‘qt, bt l'mn thc latter turned towards Malwa he

Fotbiimdd W DU m:'u-chmg through  Jalwar, Gwalior,
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and Biyapa. The affairs of Kateher and the Doab
kept him constantly busy. Once when he was at Budayun
he discovered a plot against his life by some old friend
of Mabwud Tughlak. The conspirators were put to
death at Delhi. Malik Tugban of Jalandhar joined an
impostor and then revolted. He was defeated and
driven out of the country. A rising of the Mewatis
was suppressed in 1421 A. D. and that year the
Vizier Taj-ul-Mulk died. Khizr Khan while out in
a campaign through Mecrut, Gwalior and Etawah fell ill,
and died on the 20th May, 1421 A. D. Although he
could not establish a strong government in the distur-
bed condition of the time Khizr Khan was considered
a just, geverous and benevolent ruler.

Sayad Mubarak Shah 1421-34 A. D.

Mubarak Shah succceded his father to the throne
of Delhi Although he ruled for thirteen years he
also failed to cstablish good government. The first
event of importance was his march against Jasrath
Khokhar who in conjunction with Malik Tughao, bad
planned the conquest of Delhi. They had captured
Tahore, made Zirak  Khan, the governor of
Jalandhar a prisoner, and invested the fort of Sirhind.
When Mubarak Shah approached the last place Jasrath
fell back upon Ludbiana, and then fled into the moun-
tains after crossing the Chenab. He was betrayed by
Rai Phim, the Raja of Jammu, but cscaprd the hands
of the Delli troope. ' But before Mubarak could reach
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Delhi, Jasrath came back with a large number of troops
and besieged Lahore for five months. Failing to take
the fort he withdrew towards the Beas, and being
pursued by the Delhi troops again took shelter in the
hills, A Jarze number of Gakkars were found out of
their hiding places” and killed. The trouble was not
still over, Jasrath returned in 1423 A. D. and ravagod
Lahore and Dipalpur. He formed an allinnce with
Amir Shaikh Ali, a Mughal governor of Kabul, in
order that be might attack Sind. About the same time
Gwalior was invested by Sultan Hushang of Malwa,
Mubarak went pesonally against ITushang, and des-
patched an army under Malik Mahmud Hasan to Multan.
Jasrath remained unsubdued till 1428 A. D. when he
came to besieze Kalanor. The governors of Sirhind
and Samana came to the help of the government of
Lahore and the Raja of Kalanor defeated Jasrat and
squeczed out of him all bis spoils. The disturbances
in Mewat, the Doab and Katcher kept the Sultan busy.
He imprisoned the prandson of Bahadur Nahir, and
besicged Biyana, but «till conld not restore peace.
Ibrahim Shah Sharki of Jaunpur marehed towards Kulpi
to occupy the place but he was opposed by Mubarak
Shah and forced to retire. Kuddu Mewati was put to
death for joining Ibrahim Shah, but his brother still
retained the chieftainship by paying tributes, For years
together a Turk slave named Paulad rose in rebellion in
Sirhind. He conspired with Amir Shaikh Ali of Kabul
and cartied on depredations in the Punjab. The gover-
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‘nors of Mubarak Shah were also ot very faithful to
him and he wanted to maintain his . authority by trans-
ferring them  from place to place.. This- did neither
satisfy his officers nor ensure good government. In:
1435 A. D. when Mubarak Shah went out to visit the:
new city of Mubarakabad on the Jumna he was murdered
at the instigation of his Vizier Sarwar-ul-Mulk, and
Muhammad a grandson of Khizr Khan was raised to-
the throne. :

Sayad Muhammad 1435-45 A. D.

The new Sultan Muhammad owed his position tp-
the perfidy of Sarwar-ul-Mulk who with the help of some
Hindn aceomplices, procured the murder of Mubarak
Shah in a Mosque at Mubarakabad. Sarwar thcrcforle-
became very powerful and took the title of Khan-i-
Jahan, and distributed the fiefs of Biyana, Amrcha angd
other perganas in .the Doab between his two Hindu
conspirators, Sadanand, and Sidpal, and other fiefs he
gave to his own friends, DBut this method of allotment
produced a revolt among the old nobles. His deputy
Kali Khan when despatched to quell the rising joined
the insurgents and marched upon Delbi. Sarwar-ul-
Mulk held out for three months in the fort of Siri.
The king also found that Sarwar was not Lis true
friend as the Vizier wanted to use him as his tool,
Sarwar therefore formed a plot of assassinating the king:
who however getting” the "information. carlier brought
about the ruin of the whole gang. Kali.- Khan now
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"bécame the Vizier with the title of Kamal-ul-Mulk and
.distributed offices amongst people on whom he could rely.

The governors of the provinces gave him very
wreluctant allegiance, Tt seemed as if the king stood at
tthe crest of a crater. Rebellions cropped up in every
-direction. In Samana Jasrat Gakkar carried on a plun-
-dering expedition, Bahlal Lodi not only usurped the
government of Sirhind but also occupied Lahove and
Dipalpur. The wily Afghan evaded an open engagement
:and duped the king to kill the Depnty Vizier Hissam
Khan. The weakness of the king produced a state of
-ncasiness. . Ibrahim  Shah Sharki of Jaunpur ocenpied
some territories close to his kingdom, and Mahmad
Khilji of Malwa threatened Delhi. In these circumstan-
«ces the ‘king sought the help of Bahlol Lodi, and in
-dread of losing the throne sued for peace with Mahmud
Khilji. But  Bahlol pursued Mahmnd  Khilji, and
defeated him. The king now confirmed Bahlol in the
-government of Lahore and Dipalpur, and asked his help
in suppressing Jasrat Gakkar. But Ballol strengthened
his own position with the help of Jasrat and besieged
Delbi, but after a few months was foreed to retire.
"The Zemindars of Biyana transferred their allegiance
to the Sultan of Malwa. When the empire was thus
Deing reduced in gize Sultan Mahammad Shah died in
1443 A D.

Ala-ud-Din - ‘lam Shah (1445-50 A. D)
Ala-ud-Din Alam Shah woo succreded his  father
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was a very weak man, He very often acted upon
ramours. In 1446 A. D. when he went out to recover
Biyana he returned to Delhi on hearing that
Ibrahim  Shah  Sharki was coming to attack the
capital. He made Budayun his favoarite resort and
embellished it in every way. In 1448 A. D. he removed
his capital there. He was also advised by some of his
friends to remove his vizier Hamid Khan from this world,
but the latter warned by his brother fled to Delbi He
then invited Bahlol Lodi to take up the helm of affairs
at Delhi. Bahlol arrived there in 1450 A. D. aod fin-
ing his position untenable Ala-ud-Din abdicated in his
favour, but only desired to remain unmolested in
Budayun till his death which took place in 1478 A. D.
During ‘the weak government of the Sayads a
number of independent states arose out of the ruins
of the old empire. The Deccan, Guzerat, Malwa,
Jaunpur, and Bengal had already attained their indepen-
dence  within  the nominal suzerainty of the Sultan.
Bahlol Khan Lodi ruled over the Punjab, Dipalpur
and Sirhind as far as Panipat, Ahmad Khan Mewati
cstended bis sway over Mechrauli and over the country
within seven kos of Delhi. Sambhal up to the suburbs
of Delhi was governed by Daria Khan Todi, in the
Doab, Isa Khan Turk governed Kot Jalesar, Kutb Khan
Afghan Rewari and the adjoining districts, Ra’a Pratap
Sing Kampilla and Patiali, and Daud Khan Lodi Biyana.
Khandesh, Sind and Multan had each its independent
king. The Sultan’s authority was thus confined to the
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city of Delhi and a small tract of land adjoining it.
The vast empire of the Sultan had thus been reduced
to a single city. .

THE PATHAN EMPIRE.
Bahlol Lodi (1450-88 A.D.)

Bahlol Lodi was - the first Afghan Sultan to ocenpy
the throne of Delhi. The Afghans carried on trade be-
tween Persia and India. Malik Bairam Lodi, first came
to India in the time of Firoz Shah Tughlak, He entered
into the service of Malik Murdan Daulat, and later on
obtained the administration of Multan, One of his sons
Islam Khan killed - Mallu Ikbal Khan and became the
governor of Sirhind. Ballol Lodi, a nephew of Islam
Khan, succeeded him in the government of Sirhind
His help was sought by Sultan Muhammad against
Mahmud Khilji of Malwa, and afterwards he gradually
extended his territorics by acquiring Lahore, Dipalpar,
and Sunam. On the decline of the powers of Sayad
Ala-ud-Din, his Vizier Hamid Khan invited Bahlol Lodi
to ocenpy Delhi,

Bahlol was a  man of ability. From the very begin-
ning he was bent npon making his authority felt, and
restoring the lost dominions of Delhi. The first thing
he did to ensure his authority was to remove Hamid
Khan from his positisn. DBut many officers of Delhi
were not willing to submit to him. Some of them
invited Mahmud  Shah Sharki of Jauupur to invade the
capital, while Ballol Lodi was away on his  expedition
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towards Multan. The Sharki king had married a dangh-
ter of the Sultan Sayad Ala-ud-Din aod he was also
incited by his wife to expel the Afchans from Delhi
Mahmud Shah Iaid siece to Delli in 1452 AD. Bahlol
Lodi returned in haste from Dipalpur, and defeated a
strong detachment under Fateh Khan Harvi at Perah
within thirty miles of Delhi. Fateh Khan’s head was
cut off and on receiving the news of the disaster
Mabmud Shah Sharki raised the siege and retreated to
Jaunpur. Dariya Khan Lodi one of the chiefs who had
left Bahlol, was rebuked by Qutub Khan, the greatest
archer of the Lodi Sultan for this act of treachery and
in shame be veturned to his old master, and along with
him the other Afghaus who weut to the Sharki king.
This greatly weakened the position of Mahmud
Shah.

The success of Bahlol in delivering Delhi from the
attack of the king of Jaunpur led to re-establish his
position with the other chiefs who hesitated to pay
allegiance to him. Ahmad Khan of Mewat easily sub-
mitted, he was deprived of seven perganas, and confirmed
in the remainder of his territories. Dariya Khan Lodi
of Sambhal acknowledged his supremacy Dby offering to
him seven elepbants. Isa Khan was coufirmed in Ko,
Mubarak Khan Lohani in Burhanabad, and Pratap
Ray in Mainpuri Bhuigam. At Bewari Qutub Khan
yiclded after some opposition and he was allowed to
retain his ficf. When Dahlol was engaged in reducing
Etawah a noble ealled Juna Khan went over to Jaunpur
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and instigated Mahmud Shah Sharki to invide.! Delli
once again, Juna Khan was granted Shamshbad in
reward of his services. The two armie$ wbt- reaf
Etawah. But through the intervention, of../RaS, Pratap
and Qutub Khan it was settled that Balilobwould;rule
the countries ~which belonged to Sayad. Mubarak,sand
Mahmud  Shah Sharki the territories - Avhick:i fveni!in
possession of Ibrahim Shah Sharki; :and) Bahlol! would
restore the elephants captured frow |Fatch!/Kheud-n Hartd,
and Mahmud would dismiss Janz: KhansiBdt the. hosti-
lities did not cease as Bahloliwas: lopposed ini.!)thkdng
the possession of Shamsabadi Tn: thé: cBmve -of the vporas
tions Quenb Khan was taken-iprisprewNaxbillay s diews
of the death of Mahmud Shah eanlel/andi’'peacd: was
concluded with his son Muhuamad!-Shah, (1453 ADY)
But the release of Qutub Khan was not included in: the
terms of settlement./i{So fresl hbstilitics-started it the
instance of his sisterhShamp:Khatun, »Mahainbad ;1&hah
was supported by his brothérs+ Fusain!iKhaw aod:iJala]
Khan, The latter iwas taken! priddner.i:and mbonti: thht
time Mubammad::,Shah awas- romevod:| from.4hd throne
and replaced: by:-{{usairi+ Khah bf alo codspirney of the
officers - at/! Jaunpur,;-Thd 'new! king!vedodluded 1a
treaty by:which both: Qutub!and Jalalwere relonsed. 1.:0/f

On his.izetirn to ' Délhini Bahlol  had-. tal proceed t6
Multan:[tor{suppresd a1 febellion of [therigovernor therd
Husdain Shah - Sharlti, lin: wiolation ofirthe teris lof Ithe
tréaty-marched upow Delliil:in'ithe abschice 4f.: tho! Sultan.
Buhlo} returnod: in- husto'ahid enjgajred: the’ Sharki: troops
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at Chandwar. A truce was concluded after seven days’
war. But the relations never changed. A few ycarg
after this Etawah was invaded by Husain Shah. Two
governors of Bahlgl, viz. Abmad Khan of Mewat and.
Isa Khan of Kol went over to the side of the Sharki.
King, Ahmad Khan Jalwani of Biyana also accepted.
the supremacy of Jaunpur. Husain Shah marched from
Etawab towards Delhi. with 100,000 , horse and 1000
clephants. After a short engagement at Bhatwara. there-
was a temporary peace. .On the death of Syed Ala-ud--
Din at Budayun (1478 A. D) Husain Shah occupied.
that district. He was bent upon taking possession of
Delhi also, and after some skirwishes he agreed to con-
fine his rule over the country east of the Ganges, allowing-
Ballol to retain his authority west of that river. Bahloh
however did not keep his promise. He occupicd several,
districts belonging to the Sharki King. Another treaty
was concluded by. which the village of Dopamow was-
fised as the boundary between the two kingdoms..
Husain Shah again renewed his attacks but this time-
fortune deserted him. He was defeated at Sirsar, apd.
was driven out of Rewari. With the help of - the Rajs.
of Gwalior he encamped at Kalpi, but there also he was.
defeated by DBahlol, and suftered terrible loss at “an
engagement,  at Kanauj, where his chief lady Bechy
Khonza fell iuto the hands of the Sultan, With fresh
troops from Delbi DBallol marched upon Jaunpur,.
tlloroughly. reduced that kingdom after hostilifies of
twontjrsix-yenns; sLaten,-on.an, attempt was made 0
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restore Husain Shah to power, but Bahlol proceeded to
Jaunpur, - expelled - the *Sharki chief and appointed his
-son DBarbak Shah to the government of the province.
He then subjugated Kalpi, Dholpur, and other places on
'hig way back to Delhi.

Bahlol towards the c¢nd of his life, distributed his
“territorics among his sons and relatives. He proceeded
to Gwalior to demand allegiance from the unruly Raja,
-and made him agree to pay a tribute of 80 Lakhs of
tankas, After a strenuous reign of about thirty-nine
;Years Bohlol died at DBaduali in  Sakit in 1488
A. D. :

The task of restoring the powers of the Sultan of
Delbi was extremely difficult. The Musalman fief-holders
‘bad become very powerful; No Sultan could ignore the
privileges they enjoyed- The main achievement of Bahlo]
-was the conquest of Jaunpur. He displayed great ability
in bringing about the rain ef the Sharki kingdom, The
-chiefs of both Delhi and Jaunpur had ultimately to
gibmit to his great authority. The Sultanate which was
.once reduced to the city of Delhi was now practically
recognised all over northern India. This was no mean
-achievement for Bahlol Lodi. As an Afghan chief
lie treatetl his courtiers as friends. Ile was very simple
in habits aud never made a display of royalty. IHe
. distributed his treasures nmongst his friends. Though

" ot a scholar he liked the company of learned men, and
alwa)s recognised their merit by suitable rewards. lIle
vms impartial in the administration of justice, and wise
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in government, * He enlisted about 20,000 Mughals in the
army, as he had great reliance on them.

‘Sikandar Lodi (1489-1517 A.D)

On the death of Bahlol there was some dispute
regarding the claims of the rival candidates for the
throne of Delhi. Some supported the claims of Barbak
Shah, the viceroy of Jaunpur, and others of Azim
Humayun, a grand-son of the late Sultan. But nobles
led by Khan-i-Khan Lohani supported the claims of -
Nizam Khan,” who now ascended the throne of Delhi-
under the title of Sikandar Lodi. The greatest opponent
of Sikandar was Isa Khan, a nephew of Bahlo], whom
he defented and then conferred favours on all his relatives.
He had six sons and forty officers of distinetion at the
time of his accession. His brother Alam Khan, governor
of Rewari had declarcd himself independent and took
his position at the fort of Chandwar. On the approach
of Sikandar he fled to Isa Khan at Pattinli and later
submitted at Etawah, Isa Khan was wounded in a fight,
and died shortly afterwards.

Barbak Shah, viceroy of Jaunpnr, set himself up as'
an independent king. He rejected with disdain the -
proposal of accepting the wsuzerain rights of '‘Sikandar.
In an action which followed the failure of the negotia-
tions Barbak’s general Kala Pahar was taken prisoner.
But he was ‘persunded by Sikandar to espouse his cause
and to direct an atiack against his whilom master Bar-
_bak, who ‘was now deserted by his own troops. Barbak

15
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took shelter in  Budayun, and his son Mubarak Khai
was taken prisoner. When Budayun was invested he
surrendered, but he was treated kindly by his brother.
Husain Shah Sharki was still very: powerful in Behar,
and might threaten Delbi. So. Sikandar restored Barbak
Shah to the government of Jaunpur, but placed a
number of his-Afghan friends to assist him with grants
of estates is- ensure their support in case of necessity.

Sikandar then removed .Azim Humayun from . the
government of Kalpi, and Lrought under control the
provinces of Bhurayl, Gwalior, Biyana and Agra. On his
return to Delbi he received the news of a rising of - the
Zemindars in Jaunpur, who had collected.a vast army
of 100,000 horse and foot. Barbak Shah. failed to res-
tore order, Slkandar proceeded towards - Jaunpur,. and
sent Barbak Shah as a state-prisoner for his ineapacity
to rule, He then marched towards DBehar, and was
engaged for sometime in suppressing the Zemindars who
helped Husain Shah. In an engagement near, DBenarcs
Hugain Shah was defeated, and fled to Lakhnauti where
he spent the rest of his life under the protection of the
king of Bengal. The Sharki dynasty came to an end
with him . (1494 A. D). The districts of Behar were
now settled upon his own officers.  An  expedition was
also sent against Bengal, but before they cume to fight
a treaty of mutual friendship was concluded, and they
agreed not to afford protection to their mutual enemics.
The country was at that time threatened with famine
and the Sultan cased the situation by remitting the
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customs duties for the remainder of his reigh. On his
return from- Behar be resided six-months at Jaunpur.

- Sikandar asked for the hands of a-daughter of Raja
Salivahan of Panna, but the Raja refusing the country
was ruined up to Banda. While at Jaunpur he ingpect-
¢d the accounts of Mubarak Khan Lodi and found that
a-large amount had ‘been defaleated: The Afghdn
officers considered the. inspectien of the accounts as-an
encroachment upon their privileges and made a- common
cause against the Sultan. A -conspiracy was set up to
murder the king and to place his brother Fateh Khan
upon the *throne. But the prince informed the king of
the plot, and the conspirators were then sent to differ-
ent places, and were done to death. one by one. The
king stayed henceforth for four years at Sambhal recrui-
ting his health. But there he could not enjoy perfect
peace. He had to devise plans of . suppressing the rebel
governors and unruly chiefs of Delhi, Gwalior and Dhol-
pur. Khwaja Baban'who . had been despatched against
Raja Vinayak Deo of Dholpur being killed. (Nov. 1501
A. D) the Sultan marched against the Raja. On his
approach- Vinayak' Deo fled to Gwalior, The Sultan
now ransacked -both Dholpur and Gwalior. Ultimately
the Raja - of Gwalior: submitted, and the ‘two * states
acknowledzed his - supremacy. Vinayak. Deo was then
reinstated in power. About this time the Sultan'thought
of making Agra his capital (1504 A. D)) The old Hindu
témples were destroyed and mosques were built in
their place. A violent * carthquake took place in 1503
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A. D. %o that the mountains shook to their broad buses,
and lofty buildings were levelled with the ground.
Several thousand inhabitants were buried under the
ruins.” ‘

The couatries round about Agra gave him trouble
for some years and Sultan Sikandar had to be ready
for the risings in Gwalior, Dholpur and 3arwar. The
siege of Marwar lasted eight months. Shahab-ud-Din, son
of the Sultan of Malwa revolted against his father and
sought the help of Sikandar Lodi. The Sultan promised
to support him on condition that Chanderi was handed
over to him. While he was busy with these affairs
his officers tried to get as much authority as they could.
In. 1517 A, D. in the midst of his preparations for
the subjugation of Gwalior he suddenly died of quinsy
at Agra.

Sikandar:Lodi reigned more than twenty-cight years.
He was the last of the Pathan rulers, who succeeded " in
making his unruly nobles submit to his authority. DBy
a regular audit and inspection of accounts he tried to
remove the corrupt practice of the provincial governors.
He extended the rule of the Sultan of Delhi from
Behar to the Punjab.  Although he did not introduce
any new reforms he did his best to improve the effici-
ency of administration. He maintained a system of
news-agents by which he kept himself informed of the
movements of the people in all parts of the empire. He
was learned in law, and administered justice impartially
and very often went decp into the iutricate causes. The
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fief-holders and jagirdars had to render him allegiance.
Any deviation was dealt with severely. He strictly
supervised the army and examined the qualifications of
the officers specially at the time of promotion. By means
of horse posts he linked up thé distant units of the
army. The reign was marked by peace and prosperity.
The prices of all commodities were Tow. )

He was remarkable for his beanty and comeliness
and had a reputation for learning and good sense
He could write poetry and always encouraged . literary
men by rewards He was a devoted Muzalman, and uzed
to pray five times regularly every day. His bigotry
was £0 intense that he destroyed the Hinda temples in
many places. “In the city of Muttra he caused Musjids
and bazars to be built opposite the bathing stairs leading
to the river,” says Ferishta, “and ordered that no Hindu
should bathe there. He forbade the barbers to shave
the beards aad heads of the inhabitants in order to
prevent the Hindus following their nsual practices at
such pilgrimages” At Agra he destroyed all the Hindu
temples. It is rdated that a Brahman named Bodhan
of Kaithan near Lucknow was executed for holding the
view “that the religious books of the Moszlems and
Hiodus, if acted on with sincerity, were equally accept-
able to God.” He called a larpze number of Maulvies to
Sambhal to discuss the point with the Brahman, and
when he did not give up the claims of equality and
accept Islam he had to suffer death. The mosques were
thoroughly reorganized andl they were made the centres
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- of learning. He encouraged, learning and even the
Hindus began to study ‘Persian, and Moslem literature,
His. . officers. were generally educated men, - e was
chamtable and had a well-organised machinery for dis-
tributing alms, pensions and. charities,

‘Ibrahim Lodi (1417-26 A.D.).

‘On the death of Sikandar Lodi his son lbmlum
Lodi succeeded him to the throne. He formed a wrong
idea of his position as king of Delhi. Hiy father
Sikandar Lodi very tactfully commanded the Ioyalty of
the nobles by treating them as friends and
equals, although -he dealt severely with them whenever
they transgressed the laws of propriety. Ibrahim
made thew . feel that he was the supreme ruler
and they were his subordinates, He wnde them stand
in his presence with their hands crosscd and. made no
distinction between the high and the: low, his clansmen
and others. This created great discontent  speeially
among the Lohani. Farmeuli and Lodi Chicfs who held
important offices in the state and on whose support
the late Sultan counted so greatly, Ibralim felt thut
if he allowed sufficient  latitode to his uobles they
wight flout his authority altogether. They had alrendy
become very strong. They enjoyed their jagirs as
s matter of rightand could at any time defy the king’s
authority, A little more tightening would spap the
bondl, The position of the Sultan was therefore precarious,
The Hindas on the other hand had ne  attachments for
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the throne, - The Musalman rulers had never tried to win
their sympsthy. By their policy - of religious. intolerance
they alienated them. They were never -given office nor
entrusted with the command of the army. -The Moslem
nobles -and jagirdars tried to set themselves as indepen-
dent rulers, and the ‘Hindu princes were eagerly waiting
for the weskening’ of the central authority so that i in
time they might assert themselves.
- The first attempt to reduce the authority of- Ibrahun
was made by the Lodi - chiefs whoset-up his brother '
Jalal Khan‘, governor' -of Kalpi, as the independent
tuler of Jaunpur. Khan<i-Jahan Lodi saw -'the: danger
to the Afghan' Empire by this-division and warned: the
amirs from - snch a- course. But Jalal would not with-
draw from- his - position. Jbrahim now issued.a procla-
mation that anybody who supported the cause of
Jalal was atraitor. - He also tried to win over the nobles -
by presents and other means. Prince Jalal persuaded
Azam Humayun to 'join’ him and both marched against
Naid Khan, son of Mubarak Khan, in- Oudh and drove
him to Lucknow. Azam Humayun shortly afterwards
deserted Jalal, when Ibrahim murched against him, “The
Sultan kept all his brothers confined in the: fort of
"Hansi and procceded towards Kalpi where Jalal had left.
. his  family, When Kalpi was besiezed by Azam
Humaywn Lodi, Jalal with 30,000 horse marched towards
Agra. The governor of the place, ‘Adam Khan, in
order to save the place promised to place him in
possession of Kalpi -bat - Ihrahim did not* acknowledge
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the right of the governor to, negotiate. Prince Jalal
deserted by his army fled to Gwalior and Ibrahim
returned to Agra to put the affairs there in proper
order. About this time he dismissed Mian Bhua his
father’s Vizier without any reason and put him into
_prison. An army under Azam Humayun Sherwani was
.sent to  Gwalior where Jalal had fled for protection.
Raja Man Sing defended the place with great couraze
and ability but he died in the course of the siege and
his son Vikramajeet held out for some months. Then
Jalal fled to Malwa where Sultan Mahmud gave him
cold shoulders. So he went to the Raja of Garh
Kantak, but was captured by the Gonds on the way
and sent to Ibrahim. He sent him to Hansi but the
poor prince was assassinated on the way by the orders
of his brother.

Sultan Ibrahim was always suspicious of the officers
and nobles. He recalled Azam Humayun Sherwani from
Gwalior when it was about to fall into his hands, and
put him and his son Fateh Khan into prison. His
other son Islam Khan was removed from the govern-
ment of Karra. The nobles greatly resented the treat-
ment of these officers, and they all flocked to the bauner
of Islam Kban. Ahmad Khan was sent against the
insurgents. They denanded the release of Azam
Humayun Sherwani, which Ibrahim indignantly refused.
He ordered Daria Khan Iobani, governor of Bihar,
Nasir Khan Lohani, collector of Ghazipur, and Shaikh-
zada Muhammad Farmeuli, governor of Oudh, to proceed
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with their . troops against.the rebels. . A terrible battle
was fought between the. parties in which Islam Khan
was killed, and Said Khan imprisoned. - The rebels:
were scattered in all directions. The . Sultan. wreaked
his vengeance upon:the nobles, executed Asam Humay-
un Sharwrni, and Mian Bhua in .prison; and many other:
. nobles were mercilessly slaughtered.

Warned by these inhuman actions Daria Khan Lohani,
Khan-i Jahan Lodi, Hussain Khan Farmeuli and other
chiefs openly. revolted against the Sultan. Hussair
Farmeuli was secretly murdered in his bed .at.Chanderi
at the instance of Ibrahim.. This. cowardly deed created
more ecnemics, On the death of  Daria Khan Lohani
about this time .his son DBahadur Khan declared his:
independence in Behar under the title of Mubammad!
Shah. He gathered an- army . of 100,000 horse with
the help, of the discontented chiefs and gained posses-
sion of the country upto Sambhal. The Sultan also-
alienated Daulat Khan Lodi, .governor of . Lahore,
by trying to overawe his.son. Fearing 'that his- turn
was not: remote Daulat Khan .appealed to Babar to
save them from the tyranny of Ibrahim Lodi. Previous:
to this Prince Ala-ud-Din, brother of Ibrahim Lodi fled
to Kabul. The disturbances in India, the rebellion of
the nobles and their appeal to Babar for help embol~
dened Ala-ud-Din to return to India.

Babar had been -contemplating an invasion of
Hindustan since 1519 A. D, Several times he marched
into the Punjab.” On receiving the invitation of Daulat

/
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Khan Lodi he marched towards Lahore in 1524 A. D.
"The Afghan officers  were easily defeated, and Lahore
-was occupied. Babar then took possession of Dipalpur
and there he was joined by Daulat Khan who was
-appointed gevernor of Jalandhar, Sultanpur, . and other
-districts .of the.Punjab., On the advice of Daulat Khan
he was preparing an expedition to Dera Ismail Khan
,when he was informed by Dilawar Khan, the youngest son
-of Danlat Khan that his father wanted to divide the
Mughal troops in -order that he might destroy them.
‘Babar . therefore put Daulat Khan and his son Ghari
Khan under arrest, but .when they:were released lnter
on, they fled to the hills. Dilawar: Khan was then
granted the family estates, and made the Khani-i-Khanan.
The desertion .of such . an iufluential man as Daulat
Khan was distressing to- Babar. So he returned to
Lahore, and after settling the government of the newly
wequired provinces went hack to Kabul. ‘
Daulat Khan Lodi wanted to recover the lost gromid
wluring the absence of Babar. He seized Dilawar Khan,
-wrested the provinee of Dipalpur from @ Aln-ud-Din Ludi
and attacked Sialkote. But in the last place he was
defeated by Mir Abdul' Aziz, governor -of Lahore, Als-
ud-Din fled to Kabul, and brought orders from Babar
-to his officers to support him in an attack upen Delhi.
Daulat Khan Lodi also expressed his willingness. to pro-
mote the claims of Alu-ud-Din against Ibrahim Lodi.
Ala-ud-Din thus marched at the head of 40,000 horse,
anid in an engagement near Delhi although vietorious in
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the first stage he was defeated by Ibralim next day on
account of the irregularities of his troops. and retreated
towards. the Punjab. On. receiving ‘the . uews of the
defeat of Ala-ud-Din, Babar prepared his expedition to
India (Nov.1525 A.D.). His son Hamayun accompanied him
on this momentous march. After crossing the Indus he
proceeded to Sialkote where he was joined by Ala-ud
Din and his governor in the Punjab. Daulat. Khan Lodi
and his-son Ghazi Khan . opposed him on the Ravi on
behalf of Ibrahim Lodi. But ;they were defeated,
Daulat Khan was captured in the fort of Malwat, where-
a8 Ghazi Khan joined Ibrahim Lodi at Delki. Daulat
Khan and Dilawar Khan submitted . to the inevitable
and for this ‘they were honourably treated by Babar.
Daulat Khan did not live . long to.sce the foundation
of the Mughal Empire which he helped by his treachery
and vacillation. S . '

The Battle of Panipat (1526 A.D) ‘

The dissensions among the Afghan chiefs inereasod
<laily. Babar sent bis son Humayun to Hisar-Firoza and
cxpelled the Governor who opposed his march. Malik
Baban Afghan Jalwani deserted Ibrahim Lodi and join-
od Babar with 3000 horse. An advance party of 27,000
horse under Daud Khan and Hatim Khan was defeated
near Shahabad. Ibrabim Lodi with 100,000 horse and
1000 eclephants had taken up lis position at the ficld of |
Panipat. He had also wast . treasures to culist more
troops.  But “he was .an unproved, youth” says Babar in
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his Memoirs, “he was negligent in all his movements, he
marched without order, retired or halted without plan,
and engaged in battle without foresight”, Babar had
only 12,000..troops, all thoroughly trained although they
were exhausted on account of their tedious journey ex-
tending over three months. The Mughals reached Panipat
on the 12th April 1526 AD. Babar arranged his troops
into two lines, each composed of four divisions. There
was a light brigade in front and a reserve in the rear,
The right of the first division was commanded by Hum-
ayun, the left by Mubammad Sultan Mirza. In the
second line Chin Timur Sultan led the right, and Khali-
fa the left. The advance party was commanded by Sul-
tan Mirza, reserve of the right wing by Abdul Aziz and
the left wing by Wali Karawal, and the grand reserve in
the rear by Kasim Beg and Ali Bahadur. Babar took
his position in the centre of the first line. In front of
the line seven hundred carts were joined together by
means of leathern thongs, behind which stood the mat-
chlock men ready to fire. Ustad Ali Kuli with his
Firingi guns stood infront of the centre,and the cannon-
eer Mustafa directed his artillery from the left centre.
The Mughal troops were thoroughly marshalled and
equipped with guns and cannons which the Afghans
lacked. Moreover by the arrangements of the troops
Babar had provided for their rapid movements,
and  ready  reinforcements from the  rescrves.
He had also instructed the turning parties to
wheel round the cnemy’s flank and attack them
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in the rear, whilst the right and left divisions
would charge. The Afghans were, on the other hand.
drawn wp in one solid mass. They charged straight
without halting, but were soon surrounded by the Mug-
hals. They had no chance of retreating” as on their left
was the town of Panipat with its suburbs, in front were
the Mughal troops arrayed behind the carts, and on
the right - were the trenches protected by boughs of
trees. Babar gives a description of the battle in his
Memoirs in which he says, “The enemy made one or
two weak charges on the right and left, but our men’
piled them with arrows and drove them in upon their
centre, so that huddled together and in confusion the
enemy could neither advance nor flee. The sun had
mounted spear-high when the onset began (21st April
1526 A.D.) and the battle lasted till midday, noon pass-
ed, the enemy were routed and broken down and our
friends victorious and exulting, By the grace and mercy
of almighty God, this arduous task was made easy for
us and this mighty army in the space of half a day was
laid in the dust. Five or six thousand men were found
lying slain in one spot near Ibrahim. We reckoned that
the slain in different parts of the battle-field numbered
15000 or 16,000 men, but it came out later in Agra
from the accounts of the natives that 40,000 or 50,000
had fallen in the field.” Thus Panipatdecided the fate of
India and Delhi passed into the hands of the Mughals.



CHAPTER XI.
THE SMALLER KINGDOMS.

Disintregation of the Empire.

The -Sultans of Delhi never enjoyed their rule over
the whole of India. Muhammad Tughlak had the most
extensive dominions from one end of India to the other,
but even then the vast tract of land known as Orissa
lying between the Ganges and the Godavari remained
unsubdued, and the large number of Rajput States in
Central India owed nominal allegiance. In the
neighbourhood of Dellii the Rajput princes. remained
practically independent. In the Doab between the
Ganges and the Jumna the Rajputs lost their freedom,
some migrated to Central India, and those who remaind
were satisfied with the position of Zemindars and culti-
vators although they still possessed the military skill
and Rajput bravery. Mewat, Bundelkhand Baghelk-
hand, and’ others close states to Delhi possessed n
number of strong forts like Rantambhar, Gwalior, Kalin-
jir, ete. The Sultans considered the subjugation of these
states necessary for the maintenance of the integrity of
Delhi. But they eould never thoroughly reduce them to
submission. The Rajputs in the rough country  south
of the Jumna proved a source of danger to the empire,
but those in the plins like Jaipny, Ajmir and  Malwa
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which could be - easily approached -could not resist the
Moslem arms: Jaipur had all along ~been very accom-
modating and *-the other two were easily: conquered:
Mewar although-could not - withstand the attack of Ala-
ud-Din’ Khilji- in 1303 A.M. soon recovered her indepen-
dence. The states along the desert-such as Jodhpur,
Bikanir, Jesalmir, were not molested on account of their
inaccessible. position. There were a large’ number of
smaller states which eseaped the ravages of the Musal-
mans. Kashmir and the states along the' Himalayas did
not acknowledge the supremacy of Delhi. Hindus in
Telingana and -Karnata recovered - their ‘indeperidence
during the bad rale ‘of Mabammad Tughlak and the
country south' of the Krishna remained under the Hindu
Rajas till 1565 A.D. There were thus a tafge number
of Hindu states still in existence, when the Turks and
Afghans established their rule in the different parts of
India. Most of these states had to fight hard in order
to maintain their freedom. They showed  marvellous
clasticity and at : times great heroism. But they could
never ‘combine to drive away the foreign rulers.” They
however could retain their independence or regain it on
account’of the weakness of the Muslim Government.
The Sultans of Delhi ‘did not come from: one
" stock. There were five dynasties and thirty-four Sultans
in course of 320 years. Even ‘the most powerful - of
these Tulets had ' to count ‘upon the support of their
comrades in ‘arms. They had no territory to fall back
upon and no national treasury or army to support them:
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The first few Sultans were slaves and adventurers.
Their claims to authority lay in their intellectual merit
and good generalship. They were accompanied by a
number of adventurers of their own type who helped in
extending the Moslem rule and thus established ~their
claim to equal treatment. They held charge of provin-
«ces and districts over which the Sultan had only nominal
«control. Some powerful Sultans rose from among these
provincial governors. All ambitious men therefore che-
rished a desire to occupy the supreme position and
sought opportunity to overthrow those in power. This
was the inherent wéakness of the Sultanate. The army
«consisted of the mercenary soldiers who came either.
from Afghanistan and other countries for-the sake of
pay and plunder or recruited in India’ generally from
the Moslems. They had no interest in the solidarity of
the empire, or in the welfare of the people. Whenever
they were granted lands and jagirs in recognition of
their services they settled to peaceful life.  They
gradually lost the spirit of adventure and along with it their
old vigour and boldness. By a method of mass couversion
a large number of Hindus were compelled to  aceept
Islam. These converts were neither very strong nor
adventurous. Some of them had adopted the new faith
to escape the heavy taxes and to enjoy some privileges
under the Muslim rulers. As Hindus they ecould not
obtain high office or command in the army. Thesc
cireumstances gradually weakened the military strength
of the cmpire. Besides these inherent causes there were
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some definite contributions of the Sultans, which helped
the dismemberment of the empire. Sultan Firoz Shah
Tughlak recognised the hereditary rights to the fiefs and
Jagirs by the officers and servants of the state. These
fief-holders in course of time acquired certain interests
of their own, and did not consider themselves under any
obligation of service. They became little potentates in
their own estates, and consequently they believed that
the weakening of the central authority would help them
in getting greater powers. They maintained their own
troops and practically enjoyed full control over their
estates. Firoz Tughlak was also responsible for
the extensive enrolment of slaves who were employed
in many important positions not only under the Sultans
but also in provincial governments, These slaves be-
came very powerfal and dangerous and the downfall of
the empire was not a little due to their officious inter-
ference. At one time no one could remain on the
throne unless he could win the good-will of these myr-
midons. Even the most wretched ruffians mounted the
throne because they could pumper to the vitiated taste
of their wicked masters, and thus acquired ascendancy
in the court. The instability of the government
of the Sultans was due no less to the absence
of any definite law of succession and the existence
of constant conflict between the rival parties
and between the Hindus who formed the majority in
the country and the Musalmans who were so rigid in
the enforcement of their own law and religion. What-
16
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ever dignity the Sultan possessed was smashed by the
invasion of Timur. The Mongol chiefs passed like a
hurricane over the dominions of the Snltan of Delhi,
and gave his government a rude shakinz The people
lost all respect for the Sultanate. The Sayads and
Lodis simply marked the time, The provincial gover-
nors cut off their conncetion with Delhi and raed on
their own account.

Bengal,

Bengal was the first province to break away from
Delhi. It remained connceted with the empire for one
‘hundred and fifty years. If any governor at any time
revolted he ‘was stérnly punished, but in the time of
Mubammad Tughlak when the empire was involved in.
troubles in all quarters Takhrn-d-Din, Viceroy of
Bengal declared his independence in 1340 A. D. This
‘Fakhru-d-Din had obtained power by murdering his
master Qadr Khan, governor of Bengal. He in turn
was killed by Ali Mubarik, the generalissimo of Qadr
Khan. Ali Mubarik was murdered by his foster-brother
‘Haiji Ilyas who asecnded the throne under the title of
Shamsuddin. During his reign  Dengal extended upto
the borders of DBenares. Firoz Shah Tughlak made
‘attempts  to  regain  control over the provinees, but he
was satisfied with forming an  alliance of friendship
with the Sultan of Bengal. The Musalman governmont
‘continued undisturbed til 1408 A, D. when Raja Kans,
zemindar of Bathuriah near Malda nsurped the throne for
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a few years. He was the only Hindu in Bengal to over-
throw the Musalman government. He reigned from 1407
to 1414 A: D. The Musalmans invoked the aid of Sultan
Ibrshim of Jaumnpur. But IKaus propitiated the
Musalman saint Qutbul Alam by making over his . son
Jadu to be converted into Islam, and thus averted the
attack of the Jaunpur King, Although Kans tried to
bring back his son to Hinduism, the son remained true
to Islam, and on the death of his father he mounted the.
throne as Jalal-ud Din, The independent kings of Bens
gal had Panduah as their capital, but Jalal-ud Din
rewoved. it to Gaur, He reigned {or seventeen years and
his son for sixteen years. Shortly after his death in about
1447 AD. the family of Ilyas Shah was restored to,
power.  There were four kings of this family. The last
king Fath-8hah was killed . by a eunuch named Barbag:
(1484 AD.) who became king as Sultan Shahzada. The.
eunuch - was killed by an  Abyssinian named Malik
Andil. He was a nobleman and a commander of the forces.
of Fath Shab. He thus became the founder of the Habe
shi or Abyssinian dynasty in. Bengal. During the ‘reign-
of Muzaftar Shah a civil war took place. He was very,
oppressivo and tyranaical in. collecting revenues. The prin-
cipal noblemen revolted against him and the war lasted.
four months, and one lakh and twenty thousand peopls
died. Muzaffar Shah himself was killed. His Vizier. Syed’
Husain Sharif Maki ascended the throne as Sultan Ala-ud-
Din in 1494 AD. He was popularly called Husain Shah.
He was a great and good king and extended his domin-
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ions from Orissa to Assam and from Chittagong to
Behar, He reigned for thirty years and was succeeded
by three kings of his family,. When Babar invaded
India Bengal enjoyed . good government under Husain
Sheh. The King of Jaunpur when attacked by Saltan
Sikandar Lodi fled to him for protection. The last
Husain Shahi king was defeated by Sher Shah in 1538 A.D,,
who became the king of Bengal and afterwards emperor
of Delhi in 1540 A.D. After the fall of the Sur family
Bengal retained its independence till 1576 A.D. when
it was annexed by Akbar. Husain Shah made Ekdala
his capital. His: son Nasrat Shah made peace with
Babar, Many Afghan nobles fled to Bengal, when Delhi
passed into the hands of the Mughals. Nasrat Shah was
very kind to the refugees and settled villages and per-
gannas on them. Bengal maintained its independen-
dence for such a long period mainly on account of
its physical circumstances, . It is a land traversed
by broad rivers, and during the rains the roads become
impassable. The. governors of Bengal carried on their
administration in isolation, and the Sultans of Delhi
when they had already lost their old prestige and
power did not possess sufficient resources to think of
a reconquest,. Bengal was a prosperous country and
its rulers maintained large number of Patks and soldiers.
The city of Gaur, it it told, far outshone Cairo in
wealth and  magnificence. Iussain  Shah  promoted
" learning, endowed colleges and mosques and there was
also a revival of the Bengali literature at that time.
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Jaunpur.

Firoz Shah Tughlak founded the city of Jaunpur
on the banks of the Gumti, in memory of Mahammad
Jaena whom he suceceded in the throve of Delhi. He
spent six months there on his way to Bengal (1354-60
A. D)) and helped to make it a noble ciiy of beautiful
and superb edifices. In course of time it became the
beadquarters of the governors of Oudh and the
adjoining provinces. After the death of Firoz Tughlak
when Lis empire fell into pieces, the eunuch Sarwar
better known as Khwaja Jehan who was the Vizier of
Mahmmad Tughlak was entrusted with the government
of the eastern provinces from Kanauj, Karra, Oudh
Sandila, D.thau, Bobrieh, Bebar and Tirhut, and
establishinz good government there. He received the
title of “Malik-us Sharq™” or lord of the cast. When the
Sultan of Delbi Jost  his anthority during the invasion
of Timur Khwaja Jehan declired his independence. The
Sharki kings ruled over Jaunpur from 13 te 1477
AD. Ibmbim Shah Sharki was the most distinguished
of these kinrs. He was a man of abiliy and ruled for
about forty years. Mahmud Tughlak sought his aid
azainst bis overweening minister - Mallu Iqbal Khan but
the Sharki king did oot think it worth his while to
support the cause of a puppet king, specially when be
found that Mabmud would be pleased if he made reom
for him at Jaunpur. For snmetime there was constant
conflict between the Sultan and the Sharki King Togard-
inz the possession of Kanauj and Kalpi till the boundary



246 MEDIEVAL INDIA

between the two kingdoms was fixed. Ibrahim was a
patron of learning. He established many schools and
colleges, Many literary men flocked to his court when
Delhi lost its prestige after the invasion of Timur. He
adorned Jaunpur with many beautiful buildings of which
the Atala Mosque which stands even now bears ample
testimony to his architectural originality in which Sam-
ceric art has been mixed with Indian ideas. As Jaun-
pur was close to Delhi the Sultans all along attempted
its reconquest for the maintenance of the empire. Bah-
lol Lodi ultimately Succceded in  defeating the Sharki
king Husain Shal and annexing Jaunpur in 1477 AD,
on which the Sharki king first went to Behar and  then
ended his days in Bengal. .

Malwa, _

The fertile tract of land between Guzerat, Rajputana,
Jaunpur, and the Vindhyas has an interesting history.
The Parmar Rajputs ruled the country since the tenth
century AD. Raja Bhoja (10101050 AD) was the
most famous of these kings. The DParmars were defea-
ted by the Solankis of Guzerat in the twelfth century,
Altamsh invaded Ujjain in 1235 AD. and  the country
was annexed by Alasud-Din Khilji in 1310 A.D. From
that time Malwa came under the sway of the Sultans of
Delhi. Dilawar Khan Ghori, governor of Malwa threw
off the yoke of Delhi (1401 AD.) along with the
governors in other parts of Hindustan after the invasion
of Tinur, He made Dhar hix capital. Tis eon THushany
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Shah  (1403-1434 AD.) removed the capital to Mandu
It was situated on a rich tabledand of  thirty-
-seven miles in  cirenmference surrounded by rocky
precipices and it was remarkable for the magni-
ficesce of its buildings. Hushang Shah was
-constantly engaged in war with Guzerat, Delhi and
-Jawnpur. Once he was defeated by Muzaffar Shah of
‘Guzerat and taken as prisoner. But he was soon released
and his kingdom was restored to him. His son Ghazi
Khan was a worthless man and was assassinated by his
minister Mahmud Khan in 1436 AD. Mahmud ascended
the throne as Mahmud Khilji, and ruled from 1436 to 1469
A. D. During his long reigo Malwa beeame a prosper-
ous state. He estended the dominions in all directions.
The kingdom touched the borders of Guzerat, Mewar,
Herauti and Bundelkhand, His attack upon Delhi was
successfully repelled by Bablol Lodi. In 1440 A. D. he
was engzaged in a deadly fight with the Rajputs led by
Rana Kumbhka of Chitor. Doth sides claimed to have
won the day. Kumbha built a tower of victory at
Chitor eleven years after the event, which took ten
years to complete. Mahmud on the other hand erected
a tower at Mandu to commemorate Lis victory. It scems
the result was indecisive. He was succceded by his
son Ghiyas-ud-Din (1469-1500 AD). Ghiyas was mur-
dered by bis son Nasir-ud Din, a drunken sensualist who
drowned himself in the Faliyadaha lake (1510 AD.)
His successor Mahmud IT when confronted with a civil
war  with his brother Saheb Khan sought the help of
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the Rajputs and appointed Medini Rao of Chanderi as his
minister. The Rajputs suppressed the rebellion and
made Mahmud IT secure on his throne. The ascendancy
of the Hindus was resented by the Musalmans, but
Medini Rao proved himself too strong. He crushed all
opposition and appointed the Rajputs to offices in court
and army. Mahmud IT fled to Muzaffar Shah of Guze-
rat and with his aid he fought the Rajputs and regained
his authority after a war lasting more than a ycar.
Medini Rao retired to Chanderi, but Mahmud I1 pursucd
him there. Rana Sanga of Mewar took up the cause
of Medini Rao and after a stubborn fight tock
Mahmud a prisoner, but in a spirit of magnanimity
set him free shortly, But the ungrateful Mahmud
attacked Rattan Singh after the death of Sanga. The
Raja then cntered into an alliance with Bahadur Shah
of Guzerat who captured Mandu, took Mahmud a
prisoner, and annexed Malwa to Guzerat in 1531 A.D.

Guzerat.

The province of Guzerat is a fertile couutry well
protected by the sea, hills and deserts. The peninsula
proper called Surashtra is covered with many low hills,
and in the south there are thick woods. DBut on the
const there are some good harbours, and the country
is plain and very fertile. The ports of Cambay, Surat
Broach and other places  held very important position
in the trade and eommerce of India with the western
countries. When Mahmud of Ghazni came to plunder
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the temple of Somnath he was so struck with the wealth
and natural beauty of Gnzerat that he wanted to set
up his government there. But the country remained in
the hands of the Hindus till Ala-ud-Din Khilji annesed
it in 1297 AD. It formed an important province of
the empire for about a century. In the period of con-
fusion after the invasion of Timur its governor Zafar
Khan shook off his allegiance to Delbi He extended
his powers over the neighbouring state of Idar, captured
Diu, fought with the kinzs of Kbandesh, Mewar and
Malwa. His son Tartar Khan with the title of Nasir-ud
Din Muhammad Shah put his father into prison and
reigned for a short time with the help of some discon-
tented  nobles (1403 AD). But the yvoung man was.
poisoned to  death and  Zafar Klan ruled undisturbed
till he was murdered in 1411 AD. He was succecded
by his grandson Ahmed Shah (1411-1441 AD..

Durinz the reien of Abmed Shah  Guzerat became a
powerful kingdom. His hestility with the king of Malwa
wi instigated his enenides within Guzerat and outside kept
him always on the war path. He thrice invaded Malwa.
in 1416, 1421 and 1437 A.D. On the first cceasion he
attacked Dhar, on the sccond invested  Mandu,
and lastly he helped Masud Khan grandson of Mabmud
Khilji to occupy the throne. Mahmud was defeated,
but on eccount of the outbreak of an epidemic in Guz-
crat he hal to suddenly retreat. He led his arms againt
Idar, Jhalor and some states in the Peninsula. - Once he
went 10 Nagor, in the north of Marwar, and later on
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marched against Khandesh and the DBabmani Kingdom.
He was a stern Musalman, destroyed the Hindu temples
within the kingdom, and converted many Hindus to Is-
lam. He considered war against the Hindus as a reli-
-gious duty. He improved the civil government of the
-country and administered  ustice impartially. He built
several forts and established the cities of Ahmeduagar
and Ahmedabad, The former was strongly fortified asa
-check on the Raja of Idar. He removed his eapital to
Ahmedabad on the banks of Sabarmati, which he adorn-
-ed with magnificent buildings.

His successor Muhammad Shah was defeated by the
combined armies of Champanir and Malwa and later
on poisoned to death by his mobles (1451 A.D) His son
Qutub-ud-Din was engaged in a war with Rana Kumbla
of Chitor, went ag far as the Rana’s eapital, occupied
Abu, and defeated the Raja of Sirohi an ally of Kumbha,
His uncle Dand reigued after him for only a fow
days and was superseded by Fateh Khan, who was
raised to the throne with the title of Mahmnd Dizarah
{1458-1511 A.D)

Bigarah was a boy of fourteen at his accession aud -
reizaed for fifty-two years. llc subjugated the rebellions
nobles within his kingdom and made his powers felt in
the neighbouring countries.  Flo resened Nizam Shah the
Bahmani king from the attacks of Mahmud Khilji (1461~
62 AD), forced the Raja of Gimnar to accept Tslam,
{1467 A.D.) and killed the Raja of Champanir far res-
istance and annexed hia kingdom (1484 AD). Ile car-
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ried a number of maritime expeditions against the pirates
and the Portuguese. He defeated the Sumra and Sodha
chiefs in Kutch, took the Chief of Jagat (Dwarka) a
prisoner, and sent a fleet to Bombay. In 1507 A.D. the
Mamluk Sultan of Egypt sent a fleet against the Port-
uguese. Mahmud Bigarah joined him in crushing the
- .common foe who interfered with the free trade of the
Musalwan countries. The Portuguese Viceroy Almeida
was frightened. His son Dom Louerenco was defeated in
an action near Chaul, south of Bombay, but later on
the Portuguese inflicted a heavy defeat upon the Mos-
lem fleet near Diu, (1509 A.D.)

Mahinud Bigarah died in 1511 A.D. and he is rem-
embered as the greatest king of Guzerat. He was a good
king, an able general, and an impartial judge. He had
uncommon appetite for food. It is said that he could
consume food, one man of Guuerat weight (40 1bs).
In the worning he took a cup of honey and a cup of
butter with one hundred or more plantains. He had his
moustaches so long that he could tie them over his
head, and his long beard flowed down to the waist.

Ilis son Khalil Khan known as Muzaffar Shah 11
(1511-26 A.D.) espoused the  cause of Mahmud Khilji
of Malwa against the Rajputs, defeated Medini Rao of
Chanderi, and Rana Sanga of Chitor and placed, Mah-
mud Khiljii on the throne. On his death in 1526 A.D.
Lis two sons followed in quick succession. His third son
Bahalur Shah who was at Delhi reigned from 1526 to
to 1537 A.D. He fought against Nizam Shah of Alm-
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ednagar in aid of the kings of Khandesh and Berar. He
next directed his operations against Mahmud - Khilji of
Malwa for his attack upon Rana Rattan Sing of Chitor
brought Mahmud IT a prisoner to Guzerat, and annexed his
kingdom (1531 A.D.). He did not however consider the
existence of the Rajputs very encouraging, Sithadi was a
powerful chief in Malwa, who was in possession of Raisin,
Bhilsa, Ujjain and other places. He was arrcsted by
Bahadur when he went to the royal camp, and his son
Bopat Rai sought the help of the Rana of Chitor, In 1534
A. D. Chitor was besieged, but he had to raise the siege
on account of the approach of Humayun. Guzerat was
conquered by the imperial forces. Humayun had to
return to Delhi on receiving the news of the rebellion
of Sher Khan in Bengal. Soon Bahadur recovered his
territorics. He was however treacherously killed by
Nuno da Cunha, the Portuguese governor, while he was.
engaged in war with them pear Diu (1539 A.D.). Guzerat
was in a state of confusion for some years till it wax
conquered by Akbar in 1572 A. D.

The Bahmani Kingdom (1347-1524 A.D.)

When Muhammad Tughlak failed to crush the rebel-
lion of the foreign amirs in the Deccan and went to
Guzerat, these amirs  set up their own government with
Malik Ismail Makh as their king. The Sultan’s efforts
to regain Dualatabad did not succced. In the strugele
a brave and warlike soldier called Hasan became very
prominent. He became the founder of the Bahmani



THE SMALLER KINGDOMS 253

dynasty. He traces his origin from Bahman Shah, king
of Persia. On coming to the throne he assumed the
title of Ala-ud-Din Hasan Bahman Shah. He made
Kulborga his capital. From the beginning he took
measures for good govenment and divided the country
into a number of farafs which were entrusted to the
amirs who had made the revolution a success. He had
to carry on war with the Moslem and Hindu states to
establish his authority in the Decean. The conntry from
Berar to the Krishna was subjugated, and Ala-ud-Din
built up a strong kingdom which endured till 1524 A.D.
He died in 1359 A. D. and his son Muhammad Shah
succeeded him. Muhammad had to wage war against
the Hindu Kingdoms of Telinzana and Vijayanagar, and
dealt severely with Bahram Khan Mozandarani, the rebel
governor of Daulatabad In the war with Telingaus
which lasted for two years he obtained the fort of
Goleonda and a war indemnity af 33 lakhs. The war with
Vijayanagar involved great loss of lives on both sides.
The Raya refused to pay apy tribute to the Sultan of
Kulburga, invaded the Raichur Doab between the
Krishna and the Tungbhadra and captured the fort of
Mudgal, and in the course of the operations the Moslem
troops were mercilessly slaughtered In great indigna-
tion Muhammad Shah marched with a huge army
against the Hindus, who also were  prepared to mect
the Moslems on the banks of the Tungbhadra. The
Sultan had to bring fresh troops to break their opposi-
tion, and marched upon Vijayanagar. DBut when he
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‘found that he would not be able to take the fortified
city he drew the Hindus out by feigning to retreat.
The Muslims turned back upon them and killed whom-
ever they came upon. So heavy was the toll of life in
these engagements that the Suoltan took a vow ina
repentant  spirit never again to shed innocent blood.
After a reign of a little more than seventeen years
Muhammad died in 1373 A.D.

His son and successott Mujahid Shah (1373-77 AD).)
" continued the war with Vijayanagar over the Raichur
Doab, but was heavily defeated by a combination of
the Hindus. He was murdered by his cousin Dand
-who - reigned only two months, Daud was assassi-
nated by a hired slave while praying in the mosque.
Mujahid fostered the bitterness between the foreigners
and the Dencanis by giving preference to the Persians.
‘and_Turks. Daud’s brother Muhammad Shah II reigned
from- 1578 to 97 A. D. His reign was marked by peace
and prosperity. - A number of mosques, scliools and
monasteries were built and his court was the resort’ of
‘many learned men- from the different parts of Asia, e
‘considered himself a trastee of the wealth bestowed upon
‘him by Providence, and he did his best to mitigate the
sufterings of the distressed, He was succeeded by his two
'sons  Ghiyas-ud Din and Shamsud Din who reigned for
six months, Disgusted with the misrule of the latter the
nobles helped Tiroz Shah,'a grandson of Aln-ud Din
Hasan Shah to oceupy the throne.

Firoz Shah (1337-1422  A.D) was a just and able
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ruler. He fought three wars with - Vijayanagar. In 1398
AD. Hari Har 1I made an attcmpt to occupy the fort
of Mudgal. Firoz went with a vast army to the banks
of the Krishna where Hari Har had encamped. The
Raja’s son was treacherously murdered by Qazi Siraj
who went to the Prince’s camp ostensibly for a musical
performance. When the Raja  was in sorrow the enemy
attacked him and pursued him to . Vijayanagar. - Ultim-
ately a treaty was concluded by which the stafus guo
was restored. The second war in 1406 AD. was due to
the attacks made by the Raya upon Mudgal to scize the
beautiful daughter of a farmer. The parents of the girl
fled to the territory of Sultan Firoz. The Raya’s troops.
foolishly rushed into the - Bahmani - kingdom and-plund-
ered many villages and towns. Sultan Firoz besicged the
fort of Dankapur, and took sixty thousand Hipdus as
prisoners. Tbe Raya was then foreed to eede Bankapur
and give his daughter in marrisge to the Sultan. But i
the third war when Firoz attacked the fort of Fanagal
(1417 AD) the Hindus recouped their strength; killed
the Moslem commander, and forced the Sultan to retreat
in disgrace. He died in 1422 AD. and was succeed-
ed by his brother Ahmed Shah. Firoz Shab was telerant
in his religion. He used to drink hard, and was fond
of musie. He had a large barem which inciuded women
of all nationalities and it is said that he could speak to
each in her own language.

Abmed Shabh  (1428-53 AD.) provoked a war with
Vijayanazar for taking revenge for the lhumiliation of
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the previous reign. The king of Warrangal formed an
alliance with Vijayanagar although at the time of the
war he deserted his ally. Ahmed Shah killed about 20,000
Hindus, and compelled the Raya to sue for peace, and
to agree to pay the old tribute. For taking up the
-cause of Vijayanagar the Raja of Warrangal was punish-
ed in 1424 AD. He had to cede a large portion of
his territories, Ahmed Shah also invaded Malwa, and
killed 2000 men. He also fought with the chiefs of the
Kookan and came into conflict with Guzerat. He start-
-ed building the city of Bidar which afterwards became
the capital. He died in 1435 AD.

His eldest son Ala-ud-Din II (1435-57 AD) was
kind to his brother Muhammad who however with the
help of the Raja of Vijayanagar rcbelled against the
Sultan. But he was defeated and then fled from the
field. On asking forgiveness he was granted Raichur
as jagir. The Sultan conquered the Konkan and defeat-
.d Nasir Khan of Kbandesh. The Raja of Vijayanagar
strengthened his position by admitting the Musalmans
into his service, and won their sympathy by building a
mosque in the city. An indecisive war with the Raja
took place for some time about 1442 A.D. and then
peace was concluded when Deva Raya agreed to pay
tribute. One great trouble in the reign was the quarrel
between the Deecanis who were mainly Sunnis, and the
foreigners consisting of the Arabs, Turks, Persians and
Maghals who were Shias. A large number of forcigners
were killed with their leader Khalf Hasan Malik-ul-Taj-



THE SMALLER EINGDOMS 257

gar at Chakan on the false charge of treason. This
fend led to serious troubles afterwards. Ala-ud-Din II
promoted the welfare of his subjects by building mosques
schools, and hovpitals. From his reign Bidar became
the capital of the Kingdom, which his father used to
visit on account of its healthy eclimate. He died in
1457 AD. after a reign of 22 years. His son Humayun
who ruled from 1457 to 61 AD. was a ferocious brute.
He killed his own brother Hasan by throwing him
before a ferocious tiger for complicity in a cons-
piracy. “Tngenious tortures were invented by the
king” says Feristha, “and ioflicted on young
and  old of both sexes. About seven thousand
persons including women and servants who hed no
connection with the late rebellion, were killed in various
savage ways. He put the women servants of his house-
hold to death for the most trivial faults, and when any
of the nobility were obliged to wait upon him, so great
was there dread that they took a last leave of their
families” His death produced universal joy. During
the reign of the minor king Nizam Shah the government
was carrid on by his mother Makhdumah Jehan with the
help of Mahmud Gawan and Khwaja Jehan, She tried
to make amends for the misdeeds’ of her husband by
veleasing the prisoners and by reinstating the dismissed
servants in their old offices, She repelled an attack of
the Rais of Orissa and Telingana. The greatest danger
came however from Malwa, Mahmud Khilji invaded
the Bahmani kingdom, and plundered and destroyed the
17
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city of Bidar. The queen-mother then appealed to
the Sultan of Guzerat for help. Mahmud Khilji
withdrew to his own kingdom as he was afraid of
meeting the combined troops. Nizam Shah died at the
age of thirtcen on July 30, 1463 A, D.

The same arrangement of revency continued in
the early part of the reign of Muhammad Shah III
(1463-S2 A. D) He was a boy of cight when he
succeeded his brother. The chief minister Khwaja
Jehan  was within a few years dizcovered to be
a dishonest man. He was executed by the order
of the King, and his office was given to Mahmud Gawan.
It was due to the able adwninistration of Gawan that the
Bahmani Kingdom reached the highest point of its pro-
gress. At the age of 14 Muhammad was married and
freed from the tutclige of his mother.  Nizam-
ul-Mulk was sent against the king of Malwa (1467 AD.)
and he besieged the fort of Kherla, Although the
Babmanis inflicted a heavy defeat upon the Malwa
troops Nizam-ul-Mulk was killed by two Rajputs while
they came to pay him their respects. Ultimately a
peace treaty was signed between the two  kingdoms in
which Mahmud Khilji admitted his fault for breaking
the old treaty and Kherla was then handed over to him.
After acompaign of three years Mahmud Gawan de-
feated Snckar Rai of Kehlna (Vishalgarh), subjngated the
‘whole of the Konkan, and established a strong garrison
in the fort of Goa. For this splendid service the king
hononred him  with a visit and the Queen-mother gave
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him the title of brother., Muhammad Shah oceupied Rajah-
mundry and Kondapalli, when he sent troops to Orissa
to help Ambar Rai to occupy the throne. He thus
extended his dominions from the sea to sea. Nizam-ul-
Mulk was appointed governor of all Telingana, Daria
Khan Imad-ul Mulk of Berar and Yusuf Adil Khan
Savai of Daulatabad. Yusuf Adil Khan brought great
wealth in the course of his expedition against Antur
and Ranjni and after this the influence of Mahmud
Gawan and Yusuf Adil Khan became very great. In
1472 AD. the king .reduced the fort of Belzaum and
annexed the country. On account of drought there wag
famine throughont the kingdom for two years. The Raja
of Orissa revolted and invaded Telingana at the instigation
of Bhimraj who had obtained possession of Kondapalli.
Nizam-ul Mulk could not cope with the situation. The
king personally went against the insurgents and pushed
the Ray to the farthest extremity of Orissa, The Ray then
surrendered and was forced to send twenty-five clephants
a8 a mark of submission. Kondapalli was occupicd, the
king stayed at Rajahmundry three years and thoroughly
subjugated Telingana, Rajahmundry, Kondapalli and other
places were placed in charge of Nizam-ul-Mulk, and War-
rangal of Azim Khan, The division of his charge gave
offence to Nizam-ul-Mulk, who now asked for permission
to appoint his son Malik Ahmed as his Deputy and to
allow him to follow the king. Muhammad Shah now
proceeded against Narsing Ray who was ruling between
the Carnatic and ‘Telingana, devastated his territorics
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and besieged Kanchi or Conjeeveram, a sacred city of
the Hindus who came in swarms to defend their temple.
But they were no match for the Moslem soldicrs. The
city was sacked and an immense quantity of gold, jowels
and silver was carried as booty. Masulipatam was
reduced on the way back to Kondapalli (1481 A.D.).
This was the high water mark of the glory of the
Babmani Kingdom. The Deccani party then tried to
ruin Mabmud Gawan who had so much influence with
the king and served him so faithfully.

Mahmud Gawan.

The dominions of Muhammad Shah becoming very
extensive the kingdom was divided into ecight farafs
instead of four as before. Berar was divided into two
viz, Gavul under Fateh Ulla Imad-ol-Mulk and Mahur
under Khodaband Khan Habshi, Daulatabad was given
to Yusuf Adil Khan,and the southern districts of Junair,
Indapur ete to Fakhr-ul-Mulk. Mahmud Gawan kept
for himself Bijapur with Raichur and Mudkal, while
Kulbarga and other places were placed under the Abys-
ginian eunuch Dastur Dinar. In Telingana, Rajahmundry,
Masulipatam and other districts remained in charge of
Nizam-ul-Mulk Bahri, and Warrangal was given to Azim
Khan. In each faraf there were special places reserved
for the king, where collectors were appointed from the
court. To reduce the power of the governors Gawau
further arranged that only one fort within his jurisdic-
tion could be managed by cach tarafdar and the other
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forts placed under the command of the special officers
and troops appointed by the king. He also revised the
pay of the army and enforced rigid scrutiny in the
method of payment. This caused pgreat discontent
among the nobles and therefore they devised plans
of revenge. The Deccanis and the Abyssinians combined
against the faithful minister. A forged letter was placed
in the hands of the king, in which Gawan was reported
to have invited the Ray of Orissa to invade Rajahmundry.
The king in a state of drunkenness ordered the death
of Gawan who hearing the decree said, “The death of
an old man like me i3, indeed, of little moment, but to
vour Majesty it will be the lnss of an empire, and the
tin of your character.” The warning came to be too
true. Khwaja Mahmud Gawan was beheaded on the
6th April, 1481 A. D. His body was sent to Ahmeda-
bad-Bidar for burial Gawan was a remarkable man.
He came from Persia at the age of 43. He belonged to
a noble family of Gilan, and came to the Decean for
carrying on trade, and also for visiting the learned men
there. He landed at the port of Dabul and travelled
to Didar with a view to go to Delhii The Bahmani
Kirg Ala-ud-Din persuaded him to remain in his court.
He became 2 minister in the time of Humayun Shah,
and in the reign of Mzbammad Shah he beeame the
chief minister. He was a learned man himself and a
poet. His munificence was very great. He had two
treasuries, one the king’s from which the expenses of
the troops, stables and household were met, and the
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other he called the treasury of the poor out of which
not a single cowri was spent on himself, He brought
from Persia forty thousand leris (2s each) which he
cemployed in trade, and all his private expenses including
his charity came from the profits of that business. He
was very simple in habits, slept on a bare mat, and his
daily expenses on food did not exceed two laris. He
built-a college, a mosque and a large square at Bidar,
and in his library there were three thousand volumes of
books. The report of his liberality spread all over Asia.
He was an’ orthodox Sunni, and was always sociable
and just. The death of such a minister was not only
a great loss to the Sultan but a great calamity to
the country.

Fall of the Bahmani Kingdom.

The last days of Muhammad Shak was full of
troubles. His governors did not obey his orders. Imad-
ul-Mulk and Khodawand Khan would not come near
the court. Yusuf Adil Khan was appointed governor
of Bijapur in place of Mahimud Gawan. e was a
faithful licutenant of the Jate minister, Nizam-ul-Mulk
was appointed minister. 'The repentance of the king
was 8o great that he beeame extremely nervous.  He
died in 1482 A. D. His son Mahmud Slah was a Doy
of 12 and spent his time in dissipation. Yusuf Adil
Khan and the foreign party remained at a distance, and
when attempts were made to remove him from the
government  of Dijapur Le revolted, and was the first
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to declare his independence. Malik Ahmad, governor of
Daulatabad founded the kinzdom of Ahmadoagar. Imad-
wl-Mulk of DBerar became independent at Burhanpur,
Quiub-ul-Mulk laid the foundation of the kingdom of
Goleonda, and the only proviuce which remained in the
hands of the king was Bidar. His minister Amir Barid
hecame the actual ruler of the country, The rule of
the Bubmanis came to an end in 152¢ A. D. Five
kingdoms thus arose on the ruins of the Bahmani king-
dom of the Deccan, viz. Dijapur, Berar, Ahmadoagar,
Goleconda and Didar. There were 14 kings of the
Dahmani dynasty who tried to spread the Moslem
influence in the Deccan. The main features of the period
were constant wars with the powerful Hindu kingdom
of Yijayanamar, and the subjuzation of Telingana, and
the other kingdoms. Tho Musalmans who formed the
minority in the south tried to increase their power and
influence by means of military orezanisation and physical
force. The Musalman troops excelled in horsemanship
and archery and they had some discipline which the
Hirdus Iacked. The system of education that the kings
of the Dabmani dyvasty introduced mainly favoured
Persian and Arabic. The old Ilindu system received no
recognition. The village administration was least inter-
fered with. - Malimud Gawan introduced the method of
payment  of revenie in eash. e laid the foundation
of a progressive system of government o which the
powers of provincial rulers and the ficf-holders were
reculated.  He aimed at the centralised system of gov-
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ernment  without destroying the powers of the local
efficers, Buat his reforms werc not appreciated, The
rule throughout the whole history of the dynasty was
uncontrolled despotism. No body was safe from the
hands of the autocratic monarch.

The Persian merchant Athnasius Nikitin who yisit-
ed the country between 1440 and 1474 AD. gives an
account of the prosperity of the country. The country
was well populated, the lands were cultivated, and the
roads safe. In the midst of the splendour of the court
and the wealth of the nobles the position of the common
people was miserable, They were poor and wretched.
The king had an army of 300,000 men and & large
number of retainers. There were a number of strong
forts within the kingdom, where the architectural genius
of the people found ample expression. The fortress of
Gawailgath and Narmalla were patterns of mountain
strongholds. Both the eapitals viz Kulburga and Bidar
contained many stately buildings but they were not
as magnificent as the palaces of Delhi and other places.
The government of the Bahmani Kings has been con-
demned on account of their unalloyed despotism, their
utter disregnrd of the wishes of the people, the turbu-
lence of their local officers and the ferocity of the army.
The kings were mostly eruel and blood thirsty.

The kingdom of Vijayanagar,
The Hindu kingdoms of the south were cxterminated
by Malik Kafur but the Moslem rulers did nothing to
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win the gnod-will of the vast population. The Hindus
were very unhappy under these alien rulers, but scarcely
anywhere they succeeded in organising a successful
revolution. Vijayanagar is an exception to this state-
ment. The two brothers Hari Har and Bukka fled from
Warranzal when that country was occupied by Maham-
mad Tughlak. They came to the Raja of Anagandi,
but when that country was annexed they were taken as
prisoners to Delhi, and were afterwards released. They
founded the city of Vijayanazar on the Tungbhadm in
1336 AD. with a view to protect the Hinda refugees
from the oppression of the Musalmans. The revolution
in  Anagandi placed powers io their hands. Hari Har
extended his anthority over a vast territory from the
Konkan and Malabar coast to the Carnatics. Neither
Hari Har nor his brother Bukka assumed royal titles.
Hari Har was aoxious to restore the Hindu supremacy.
He joined Krishna Nayak of Warrangal in a project to
drive the Moslems out of the Deccan. Warmngal be-
came free in 1344 A.D. The country of the Hoysalas
was brought under the sway of Hari Har, and by 1346
AD. the kingdom of Vijayauazar extended from the
Krishna to the Kaveri and from the seca to sea. On
account of their contionity Vijayanagar soon came into
conllict with the Bahmani Kingdom, which continued
almost for two centuries. They foaght over the posses-
sion of the Raichur Doab. In 1332 AD. Als-ud Din
Hasan extended his dominions as far as the Tungbhadra.
Mari Har consolidaterd his power by dividing his king-
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dom 1into provinces, which were ruled by trust-worthy
viceroys. He died in 1353 A.D. and his work of build-
ing the city of Vijayanagar was completed by his brother
Bulkka. ~

The kingdom of - Vijayanagar owes a great deal to
Bukka who carried his victorions arms in all directions.
He was engaged in a deadly fight against the Bahmani
Kings, Muhammad Shah and Mujahid and is reported
to have sent a mission to China. He issued a proclama-
tion by which he tried to establish friendly relations
between the two scets of Jains and Vaishnavas, while
he allowed them freedom of worship.

His successor Hari Har II was the first to assume
the title of Maharajadhiraj. So long as he was on the
throne (1379-1404 A.D.. Vijayanagar was comparativcly
free from the attacks of the Bahmani Kings. He exten-
ded his dominions as far as Trichinopoly and Conjeeve-
ram and conquered the Keralas, Taulavas, Andhras and
Kutakas in the South. Sultan TFiroz Shah kept his
snecessors busy for many years, Deva Raya was i
liated by being obliged to give his danghter in marriage
to Iiroz. Ahmad Shah inflicted a great  defeat upon
Deva Raya II and is reported to have massacred 30,049
Hindus, men, women, children in the course of three
days. Deva Raya 1T could not resist the Moslem arms
inspite of his attempt to strengthen  hia srmy by eulist-
ing Moslem horzemen in Lis service. When all Lis re-
gourees failed lie hiad to nzree to pay tribute (1443 A1)
“The Italian traveller Nicolo Conti, who visited Vijaya-
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nagar in about 1421 A.D. says that the city was sixty
miles in circumferance and there were - nincty thousand
men in the city fit to bear arms. The king, he says, was
more powerful than all the other kings of India. The
Persian Ambassador Abdur Razzak who came to Vijaya-
nagar in 1442 AD. and stayed there for a few months
saw an cxceedingly large and populous city. The
country was well-cultivated and fertile, and there were
three hundred good sea-ports in the kingdom, The
army consisted of 11 lakhs of men and the Raya had
1000 elephants. The city of Vijayanagar had seven
fortified walls, one within the other. The wealth of the
city was so great that the jewellers eold their rubics,
pearls, diamonds and emerald openly in the bazar, The
palace was very big and beautiful, and the king used
to reccive his andience in a forty-pillared hall.

After the death of Deva Raya I in 1449 AD. two
incompetent Rajas came to the throne. The peviod of
misrule was ended by the advent of Saluva Nar Sinha
(1486 A.D.) who had to fight with the Tamil kingdoms
in the south and with the Bahinanis in the North. His
son 1mmadi-Nar-Sinha was murdered by his general
Tuluva Narsinha who founded a new dynasty (1509
AD). Tortunately for Vijayanagar the Bahmani king-
dom was busy at the time in subjugating the castern
provinces of ‘Telingana, and then it was rent in dissension,

The most powerful king of the Tuluva dynasty
was Krisna Dev Ray (1509-30 A. D.). Under his good
government Vijaynagar reached the height of prosperity,
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He was a learned man and a great patron of Sanskrit
and Telugn literature, His court was attended by eight
famous poets called Ashta Diggaja. Ha bestowed
‘endowments on temples and DBrabmans, He was a
Vaishnav himself, and had so much respect for other
persuasions that he allowed every body to offer worship
in his own way. Physically he was very strong. He
was able, brave and statemanlike. e commanded the
army in person. Hindu culture reccived a new
impetus under his wise administration. He subdued
Mysore and the country up to the border of Orissa.
The Moslem states which arose out of the old Bahmani
Kingdom continued its policy of suppressing the Hindu
dominions. The Sultan of Goleconda had crushed the
Raja af Kambampeta and cxtended his territories up to
the Godavari. The terrible massacre of the Ilindus
in the war created a fecling of consternation, and the
the Rajas formed a league to resist the Moslem attacks.
In 1516 A, D. the fort of Kondavidu was eaptured
by the Hindus, but had to surrender it later on and to
pay tribute. Krishna Deva Raya  established his
reputation by defeating the army of Bijapur in a deci-
sive battle near Raichur (May 19, 1520 A.D.) This victory
was very significant in that in his lifetime the Sultan
of Bijapur did not venture to attack Vijaynagar again.
The fute of Adil Shah gave a warning to other Moslem
powers and they all began to devise plans for reducing
the position of Vijynagar. On the other hand success
made the Hindus insolent and haughty. Krisna Deva
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Raya was in friendly relations with the Portuguese and
he sent them congratulations when they captured Goa.
Their governor Albuquerque sent a mission ta Vijaynagar
and obtained permission to erect a fort at Bhatkal. The
Portuguese visitor Paes pays high tribute to the king (1522
A.D.) Hecalls hin a great ruler and a man of
much justice. He was gallant and perfect in all things,
His brother Achyuta Raya (153042 A. D.) was an
incompetent ruler, The Sultan of Bijapur easily
captured Raichur and Mudkal (1531 A. D.) and the
Raya was s0 worthless that he invited the Sultan fo
hedp him in suppressing the intrigues of his ministers
aod officers, and for this service he offered him &
large subsidy and many rich presents. The forces of
disintegration were already at work. The next Raja Sada
Shiva Raya had to submit to the government of his minister
Ram Raja Saluva. In a war between Abmednagar and
Bijapur Ram Raja joined Ahmednagar and Goleonda
against Bijapur, but Asad Khao, minister of Bijapur
managed to detach Vijayanagar from the league and
combined with Burhan Nizam Shah of Ahmaduoegar,
defeated Qutub Shah of Goleonda. (1543 A. D) On
the death of Ibrahim Adil Shah in 1557 A. D Hussain
Nizam Shah attacked Bijapur and in retaliation Ali
Adil Shah with the help of Goleonda and Vijayanagar
marched upon Ahmadnagar. The Hindus now wreaked
their vengeance to their full satisfaction. They laid waste
the whole country from Ahmadnagar to Daulatabad and
perpetrated great cruclty. Feristha writes : They insul-
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ted the honour of Musalman women, destroyed the
mosques and did not even respect the sacred Quran.
The Muslim sentiment was outraged by the inhuman
conduct of the Hindus. They settled their own differ-
ences and formed a2 combination to destroy the Hindu
Kingdom, Nizam Shah gave away his daughter Chand
Bibi in marriage to Adil Shah and Adil Shah married
" his daughter with the eldest son of the king of
Ahmadnagar. The four Moslem kings of Bijapur, Goleonda,
Ahmadnagar and Bidar formed a grand alliance and
marched towards Vijayanagar under the leadership of
Ali Adil Shah of Bijapur.

The Battle of Talikota 1565 A. D.

The Report of the march was received by Ram
Raja with indifference, but when he realised his
position he gathered a big army. The Musalmans
encamped at Talikota in the state of Bijapur, north of
the Krishna, It is difficult to estimate the strength of
the respective armies. Such vast armies had never
before met cach other in the Decean. On the Moslem
side Husain Nizam Shah was in command of the centre,
Ali Adil Shah of the right wing and Qutub Shah of
tie loft wing. Ram Raja was joined by the Hindu
soldiers from all parts of South India. IHis brother
Tiramal with 20,000 horse, 100,000 foot and 50 clephants
was appointed to guard the passazes of the Krishna,
Ram Raja himself was in the main army. Both partics
were thoroughly preparad as the result would determine



THE SMALLER KINGDOMS N1

whether the south Tadia would be ruled by the Hindus
or Musalnans. The Moslem army crossad the Krishna
and confronted the Hindus about thirty miles south
of Talikota. The Hindus delivered their first assault
with great vimour. The richt and left wings of the
Moslems were driven back in great disorder and the
second charge of the Hindus al:o proved terrible. But
the ariillery under Hussain Nizam Shah in the centre
‘tarned  the tide. About 3,000 Hindus were killed
within a short time, and threw the Hindu troops into
confusion. The Moslem cavalry then rushed iute their
lines and seattered them in all directions. “Ram Raja
perished” says Caesare Frederike “through the treachery
of two Musalman generals in his service, who twrned
azainst him in the middle of the battle”. Ram Raja
was crptured and Husain Nizam Shah avenged himself by
killing him with his own hand. The death of the leader
demomlized the Hindus and about 100,000 lost their lives.

After the defeat in the ficld the citizens of Vijaya-
parar left the city carrying with them whatever they
coull. Raja Sada Siva was taken to the fortress of
Penukonda. “Then a panic scized the city” says
‘Sewell. “The truth became at last apparent. This was
not a defeat merely it was a cataclysm.  All hope was
gone. The myriad dwellers in the city were left
defenceless.  No retreat, no flicht was possible except
to a few, for the pack-oxen and carts had almost all
followedl the forces to the war, and they had not
returned. Nothing could be done but to bury all
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treasures, to arm the younger men and to wait” The
ity beeame a prey to the robber tribes for some days,
On the third day after the battle the Musalmans
reached Vijaynagar, and for five months they were
engaged in the sack of the great city. “The enemy
had come to destroy, and they carried out their object
relentlessly.” says Sewell, “They slaughtered the people
without mercy, broke down the temples and palaces,
and wreaked such savage vengeance on the abode of
the kings, that with the exception of a few stone-built
temples and walls, nothing now remains but a heap
of ruins to mark the epot where once the stately
buildings stood. They demolished the statucs, and even
succeeded in bresking the limbs of the huge Narasinha
monolith. - Nothing seemed to escape them. They broke
up the pavillions standing on the huge platform from
which the kiongs used to watch the festivals, and over-
threw all the carved work, They lit buge fires in the
magnificently decorated buildings forming the temple
of Vithalaswami near the river, and smashed its cx-
quisite stone sculptures. With fire and sword with
crowbar and axes, they carried on day after day their
work of destruction. Never perhaps in the history
of the world has such havoc been wrought and wrought
80 suddenly, on so splendid a city, teeming with u
wealthy, and industrious population in the full plenitude
of prosperity one day, and on the nest, scized, pillaged
and reduced to ruins, amid scenes of savage massacre
and horrors beggaring description.”
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The fall of Vijaynagar, the most powerful Hindu
kingdom in the south, produced chaos and anarchy,
The Moslem powers quarrelled among themselves and
could not stand against the aitacks of the Mughal
emperors. The vast ecmpire of Vijaynagar was broken
into pieces. Tirumala retired to Chandragiri and con-
tinued the administration for sometime. The southern
provinces of Tanjore and Vellore became independent,

and Bijapur and Goleonda annexed the parts close to
their kingdoms.

1%



CHAPTER XII
LIFE IN THE MIDDLE AGES

Indian history has to be constructed out of the
writings and tales of the forcigners. The impact of the
Muslims greatly disturbed the social and political life
of the people. Not only the defence and political
administration passed into the hands of the foreizners, but
social institutions, religious practices, cconomic pursuits,
art and architecture, science and literature and other
things connceted with the national life underwent
considerable transformation. “What nation ever main-
tained its character” says James Tod, “that devolved
on the stranger the power of protection: To be great,
to be independent, its martial spirit must be cherished;
happy if within the bounds of moderation.” The
Muhammadan conquest of India crushed the martial
spirit of the Hindus. They were not cntrusted with
commands in the army, and were not even enlisted
in the raoks. The education that was promoted by
the rulers was mainly in Arabic and Persian. The
indigenous system of education in the vernaculars and
Sanskrit did not receive any official recognition. The
Brahmans continued their studies chicfly for priestly
duties. They had no interest in recording their tales
of ruin and degradation. We have therefore to seck in.
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the writings of the Musalwan courtiers or foreign
travellers a connected account of the political events.
The state chronicles, or the epigraphical records or the
writings of the courtiers hardly express the feelings
of the people. The popular literature of the times was
religious. When men were not free to develop their
political and martial propensities they directed. their
minds to  religious thoughts and devotional exercises.
Although the whole of India did not pass into the
hands of the Musalmans the people of all the parts
were influenced by them directly or indirectly. Orissa
was the ooly province which escaped Musalman
domination till the time of Akbar, and here we find
some records written by the people. Rajpntana and
Vijaynagar have also some literatores of their own,
but in no other part we have any history written by
the people themselves. The writings of the Musalman
courtiers and the foreign travellers' however supply us
with sufficient materials to form an idea of the eondi-
tion of the people. With their help we shall try to
understand in this chapter the condition of the people

from the beginning of the Muslim government to the
battle of Panipat in 1526 A. D.

The political eopdition.
The Musalman rulers although imbued with a sense
of brotherhood in‘social and religious affairs, were most

despotic in the matter of government. The extensive
dominions in Todia and the vast multitude of people
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with different ideas and ideals made them necessarily
depend upon military strength. The least weakness on
the part of the monarch would endanger the entire
structure, There: were therefore constant eftorts to
destroy the " Hindu Kingdoms so that they might not
at any time overthrow the Moslem rule. In.the strongly
fortified places like Mewar and- other Rajput states the
Hindus managed to recover or retaln their freedom and
so did the distant provinees of Vijaynagar and Telingana
for .some time, but in other parts Moslem ascendancy
was complete. "On the fall of a Musalman king
another Musshnan took his place but never a Hindu.
The only - ‘exception' ‘was Raja Kans of Bengal, but the
Muslim: - influence - was g0  strong that his son and suc-
cessor became a Musalman, Iiven the degraded Khusru,
a low' caste ' man when converted into Islam mounted
the thron¢ of Delhi, but never was ¢here a strong
pational rising to win “back freedom from the handx
of the foreign rulers. The Hindus had cither to accept
Islam-or t6 be degraded to the position of the ximn
and to pay - the jixéye. Very often they werc not
allowed religious freedom. They were thus denied the
clementary rights of citizens. They did not possess full
control over their property, their, peuon was pot gafe
end they had no freedom of consciepee not to talk of
an cffective share in the ndmunatrntmln of the country.

They held their lives for the safisfaction of their
Musalman wasters, ns a  Moslem learned ‘man inter-
preted the law. " The systew  degraded the rulers as



LIFE IN THE MIDDLE AGES a1

much as the ruled. Unlimited authority made them
reckless. They disdained all control of morality, good
sense and even propriety, ‘The result was fresh
invasion from outside.

The cmpire consisted of a number of provinees
each ruled by a governor with power to collect taxes,
maintain an army, and look after the defence and
civil government of the country within their charge.
The governors were all military officers. In some cases
they held office hereditarily. They collected revenues
with the help of the Hindu Zemindars nnd the Musal~
man Jagirdars and fief-holders who in their turn held
considerable politieal privileges, The administration of
the villages were not much interfered with so long as
the people satisfied the demands of their masters. But
the taxation wns so heavy and the officers were so
exacting that they had hardly any time to think of
social or national problems. Thus bereft of power and
privilege the people remained as mere tillers of the soil,
and purveyors of the nceds of the rulers. They lost
their sense of sclf-respect, and made the government
of the country so unstable.

fu the parts where Moslem rule was not established
Hindug retained their power and privilege. They held
all offices in the state, civil or military. The Rajas
could count upon their - co-operation and sympathy
when  confronted by invasions frem outside. DBut
these Rajas were also  autocraticc. The  govern-
ment - of Rajputann  was carried on mainly n the
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principle of feudalism. The Raja had a chain of
subordinate vassals under him rendering military service
and enjoying land and political privileges. The vassals
were treated by the chiefs as brothers and equals. They
attended the court of the chief aud followed him wherever
he went. The system in vogue in Rajputana has led
to good results. “The esperiment of centuries” says
Tod, “has secured to them political existence, while
successive dynasties of Afghans and Moguls during
eight hundred years, have left but the wreck of splen-
did names. Were they to become more monarchical
they would have every thing to dread from unchecked
despotism over which even the turbulance of their
chiefs is a salutary control.” In Rajput states the Raju
had a eivil council to help him in cnacting laws. From
this council the military chiefs were excluded. The council
generally consisted of tlze four 'ministers and their
deputies. Whenever the council did not work legis-
tation was carried on by the panchayats. Each districet
bad a resident administrator who also possessed judicial
functions, In cach frontier thana or garrison post there
was a special officer who  eould levy the transit dutios
and could administer justice at the chabutra or
court with the help of the Chauthias or assessors of
justice, “Fach town and village has its Chanthia” ~ays
Tod “the members of which are  clected by their fellow
citizens, and remnin as long as they conduct themselves
impartially in disentangling the intricacies of com-
plints preferred tv them”. The Nagarseth or chief
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magistrate is assisted by the Chauthia. The general.
panchayets are formed with all the respectable people
and formerly from all classess ~of society. - Whenever-
peace was threatened - the Raja - called ‘a council of
chiefs and those chiefs in their turn called an assembly
of their own “vassals and so on, and in the time of
crisis the whole state as it were began to delibefate.
The lower classes of society however were excluded:
from these privileges, which were enjoyed mainly by
the proud Rajputs. ‘

The Hindu kingdom of Vijayanagar also had a feudal
organisation. The Raja was assisted by a council con-
sisting of ministers, provincial governors, military com-
manders, priests and poets. But the council was merely
an advisory body, the king had unlimited authority. He
was the head of the army, civil government, as well as
the judiciary. The ministers and high officers were
granted lands. There were more than 200 provinces
in the empire, which were divided and sub-divided into
Nadus or Koftams, and groups of villages and towns.
Each provinee had a viceroy who keyt his army, held
his court and maintained all the departments of a fully
contained government. In case of treason or misgovern-
ment the provincial governor was liable to confiscation
of land, and other punishments. In the time of the festi-
val of Mahanavami the king received the revenue from
the provinces. The villages managed their own affairs:
with the help of the Ayagars who held their office here-
ditarily. These officers collected revenues, ‘settled the
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petty disputes, and . maintained law - and order. Civil
justice followed, the principles of Hinda Law, but the
administration of criminal justice - was very rude. The
king of Vijayanagar waintained a' big army. DPacs says
in 1520 the :Raya had 03,000 foot; 32,000 horse, 531
clephants, “and a large number of camp followers, rap-
pers and * others. The figure may not be . correet, but
the large number of troops does not indicate the supe-
viovity of Vijayaﬂagar in military strength., These
soldiers were mostly untrained. There was no discipline
in the army, and the cavalry was incflicient, as horses
of good breed could not be had in the south. Moreover
the Musalmans had learnt the method of nsing fire-
weapons to which the Hindus were still nnaccustomed.
The fact that the ruler was a Hindu brought such a
vast number of troops to fight against the Muslim states,
Vijayanagar maintained its independence for a long
time as its citizens possessed a sense of patriotism in
an uncommon degree. :

Social changes.

Society underwent great transformation by the
presence of the Musalmans in Indiz. Before the coming
of the Musalmans there was almost one homogencons
culture. The religions differences between the Hindus,
Buddhists and Jains or between the Vaishnavas or Saivas
and - other schools did not produce a cleavage in the
cultural life of the people. They read in the same
school, spoke the same lnugnage, and in their dress and



LIFE IN THE MIDDLE AGES 2461

matners they were almost similar. But the neweomers
were of an absolutely distinet type. They had a different
civilization altogether. They did not believe in caste
and idolatry, and were agoresive in their religions pro-
paganda. They were meat-eaters and had no respect
for the cow. In marriage they bad no restrictions as
ainong the Hindus, widows viere eligible for marriage.
The nomber of converts were very large, and those who
once left the Hindu eommunity were not taken back.
The exclnsiveness of the Hindus produced a nomber of
problems  which wonld not Lkave otherwize arizen. The
vast population failed to abzorb the foreign element and
they stiffened their social system by forging new laws
against the renegades and hereties. The laws of Smriti
were interpreted so rigidly that the old social orders
hecame more inelasticc.” The Buddhists bad been killed
or left India. These who eould manage went to Nepal
aed other neighbouring countrics. At one time they
domirated the colture of the Western Asia from the
banks of the Nile to the Prabmaputra. Ilam rolled
them back, and drove them out of their own country.
The Duddhist monasterics were either destroyed or trans-
formed into Moslem Mosques,  The lirge oumber of the
schools and eolleges which the Musalman 1ulers estab-
liched did not make any provision for the study of the
vernacalars or Sanskrit Tt therefore preduced an iotellec-
tual sterility. Patronage was e ’«nded to Persian poets
and philisophers, but the lewincd Brakmans in the
provinees under Mobamadan role suffered from  many
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disadvantages. The teachers imparted education in
their private houses with the help of the bequests left
by the Hindu zemindars and citizens. The Brahmans
ruled the communal and social life of the people. But
the Musalman ralers did not consult them in the
administration of justice or civil government. They
however maintained their position in the Hindu
kingdoms of Rajputana, Vijaynagar, Telingana and
Orissa. - There they were the ministers and chief
officers, judges and interpreters of law. The Kshatriyas
and Rajputs in Moslem states took to agrienlture as
they had no military carcer before them. Some fled
to distant lands beyond the scas.

Without any political power and being degraded to
the position of helots the Hindus lost their moral back-
bone. They became like the Moslers dissolute and
vicious. Wine-drinking became very common. They
learnt some of the evil practices of the Musalmans.
The cities became the resort of all men and women of
loose morals. The kings in all parts imposed regular
taxes upon prostitutes. It is said that in Vijayanagar
12,000 fanams collected from the women went to the
maintenance of the police. Among the Hindus and
Muslims polygamy was widely practised. In giving a
a descripton of Vijaynagar Nicolo Conti says, “The
inhabitants of this region marry as many wives as they
please, who are burnt with their dead husbaods. Their
king is more powerful than all the other kings of India.
He takes to himsclf 12,000 wives, of whom 4,000 follow
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him on foot wherever he may go, and are employed
solely in the service of the kitchen. A like number
more handsomely equipped, ride on horse back. The
remainder are cagried by men i litters of  whom 2,000
or 3,000 are selected as his wives, on condition that at
his death they should voluntarily burn themselves with
him which is considered to be a great honour for them.”
Similarly it is reported that Firoz Shah of the Bahmani
dynasty had a big harem. Although the Islamic law
did not permit more than four wives he married a large
number according to the process of mufa or marriage
for a fixed term. In this way 800 women were daily
admitted into his female quarters. The esample of the
royalty was followed by the nobles. Among the Raj-
puts women were held in great Lonour. - Although poly-
gamy cxisted among them to sone extent monogamy
was the common practice. - “Of all the nations of the
the world”, says Tod “who have habituated the female
to a restricted intercourse with society, whether Grecian,
Roman, Egyptain or Chinese, the Rajput has given least
cause to provoke the sentiment of piety, for if defence
and respect be proof of civilization, Rajputana must be
considered as redundant ir evidence of it.” The his-
torian says that women were nearly everything with the
Rajput.- Rajput women were faithful to their husbands,
but were brave and firm in their resolutions.- The
Rajput children heard the tales of heroism in their
mothers’ lap. The mother had full share in the glory
of her son who considered the shicld as his cradle,
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and daggers his play-things. Polyandry prevailed among
the people of Mabar. Among the Hindus widow-
marriage was a sin, but we see that Hamir who recover-
ed Chitor married the widowed daughter of Rao Maldeo.

The Musalman rulers insisted seclusion upon their
women. Hindus were not very strict in this matter,
but they adopted it in course of time. Among the
Rajputs women did not come out freely in society but
they had sufficient freedom in the choice of their hus-
bands. In Vijayabagar there were women wrestlers,
astrologers and sooth-sayers, and women used to
keep accounts inside the gates, and there were women
clerks to compare accounts with the outside writers.
The countrics under Moslem rule lost the grace of
female co-operation in eocial and intellectual matters.
When threatened with degradation the women thought
death preferable to disgrace. The practice of Safi
became very widespread in this period. Rajputs used
to destroy their female infants on account of the diffi-
culties of marriage, and the custom was stopped lately
through the cfforts of the Dritish. Another practice
very common in Rajputna was Johar, “The loss of a
battle, or the capturc of a city is a singal to avoid
captivity and its horrors, which to the Rajputni are worse
than death” zags Tod. Women were objects of capture
not only to the Musalmans but also to the Hindus.

Economie condition.
* The wealth of India was the chief attruction for the
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foreign invaders., Before the advent of the Musalmans
the people carried on their agriculture, industries, trade
and commerce without any restriction. The offerings
of the people to their deities accumulated in the temples
which the invaders plundered .and carried away. The
prosperity of the people helped them to develop beauti-
ful architecture, to promote literature, and to enjoy arts
in various forms.’ The ecraftsmen in India were taken -
to Ghazni and Samarkand to embellish these cities with
noble edifices, and artisans were carried to develop
industries. In the first stage the Musalman rulers did
not interfere with the pursuits of the people, but the
regulations. of the subsequent rulers crushed life out of
the people. Many people gave np their old occupation.
Famines became common. Taxes were very heavy.
Sometimes people had to pay 50 per cent of the pro-
duce, besides a number of abwabs and other taxes.
We are told by Barni that the Khuts, Chowdhris, and
mukaddims were reduced to a state of abject poverty.
Irrigation was promoted by Firoz ‘Shah by digging
canals end in the south the Vijayanagar kings arranged
for' pood irrigation. The cottage industries were encou-
raged by the kings, who gencrally cmployed a large
staff to manufacture requirements of the Palace as well
as other departments of the state. We are told that
Sultan Muhammad Tughlak engaged 400 silk weavers
in the state factory, and 500 manufacturers of golden
tissues. Trade with forcign countries was carried on
unbhampered and Guzerat was the chiof cemporium.
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Broach . and Cambay were important centres of trade.
M’abar was also well known for its foreign trade. Gold
and precious metals poured into the country for the
purchase of Indian goods. The chief objects of exports
were cotton manufactures, pepper, ginger, indigo, mats
of red and blue leather and other commodities. Bengal
was .a rich and fertile country as described by Ibn
Batuta. We are told by a chinese visitor that in Bengal
the rich built ships to carry on trade with foreign coun-
tries, the number of men engaged in trade was large,
and so also in . ngriculture, while many worked as
mechanies.. Rice yielded two crops, and among other
produce were wheat, sesamum, pulse, millet, ginger,
mustard, onions, hemp, quash, brinjals, and fruits of all
kinds. People used to manufacture fine cotton fabries
of five.or six kinds, silk handkerchicfs, embroidered
caps, painted articles, basins, cups, stecl, guns, knives
and scissors. Trade passed from one part to another
along the rivers or roads built by the kings. Boats
also plied from one part of India to the other by ses
along the coast. One important business of the Sultans
was to keep the trade routes free from robbers and
thags. The  cost of transportation was cheap. The
principal conveyance was bhoat, carringe, horse, mule or
palanquin. Currency consisted of gold or silver tankas
and copper jitals, and for small payments cowries or
shells. Muhammad Tughlak’s attempt to have a token
currency failed. Gold was more common in the south
than in the north. The cconomie condition of the
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country became worse after the invasion of Timur.
Previous to that it was very prosperons

Education and literature.

The Musalman rulers promoted Persian and Arabic-

cducation. Persian was the language of the court, and
scholars and learned men-were . rewarded for literary
compositions in Persian. The large money spent on the-
promotion of learning therefore was ot utilised in deve-
loping the Indian languages, or Sanskrit. Amir Khusru
paid great encomium on Hindi and there were some
books translated from Sanskrit into Persian, but on the-
_whole the Muaslim rulers had nothing but contempt for-
the books of the Hindus. On the other hand there
were Hindus who learnt Persinn, apprecisted Persian.
poctry and lLiterature, and their language assimilated a
large number of Persian words. It has been stated by
a_Moslem scholar” that 235 words in  Kabir's hymns
have been traced to Persian, Arabic and Turkish origins,.
and this Kabir is called the father of Hindi literature. *

Inspite of all these difficulties the Hindu mind was
uvot absolutely inactive. The last great contribution in
science was that of Bhaskaracharya in Astronomy in the
twelfth century. But the genius of the people found its
expression in Nyaya, Smnti, Philosophy, and devotional
literatare. There is very little of the constructive cha-
racter as in the previous periods. Whatever literature
we bave is more or less critical and regulative. In
Lyrics Jaydeva’s Gila Gorinda written in the twelfth
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century occupies a very high place. The poet was a
master of form and diction, The dramatic literature
had been of an indifferent character and the Muslim
conquest had a depressing effect upon it. The legal
literature received their - final shape before the Muslim
conquest. Vijnaneswar wrote the Mitakshara, a com-
mentary on Yajnavalkya in the cleventh century and
the Jimuta Vahana produced the Duyabhaga in the fiirst
part of the twelfth century. A school of Siriti grew
up in Mithila between the thirtcenth and the fifteenth
century. Raghunandan Misra in  Bengal modified the
social changes in the fifteenth century. Karnata was
also- a centre of Sauskrit learning in the fourteenth
century. Books on grammar, Rhetoric and other subjects
were written, Sayavacharya, wrote his commentarios
on the Vedas in the fourteenth century. He was a
minister of Hari Har II of Vijayanagar, The Vedanta
and Vaishnava literature was rather copious in Sanskrit
.as well as in vernaculars. Ramanuja wrote a number of
books in the cleventh century, viz, Vedantasara, Vedan-
tasamgraha, Vedantadips, and Bhasyas on the Brakma-
sulras and the Bhogavatgite. Madhva or Anandatirtha
wrote 37 books mainly on his Vedantic subjects.” Nim-
barka was ‘a great authority on Vaishnavism. His
Vedantaparijatasaurablha contains his philosophieal theory.
Among the vernaculars Ilindi occupies the first place in
this period. Chandbardai’s Prithi Raj ~ Rasou is the
carliest book, His contemporary Jugnayak wrote a long
poem cntitled the _Ahakhand. Sharangadhara is known
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as the anthor of Hammir Rasew and Hamir Kavya
Namdeva, Ramananda, Kavir and Napak were great
figures in the Bhakti movement. Namdev wrote more
in Marathi than Hindi. Some of the songs of Rama-
panda have been preserved in the Adi Granthe. Kavir's
contributions to Hindi literature are of great value
His Sakhas and Ramin’s are composed in simple
#tyle with more attention to substance than form.
Nanak’s hymns were a mixture of Panjabi and Hindi
Books in Tamil, Kanarese pnd Telegu were written in’
this period. The Dravida literature received a great
impetns from the Saiva movement. The Vijaynagar
kings extended their patronrge to the Telegu authors.
Some of the kings were literary men and their names
figure in literature.

The Musalman rulers in Bengal followed a different
policy altogether with regard to language. They adopted
the Bengali language, and became . Bengali in manners
and customs. They arranged the translation of the
Mahabharatand the Ramayana into Bengali. Sultan Nasir
Shah ordered the translation of the Mahabharat (before
1325 A. D.). Krittivas translated the Ramayana at the’
instance of one of the Sultans, Maladhar Basu trans-
lated the Bhagavata at the instance of another Sultan.
Many such literary productions were due to the en-
ccuragement of the Musalman rulers, The Hindus did”
uot pay their attention to the vernacular before this
and the Brabmans who did not learn any thing but
Sanskrit bad to utilise the vulgar tougue. Besides these

19 )
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translations there were religious poems dealing with the
influence of Gods and Goddesses. But the distinctive
character of the Bengali literature of this period was
the large number of lyrics known as Padavalis, They
are mainly religious poems in the language of a lover
towards his beloved. Of these writers Chandidas flour-
ished in the latter part of the fourteenth century., His
contemporary Vidyapati wrote in Maithili and he is
now better known and appreciated in Bengal than in
Behar. The Vaishnava movement of Chaitanya enriched
the movement considerably. A kind of historical litera-
ture came into vogue about this time in the form of

Kulajis.

Music,

The Music 1;1ays an important part in the life of a
nation. The Hindus developed the art to its perfection..
It was employed in the religious services and in the
singing of hymns. Some even hold that the Greeks
adopted the Hinda method in their system, as did the
Arabs. There is a proverb in Sanskrit which says:
There is no art higher than music. Til the advent of
the Musalmans the Hindus eultivated the art widely.
To the great credit of the Maslim culture it must be
said that the conquerors patronised musicians. LEven
Mahmud of Ghazni helped the development of the art
by introducing Persian musicians among the Hindus.
The blending of the Indian and Persian music produced
the modern Hindustani music. . The Musalman musicians
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were appreciated even by the Hindu Rajas of the
South. Sultan Altamsh, Sultan Ala-ud-Din Khilji and
other rulers invited musicians to their courts aud
extended their patronage to them. Amir Khusru was
a celebrated poct amd muosician. Delht was a great
centre of culture. The invention of Sitar is credited
to Amir Kbusru. The art of music was culdvated by
both Hindus amd Moslems, and as a matter of fact it
belped the growth of pational unity. The religious
songs of Nauak and Chaitanya appealed to men of all
classes. Kabir was popular with both Hindus and
Musalmans. In art and architecture we find a co-
operation between men of all pursuasion, which is
scarcely seen in other ficlds

Architecture,

The Muszalman rulers erected a larze pumber of
buildings in India. They founded mew cities, built forts
and palaces, mosques and tombs, erected towers of
victory, and econstructed bridzes and canals, as they
destroyed the ol temples, ruinel many cities and
buildings, and devastated the country. The old temples
of Multan, Thaneswar, Sompath, Kanauj, Kangra,
Denares, Mattra and many other places have been
completely destroyed. We scarcely ecome across any old
buildings in a place conquered by the Musalmans. The
countries where the eonquering arms did not reach may
contain ome old temples and buillings. “There are
perhaps more temples now in  Orissa than in all the
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rest of Hindustan put together.” says Fergusson, “They
are very frequent in Maharashtra, and, if we admit the
Jaivs who adopted this style, they are ten times more
frequent in Gujarat, Rajputana and the valley of the
Narbada than in the valley of the Ganges, or in Arya-
varta, properly so called. The first and most obvious
explanation of this fact must be that the last named
country had for 600 years been, occupied by a Muham-
madan empire, and they hating idolatry and idol
temples, have destroyed them wherever they were so
absolutely in possession of the country as to be able
to do so with impunity”, But the great author of the
Indian and Eastern Architecture considers that it is
not the whole truth, He further says, “That the
Muslims did ruthlessly destroy Jaina and Hindu temples
at Ajmir, Delhi, Kapauj, and elsewhere in northern
India, is quite true, becanse their columns served so
admirably for the construction of their mosques. The
astylar temples of the followers of Siva or Vishnu
could have served principally as quarries, and stones
that had been previously used in Hindu temples have
now been traced to a large extent in Moslim buildings.”

There is some dispute regarding the iufluence of
Baracenic architecture upon India. Thus Fergusson
states, “Nothing could be more brilliant and at the
same time more characteristic, than the commencement
of the architectural carcer of these DPathans in India.
So soon as they felt themselves . at all sure of their
conquests, they set to work to cerect two great mosques
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in their two principal capitals of Ajmir and Delhi, of
such magnificence as should redound to the glory of
their religion and mark their triumph over the- idelators.
A nation of soldiers equipped for conquest and that
only, they had of course brought with them neither
artists nor architects, but, like other nations of
Turanian origin, they had strong architectural interests,
and having a style. of their own, they could hardly go
away in any architectural project they might attempt.
At the same time they found among their new subjects
an infinite number. of artists quite capable of carrying:
out any design that might be propounded to them.”
The great art critic Mr, Havell on the other hand con-
tends that the Indians pot only supplied architects and
builders; - but the designs' and motifs of the buildings
coustructed by the Musalmans were pre-eminently
Indians in spirit. He eays, “Teaching the Hindus
Saracenic “orders” of architecture did not enter into their
official code, they only required. that the heads of the
faithful at prayer should be protected from the dropping
of rain through a leaking roof. The Hindus were ackno-
ledged to be best bailders that Asia could provide and
Tslam had no professional or communal interests to
promote at the expense of Indian art and ecraft. The
Muhammadans adopted the old buildings to their require-
ments, without interfering with the design or architecture,
Mr. Havell says “The whole of Muhammadan architecture
in India bears this distinctive impress of the soil to which
it belongs, that its structural ideas and symbolism are
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nearly always essentially Indian, not foreign impor-
tations. The foreign suggestions adopted by Indian
builders were " almost without exception purely decora-
tive ones, i e, the use of Persian and Arabian floral
aud geometric motifs for surface decoration in place
of Hindu sculpture, and the substitution of encanstic
and painted tiles for painted plaster or terra-cotta.”
It is sometime believed that the archin the buildings
is saracenic, and that the screen and domes also.are
not Indian. Mr Havell would not accept that, the
Indians were quite familiar, he says, with the construc-
tion of arches and even pointed arches but they
preferred to build with beams and brackets because they
gave more strength when stone was used. In Bengal
when brick was used arches were not rare, The ald
Buddhist buildings had arches. Morcover Mr. Havell
goes further and says in the Western Asia people
adopted the old Buddhist and Indian architecture and
there was nothing which was characteristically saracenie.
The Minar at Delhi is nothing but a tower of vitory
like the Hindu Jayastambhas. The mosques and tombs
were constructed according to the building adeals in
the different parts. A Jain temple was converted into
a mosque at Ajmir in two days and o half. The Qutb
mosqoe at Delhi also contained many relics of the
Hindu system. The mosques at Gaur were of Bengal
style whereas those in Guzerat bore marks of that
provinee. Mahmud of Ghaznd and Timur carried builders
and architects from India for beautifying their own
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capifals, This suggests that the building in those days
were constructed mainly according to the methods of
the Hindus. The Musalmans eschewed the idolatrous
suggestions and incorporated the teachings of the
Quran in the inscriptions and decorations.

When the Iindu builders understood the require-
ments and tastes of the Musalmans they made the
buildings more sobre aon dignified. But we cannot say
that they were so Mahomedanised as to have lost the
Tndian character. The Qutub Minar at Delhi which
was completed by Altamsh is more forelgn in appearance
than the tower of victory at Mandu With regard to
this minar however Fergusson says, “It is probably wot
too much to assert that the Qutub Minar is the most
beautiful example of its class known to exist anywhere”
The minaret of the mosque of Hasan at Cairo is taller
than this, “but as the pillar at old Delli is a wholly
independent  building, it has a nobler appearance, and
both in design and finish far surpasses not ouly its
Egpptian rival, but any Dbuilding of its class known to
me in the whole world.”

The proviacial capitals such as Jaunpur, Gaur,
Ahmedabad, Mandu and Kulburza contain a large
number of beautiful edifices, mosques, tombs and palaces
which bear ample testimony to the adaptive nature of
the Hinda, The prineipal buildings at Jauapur crected
in the fifteenth century were the Atala Mosque and
the Jami Mosque. The Atala is the most ornate and
beautiful of all the mosques there. It has the appea-
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rance of a DBuddhist monastery. In these buldings the
Saracenic arch and the Hindu lintel have been artisti-
cally combined, but the domes bear Hindu emblems.
According to Fergusson the gateways are purely
Saracenic, “but richer and more beautiful, while its
interior domes and roofs are superior to any other
gpecimen of Muhammadan art I am acquainted with of
so early an age” At Ahmedabad the Hindu influence
worked ‘all along. Even the mosques are Hindu or
rather Jaina in every detail” the advanced civilization
of Gujarat impressed the conquerors. “The Chalukyas
however, conquered their conquerors and forced them
to adopt forms and ornaments which were superior to
any the invaders knew or could have introduced” says
the historian of the Indian Architecture. In Malwa
the Saracenic style was more in evidence, arch was
more in use than elsewhere. Here the bnildings were
mainly in red sand stone, The Palaces of Jahas Mahall
or water palace is a remarkable buidings of the time.
The buildings and edifices have received their additional
grandeur from the site of Mandu which is said to be
one of the noblest occupied by any capital in India,
Gaur was an ancient capital of Benzal. Brick was
used there in the buildings, though black marbles might
have been used in pillars and decorations, The ancient
Hindu art of Bengal greatly influenced the later style
The principal characteristic of the buildings was heavy
short pillars of stone supporting pointed arches and
vaults in brick. The ancient city of Gaur is now in
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ruins, and some Moslem cities have been built with its.
materials,. The ruins of their important buildings, viz,
the Qadam-i-Rasul, the Barah Darwaza, or the Golderr
Mosque and the Adinah Mosque can now be seen. The-
Barah Sona-Mausjid built by Nasrut Shah in 1526 is the
finest memorial left in Gaur. The ruins of a Minar
built about 1490 A. D, are still extant. The glory of
Gaur lies in the extensive ruins stretchmo about 20-
miles from Panduah southwards. “An idea of the
splendour in decay when seen as it is and in this
respect there are none of the ahcient capltals of Indla )
which produce a more striking, and at the same time
more profoundly melancholy, impression than these ruins of
_the old Afghan capital of Bengal” says Fergusson. Among:
the many beautiful buildings of the Bahmani capital at.
Kulbarga the mosque was one of the most remarkable
of its class in India. The whole arca 126 ft. by 100 ft.
of the mosque is covered over like the great mosque
of Cordova. There are 63 small domes, and light
enters through the side walls pierced with arches. The
mosque stands in good condition even after four cen-
turies of neglect and Fergusson is of opinion that this
is one of the finest of the old mosques of India. ’

Religious life,

The new crced preached by the Musalmans although \
in essence i3 not very different from esoteric Hinduism
but in practice it was different from orthodox Hinduism. .
At the time of the advent of Islam people profossed .
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either Hinduism of Vaishnav or Siva type or Jainism or
Buddhism. The last creed received the greatest blow.
It was not only expelled from Syria, Turkey, Persia,
Central Asia and “Afghanistan, but it was also driven
out of India, its birthplace and cradle. Hinduism felt
a few awakening by the teachings of Kumarila and
Sankaracharya, but the doctrine of Monism preached by
the Intter did not appeal to the heart. So a new philo-
sophy of dualism was cnunciated which insisted upon
love towards the Supreme Being as its cardinal principle.
The Bhakti movement thns started in the twelfth cen-
tury developed in different form in different parts of
India. It became very strong towards the end of the
fifteen*h and the beginning of the sixteenth century
when Kavir, Nanak and Chaitanya preached it by
their deeply devotional and religious practices. The
ouslaught of Islam was no less terrible. Ilindus sufler-
ed from disabilities of various sorts, and had to pay
extra taxes. Inducements were held out to the people
to nccept Islam. The doetrine of the unity of Godhead
or even the brotherhood of man appealed to the
thoughtful people. They did not find any difference
between the philosophical principles of Hinduism and
Islam, and thought a reconciliation between the two
possible. But the masses were staggered at the van-
dalism and iconoclastic zeal of the Musalmans, They
felt that Hinduism was in danger and tried to keep
aloof from the contagion, The rituals were made the
chief ingredients of the "religious system. The Dhakti
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movement was therefore resorted to by people who were
desirous of attaining a genuine spiritual uplift.

The earliest teacher of this doctrine was Ramanuja.
He was born in 1017 A. D. and spent his youth at
Conjeeveram. He was the pupil of an Advaita philoso-
pher named Yadavaprakasa. Ramanuja was dissatis-
fied with the doctrine of monizsm and studied the Pra-
bandhas of the Alvars. He in time became the head of
the Acharya school of Vaishnavism, founded by Natha~
muni and lived at Sriraogam. He travelled widely in
northern India, and specially visited the sacred places.
The Chola king asked him to give up his faith in
Vishou, and to become a Saiva, for declining which he
was peosecuted aod had to migrate to the Yadava
dominions. There Vitthola Deva, a brother of the king
became his disciple (1093 A. D). The literary produc-
tions of Ramanuja were copious. His vedantic theory
cnunciated that the individual soul and the insensate
world were the attributes of the Supreme Soul. The
Brahman was the material as well as the efficient cause
of the external world. Self-consciousness, knowledge,
union as a soul with a body were attributes common to
the supreme and individual souls. These souls again
may be divided into (1) Baddha or bound down to the
circle of existence, 2) Mukfa or finally delivered, and
(3) Nilya or ecternal. There are souls sceking final
deliverence by resorting to Dhakti, they throw
theruselves on the will of God. Karmayoge or
performance of actions and Jnanayoge or the acqui-



300 MEDIEVAL INDIA

sition of koowledge were necessary to make the
Bhakti froitful. The Bhaktiyoga requires purific-
ation of the body, chastity, constant practice, the
virtues of truth, uprightness, . compassion, charity, non-
destruction of life, hopefulness and equanimity of
temper. It is unnecessary here to discuss the details
of this school of thought. Ramanuja had many follow-
ers in the south, but not many in the north. He
derived his metaphysical doctrines from texts in the
Upanishads and the Brahmasutras, but his theory of
production of the eternal world was taken from the
Puranas, and based on the Sankhya System. Madhva
denied that God was the material cause of the world.
‘Madbva was born in Saka 1119 (1195 A.D.) and
died 79 year later according to R. G. Bhandarkar. He
did not share the opinion of Sankara or of Ramanuja
regarding the relation between God and the Soul. HE
set forth five eternal distinetions between God, the
inanimate world, and the individual soul in their
relations to one another. He travelled in important
places refuting the doctrine of Maya. According to
him all knowledge springs from Paramatman. “The
knowledge or fecling which creates an attachment to
the body, child or wife leads to a worldly life. This
is not true knowledge, but ignorance is dispelled by the
knowledgze of God. Moksa is attained by the dircet
knowledge or perception of Hari by means of a method
of scrvice possible to one sclf and in a body fitted for
it. That direct perception is possible to all good
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individual- souls from Brahmadeva to the best of men.”
(Bhandarkar’s Vaishnavism). The scet estnblished by
Madhva is still very strong in South India and, his
followers in the nurth are not rare. They are found
largely in the Kaparek districts. The Mathas founded
by Madhva are in existence even now. '

There was another teacher in the South named
Nimbarka who was almost a contemporary of Ramanuja.
He was born in the South but spent the most part of
his life at Brindaban, the sacred place of the Vaish-
navas in the north. He laid emphasis on self-surrender
and the grace of God, which alone could produce the
love for God. He was the first to popularise the ecult
of Radha and Krishna, which Ramanuja mentioned as
Narayana and Lakshmi. His followers are to be found
all over Northern India and specially near Muttra and
in Bengal.

Ramananda, the son of a Kanyakubja Brahman of
Prayag, introduced a radical reform by removing the
distinctions between the Brabmans aod the so-callad
degraded castes. He said that the devotees of Vishou
eould all dine together irrespective of caste. He used
vernacular in his - preachings, and insisted upon the
worship of Ram and Sita rather than Krishna and
Radha. He worked in - the fourteenth century, and
probably died in T411 AD. Among the disciples -were
Pipa a Rajput, Kavir a Sudra and some think be was
a Musalman weaver, Sena a barber, Dhanva’ a Jat,
Raidas a2 Chamar, and Padmavati a woman. - He
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carried on a propaganda against the doctrine of Maya,
and - Jainism and Buddhism. Some of his disciples
founded new sects, of them Kavir and Dadu are widely
respected.’ ‘

Kavir was the son of a Brahmana widow, who
threw him away at his birth to hide her shame, and
was brought up by a Moslem weaver named Niru, He
was born in 1398 A, D. according to Macaulife and died
in 1518 A. D. There are many legends regarding
Kavir. It is said that he prostrated himself on the
road of Ramananda to the ghat of the Ganges where he
used to come carly in the morning to bathe. Rama-
nanda trampled on the boy, and uttered the words
“Ram, Ram”. These words became the mantra of Kavir
and he called himself the disciple of Ramananda hence-
forth without the knowledge of the teacher. When
Ramananda knew it he embraced him and received
him warmly in his math, His writings bear marks of
ihe great influence of Hindu religious literature. Ie
was an uncompromising reformer and as Musalman
o in"spirdf, in denouncing caste and the haughtiness of the
Brahmans. But he was constructive in his methods,
condemndd the worship of idols, and preached pure
spiritual \theism. He cid not go on pilgrimages to
sacred plages, but travelled widely. He is said to have
asked for 'the blessings of Shaikh Taqqi and tried to
reconcile the Hindus and  Moslems. Kavir called Lim-
sclf the chiid of Allah and Ram. Men and wowen of
both rcligion{ had great reepect for him.
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Vallabh founded a sect devoted to the worship of
Krishna as the sportive boy of the cow settlement
with all his pranks. There are many followers of this
school in Guzerat, Rajputana, and round about Mattra.
They dedicate everythiny to the Gurn. This principle
is carried to excess in many cases and give rise to many
immoral practices. Vallabba was born in 1479 A.D.

The most important teacher to popularise the
Kirishna cult was Chaitanya who paid the catire atten-
tion to the emotion and introduced the system of
Kirtans or fervent singing of the songs about the love
of Radha and Krishna and other devotional matters.
He was born at Nadia in 1483 A. D. and died in 1533
A D. at Puri. The movement started by Chaitanya
in Benzal spread very rapidly, He held that the rela-
tions which existed between the individual soul and
God were both indentity and difference. In this; respect
he was .on the same line as Nimbarka. He attracted
to him men of all castes and creeds and the Musalman
rulers of the Bengal sympathised with this band of
fervent worshippers.

A few years earlier than Chaitanya another teacher
was born in the Punjab. Nanak was a bridge between
the Hindus and the Moslems. He was born in 1469
A. D. at Talwandi and attained keen spiritual insight. He
travelled widely in India and outside nnd preached the
doctrine of pure theism. It is said that he visited
Ceylon and Arabia also. At Baghdad be proclaimed
that there was only one Gol whom he recogpised in
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the earth, “the hecavens, and in all directions, He
rejected all sects. At the time of the invasion of the
Punjab, Babar took Nanak and his attendant Mardana
prisoners at Saiyadpur in 1526 A. D. for refusing to
embrace Islam. He spent the latter part of his life at
Kartarpur. The cat themes of his teachings were
the omnipresence and omnipotence of Grod, the transit-
«oriness of the world, and the destiny of the soul accord-
ing to its deeds. He was held in vencration by both
the Hindus and Moslems whom he tried to uvite in the
‘worship of one true God. There were nine gurus after
him to give a shape and form to his religion known
:as Sikhism. About the three teachers Kabir, Chaitanya,
and Nansk,” Dr. Estlin Carpentor says: “Of the three
teachéts whose lives for the space of a generation seem
to have coincided Kabir, Chaitanya and Nanak, the
influence of Kabir was perhaps the loftiest and most
diffusive, the personality of Chaitanya the most attrace
tive, the work of Nanank and his successors the most
definite in its practical results.”

The spirit of Indin has found its exprcssmn in the
lives of these saints and teachers who showed the way
- 0 permanent happiness when India was torn into picces
by political combatants, By their devotion and servige
they tried to span the gulf between the fighting races
and the conflicting crecds.
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Medieval India

PART 1l

THE MUGHAL EMPIRE



PREFACE

—10—

It is with a sense of responsibility that I beg to
present to the public this volume containing a connected
account of the life and thoughts of the people of India
in the middle ages. The first part of this volume was
published last year and I thank God that I have been
able to complete the book this year. I have attempted
here to give an outline of the main currents of the
political and social history of India in the period of
conflict between the two cultures. The results of
modern research have been embodied but controversies
have been avoided as far as possible, I have not
burdened the book with foot-notes, as they embarrass
the general readers, but references to further study have
been given in Bibliography at the end of Part T,
and at the end of each chapter in Part II,

Sept. 20, 1929 UrexpRA NATH BaLL.
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PART II

CHAPTER L
FOUNDATION OF THE MUGHAL EMPIRE.

Early Life of Babar.

The battle of Panipat marked a turning point in the
career of Babar as well as in the history of India
From his accession to the throne of Ferghana at the
age of twelve in 1494 AD. to this eventful day he
had been tossed about by fortune. He was the son of Umar
Shaikh Mirza, son of Abu Said, a descendant of Timur.
On the death of Abu Said the vast empire of Timur
was divided amongst his six sons. Ferghana fell to the
lot of Umar Shaikh, Samarkand and Bokhara went t>
Ahmad Mirza, Balkh to Mahmud Mirza, and Kabul to
Ulugh Beg. Ferghana was a small country on the
Jaxartes, with beautiful scenery, surrounded by hills
on all sides except on the west. It had plenty of grain
and fruits. There were seven townships, of which
Andijan was the chief,and it was the capital of the kingdom.

20



306 MEDIEVAL INDIA

Babar was nursed in the picturesque surroundings
of Andijan where he enjoyed fruits and flowers and
the beautiful water courses. His father Umar Shaikh was
a brave soldier but not fortunate in his battles. He
was generous, affable and eloquent. He was a well-
read man with a poetic nature. His mother was a
daughter of Yunus Khan, a descendant of Chagatai,
the son of Chengiz Khan. Babar was descended from the two
Mongol invaders of India, Chengiz and Timur. But
the Mughals of the time of Babar bhad become more
civilized than their remote ancestors under the influence
of Islam. Babar detested the name Mughal, snd called
himself a Turk. He inherited from his Tartar ancestors
the restless energy and buoyant spirit which kept him
up in the vicissitudes of his chequered life.

Babar was born on Friday the 14th February 1483
A.D. (6th Muharram 888 A.H.) and was named Zahir-
ud-Din Muhammad, but as the rude and uncultured
Chagatais found it difficult to pronounce the name they
called him Babar. He received good education in Der-
sian  and Turki and according to Haidar Mirza
“excelled in music and other arts. In fact no one in
his family before him ever possessed such talents as
his. Nor did any of his race ever perform such won-
derful exploits, or experience such strange adventures,
a3 did he” He became the king of Ferghana in June
1494 when a boy of twelve. His uncle, Sultan Alunad
Mirza of Samarkand, Sultan Mahmud Khan of Tashkint,
and Abu-bikr Kashgari Daglat of Kashghar and Khotan
tried to take the little kingdom of Ferghana, but Dubar
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was strongly defended by the Begs and soldiers of his father,
and the invading forces were made to retire. Ahmad Mirza.
died on his way back to Samarkand (July 1494 AD)
He was succeeded by his brother Mahmud Mirza, Mahmud
was tyrannical and vicious. His courtiers were also equally
wicked. But he died after a reign of five or six months.
He also had the iotention of dislodging Babar from the
throne. His sons were away at the time of the death
of Mahmud. The Chagatai Khan Sultan Mahmud tried
to take advantage of the troubles in Samarkand, but
Sultan Mahmud Mirza’s grandson Bai-Sunghar Mirza
repelled his attacks, and became the king of Samarkand.
Bai-Sunghar was not very friendly with the Begs and
soldiers of Samarkand, and his accession was marked
by great disturbances. Babar cherished the ambition
of sitting on the throne of Timur. His first campaign -
was not a success (1496 AD.), but the next year he
defeated Bai-Sunghar Mirza and occupied his capital,
after a siege of seven months, In this newly acquired
kingdom the soldiers were put to great distress on
account of the shortage of food as well as of men, So
they deserted Babar and coming back to Ferghana
fomented rebellion there. Sultan Mabhmud Khan laid
claim to Andijan, but the nobles tried to place Babar's
brother Jahangir Mirza on the throme. Babar had only
one thousand men left with him at Samarkand. He
was asked by his mother to- come back to Andijan.
He had then just recovered from .a serious illness.
After a reign of 100 days he left Samarkand, and on
reaching Khujand he received the news of the surrender
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of Andijan. He felt bitterly the loss of both the king-
doms, and he was cut off from his retainers and his
country. He tried to recover Andijan with the help
of his maternal uncle Sultan Mahmud Khan, but the
Kban deserted him when they were about to resch the
place. - Babar now fell back upon Khujand where he
was joined by his mother and grandmother, The Khan
also behaved similarly in an  attack upon Samarkand,
but still his desire for conquest did not die. Khujand
was a poor place and could hardly maintain 300
men. So Babar obtained Pashaghar on loan for
spending -the winter. When he was in a state
of ' uncertainty where to go he received an invi-
tation to take possession of Marghinan, After a
march of three nights and two days he rteached the
place with 240 men (1499 A.D) An attempt was made
by the partisans of Jahangir Mirza to overthrow him,
but on the arrival of help from Mahmud Khan they
fled, and Andijan again fell into the hands of Babar.
The Mughals who came to help him were not however
very friendly towards him. The country was full of
discontent, and some of the Begs tried to bring
Jahangir Mirza back. About this time Dai-Sunghar
Mirza was murdered by Khusru Shah, Babar was in-
vited to go back to Samarkand. But he had still to
deal with Ahmad Tambal, the champion of Jahangir
Mirza. While he was on his march to Samarkand news
came that the Uzbeg chief Shaibani Khan had oeccupied
both Bokhara and Samarkand. The people were not
attached to the Uszbeg chief, and DBabar took it by
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surprise when Shaibani was-out on an expedition. The
affairs now turned favourably towards him. Many
forts fell into his hands, and for six months he remained
in possession of the place, but afterwards he was
~defeated by Shaibaq Khan at Sar-i-pul and then besieged
in Samarkand. He did not receive help from any quar-
ter, provisions and supplies were exhausted, and the
gituation became hopeless, In these circumstances Babar
left Samarkand after a siege of four months and wander-
ed about in distress for two years, When he was moving
about from mountain to mountain homeless he thought
of going-to his maternal uncle the Khan of Tashkint.
There he spent some time, and once formed a plan -of
going to China. With the help of the Khans he made
another effort to regain Ferghana, He regained Andijan,
but Tambal called in the aid of the Uzbegs who 'made
him once more a fugitive. The Mughal army was defe-
ated, Transoxiana was captured, and Babar escaped with
great difficulty (1503 A.D.) He fled to the hills 'south
of Ferghana, and with difficulty reached Hisar, the
-capital of Khusru Shah. There he was received with cold-
ness, and then passed ,to Ghuri and Baklan. But
shortly Khusru Shah also was driven out of his own
country. He also went to Ghuri, but his men deserted
him and flocked to the standard of Babar. His treasures
fell into the hands of the latter, but Babar issued
orders that the effects of Khushru should not be con-
fiscated. He went to Khorasan and was killed at
Kunduz, His troops numbering about 20,000 fell into
the hands of Babar. With this army Babar marched
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towards Kabul. -At that time it was in the possession of
* Mukim, who could not stand against the superior forces of
Babar.- The couquest of Kabul (October 1504 A.D}
put an end to his tloubles and helped h1m in maturmg
his other plans. '

. Babar as ng of Kabul.

Babar ruled without mterruptlon at Kabul for twenty--
two years (16041526 A.D.) He distributed - cities and
villages, to his followers, as 'well as to the Begs of
Kabul. The vast army of Babar could. not be main--
tained out of the poor resources of the newly conquer-
ed.country. So he had to go out. on .forays in the
neighbouring countries. -He went in search of booty to.
the couniry of the Hazaras and once came to India
(1505 AD.). But as he was not familiar with the roads.
of Hindustan the expedition did not prove very success—
ful. . The troops. suffered great privation and on his
return to Kabul many old soldiers of Khusru .Shah
deserted him. Babar in deseribing his' first expedition.
which he undertook in January 1505 by wayiof Badam--
Chashma and Jagdalik says, “Till that time I had never
seen a hot country or the Hindustan borderland. . In
Ningnahar another world came to view—other grasses,
other trees, other ahimals, other birds, and other: manners
and customs of clan and horde. We are amazed, and truly
thero was ground for amaze.” He entered through the
Khaibar Pass, and marched southwards from Peshawur
to Multan and returned by way of the Gomal Pass.. The
same year he ‘went on an expedition against Kandahar.
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His brother Jahangir Mirza who was with him in
Kabul was not satisfied with the . territory’ allotted to
him. He went to Khorasan, on the plea of reridering help-
to the sons of the deceased Sultan there against the
Uzbegs. Babar followed Jahangir Mirza and = after
restoring the Mirza brothers to power he returned to
Kabul. Shortly after this his brother Jahangir Mirza
died, Babar next conquered Kandahar and brought from
there a large amount of wealth. He bhad to quell
another revolt of the Mughals in Kabul who tried to
set up Abdur Razzak on the throne. With 500 follow--
ers Babar routed 3000 Mughals, and forced them to retire.
(1507 AJ0.) The most powerful enemy of Babar now was the
Uzbek chief Shaibani Khan who in quick succession
conquered Transoxiana, subjugated Khorasan, captured.
Herat, and threatened Kandahar, The danger to Kabul
was averted by the death of Shaibani at the hands of
Shah Ismail Safavi, King of Persia. (1510 A. D.) The-
Shah then wrote a letter to Babar offering his services.
to recover his hereditary kingdom. Ferghana was
cleared of the Uzbeks and within a short time Babar-
again obtained possession of Samarkand (1511 A. D.)-
Babar was pot _destined to rule Samarkand, as after
eight months’ rule he was defeated by Ubaid Ullah
Khan who with only 3000 men scattered 40,000 of the-
emperor, and vwithin two 'years he lost every thing:
beyond the Hindukush except Bactria. He now fell
back upon Kabul where he left his brother Sultan.
Nasir  Mirza upon the throne. Sultan Nasir Mirza.
gallantly made room for his brother and craved
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permission to go back to his own province of Ghazni.
(1514 A. D.). He hewever didnot live long.
‘On his death there was a rebellion in  Ghazni,
‘which Babar managed to suppress with great bravery.
In 1517 A. D. he went on an expedition into Balkh and
-afterwards against Kandabar to find scrvice for the
-unemployed Mirzas. The Mughals were so efficient in
‘the war because they employed cannons and fire-aris.
‘Shah Ismail of Persia learnt the trick at his own expense
:and engaged the services of Turkish artillery men and
‘musketeers in his army. Babar followed in the foot-
steps of his ally, and appointed Ustad Ali, an Ottoman
Turk as the Master of his Ordnance and later on he
ssecured the services of a second expert in Mustafa. The
-employment of fire-arms greatly increased his fighting
-ability. Frostrated in his efforts to regain the domini-
-ons of Timur, Babar now cast his longing looks towards
‘the north-east. In 1519 A. D. he invaded Bajaur,
marched through Swat and Panj-Kura, and secured the
country of the Afghans. The match-lock men employed
for the first time in this region contributed greatly to
‘his success. Ever since his return to Kabul he contemp-
lated a march upon Hindustan. After subjugating
Bajaur he crossed the Indus (February 1519 A. D)
and within a short time reached Bhira on the Jehlam,
which was then governed by Daulat Kban. From this
place he sent a lotter to Ibrahim Lodi demanding
“Lahore and the other countries which depended in the
past upon the Turks. But his messengers were obs-
tructed by Daulat Khan at Lahore, and after a few
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months sent to Kabul without any reply. Between
1519 and 1526 A. D. Babar led five expeditions into
India. The first two invasions took place in1519 A.D,
the third in 1520 A, D. and the fourthin 1524 A. D.
The fifth expedition was the most memorable, in which
he defeated Ibrabim Lodi at Panipat and became the
Emperor of Delhi oceupying territories as far as Agra.
The battle of Panipat has alrendy been described in
Part I Chapter X page 217.

‘The conquest of Hindustan.

The dream of his life was now fulfilled. Since
his first expedition in 1519 A. D., he formed this
resolution and he says: “From then till now we
laboriously held tight to Hindustan, five times
leading an army ioto it. The fifth time, God the most
high, by his own mercy and favour, made such a foe as
Sultan Ibrahim the vanquished and loser, such a realm
an Hindustan our conquest aud possession”. He consi-
dered this conquest as entirely due to the mercy aod
favour of God. Although he defeated Ibrahim the vast
realm still remained unsubdued. There were still a large
number of Muslim and Hindu kingdoms. He was at-
tracted by the vastness of the country and its wealth.
‘There were numberless artisans and workmen in the
country, who contributed to the comforts of life, although
he says: “Hindustan is a country of few charms. Its
people have no good looks; of social intercourse, paying
and receiving visits there is none: of genius capacity
none: of manners none? in handicraft and work there is
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no form or symmetry, method or quality ; there are no
good horses, no good dogs, no grapes, musk melons or
first-rate fruits, no ice or eold water, no good bread or
cooked food in the bazars, no hot baths, no colleges,
no candles, torches or candlesticks.” The disadvantages
however did not weigh on his mind. All through his life
he bad struggled for power. Here he found a vast
empire lying within his grasp. The most powerful foe
had been crushed He then sent his son Humayun to
occupy the imperial residence at Agra, and he himself
went to Delhi and declared himself Emperor. The
Khutba was read in his name in the Friday prayer on
the 27th April. From Delhi he proceeded to Agra, and
reached the place on the 5th May. Humayun had al-
ready surrounded the fort which however had not yet
surrendered but op the arrival of Babar it was oceupied.
In the sicge Humayun received as an offering the famous
diamond Koh-i-Nur from the children of Raja Vikrama-
jit of Gwalior, who had fallen in the field of Panipat.
This diamond Ala-ud-Din Khilji brought from the
Deccan, and weighed 8 misqals or 320 ratis. Humayun
gave it to his father, but the Emperor returned it to
his son as a mark of affection. The gold aud treasures
he received wers immense. He distributed the spoils
lavichly, and sent a silver coin for every person in
Kabul. He kept very little for himself, and therefore
was called a Kalandar.

It was mid-summer when Babar reached Agra. The
people were not well-disposed towards him. Many
people began to die on account of pestilential winds.
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“The local chiefs in all places fortified their posi-
tion. When Babar had scarcely established himself on
the throne his Begs and geoerals expressed their desire
to go back to their home-lands. Babar then called a
council of kis Begs, and made a fervent appeal to them
to stay. He said:

“There is no supremacy and grip on the world with-
out means and resources; without lands and retainers
sovereignty and command are impossible. By the labours
of several years, by encountering hardships, by long
travel, by flinging myself and the army into battle, and
by deadly slaughter, we through God's grace, beat
these masses of enemies in order that we might take
their broad lands. And now what force compels us,
what necessity has arisen that we should, without cause,
abandon countries taken at such risk of life ? Was it
for us to remain in Kabul, the sport of harsh poverty ?
Heaceforth, let no well-wisher of mine speak of such
things! But let not those turn back from going who,
weak in strong persistence, have set their faces to de-
part” Tnspite of this appeal some of his men returned
to Kabul, but Babar remained in India with the main
army to build up the empire. He was however soon
joined by many influential men of India. The first to
acknowledge his authority was Shaikh Guran of Kol,
who brought with him about 3000 soldiers. Many of
the nobles came over to the counquerer. Sultan Ibrahim
Lodi bhad sent Mustafa Farmuli and Firaz Khan to
fight against the rcbel armies of the eastern provinces.
Mustafa had died before the battle of Panipat, and his
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brother Shaikh Bayazid carried on the operations in his
place. All these generals of Ibrahim came to Babar and
were treated with great kindness. The new recruits and
the old officers were handsomely rewarded and posted to
different provinces. Babar now felt himself sufficiently
strong to extend his dominions. He subjugated the
provinces of Sambal. Biyana, and Dholpur and arranged
for their future government.

Last stand of the Rajputs.

On the decline of the Sultanate the Rajputs under
the leadership of Rana Sangram Singh of Mewar
“cherished the ambition of establishing the Hindu
ascendancy, When Babar was in Kabul the Rana sent
a message to him that he would move on Agra when
the former would occupy the territories upto Delhi.
He wanted to come to an understanding with the
conqueror that he would not interfere with DBabar if
his rule was recognized east of Delhi. The defeat of
Ibrahim Lodi changed his attitude. He realized that
the whole of Hindustan was in danger of being con-
quered by the Mughal invader. He therefore appealed
to the Hindu Rajas to combine against this common
cnemy.

* Rana Sangram Singh inherited the valour and patri-
otism of his ancestors. After the conquest of Chitor
by Ala-ud-Din Khilji, Hamir recovered the country and
made Mewar a free state, IHis son annexed Ajmir,
and gradually the: Ranas became very powerful in the
Central India. Sangram Singh defeated the Sultan of
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Malwa (1519 AD.) and was acknowledged as their
leader by the other Rajput states. His powers were so
great that Dabar writes “that not one of all the exalted.
sovereigns of this wide realm, such as the Sualtan of
Delbi, the Sultan of Guzerat, add the Sultan of Mandu,.
would cope with this evil-dispositioned one, without
the help of other pagans ; one and all they cajoled him.
and temporized with him.” Ten powerful chiefs flocked.
to his standard and placed their troops under his com-
mand. He was also joined by Mahmud Khan, son of.
Sultan Sikandar Lodi, Hasan Khan of Mewat and.
Salahud-Din a Rajput convert to Islam. It is said that.
about 201,000 troops came to defend India in this.
memorable battle. Contrary to their usual practice,.
says Elphinstone, the Hindus were on this oceasion.
the aggressors. If there was any chance of recovering.
freedom from Moslem rule this was the time. The old.
rulers had lost their position and the Mughals had = yet
to establish themselves. The Musalman chiefs who bad.
enjoyed political privileges so long considered that their
only hope lay in alliance with the Hindus., So careful
preparation was made for a decisive battle. Rana
Sanga was a brave soldier and a capable general, He
was a man of the middle stature, of great muscular
strength, fair in complexion, and possessed unusually
long eyes. He lost one eye in a fight with his brother,.
one arm in a battle with the Lodis and a leg was broken
by a cannon-ball in another battle, There were 80
wounds on his body received in various contests.
Babar calls him “That one-eyed Dajjal” The fort of
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Kandar had already been captured by him, and Hind:
-control was restored in 200 towns in the territorics of
Musalmans.

Babar on his part was making preparation to meel
the Indians. In the meantime he sent his son Humayuu
to suppress the rebellions in the eastern provinees,
‘Some of the armies fled before him, while the others
surrendered. He went as far as Ghazipur, subjugated
~Jaunpur, Oudh and the adjoining territories, and by the end
of the year he returned to Agra. Shortly after this news
-arrived that Rana Sanga was advancing towards Biyana
and that Hasan Khan Mewati whom Babar tried to
retain had joined the Rajputs. Babar now moved
-out of Agra on the 11th February 1527, and gathering
‘his troops on the way arrived at Sikei on the 17th
February. It is about 23 miles west of Agra. Babar
-chose this place as suitable for a large camp becanse
sufficient quantity of water could be had there, A large
number of wells were dug. He had no confidence in
‘his Hindustani armies, so he despatched them to other
places. The Rajputs had first routed the Biyana garri-
-son. A reconnoitring party consisting of 1000 to I500
men was cut off by them, and many of them were
‘made prisoners. Rana Sanga had encamped at Kanwa
which he fixed as his northern boundary. It was only a
few miles from Sikri, and can be scen from the ridge
where now stand the ruins of Akbar’s capital, The
reports of Rajput bravery md the misfortunes of the
Mughal troops in the early encounters produced great
.consternation. Babar took 20 or 25 days to fortify his
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<amp. The front was defended. by. carts, chained tagether
T or 8 yards.apart. . Where the. cart did .not reach .a
ditch, was dug, and ropes of raw hides were, stretched
on wooden, tripods. :.Ahout, this time some BHoo
troops arrived from Kabul Soldiers collected  frum the
Doab and Delhi were detailed to raid., the .villages . in
Mewat, :

Babar considered that ‘some = great saériﬁ'ce”waﬁ
necessary to achieve success. He believed self-control
led to power and therefore formed a sti'ong résolution to
give up wine. “Along with him dbout 300 Beizs and othiers
renounced wing, and what they had was poured on the ground.
Gold and silver vessels were brokeén and ' distribufed to
deserving persons. Besides this, to win the cofidsiice
of the Musalmans he issued & proclamatlen that' the Msliris
would be excused the Tamgha i ‘e. the thdnsit duties.
To rouse up the drooping hearts of his' followers ‘he
-delivered the following address : - e

“Begs and braves, Better than life with a bad hame is
death with a good one’ God the 'most high hes allotted
to us such happiness and has created for'us uch’ good
fortune ‘that we die as martyrs, wé kill"as’ avengers “of
his cause. ‘Therefore must each'of you take oath” upon
His Holy Word that he will not think of turning his
face from this foe or thhdraw from this deadly en-
counter 5o long a8 life is not rent from hxs body”

The appeal went straight into the heart of the, sol-
diers, and they took the yow wlth the Q,uran in theu'
hands. They then warched j in regulur battle array, Wltb..

21
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carts - ahd wheeled tripods in front and Ustad Ali Quli
and his match-lock men close behind them, On Tuesday
the - I3th March, Babar gallopped from oné division to-
another - to - cheer up his éfficers and men, and after
marching’ about two miles they dismounted. There they
-encamped, arranging for neeessary safeguards of ditch
and carts. Next day they marched but before they
had fixed, up. their camp as previously arranged news
came that t,he enemy was advancing,

The arrangement of the Muslim army was in the
hands of \lzamud-Dm Ali Khalifa, Babar was in the
centre, and all the dmsmns were carefully organized
in the Turkxsh "method with matehlock men and
cannoneers . just behind, the line of carts and tripods.
The nght .wing was led by Humayun, and the left by
Sayyld Mahdx Khwa]a,, and there were able comman-
ders , for flirecting the flank movement. both on the
right and the left. ‘The engagement took place on
Saturday the 17th March 1527 A. D. at the field of
Kanwa, now in the state of Bharatpur. The Rajputs
marclied forward with their clephants, and attacked the
Mughala between 9 aud 10 A. M. Their loft wing first
charged "the nght wing of Babar’s army, which was
however supported by, the nght of the ceutre under

~T1mur Sultan, and thus the Rajputs were driven
back to the rear of their centre 'lﬁe battle raged
furiously round Humayun, where Mustafa' was breuking
the ranks of the Rajputs with his fire-arms.. After pu-
shing back the Rajput right wing Mumin Ataka with
a number ~of "comwanders went to their rear. Great
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bravery was displayed on both sides. When the battle
continued the Mughal centre was diverted to the right
and to the left while Ustad Al Quli spood ‘firm in the
centre discharging heavy stones from his cannons and
directing the match-lock men. Orders were given to
the match-lock men to move forward into the midst of
the battle, and they were followed by the foot soldiers.
At this time according fo royal orders the carts
of the centre were moved forward, and . the
Mughal troops fought bravely round the Emperor.
The sky was so darkened by the clonds of dust
that foe could not be distinguished  from friend.
“The wizard of time produced such a sight that its
only planets were arrows, its only constellations of
fixed stars were the steadfast squadrons.” The two
armies were engaged in a deadly fight. The Rajputs
attacked the left wing vigorously but they could mot
stand before the fire-arms, The carts also prevented
them from rushing into the Mughal army. The Rajputs
lost heavily and when further resistance became difficult
they dispersed in all directions. Many died fighting
and among the slain were Hasan Khan of Mewat, Udi
Singh of Bagar, Rai Chandrabans Chuhan, Bhupat Rao,
son of Salahud-Din and many other chiefs and nobles
who were commanders of big forces. Rana Sanga
managed to escape. After winning this vietory Babar
assumed the title of Ghazi. He composed the follow-
ing quatrain on the occasion :

‘For Islam’s. sake, I wandered in the wilds, pre-
pared for war with pagans and Hindus, resolved
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myself to meet the martyr’s death, Thanks be to God ; a
Ghazi I became” (Mrs Beveridge’s Translation.)

The Rajput chroniclers state that the defeat was
due to the treachery of Silhadi but about this no definite
information is available. The Rajput confederacy was
weakened with the fall of Sangram Singh. Babar was
pow freed from all fear from that quarter. He now
obtained undisputed sway over the whole of Hindustan.
Henceforth he boldly planned for the erection of the
JImperial structure on the ruins of the Sultanate of
Delhi. India which was to him a land without charms
began to engross his entire attention. He sent Lis son
Humayun to rule in his place at Kabul,

Babar spent some time in making internal arrange-
ments, and suppressing rebellions in the neighbouring
provinces, llias Khan who had rebelled in the Doab,
and occupied Koel was brought to Agra as a prisouer
and flayed alive. Nahar Khan, son of Hassan Khan of
Mewat ecasily submitted, and Chandwar, Rapri and
Etawah were subjugated without much difficulty, DBabar
next placed his chiefs in charge of the different provin-
ces and spent about six months in visitiug the different
places. There was still one Rajput chief whom Babar
did not like to go unpunished. Medini Rao of Chanderi
exercised great influence. He was once the chief minis-
ter of Malwa and had carved out a kingdon for himself
with the stronghold of Chanderi as his capital. The
Raja was also an ally of Rana Sanga. Babar marched
against him on the 9th December, 1527 A. D. He
crossed the Jumna at the Kanar passage a little above
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the junction with the Chambal. Marching along through
Kalpi an advance party was sent under ‘Chin-Timur
Sultan with abont Tooo men. On the 22nd -January
1528 A. D. Babar’s main army reached the ‘outskirts ‘f
Chanderi. Before the siege began news reached thé camp
that the troops sent to subjugate the eastern provinees
bad received a rebuff and had been forced to abandon
Lucknow. Babar unperturbed carried on his opefitions '
The citadel of Chanderi stood on a hill, on one &ide "6f
which was a double-walled road to water. -The utfack’.
was directed mainly against that part and the' Mughaks:
soon occupied the wall. In the citadel Rajputs’ fought-
bravely. After killing their women they came out nikéd"
fighting to die. Within 2 or 3 hours the fort fell“into"
the hands of the Mughals. Chanderi was made over t6
Ahmad Shah, a grandson of Sultan Nazirud-Din'of:
Malwa, and Babar instead of completing his plan' of
proceeding to Raisin, Bhilsa, Sarangpur,’' Chitor-and-
other places where Hindu iufluence still continued re-:

rarned to Agra on account of the tarn of évents'1h-
the east. e I

Subjugation of the Eastern Provmces. T
The Hindustani Amirs were always held in suspicion.!
Babar did not rely upon their loyalty. They were ves¥:
strong in the eastern provinces. After occupying® Delhi!
and Agra Babar despatched Humayun ‘to subdae-thém?
His campaign was successful for the - time~ being, -But!
after the defeat of the Rajputs the old Moslem - nobles
once again became rebellious. When Babar was-engaged:
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in the,siege, of Chanderi he received the news of the
rebellion. On goming back to Agra he learnt that the
rebel Amirg had heen approaching-towards Delhi after
leaving Kanauj, behind, and that Shaikh Bayazid had
ioined the,rgbels, Babar proceeded personally against
them. A bridge was. built on the Ganges near Kanauj
whese. the enemy was posted. The Amirs were driven
back-and, the Emperor pressed towards the east. He
marched through Lucknow and Oudh, cressed the
jungtion of the. Gogra with the Sirda. DBayazid still
managed to.elude the Mughal arms. DBabar returned
affer settling the affairs of Oudh. The rebels took
refuge in. Bengal. In 1528 A.D. he sent his son Askari
to,,, watch -the movements of the king of Bengal. Shortly
afterwards an embassy came from Sultan Nasrat Shah
of Bangal, bringing: a message of friendship. (January 1.
1529 AD.) Babar was. preparing for an expedition
against the Beluchis who had overrun some places in
the west. when news reached that Mahmud Lodi, son
of Sikandar Lodi had occupied Behar. The Emperor
started on his eastern march on the 25th January, 1529
A.D. Mahmud Lodi had collected 10,000 Afghan troops,
and had reached as far as Benares, and was on his way
toChunar.. He had been joined by Bayazid, Biban and
Sher Shah Sur. On receiving news of the approach of
Baber the Afghans retired from Chunar in  confusion.
Mabmud fled to Bengal. The attitude of Sultan Nasrat
Skdh was very uncertain, His troops were massed on
the:Gandak at its junction with the Ganges. An cn-
agement took place in May 1529 AD. in which
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Nasrat Shab’s men wore defeated. but Nagrat persuaded
the. Emperor to agree to a”treaty (May, 1529 AD.),
Freed from angiety regarding: Behar ;aud Bepgal . the
Erperor marched to- crusl . Bayazid  aund, Biban ; who
«were reported to have crossed- the Saru, and iproceeded
towards Lucknow. -On the approach of Babar . they fled
towards Dalamau. . Babar _ reached - that place on the
18th June. By that.time the rebels had -gone .towards
Mahuba in Kalinjar.  The rains had set in,jand . further
operations becoming difficult Baban, returngd to. Agra..
“The expeditionary forces were ordered to remaig where
they were till they received freshsupplies. , |

TheLaatDays S

The. strain of constaut campalgn had lts effects upon
the strong  constitution of, Babar. He crossed almost
-every river he came across by swimming. He swam acr(éss
the Ganges easily.. He had marched through hills and dales,
ridden along rough country and had fought many battles,
but his vigour was now on the declive. Althpughhis age
was only 46 he felt himself very,old. He also gradually
loet his strength of resolution and tried to spend his
-days. in pleasant pastimes. His wife Mahim came from
Kabul to Agra. Humayun K had failled to, crush the
Utbegs. Babar thought of going back {0 Kabul and
aarched as far as Lahore where he met his son Kam-
ran. About this time a conspiracy. was on foot to et
aside the sons of Babar.and to place ong Mir Moha~
mad Mahdi Khwaja on the throne., Humayun on re-
<civing this news came to Agra withopt .obtaining the

3
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permission of the Emperor, leaving Hindal in Badakh-
shan and Kamran in Kabul. “Babar did not much Jike
the negiect. bf affairs in Badakshan, and his leaving his
post “without “otders, as'he still ‘cherished the dream 6f
"regammg the throne of Timur. Humayun was asked
to 3o back, but he managed somehow to stay behind.
 Suliimad Mirza' was thew sent’ to Kabul. Huniayun
prdceeded %o his own fief ‘of* Sambal. ~ Babar was  then
busy iv crushmg the minor risings round about Delhi.
In the swhihér of 1530 ‘A.D. Humayun felt dangerously
ifl. & ‘wa$ brought to Agra. and it 'is told that ‘fo
save his son Babar - made ‘the supreme sscrifice. - The
story goes that he moved thrice round the sick
bed of his son and prayed to God. ‘Oh God, if a life
‘may "be exchanged for a life, I who am Babar, give
my life “%nd my being for’ Humayun, and ‘that since
then Humayun became better and Babar’s temperature
went up and h¢ then cried ‘out ‘bardasthan, (I have
* taken ip the burden )! His health then gradually de-
clined, and 'hé left this world on “the 26th Dee. 1530
A.D. ~ Béfote his dedth he nomivated Humayun as - his
" successor and advised him to be good ‘tor his brothers,
“to b nitmificent and just; to acquire God’s favour; to
cherish’ and’ protect sub]ects, to accept apologies from
giich’ as” had faildd"in duty, and to pardon transgressors.”
His body was temporarily buried in -tArambagh, Agra,
“¢lose to the place’where ‘the Taj-Mahul- now stands
*ahdl it was removed to ‘Kabul betweén 1539 "and: 44
A.D, and buried in-the beautiful gardens ‘on the 'slope-
© &t the*hiShah-isKabuk, - the plade chosen by ~Babar
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himself, Shah Jahan built a mosque there,‘ and  Jahao--
“giF ‘adothed the white marble slab on the grave Wlth-
"aif' inseription couched in beautxful language o

o 1 1

An estimate of his character :
Zahirnd-Din Muhamimad Babar died at the age of
48.- He was a remarkable man, and able general, and:
an accomplished prince. “Upon the whole, if we  re-
view with impartiality the history of Asia” says Fr-
skine, “we find few princes entitled to rank higher
than Babar in genius and accomphshments » He further
says, “In activity of mind, in the ‘gay equammﬂ;y “and
unbroken spirit with which he bore the extremes .of
good and bad fortunes, in the possession of the manly
and social virtues, in his love letters and - his suceess.
in the cultivation of them, we shall. probably find .no
other Asiatic prince who can’ justly be placed beside:
him™" He possessed an affectionate heart, and was.
always very kind to his friends and ‘relatives. He'was.
‘a scholar and a fice writer both in Turki and - Perswn.\
His Memoirs in which he relates the anecdotes of his
life in a charming style gives ample evidence of the
breadth of his heart, of his large imagination, and a
keen power of observation. He was a lover of nature,.
and wherever he lived he laid out beautiful gardens,
aqueducts and erected fine buildings. His stayin India
was too short to consolidate the empire, He had to-
crush the rebellions of the Afghans and the Indians:
were not willing to acCept his domination. He had
to follow the old method of collecting the revenue with.
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the help of the local governors whom he had  to grant
jagirs and fiefs. At his death the empire extended from
the Oxus to the Ganges, but™ his authority .in, most
places within his vast dominions was nominal. His life
was marked by strenuous activities, and it is 4aid thiat
since he became the king of Kabul at. the -age ' of
twelve till his death he never kept the fast of Ramazan
twice. in any one place.
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CHAPTER II -
THE PERIOD OF TRANSITION.
Humayun.

DI P
On the death of Babar his eldest son succeeded him
as Emperor of Hindustan. Kamran was already. the
governor of Kabul and Kandahar end was naw given
the province of the Punjab. Mirza Hindal who now
returned to Agra from Badakhshan was given Mewat,
and Mirza Askari was given Sambal. According to
the wishes of his father Humayun was good.to his
brothers, He was 22 when he ascended the throne.
“Humayun Padishsh was the eldest, greatest, and, most
renowned of Babar’s sons. I have seen ,few persons
possessed of so much natural talent aud excallence, as
he, but in consequence of frequent intercourse with
the seosual and profligate men who saved, him, such .
85 Maulana Muohammad Parghari in particplsy,.and
others like him, he had contracted some bad habits ;
among them was his addiction to opium.”’ says Haidar
Mirza. He was endowed with excellent qualities,
being brave io battle, gay in feast, and very generoys.
He succeeded to an empire which was not thoroughly
-consolidated and the cession of the Punjab to Kamran
further weakened it. There were a large number pf
Anirs in India who did not favour thg e's.t;ablishm_er.lt
of a strong central government. The: only hope;of
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Humayun was the army left by his father. An Afghan
soldier in the army who carefully watched the move-
ments of the Mughals was bold enough to predict that
if lnck and fortune favoured him he would very shortly
expel the' datter ‘from Hindustan. “The Mughals are
not superior to the Afshans in battle or single
combat : but the Afghans have let the empire of Hind
slip * from their hands, on account of their internal dis-
sensions. Since I have been amongst the Mughals,
and' know their conduct in action, T see that they
bave no order or discipline, and that their kings,
from ‘pride * of birth and station, do not personally su-
perinténd the government, but bave all the affairs and
business of the state to their nobles and winisters, in whose
sayings and doings they put perfect confidence” said
Sher Khan, an Afghan soldier in the service of Babar.
He further observed that their grandees acted on cor-
rupt motives in every case, covetous of gold. He re-
solved in his mind to bring the Afghans under proper
control and to restore the old Afghan kingdom. He
sticceeded il ‘carrying out his resolution within a few
years. The Mughals defeated the Afghans on account
of the internal dissensions and mutual jealousies. They
had suffered greatly and now they made an effort to
winback their old position. Humayun was a man of
“soft nature: He was not competent to deal adequately with
thé different factors which were working to undermine
“the new dynasty. His brother Kamran did not co-

bpemte with him in maintaining the empire which their
father - acquited with such courage and bravery.
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Althouvh Humayun hmd some experience of .warfare, and
.comprehend the difficulties of his poutm.n in 'Indl,a,, He.
allowed himself to be outwitted by . his opponents. and
within ten years of his coming to the . throne he ! was
-deprived of his empire 2nd his brothers and’ attendants
deserted him. . ek

FRTNIN

In the early part of his reign he pi‘oéeeded'to
Kalinjar, and obtained the allegiance of it Raja. " Sultan
Mahmud with the help of Biban and ~Bayhsid “and' 2
number of Afghan  nobles had occupied Jaunpury
Lucknow and other places. Humayun marched against
him, defeated the Lodi Sultan near Lucknow; ‘andin
the battle many nobles including Ibrahim ~Khan, Yusuf-
Khbal, Bayazid and others were killed. Mahmud “fled
to Beha, and never afterwards claimed ‘the ' throne,
Bher Khan who was in the army of Malmud did not fight
and thereby helped Humayun to win the victory. From
Lucknow Humayun proceeded towards ~Chunar and :
demanded from Sher Khan the surrender of the fort:
But the latter did not yield, and offered resistance.
The troubled state of things in Giuzerat, and the fear ‘of
losing Delhi led Humayun to leave Chunar in the hands
of Sher Khan, after taking his son Kuth Khan %8 &
hostage.

Expedition to Guzerat

Hunmayun’s accession to the throne was disputed 'by
some of his own relatives, and one of them _was
‘Muhammad Zsman Mirsa. Ou account of his rebelhpn
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he wis sent ‘to Biyana as a prisoner, but he
‘managed to ‘éscape and fled to Sultan Bahadur Shah of
‘Guzerat. The Emperor demanded his surrender which
towever ‘was' Tefused by the Sultan. Bahadur Shah
had lately’ become very powerful. He had annexed
Malwa and was acknowledged as the overlord of the
rulers of Khandesh, Berar and Ahmadnagar. He be-
.sieged the fort of Chitor and sent Tatar Khan Lodi,
4-son of Ala—ud Din Lodi to occupy Biyana and then
.ta proceed towards Agra. Humayun sent his brother
-Hindal agamst him, on which Tatar Khan'’s troops left
_him and in an engagement with the prince he was
 slain. Emboldened by this vietory Humayun marched
from Agra Bahadar Shah at that time was engaged
,An the s1ege of Chitor. Humayan marched through
. Gwahor to Sarangpur where he halted in order that
Bahadpr Shah might crush the iofidels at Chitor. A
Musalman was not attacked by another Musalman when
he was, fighting against the Hindus. The two armiee
_then confronted each other at Mandisar, a dependency
_of Malwa, but there was no open engagement for two
mooths. The army of Bahadur Shah was very strong
in artillery, but the Mughals did not come within their
_range till bis provisions were exhausted. Bahadur
with five trusty attendants fled by the rear towards
Mandu. When this news spread in the camp his army
melted away. (1535 A.D). Humayun pursued him to
"Mandu, the fort was captured by a surprise attack at
night, but Bahadar escaped and went towards Guzerat. Ie
carried away his treasures from Champanir to Ahmadabad
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and when he- was pursued there he fled to Cambay.
Humayun reached Cambay shortly after Bahadur ‘had.
left it for Diu. The Emperor’s passage was. then
obstructed by some Guzerati nobles. He then refurned.
to invest the fort of Champanir. It was a well-fortified
place and its commandant Ikhtiyar Khan was thoroughly
prepared for defence. Humayun discovered -that..at a
place sixty or: seventy yards high provisions were-
being' conveyed into the interior of the fort. As .this
part was very high, perpendicular and dangerous  he
thought that the garrison most probably did -not. think
it ‘tiecessary to guard it. He then ordered an attack on
all sides and at night he went to the place with, 600
men, and scaled the rock by driving spikes inte. it..
When thirty-nine men had reached the top Humayun,
-climbed: up, and by the dawn 300 men had entered - the
fort- unobserved. They rushed towards the gatey opened
it-to the troops standing outside, and in this -way. the
strong fortress fell into the hands of Humayun. Ikhtiyar.
Khan ‘surrendered and was received kindly (August 1535
AD). A vast amount of wealth with goods .and
stufts from all parts of the world so long accumulated
by the kings of Guzerat came ‘into the possession . of
the conquerors. So much money fell into the hands of
‘the Mughals that they did not ,care to collect the
“revenue of Guzernt, Collections . were therefore. ‘made
on behalf of Bahadur Shah' round Ahmadabad, .where
about 50,000 horse and foot soldiers gathered together for
the purpose. Humayun marched towards Abmadabad, leav-
itig Champanir in charge of Tardi Beg. - The " advanced
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party led by Mirza Askari dispersed the Guzeratis, and
about 2000 of their men were killed in battle. In ., re-
ward of his services Askari was granted the Jagir of
Ahmadabad and distributing the other places.among his
officers Humayun went to Burhanpur. and from there
to Mandu.

Bahadur Shah took up his posmon at. Nausari near
Surat, captured Broach and prepared himself to recon-
-quer his possessions. Mirza Askari .was a drunkard
and was careless in his administration. One of his
_followers went into the camp of DBahadur Shah, and
informed him about the factics of the Mughals. Mirza
Askari was advised by Amir Hindu Beg to read. the
Khutba in his own name. The report reached Humayun,
who now marched towards Agra lest the  capital might
fall into the hands of bis brother. Bahadur Shah ,on
the other hand recovered Ahmadabad and Champanir,
Muahammad Zaman Mirza who was the cause of the
hostility was asked by Bahadur Shah to leave his
‘territory when he was defeated. He attacked Labhore
when Kamran had proceeded to Kandahar, but on the
return of Humayun to Agra he went back to Guzerat.
Humayun’s long campaign thus proved a failure, What-
ever success he obtained was rendered futile by . the
action of his brother and generals. The forces of dis-
affection went on increasing and all his efforts proved
ineffective in restoring order and discipline,

Rise of Sher Shah. :

The most formidable opponent of . Humayuu way

Sher Shab. He was an Afghan belonging to the Sur
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family of Roh in the Suleman Mountains. His grand--
father Ibrahim Khan Sur came in the time ol “Sultan:
Bahlol Lodi who encouraged his tribesmen to settle .in-
- India in -order that they might be relieved from poverty
-and at the same time increase the fighting strength of
the Afghan kings of Hindustan. Ibrahim Khan Sur settled
in the Pergana of Bajwara in the Punjab. His father
Hasan Khan obtained a few villages in the Pergana of
Shahabad as a jagic from Masnad-i-Ali Umar Khan,
governor of Lahore. Sher Shah was born in Hisar-
Tirozah in about 1480 " A.D. and he was originally:
named Farid Khan. When a child he was given a
village in Pergana Shahabad by Masnad-i-Ali; On
the death of Ibrahim Khan Hasan Khan ‘succeeded to
his jagirin Pergana Narnaul under Jamal Khan of
Hisar-Fivozah, Sultan Sikandar Lodi after the conquest
-of Jaunpur bestowed that Subah - npon Jamal -Khan
who brought Hasan Khan with him, and granted - him
the perganas of Sahsaram, Hajipur and Tanda near
Benares as jagir in order that he might maintain 500
horsemen. Hasan Khan had eight sous, and he was
under the influence of a slave-girl who was the mother of
his two sons Salaiman and Ahmad. Farid was very badly
treated and annoyed with his father he went to Jaun-
pur where he received good education in Arabic, History
and Philosophy. His kinsmen were extremely - pleased
with the progress he made in his studies and persuaded
his father to entrust the administration of his two
perganas to Farid who showed his ability -in this work

in a remarkable manner, " He made good arrangements :
22
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for the collection of revenue, stamped out tyranny and
oppression, and promoted the prosperity of the peasan-
try. His father was pleased with his able administration,
but the mother of Sulaiman and Ahmad, to whom he
was passionately attached, made him give those perganas
to her sons. Tarid then went to seek his fortune in
Agra. There he entered the service of Daulat Khan, a
nobleman in the court of Sultan Ibrahim Lodi. On the
death of Hasan Khan Sultan Ibrahim granted Farid his
father’s jagir. His brothers sought the alliance of a
more powerful man named Mubammad Khan Sur.
After the battle of Panipat Farid entered the scrvice
of Bahar Khan, son of Darya Khan Lodi of Patna who
had assumed the title of Sultan Muhammad, Farid got
the title of Sher Khan from him by killing a tiger, and
wag appointed the deputy to his son Jalal Khan. Sher
Khan won his reputation as an able . officer throughout
the province. With the help of Sultan Junaid Birlas he
defeated his brothers Sulaiman and Ahmad and made
their ally Mubammad Khan Sur submit to him. When
he was relieved of all anxicties with regard to his jagir
he entered the service of Babar, and accompanied him
in his expedition to Chanderi He acquainted himself
with the military arrangements and mode of
government of the Mughals and character of the
Mughal nobles by his stay amongst them, [is
boldness attracted the attention of Babar who asked his
minister to keep an eye upon him. Sher Khan, appre-
hensive of danger in the Mughal camp, suddenly left the
army and returned to his jagir without leave, und then
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joined the service of Saltan Mubammad of Behar. '
Shortly afterwards the Sultan died, his son Jalal Khan
succeeded him, but he being very young his mother
Dudu acted as Regent while Sher Khan carried on
the administration. On the death of Dudu the burden
of government fell mainly upon Sher Khan. About this
time the king of Bengal invaded Bebar but was heavily
defeated. Sher Khan now became master of immense trea-
sures and many horses and elephants. He also inherited vast
property of Makhdum Alam, governor of Hajipur, who
was killed in action against the king of DBengal, The
Lohanis of Patna became jealous of him for not giving
them any share of the spoils, and formed a conspiracy
to kil him, It is . believed that Jalal Khan was
in sympathy with the conspirators. But the Lohanis
were divided amongst themselves, Jalal Khan then
went to Bengal with the Lohanis leaving Sher Khan
in charge of the government. This was the opportunity
for Sher Khan to strengthen his position, He increased
his army by enlisting the Afghans from all places, and
prepared to meet the king of Bengal, In an engage-
ment lasting over several months the Bengal general
Tbrahim Khan was killed, Jalal Khan then fled to the
king of Bengal, and henceforth Sher Khan became
master of the kingdom of :Behar. He engaged himself
in improving the condition of his people by his good
government.

He acquired tue fort of Chunar by marrying Lad
Malika the widow of Taj Khan Sarang-Khani vho was
placed in charge of the fort by Sultan Tbrahim Lodi.
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The marriage also brought him great wealth.
Sultan Mahmud tried to regain the throne of Delhi by
allying himself with Rana Sanga. But the bhattle of
Kanwa went against him. Mahmud fled with Sanga
to Chitor, and remained for some time in Guzerat.
The Afghan nobles then invited him to Patna, and mude
him the king. Sher Khan aceepted the arrangement
without opposition. Mahmud however vpromised that
when he. would oceupy Jaunpur the kingdom of Belar
would revert to Sher Khan. In his war with ITumaynn
Mahmud was not supported by Sher Khan and was
disastrously defeated near Lucknow. Most of the nobles
who stood by him were killed. He then retired to
Patna, and lived as a private man, shorn of royalty.
Humayun also desired to occupy the fort of Chunar,
but Sher Khan managed to keep it by sending his son
Kutb Khan as a hostage to the Emperor. When Hu-
mayun went to Guzerat Sher Khan utilised all the re-
sources for increasing his powers. He enlisted the
Afghans in his army and even forced mendicants to
become soldiers. The Afghans in the service of Babadur
Shah of Guzerat flocked to Sher Khan on the defeat of
their master. All these things were reported to Hu-
mayun when he returned to Agra. But the Emperor
did not take any immediate action. He sent Hindu
Beg to Jauopur to report nabout the cituation, Sher
Khan obtained his good-will by making rich prosents,
and influenced him to send a favourable report to the
Emperor. On the other hand he sent troops to conquer
Bengal. Its king Sultan Mahmud took his position
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in the city of Gaur. These circumstances made Hu-
mayun move on his eastern expedition.

Humayun's Eastern Expedition.

Humayun’s minister Khan-i-Khanan Yusuf Khail
advised him not to neglect Sher Khan. Accordingly the
Emperor marched towards Behar and Bengal in July
1537 AD. Chunar was an outpost in Sher Khan's
territory. There he left a strong garrison and removed
his family to the fortress of Bharkundu. That place
heing insufficient to hold the big family he overpowered
the Rajah of Rohtasgarh by treachery, and placed his
family there, Humayun first tried to capture Chunar
disregarding the advice of his minister to proceed
straight to Gaur. Chunar was very strongly fortified.
It could not be attacked from land, Rumi Khan, the
artillery expert, who was before in the service of Baha-
dur Shah directed the operations from water by erecting
a battery on the boats. When further resistance be~
came impossible the garrison surrendered. Many men
had already escaped by boats. We are told that the
hands of 300 gunners of the fort were cut off By
that time Sher Khan had conquered Gaur. Rohtas
was out of the way and Sher Khan strengthened his
position there. Humayun proceeded along the Ganges
towards Behar and Bengal. In reply to a - message to
him Sher Khan said that he would gurrender Behar if
he was allowed undisputed sway over Bengal But a
few days afterwards Sultan Mahmﬁd of DBengal rep're—
sented that although Gaur had fallen iato the hands of
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Sher Khan, the greater portion of the country was in
his possession, and urged the Emperor to expel him
from Behar. Accordingly the‘ imperial forces marched
towards Gaur. They were opposed at Garhi, between
the hills and the Ganges near Raj Mahal. But Sher
Khan’s troops were defeated, and he then turned oft
to Rohtas, whilst Humayun proceeded to Gaur (1538-39
AD) There he was happy in the pleasant climate of
Bengal and abandoned himself to pleasure and dissipa-
tion for three months. He changed the name of Gaur
to Jannatabad.

His stay in Bengal proved disastrous. His horses
died in large numbers in the moist climate, the rains
also were very unbealthy for the soldiers, besides his
provisions ran short. Taking advantage of the absence
of Humayun, Mirza Hindal was advised by his friends
to defy the Emperor and to set himself up on the throne,
He had killed Shaikh Bahlo], a saintly man whom Humayun
held in great respect. Mirza Kamran also came from
Kabul to Lahore and both Hindal and Kamrau proceeded
towards Delhi. The news of the rebellion of Hindal had
upset Humayun. He now made up his mind to return
to Agra. Uat Sher Khan in the meantime had occupiced
Benares, Munghyr, Jaunpur, and the country up to
Kanauj and Sambhal. Mirza Hindal failing to ocenpy
Delhi joined Kamran, and both of them marched to-
wards Agra, and near that city Hindal turned off towards
Alwar. But Muhammad Zaman Mirza who was in
hiding in Guzerat now came to the Emperor, and was
kindly reccived. Humayun marched towards Rolitus
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where Sher Khan had concentrated all his forces. Sher
Khan sent a message to the Emperor that he would
become his vassal if he were granted the kingdom of
Bengal. To this Humayun agreed. The two armies had
encamped on the same side of the Ganges and between
them ran a small stream called Chausa near Buxar.
According to the terms of the stipulation Sher Khan
did not oppose. the imperial troops in crossing the stream
and retreated a few stages, When Humayun had reached
the banks of the Ganges, he built a bridge to eross the
river. But suddenly Sher Khan turned back, and scatte-
red the Mughals before they could prepare themselves
to fight. The bridge had been previously broken, and
the Afghan soldiers guarded the Ganges on boats. A
large number of Mughal troops perished in trying to
escape. Mubhammad Zaman Mirza died while crossing
the river. Humayun was saved by a water-carrier, and
then he anyhow managed to run to Agra with a few
horsemen. In confusion he left his family, and after
sometime Sher Kban sent all the Mughal families to .
Agra. This disaster overtook Humayun in June 153%
A. D. After this vietory Sher Khan assumed the name
of Sher Shah, with the additional title of Shah Alam.
On an auspicious day he ascended the throne and order-
«d letters of victory to be written in the form of firmons.
At Agra Humayun tried to recover his position b) win-
ning back his brothers.
he Battle of the Ganges.

Sher Shah now prepared himself to oceupy the throne

of Delhi. He killed Jahangir Kuli who had been placed
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in charge of Bengal by Huomayun, and occupied the
province. He sent messengers to the chiefs of Guzerat
and Mandu requesting them to acecompany his son in
devastating the country about Agra and Delhi, Sher
Shah himself marched towards Kanauj, and sent his son
Kutb Kban tawards Mande. Humayuu sent his brothers
Hindal and Askari towards Chanderi. They defeated
Kutb Khan pear Kalpi and had him slain. The chief
of Mandu did not render him any assistance which he
promised. The victory reassured the Mughals. Iis
brothers however did not cooperate with him whole-
heartedly. Kamran retired to Lahore with the major
portion of his troops, leaving only 1000 men at Agra,
some of whom later on fled to Lahore. Muhammad
Sultan Mirza deserted the Emperor and went to Sher
Shah., This demoralised the Mughals, and many contem-
plated desertion. Humayun came with about 100.000
troops to Kanauj. and the two armies lay encamped on
the two opposite banks of the Ganges for about a month
(April 1540 A. D.) The Afghan army numbered about 50.1 60.
After preparing a bridge Humayun esed the river
when Sher Shah retired a short distance. The imperial
army having settled on the other side Sher Shah marched
in battle array. He himsclf took his position in the
centre, his son Jalal Khan on the right and Adil Khan
on the left, other able officers were distributed among
the different divisions. Khwas Khan broke the Emperor’s
forces, but Sher Shah’s right was defeated. The centre
and the left however pressed on. “But before an arrow
was discharped” says Haidar Mirza “the camp followers
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fled like chaff before the wind, and breaking the lines:
they all pressed towards the centre, the Ghulams whom
the commanders had sent to the front rushed to the
line of chariots, and the whole array was broken, the
Mir was separated from the men, and the men from the-
Mir, while the centre was then thrown into disorder, alli
the fugitives from the rigl‘it bore down upon it. So before-
the enemy had discharged an arrow; the whole army was.
scattered and defeated.” In this battle not a man was.
wounded and not a gun was fired Humayun fled on
horseback but while crossing the Ganges he was separat—
ed from his horse, and reached land with the help of a,
few attendants. His vast army had wmelted away. Many
illustrious nobles perished in the river, Out of Humayun’s-
100,000 retainers only eight survived. His brothers.
Hindal and Askari joined him and they all now proceed--
ed to Agra. The battle of the Ganges in which the
fate of Hymayun and the Mughal Empire was decided.
took place on the 17th May, 1540 A. D. Sher Shah
gave clear evidence of organising ability by which he-
brought the Afghans together, and expelled the Mughals.
from Hindustan.

Humayun in Exile,

Humayun’s position was not safe in Agra. On the-
approach of the énemy he fled to Lahore. A conference-
was held there to bring about a re-unjon of the Mughals..
Haidar Mirza suggested that the Mughals should occupy
the hills and Kashmir. But the general opinion was not
in favour of the proposal. When Sher Shah reached.
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the banks of the Beas in pursuit of the Emperor
Kamran fled to Kabul. Haidar Mirza was allowed to ro
‘to Kashmir, while Humayun took his course in the
direction of Multan, He was accompanied by Hindal
Mirza and Yadgar Nasir Mirza with a view to occupy
“Tatta and Bakhar, They failed to carry out their plan,
and then Hindal went to Kandahar, and later on he
entered the service of Kamran. Yadgar Nasir Mirza
-also  joined Kamran. Humayun desired to conquer
‘Guzerat with the help of Shah Husain Arghun of Tatta,
‘but  the latter carried fruitless negotiations for six
months. On account of scarcity at Bakhar Humayun
went to Patar where Hindal had pitched his camp. In the
.camp of Hindal Homayun warried Maryame-i-hokani
Hamida Banu Begum, who became the mother of Akbar.
"Shortly afterwards Hindal went to Kandahar. While
Humayun besieged the fort of Sihwan he was surroun-
-ded by Shah Husain Arghun. Mirza Yadgar Nasir was
won over by Shab Husain. Humayun’s supplies were
cut oft, and after seven mouths he retreated towards
Bakhar, On the approach of the Emperor Mirza
Yadgar Nasir in fear and shame attacked the army of
‘Shah Husain, and thereby obtained pardon from Huma-
yun. But again he proved faithless, and went over to
"Shah Husain, and many others followqd him. . Deserted
by his own men Humayun sought the protection of
Maldeo, a powerful zaminder of Hindustan, He pro-
«ceeded by way of Jesalmir, Bikanir and Jodhpur.
Malden did not possess sufficient strength to oppose
Sher Shah. He agreed to make over Ifumayun to his
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enemny in expectation of rewards. Suspecting treachery
Humayun fled to Amarkot with great difficulty. He
had with him only 22 persons when he was encountend
by Maldeo’s troops. But his men with great bravery turned
the enemy away. After a tedious journey for days to-
gether through the desert Humayun reached Amarkot.
“The Rana of the place was hostile towards Shah Husain
Arghun, so he collected a large army, and went with
Humayun against him. Humayun’s family remained at
Amarkot where his son Akbar was born on the 15th
October 1542 A. D. (but according to the calculation
of V. A. Smith Novewmber 23). The news of the birth
of the son reached Humayun when he was about twelve
kos from Amarkot. The expedition against Shah Husain
Arghun did not prove very successful. After receiving
a defeat in his hands the soldiers began to desert the
lnckless Emperor. Humayun then thought of going to
Kandahar (July 1543 A. D.) About this time he was
joined by Bairam Khan. After the battle at Kanauj this
-nobleman  had  several  adventures. When he
-was with Raja Mitra Sen at Lakhnor Sher Shah
«demanded his swrender. He was for some time '
‘with Sher Shah, and then effected his escape at Bar-
hampur. After spending some time in Guzerat he came
through Snrat and Kathiwar to Humayun in Sind, On
his way to Kandahar Humayun was overtaken by
Mirza Askari near Mastang, and leaving his infant son
he fled towards Persia. Askari carried the infant
prince to Kandahar, where he was nursed by his
wife Sultan Begam, Humayun then proceeded with a
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few followers to Persia by way of Seistan and Herat.
Shah Tahmasp received him kindly. .

Administration ‘of Sher Shah (1540-45 A.D.)

Sher Shah restored the Afghan rale in Hindustan.
The Emperor left his capital in dread of his opponent.
Sher Shah reduced the country round abont Delhi, and
entrusted the government of Sambhal, where the spirit
of rebellion was very strong, to Masnad AN Isa
Khan, Bairam Khun, the keeper of the seals of Emperor
Humayun, fell into the hands of Isa Khan at Sambhal.
He was taken to Mandu when that place was invaded.
by Sher Shah. On the withdrawal of the Mughals
from the Punjab he subjugated the Gakkars, and built
a fortress on the Kabul road, which he called after
the fortress of Rohtas in Behar. He wus very kind to
the men of his own tribe. His great triumph brought
to India the chicfs of every tribe and family of Roh,
whom he adequately rewarded Among the visitors
was Shaikh Bayazid, the grand-father of Abbas Khan,
author of Tarikh-i-Sher Shahi. His attention was then.
drawn to the affairs of Bengal, where IKhize Khan Bairak
had married the davghter of Sultan Mahmud, and
seated himself on the ‘Toki’. Sher Shah punished him
for his impudence, divided Bengal into different pro--
vinces, and returned to Agra after appointing a new
mavager. On his arrival at Agra he received the happy
pews that Muhammad Kasim had agreced to  surrender
the fort of Gwalior. There were a number of inde-
pendent rulers in central India whom Sher  Shah now
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marched to crush. Mallu Khan held the forts of Man-
du, Ujjain, Saraugpur, and Rantambhor ; Sikandar
Khan ruled Sewas and Hindia, Bhai Puran Mal
governed Chanderi and Raisin on  behalf of Raja
Partab Shab, grandson of Salahud-din ; and Bhopal
was the independent ruler of Bijagarh and Tamba, All
these rulers lacked the courage to stand against the
formidable army of Sher Shah, and submitted withont
any resistance, Mallu Khan later on fled to -Guzerat.
After subjugating these countries and distributing the
territories among his own nobles, Sher Shah returned
to Agra. In the meantime - Nasic Khan, brother of
Sikandar Khan made au atterupt to rescue his brother.
He was opposed by Shuja-ut-Khan, the governor of the
provinces appointed by Sher Shah, and in the battle
at Nilgarh was severly defeated. Shuja-at-Khan main-
tained his posi.ion although he reccived serious wounds.
Mallu Khan’s endeavour to recover Mandu also failed..
Bhai Puran Mal who made his nominal submission
was still very powerful in Raisin, He treated the
Musalmans harshly, and wade their daughters dancing
girls. Sher Shah proceeded from Agra in rapid marches
to Raisin, His son Jalal Khan who was sent in ad-
vance joined him at DBhilsa. After a siege of six
months the fort was battered, and Puren Mal surren~
dered on coodition that he would receivé no . injury in
property or person. ' But on the complaint of the ag-
grieved Musalman women Sher Shah . cosulted the
Ulema who gave their opinion that Puran Mal should
be executed. In violation of his - promise Sher - Shal
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attacked Puran Mal’s camp. The Rajputs killed their
women, while they themselves were slanghtered by the
Afghans. “Puran Mal aud his companions” says Abbas
Khan, “like dogs at bay failed not to eshibit valour and
gallantry but in the twinkling of an eye all were slain,
such of their wives and families as were not shin cap-
tared. One daughter of Puran Mal and three sous of his
elder brother were taken alive, the rest were all killed.
Sher Khan gave the daughter of Puran Mal to  some
itinerant minstrels, that they might make her dance
in the bazars, and ordered the boys to be castrated,
that the race of the oppressor might not inerease”
Sher Shah committed this atrocious perfidy without
any sufficient reason Elphinstone says “there is no
action so atrocious in the history of any Mahometan
prince of India except Tamerlane”

When Sher Shah was engaged in Raisin the Beluchis
and the Jats carried on depradation in the Punjab. He
appointed Haibat Khan governor of the provinee, who
succeeded in~ driving away the raiders, and recovered
Multan from the hands of the Beluchis. -

The Hindu chiefs tried to revive their civilization
during the period of the decline of the Moslem  power.
They had built new temples, and became very powerful
from Malwa to Delhi. Maldec of Jodbpur was their
most prominent leader. In the winter of 1543 AD.
Sher Shah marched towards Nagor, Ajmir and Jodhpur
with a vast army. The Rajputs on their part were not
unprepared. But Sher Shah placed a forged lotter in
Maldeo’s hand in which his nobles wrote to Sher Shah
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that they would capture Maldeo and hand him over
to him. Maldeo suspecting treachery fled from the-
field without fizhting. Bat some of his chieftains.
specially Jaya Chandel and Goha offered stout resis-
tance to the Afghans. The fame of Jaya and Goha's.
valour and gallantry made Sher Shah exclaim “I had
nearly given the kingdom of Delli for 2 millet (bajra)
seed,” They were slain by Khwas Khan. Then Nagor,.
Ajmir, Jodhpur and the districts of Marwar fell into-
the hands of Sher Shah. From Marwar he proceeded
to Chitor, and leaving some of his officers there he
went  towards Kachwara, and thence to Kalinjar-
Sher Shah had heard of the great beauty of a Patar
dancing girl in the posscssion of Raja Kirat Singh.
‘The cause of the attack upon Kalinjar was to get the
girl. According to Ahmad Yadear the Raja did not
surrender  Birsingdeo Bundela  who had fled to-
his court, and therefore Sher Shah came to capture:
the fort. He raised mounds higher than the walls of -
the fort all around it, and in the course of the opera--
tions he was wounded by the explosion of a shell and.
died the next day, 10th Rabi-ul-Awwal, 952 AD. (May
1545 AJD.). Before his death he received the news of
the. victory and fall of the fort.

Sher Shah’s Method of Government.

Sher 8hah ruled Hindustan only for five years. In.
this brief period he improved every department of the
Government. The empire was . thoroughly consolidated,
and he made his influence felt even in the remotest
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~corners. He suppressed anarchy and lawlessness with
stern severity and made the people happy and pros-
perous. He compiled laws from the works of the
learned, as well as from his own scuse of justice “for
securing relief from tyranny, and for the repression of
crime and villany, for maintaining the prosperity of his
realms, the rafety of the highways, and the comfort of
merchants and troops,” An able general and sound
administrator he was always watchful of the intcrests
-of his people. He personally attended to every business
.and he had informers throughout the empire to watch
-and report about the conduct of his officers. He is
remembered even now as a pioncer in the method of
revenue collection. Land was measured every harvest,
and revenue assessed according to the crops, the culti-
vator recciving one share, and half a share the JMukad-
-dam. Care was taken that the Amil did not oppress
the cultivator. In every pergana he appointed an Amil,
a Shikdar, a Korkun to write Hindi, aud another to
write Persian, and to supervise their work there were a
chief Shikdar and a chief Munsiff in cevery Sarkar.
The Amils and district officers were changed every
.gecond year so that every body wight have an oppor-
tunity of enjoying the preferences. Before him there
was only a Kanungo in every pergana who gave in-
formation regarding the past and present and a pro-
bable estimate of the future. But there was no  wyste-
matic method of assessment or collection of revenue
. Sher Shah laid the foundation of the structure which
was completed by Raja Todar Mal, and which was
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continued by the Mughal rulers, and later on adépfed
by the British Government. His *empire consisted of
113,000 villages and he appointed " a Shikdar to each
‘Pergana. We are told ' by Abbas ‘Khan * that ‘every
" village was ‘prosperous and tranqml and ‘there was
not one place which was contumacions or 'desolated: the
“whole country was settled and happy ; corn was ‘c;héhp,
nor during his time was there anyWhere scarclty ‘or
famine. '
He divided the empire into manageable parts, and
appointed a competent governor in’every part. Garri-
sons were placed in places where he “thought necessary.
He had a big army. He had always about him 150,000
horse and 25,000 foot men, armed with matchlocks ' or
bows. His *governor in the Panjab had 30,000
horsemen in and about the' fort of Rohtas.' The officers
were granted  jagirs - for - maintaining “horse ‘dnd
‘troops.  With the help of *these * armed' men' 'robbery,
lawlessness and brigandage were - stppressed. He built
a strong fort at Rohtas in the Punjab, and another ' in
Patna, and had the intention of building forts 'in every
- strategic points He pulled down the old city of Kanauj
.and built a fort there, Roads were protected  from
thieves and robbers by strict regulations, The ' Mukad-
dams were held responsible for thefts within their own
limits. They had to produce the thieves or to pay up
the 1oss. Travellers and 'merchants were specially taken
-care of. Customs duties were levied'at only two places
viz. it Gharri on goods from Bengal, and at the fron-
- tier on ‘goods imported from Khurasan, A duty was
23
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levied at the place of sale and no other levy was
permitted. Officials had to buy the goods at the usual
bazar rates and prices.

Sher Shah will always be remembered for his works
of public utilities. He constructed a number of big
roads from one part of the empire to another; the
most important was the Grand Trunk Road from Sonar-
gaon in Bengal to the Punjab, another was from Agra
to Burhanpur, a third from Agra to Jodhpur and
- Chitor, and a fourth from Lahore to Multan. For the
convenience of travellers he built Serais at a distance-
of every two kos, where he made separate lodgings for
Hindus and Musalmans, and all convenience was provided,
including water, food and fodder for horses. There were
wells and Musjids attached to the serais, and villages
were established round them. Two horses were kept in
every seral for carrying news., We are told that there
were no less than 100 serais and 3400 horses employ-
ed for the purpose. The roads were shaded by trees
on both sides. He rebuilt the city of Delhi on the
bonks of the Jumna, destroyed the fort of Ala-ud-Din
in Siri, and gave the name of Shergarh to the new fort,
which however he did not live to complete. He gave
strict orders to his army not to do any ivjury to culti-
vation. When he entered any enemy’s country he never
destroyed the cultivation of the people, or enslave or
plunder the peasantry. He used to say: For the cul-
tivators are blameless, they submit to those in power:
and if I oppress them they will abandon their villages,
and the country will be ruined and deserted, and it
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will be a long time before it again becomes prosperous,
On account of this semse of justice he mever lacked
supplies. He was very generous and benevolent, No
poor and needy man returned disappointed from him.
He had an extensive kitchen: whoever came there
received food The daily cost of these meals was 500
Ashrafis (gold coing). He granted lands to Imams and
religious men and gave them regular stipends. He was
very kind to his own people of Afghanistan, He sent
an annual stipend in money to his own fribe and family
of Sur. To the Afghans receiving money he used to
say: “This is your share of the kingdom of Hind,
which has fallen into my hands, this is assigned to you,
come every year to receive it.”

. Sher Shah was not born in a royal family. He was
the son of a poor adventurer, and rose to eminence by
dint of merit. He thoroughly mastered the art of
government, and knew the people very intimately. Al-
though he was not very friendly to the Hindu rulers
everybody appreciated his wise method. He gathered
together the hardy Pathans, and organized them into
one strong body. He was always active, and did not
know what was sloth and indolence. He ruled only for
a short period, but by his masterly services he succeed-
ed within that short time to restore peace and order in
the land. ‘Such a shadow spread over the world, that
a decrepit person feared not a Rustam, went the old
saying.

Successors of Sher Shah.
Five days after the death of Sher Shah his youngest
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son Jalal Kban reached Kalinjar and was raised to the
throne on the 25th May, 1545 A. D, when he assumed
the title of Islam Shah. His elder brother Adil Khan
was then at Rantambhor. So long as his brother was
in a position to press his claims to the throne he did
not feel himself safe. Moreover his regulations on
assuming authority aliepated a Jarge number of nobles.
Jo order to remove his brother from his way Islam
Shah wrote a letter to Adil Khan asking him to come
to Agra and to take over the reins of government from
him. Four old trustworthy nobles uf their father were
sent to him to assure him safety, The brothers met at
the village of Sangarpur between Agra and Fathepur-
Sikri, but the plan of Islam Shah failed there on account
of the attitude of his brother’s followers, Adil was
given the jagir of Biyana, but two months after this
a man was sent with a golden chain to bring Adil
bound in it. Adil revolted, and marched towards Agra
with some nobles. A battle took place in the vicinity
of Agra, in which Adil was defeated, and then he fled
to the hills. In another engagement Islam Shah was
defeated by Khawas Khan the principal noble of Sher
-Shah, who however could not continue the war and
took his refuge io the Kumaun hills, Henceforth
Islam Shah followed the policy of suppressing the old

nobles.

Some of the nobles fled to the Punjab, and instigated
Azam Humayun Niazi, the governor of the province to
rebel. A fight took place near Ambala, the Niazis were
defeated, and a large number of their troops were



THE PERIOD OF TRANSITION 350

slanghtered. The people were not satisfied with Islam
Shah. His life was in danger when he was proceeding
to inspect the fort of Mankot. He was wounded by a
man in the way but was saved by Daulat Khan Ujiala
oo whom he bestowed great favours, Islam Shah now
took strong measures to scatter the Niazis. -

A great religious movement took place in this reign.
There was a Darvesh called Shaikh Alai. He was a
saintly man, and a disciple of Miyan Abdulla Niyazi.
The poor used to receive his greatest care. He was
also greatly versed in the sacred books. He had a Jarge
namber of followers. They were all armed, and punish-
ed those who committed any irreligious or forbidden action.
He called himself the Mahdi, and did not care for the
king or governor. On the advice of Miyan Abdulla he
went towards Guzerat, with six or seven hundred
families. Khawas Khan, governor of Jodhpur received
him well, but the Shaikh disapproved of his social acti-
vities and pastimes. He returned to Biyana from the .
way. Islam Shah summoned him to Agra, and asked
him to renounce the claims to Mabdiship which the
Shaikh refused to do. Then he was banished to the
south where he found his shelter at Hindiya. Later on
he was sent to Shaikh Budh of Patna, who however did
not like to give his decision, and sent him back to
Islam Shah. Islam Shah was then in the Punjab engaged
in the coustruction of the fort of Mankot. He received
Shaik Alai at the camp of Bin Ban, and again request-
ed him to abandon his claims to Mahdiship. But the
Shaikh failing to comply with the request was ordered
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to be lashed in his presence. He was already very
weak, and had a wound on the neck due to a previous
attack of a pestilence. He could not survive the severe
punishment. ‘At the third lash his lofty soul quitted
its humble frame’, (Al-Badaoni) 1550 A. D. The
event was considered very unfortunate, and since then
Islam Shab’s powers declined. The next year Khawas
Khan was treacherously murdered. The nobles felt so
seriously the humiliating position under Islam Shah that
they favoured a rebellion in favour of Mubariz Khan.
On the report of the advance of Humayun he marched
towards the Punjab with a huge army, but fortunately
Humayun went back that time. Islam Shah then
returned to Gwalior which he made his capital. There
he died in 961 A. H. (1554 A. D) The same year also
died Sultan Mahmud of Guzerat, and Nizam-ul-Mulk
of the Deccan.

His son, a boy of twelve, was raised to the
throne under the title of Firoz Shah. It was unot
the time for a child to sit on the throne. His
own maternal uncle, Mubariz Khan, cut off his head
in the presence of his mother, and ascended the
throne as Sultan Muhsmad Adil, generally called
Adili and by some Andhli or blind He was a man of
loose habits, fond of pleasure and music and not com-
petent to rule. The nobles hated him, and there were
rebellions in almost every province. His orders to
transfer the Sarkar of Kanauj from Shah Muhammad
Farmuli was strongly resisted, but both Shah Mubammad
and his son Sikandar fell in the battle, Taj Khan
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Karrani fled to Bengal. On his way he stirred up rebel-
lion and gathered some cash and valuables. Taj Khan
joined his brothers in Bengal. He was pursued by
Adil upto Chunar. There a battle was fought in which
the Karranis were defeated. While at Chunar Ibrahim
Khan Sur ( son of Ghazi Kban Sur, a cousin of Sher
Shah ) who had married a sister of Adil, fearing foul
play revolted against hini. His father. held the jagir
of Biyana and Hiodun. He went in the direction of
his father’s jagir, and defeated the troops of Adil near
~ Kalpi, and later on many other nobles on whom Adil
counted joined him. Ibrahim was declared Sultan at
Agra. In these circumstances Adil left Gwalior and
went back to Chunar.” Shortly after this Ahmad Khan
Sur, whom Ahmad Yadgar calls Maosur Khan, with the
help of the nobles in the Punjab, declared himself
‘Sultan under the title of Sikandar Sur. He defeated
Torabim Khan at Farah ten Kros from Agra. The
empire was now. divided among three men. Adil Shah
ruled the country from Agra to Malwa in the south, and
Jaunpur in the east, Sikandar establised his authority
from Delbi to Rohtas on the Kabul road, while Ibrahim
reigned over the middle portion from the hills to
Guzerat with Agra as centre. The division of the
empire and the dissensions among the nobles emboldened
Humayun to undertake an expedition to reconquer
Hindustan, Adil transferred the responsibilities of
administration into the hands of Himu, who was origi-
nally a shopkeecper and won the confidence of the
Bultan by many loyal services, He had defeated Junaid
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Khan of Biyana, and for this service obtained great
honours. But the promotion of this man of low origin
created great . heart-burning among the nobles and they
refused to help Adil. The country was about this time
visited by a severe famine. The provinces of Agra,
Biyana and Delhi were reduced to great distress, The
same year the fort of Agra was burnt by au accident.
These circumstances made the position of Hindustan:
very ingecure,
Humayun comes back

After his flight from India Humayun went to .
Persia. Shah Tahmasp received him with great respect.
He was annoyed when he heard that the misfortunes of
the Emperor were due to the faithlessness of bis brothers.-
But for the kind intervention of the Shah’s sister-
Humayun would have been murdered in Persia. The Shah-
assisted Humayun with 10,000 troops when he intended
to return to Kandahar. The Shab’s son Shah Murad
was appointed commander of the forces, The siege of
Kandahar lasted about - three months. The Persians
lost heart in the undertaking and were contemplativg
to return when some of the Chagatai nobles deserted.
Kamran and came over to Humayun, Then Mirza
Askari surrendered ( 1545 A. D. ). According to the
terms of stipulation Kandahar was made over to Mirza
Murad who remained there with a few attemdants. DBut
there was no place for the Chagatai followers of
Humayun to spend the winter, Murad’s tutor Bidagh
Khan did not agree to give them any quarters. The-
Chagatais resolved to take Kandahar as a nceessity
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when Prince Murad died, and the Persians were over-
powered. Kandshar fell into the hauds of the Chaga--
tais. Shortly after this Homayun marched "towands:
Kabul. Kamran was deserted by the Mirzas and
nobles. When he found his position untenable Kamran
fled towards Ghazni at night, and the people of Kabul
received Humayun with great rejoicing. Prince Akbar-
then a child of four years two months and five days-
was brought to him. Kamran was refused admission-
into the city of Ghazni, he then turned to Hazara where
also he conld not receive any shelter. Shah Husain
Arghun of Sind espoused his cause, and gave his dangh-
ter in marriage to him. Humayun invaded Badakhshan-
next year, defeated its ruler Mirza Sulaiman and pro--
ceeded to Talikan and Kisham where he fell danger--
ously ill. The report of his illness produced disturbance-
in all parts. Mirza Askari bad to be kept in confinement.
But Kamran marched from Sind towards Kabul, and
took the city by a surprise attack. On receiving the -
news of the fall of Kabul Humayun started for Kabul
leaving Badakhshan and Kundoz in charge of Mirza
Sulaiman. His passage was obstructed by some officers
of Kamran. The brothers fought stubbornly wear Kabul.
Kamran was in possession of the fort. But some of
bis nobles deserted him, and he could not obtain the
horses from outside which he expected. In a state of
desparation he ordered the child Akbar to be exposed
upon the battlements where the attack was most vigor—
ous. The child was saved by the gallantry of the nurse
Maham Anka who kept him towards the garrison..
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Kamran however managed to escape and his troops
were scattered in all directions. He met Sher Ali, one
of his old adherents and collected some troops in
Zuhak and Bamian. He then overthrew Mirza DBeg
Birlas, the governor of Ghor and marched upon Balkh,
With the help of Pir Mohammad of Balkh he tried to
-conquer Badakhshan, Mirza Sulaiman had no power to
-oppose him. Humayun had to face a conspiracy of
the nobles at Kabul, who wanted the death of his
trusted Wazir Khwaja Ghazi. His refusal to accede to
this request led to the defection of these nobles to
Kamran. They carcied away the royal flocks towards
Badakbshan. Humayun marched in pursuit of these
-conspirators who had already joined Kamran. Mirza
"Hindal who had been fighting on behalf of Humayun
‘was defeated by Karracha Khan at Talikan. But
Humayun reached the place shortly and he was also
‘joined by Mirza Sulaiman. Failing to obtain belp from
the Uzbegs Kamran submitted, and asked permission to
-go to Mecca. Humayun out of his natural kindoess
forgave his brother and granted him the country of
Kolab { August 1548 A. D. ) Mirza Ackari was released
and all the fonr brothers met in the midst of great
-rejoicings. But when Humayun marched against Balkh
next year Kamran and Askari did not join him.
‘Homayun pressed on towards Balkh and with great
energy carried on the operations against the Utbegs.
When they had gone near the city the nobles advized him
to fall back, for fear of Kamran attacking Kabul. The
-retreat proved disastrouz. Humayun, Hindal and other
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aobles had to fight all the way back to Kabul ( 1550
A.D.). Kamran could not resist the attack of Mirza
Sulaiman and Mirza Tbrahim and retreated to Rostak.
On the way he was robbed of all his baggage by the
Uzbegs. When he was proceeding to Hazara in a
helpless condition some old nobles of Humayun betrayed
the Emperor and went over to Kamrao. At the battle
of Kipchak Humayun was wounded, and he once more
lost the empire, and Kamran became the master of
Kabul. Humayun had only eleven attendants left to
him. He then proceeded towards Badakhshan. On the
way some more attendants deserted him, but at Andarab
he was joined by Sulaiman Mirza, Ibrahim Mirza and
Hindal Mirza with their troops. After a stay of forty
days at that place Humayun marched to re-occupy Kabul,
Kamran was defeated in the mountains, and then he
fled to Mandrud. ( 1551 A. D. ). The Emperor enjoyed
rest at Kabul for a year. Kamran had in the mean-
rtime collected sufficient troops and with the help of the -
Afghans of Mohmand and the chiefs of Lamghan
harassed Humayun, and at the same time Haji Muham-
mad Khan rebelled at Ghazni. In an engngement
:against Kamran and the Afghans, Hindal was killed.
But the Chagatais pressed on, and the Afghans could no
more protect Kamran. He went to Hindustan to seek
help from Islam Shah. Humayun recouping his strength
in Kabul crossed the Indus, Kamran received no encour-
-agement from Islam Shah, and was then betrayed by
Sultan Adam Gakkar to whom he had resorted for protection.
Although Humayun was willing to. forgive the Chagatai



362 MEDIEVAL INDIA

chiefs strongly represented that Kamran would ecreate
further mischief if let off. Then the order to blind him
was given. Afterwards Kamran went on a pilgrimage
to Mecca where be died in 1557 A. D. Humayun pro-
ceeded as far as Robtas, then turned towards Kashmir,
But as a campaign into that region was not thought
advisable he returned to Kabul after rebuilding the
fort. of Peshawar.

In the meantime Islam Shah died and dissensions
arose among the Afghans.  Humayun thought - the
circamstances favourable to his plans. He started from
Kabul with 15,000 horse in January 1555 A. D. Bairam
" Khan came from Kandahar and joined him at Peshawar.
The fort of Rohtas was occupied without opposition. The
Afghans of Lahore fled on their approach and within
a short time the districts of the Pupjab, Sirhind and
Hissar acknowledged his authority. In a small engage-
ment near Dipalpur the Afghans were defeated. Sikan-
dar Sur sent 30,000 men to cut off the advance parties
of the Mughals in Sirhind. In a battle beyond Jalan-
dhar the Afghans were destroyed by the fire from the
Muoghal army. Sikandar then came out with 50,000
horsemen but could not stand against the Mughal
attack. He fled, and the honour of the victory
went to Prince Akbar. The Mughals then marched
upon Delbi. Humayua once again eatered the capital.
Shah Abul Ma-ali was sent towards the Siwalik hills
whither Sikandar Sur had fled. Dut as he became very
troublesome to the nobles he was superseded by I'rince
Akbar and Bairam Kban. Ali Kuli Khan suppressed the
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Tising in the Doab and Sambhal, and killed the leader of the
rebels, named Kambar Diwana. So the country round
Delhi and Agra came into his possession. But within six
months of his restoration - to the throne he left this
world in tragic circumstances. On the 16th January,
1556 his feet slinped from the steps of the library at
Delbi at the time of the evening prayer, and he did not
afterwards recover consciousiess. After eight days he
passed away ( 24th January, 1556 A D) at the age of
fifty-one, i .
He was a prince of uncommon ability. “His angelic
" character was adorned” says Nizamu-d Din Abmad, -
“with every manly virtue, and in courage and heroism
he excelled all the princes of the time. All the tealth
of Hindustan wonld not have sufficed to maintain his
generosity. In the sciences of Astrology and Mathe-
matics he was uorivalled He made good verses and
all the learved aud great and good of the time were.
admitted to his society and passed the night in his
company.” His kindness was unbounded. Iuspite of
repeated offences and rebellions Kamran was formiven
several times. He however lacked resolation, and was
a victim of opium. His life was a long series of
struggles. Like his father he was constantly bufieted
by fortune, and when victory came to him he could not
enjoy it long.  His body lies buried underneath that
structure where he bad his fatal fall.
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CHAPTER IIL

Emperor Akbar.
( 1556-1605 A.D.)

Early Struggles.

The news of the melancholy event of Humayun’s:
death reached young Akbar in the Pergana of Kala--
paur, where he was engaged in his operations against
Sikandar Sur. Bairam Khan, with the consent of the-
nobles and officers, set up the young prince on the:
throne on Friday, the l4th February, 1556 A.D. For the-
purpose of the coronation a brick platform was built
in a garden at Kalanaur, and the ceremony was per--
formed with due pomp and solemnity, Dairam
Khan took the position of the Khan-i-Khanan, and
managed the business of the empire with great ability..
The ewpire was not yet securely placed in the hands
of the Chagatai Princes. There were still strong
Afghan claimants to the throne in the field. Sikandar
Sur was holding out in the Siwalik Hills, Adali main-
tained his position at Chunar, and was being strongly
supported by his minister Himn. The third claimant
Ibrahim Sur had already been defeated by Himn,
and was besieged at the fort of Biyana, in the jagir
of his father, for three months. Meanwhile
Sikandar Khan, ruler of Bengal rcbelled against Adali,
and marched towards Jaunpur, Kalpi and Agrn..
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Himu was recalled by Adali to effectively erush the
rebellion. The Bengal troops were defeated at Chap-
parghat, fifteen kos from Agra.  Adali then went back
to Chunar, and despatched Himu against Humasun.
Tbrahim Sur was for some time supported by Raja
Ramchand of Bhatti, and then was invited by an Afghan
tribe of Raisin, called the Mianas, to be their ruler,
with the help of Rani Durgavati of Garha. Bot Baz
Bahadur, the king of Malwa persuaded the Rani to
give up hiz cause and ITbrahim then fled to Orissa where
he was treacherously killed by Sulaiman Kirani in 1357-63
AD. Himu however was the greatest oppooent of
Akbar. He drove Sikandar Khan Uzbeg, the Governor
of Agra, and marched wpon Delhi. Tardi Deg Khan,
who was in charge of the city falling to resist his
attack fled towards Sirhind. Akbar was then in bhis
-camp at Jalandhar busy in organising defence agminst
Sikandar Sur. Assoon as he heard of the disaster
in Delhi be entrusted the operaton to Khwaja Khirr
Ehan, and himself marched towards Delhi At Sirhind
he met Tardi Beg Khan, and the defeated nobles.
There Tardi Beg Khan was executed by Bairam Khan
on the charge of treachery. Abul Farl suggests that
Bairam Khan was jealous of Tardi Beg, and thus
managed to remove him at the carliest opportunity. It
is difficult to say how far Tardi Beg was to blame for
his defeat. The position of Himu was not very strong.
He defeated Tardi Beg when the other nobles were in
the field fighting in the wings. Himu had not the courage
to pursue the defeated Mughals, anod possibly Tardi
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Beg could have driven.him: out of . Delhi if he had
'made an attempt to bring together all the . forces.-But
iit was likely that other nobles did not fully co-operate
‘with him. <

The Second battle of Pampat.

* The flight of Tardi Beg Khan placed Delhi and Agra
-ander Himu who now assumed the title of Raja Vikra-
majit. He issued coins in his own-name and made
-arraugements for the government of the country by appoint-
“ing his own men as Governors. With the immense spoils
which fell into his hands he began to organise .a strong
:army. He pot together 1500 war-elephants and sent
his artillery in advance to meet Akbar who had already
-encamped at Panipat. But a .detachment of the Im-
perial army obtained possession of the artillery. He had
-still with him a big army of 40,000 cavalry and 1£00
-elephants. Akbar- bad ‘on his'side 26,000 horsemen.
Himu had distributed immense money among the Afghan
inobles, but all of them were not loyal to him. Some of
them hated him as a Hindu, and were anxious for a
-change. Bairam Khan had exhorted all his men to
fight bravely against the “infidel”.: -He said to them “If
.you do-your best in this business’ with one heart and
-sonl Hindustan is yowss. I place my trust -in God.
If we fail in this you, whose homes are at a distance
-of 500 Kos, will not be able to find an asylum.”. The
‘men took a vow that.they would do their duties till
ithey had breath fin their bodies. On Friday the 5th
November, 1556 A. D. Himu marched in battle array
from his camp about two Kos west of Panipat. He'

P!
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seated himself on an elephant, and supervised the operations.
The Mughal troops were also thoroughly prepared and.
regularly marshalled, Akbar’s tent was guarded by 3000:
borse. They could not withstand the first charge of
Himu, fhe right and left wings were thrown into-
confusion. But when the . centre under Khan Zaman.
was being pressed an arrow struck Himu through his.
eye and he directed the driver to take the elephant out.
of the field of battle when Shah Kuli Khan came up to-
hiro, and took the elephant to Akbar’s camp, The troops.
of Himu then fled in all directions and were mercilessly:
slaughtered by the Mughal pursuers. In the Imperial
camp the unconscious body of Himu was cut into two,
according to Ahmad Yadgar by Akbar himself, but others.
say that Akbar refused to strike a man who was no.
better than dead, and the sword was struck first by
Bairam Khan, then by Shaikh Gadai and others. The
head was sent to Kabul, and the body to Delhi. The-
second battle of Panipat thus restored the throne of
Delhi again to the dynasty of Babar. From the field of
Panipat, Akbar marched directly to Delhi.  His
name was once sagain read in the Khutbah, and the
citizens of Delhi received him with due honour. The
first act of the Emperor was to bring the parents.
and children of Himu, who were then in Mewat, to.
Delhi with all their treasures. Himu’s father was.
beheaded for refusingto aceept Islam. In 1557 A. D.
Adali on whose behalf Himu was carrying on his
campaign was slain by Khizr Khan, the son of Muhammad.
Khan of Bengal. His inglorious reiga lasted ooly three
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years. The only other rival Sikandar . Sur who. had
{aken up his position in the fortress of Mankot in the
Siwalik hills was hard pressed by the Mughal general
Mubammad Husain Khan. After a protracted siege of
six months when provisions were exhausted, and his
nobles began .to - desert him one by one Sikandar
surrenndered on . condition that he might' be allowed
to retire to Bengal, May 1557 He was granted at the
first instance Jauupur as a jagir, till Bengal was
conguered from the Afghans. Ultimately he went to
Bengal, and there he died in two years. Akbar. was
then relieved of all troubles from the Surs - and he
could now give his thoughts to the consolidation of the
dominions.” -~ . : S

Bairam Khan. ., '

- Akbar was a young boy of thirteen when his father
died. His Atalik Bairam Khan undertook the res-
ponsibility of managing the empire -on behalf of the
prince, as his Vakil and Khan-i-Khanan, He was a
faithful attendant of Humayun. When most of his
nobles deserted the unlucky emperor Bairam stood by
him and rendered him the most valuable services in his
troublesome journey through Sindh, Mekran and Persia,
He was made a Khan by the Sheh of Persia, and it
was mainly through his help that Humayun recovered
Kabu! and Hindustan, Akbar had great respect for
him and wused to call him Khan Baba. Bairam Khan
was 4 learned man, and a sagacious administrator. From
1556 to 1560 . hA. De carried on the government very
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efficiently and in the best interests of the Emperor, He
made satisfactory arrangements for the education of
Alcbar. The country up to Jaunpur was thoroughly sub-
jugated, the fortress of Gwalior occupied, and attempts
were made to gain possession of the forts of Rantam-
bhor and Chunar. An espedition was also sent against
Baz Bahadur of Malwa. But before the Khan-i-Khanan
could accomplish his object a movement was set on
foot to remove him from power. His high position
created jealousy in the court. He had married Salimah
Begum, a daughter of Mirza Nur-ud-Din Muhammad,
a son of Humayun's sister Gulrukh Begum. She was
an accomplishsd lady and a poetess. The marriage took
place on the arrival of Akbars mother and other
relatives at Jalandhar from Kabul. Bairam appointed
to high office men who were not liked by other Amirs.
The appointment of Shaikh Gadai to the past of Sadr or
Lord Chief Justice with powers to supervise the grants
made to the Imams was strongly resented, Bairam Khan
was under great obligation to his father Shaikh Jamal
Kambu for help during the exile of Humayun in
Guzerat. The agitation of the other Shaikhs against
Shaikh Gadai who was a Shia produced great bitterness
in the country. Bairam Khan appointed Pir Muham-
mad Shirwani his general manager and deputy. He
was originally a Mull, and in his new position he be-
came 80 very insolent that one day when DBairam Khan
went to see him he was refused admittance to his house
by his servants. For this insult he was removed from
office, and thereby Dairam increased the number of his
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enemies, But the chief trouble came from Delhi where
Maham Anka, the nurse and foster-mother of Akbar,
in conjunction with the Governor Shahab-ud-din Ahmad
and her son Adham Khan entered into a conspiracy for
the overthrow of the ministers Akbar also was grow-
jng up and did not like the tutelage of the minister,
He felt that although he was the Emperor Bairam exer-
cised absolute power, and that he had no voice in some
of the transactions relating to expenses of the Exchequer,
and he was not, allowed any privy purse, his servants
were granted poor fiefs, while the servants of the
Khan-i-Khanan were living in comfort. He therefore
readily accepted the advice of Maham Anka and her con-
federates. _
One day while Akbar went out on a hunting
expedition on the other side of the Jumna, and reached
as far as Sikandrahrao, midway between Delhi and Agra
be was informed - by Maham Anka that his mother was
lying ill at Delhi, and desired to see him, He marched -
thither post haste. There the foster-mother prejudiced
him ugainst Bairam Khan, and persnaded him to get rid
of the minister’s control. Every effort was-made to set
the nobles against Bairam. Maham Anka pleaded that
the Khan-i-Khanan would not excuse her for bringing the
Emperor to Delhi without his permission. Bairam Khan’s
assurance. to be kind to all the faithful servants of
Akbar was not accepted. The news of the differences
between the Emperor and his minister reduced the party
of the latter, and the nobles one by one deserted him.
Bairam consulted his friends. He was advised that h(;
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should obtain the person of the Emperor and confound
the conspirators. This.did not appeal to him. He, ins-
tead, decided to go on a pilgrimage to Mecca. Akbar
was made to believe by his advisers that the Khan-i-Khanan
intended to attack the Punjab, and he sent a message
that he would take the reins of Government in his own
hands, permitted Bairam to go on the pilgrimage and
granted him some perganas in Hindustan as his jagir,
from which the revenues would be sent to him by his
agents. On receipt of this message Bairam Khan sent
his paraphernalia including kettledrums and standards
back to the Emperor from Nagor, which the Ilatter
teceived at Jhujhar on his way to the Punjab. Pir Muham-
mad Khan who had been dismissed by Bairam Khan
returned to the Royal Camp from Guzerat and was
despatched by the Emperor to the Khan-i-Khanan to
expedite his journey to Mecea, In the mean: time Munim
Khan who had been recalled from Kabul was installed
in the office of Talkil. Bairam Khan disgusted with
the tactics adopted by the Emperor in sending Pir
Muhsmmad after him became rebellions and turned
from Bikanir towards the Punjab. He ‘left his family
in charge of Sher Muhammad Diwanah in  Sirhind.
He was opposed by a number of nobles near Jalandbar
and defeated them. He then fled to Talwarah a
strong place in the hills of Kushmal on the Beas, There
he was overtaken by the Imperial fores, In an engage-
ment Sulta n Husain Jalair, a brave and handsome young
‘man, was slain, Then Bairam Khan regretted his action,
and sent 3 message through Jamal Khan to Akbar
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asking forgiveness, He was taken to thé Royal
presence with due respect. He was granted free par-
don and a splendid robe of honour. After two days he
was given the permission to go on a, pllgnma,,e to
Mecea. He went in the direction of Guzerat by way
of Nagor. When he was spending a few days at Pat-
tan he was assassinated by an Afghan named Mubarak
Khan Lobani, to avengé the death of his father. (1060
AD.) His son a child of four years was rescued by
his attendants, and then sent to Akbar, who made
good arrangements for his education. In time this boy
occupied the position held by his father. Bairam was a
great statesman and an able general. The strong foun-
dation of the Mughal Empire was laid by him. His
fall was due to his irascible temper and the rigid method
of administration. “His temper was harsh and severe”
says Elphinstone, “his manuers haughty and - over-
bearing, He was jealous of his authority to the last -
Jegree, exacted unbounded obedience and respect, and
would not suffer the smallest pretension to power - of
* influence derived from any source but his favour” But
he bad a sympathetic heart, says Badaoni, and was
devoted to the words of the great Shaikhs or' religious
persons, Ever since he had joined Humayun at the age
of sixteen he had applied himself whole-heartedly "to
promote the interests of his master and -his family, After
removing him from office Akbar had to bear the heavy
burden of the administration of the empire; But hé

could not get rid of the influence of Moham Ankn for
some years more.
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Beginning of the direct rule-

Alkbar was a youngman: of elghteeu when ke as:umed’
the .control of - the empive, He was confronted by a
number of - grave, problems, The throne of Delhi was.
not a bed ofroses. ,There were a-number of Afghan
chiefs, still ‘holding their- authority in distant provinces,
the . Rajputs - were'. unsubdued - and.- the Emperor had .
to ‘count upon the, adventurers in his court, upon whose-
fidelity nobody could rely.. - Akbar, realised the-
insecurity of his position. He felt that he would have-
to enlist , the - sympathy - of the . population, .and to-
reduce | the ; powers of the, ofher chigfs.if he would
strengthen the foundation of the empire, In.coming to-
the throne. he became the master of the Punjab, Delhi
and Agra, and Bairam acquired for him Ajmir and.
Gwalior. in : the west, .and the eastern provinces.gptov
Allahabad and, Jaunpur. The rest of India did not
ackngwledge his authority. . The * chiefs and rulers of
the different parts could at any time . combine and
drive him away from India, The people did not cherish
good- feelings towards the Musalman rulers, + They had.
seen, dynasty after dynasty crumbling down,.and had no-

. better hopes. from the family of Humayun. - Akbar wys
fully conscious of the: difficulties in his way. .“The pro-
blem, to his mind” says ' Malleson, “was to act;so as
to efface from the minds of - princes.and people these
recollections, 'to- conquer that he might unite; to in-
troddce, as - he conquered, principles'so acceptable.to

all classes, to the prince ‘as well as to the peasant, that
they should combine to regard him .as the protecting
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father, the unit pecessary to ward off from them evil,.
the assurer -to them of the exercise of their immemorial
rights and privileges, the asserter of the right of the-
ablest, independently of his religion, or his caste, or-
his natiopality, to exercise command under himself,.
the maintainer of equal laws, equal justice for all.
classes” He gradually developed these principles, and.
tried to bring all India under his rule by winning over
to his service the different races.

Tn the east Sher Shah II a son of Adali, who still
tetained Chunar threatened Jaunpur as soon as Akbar-
had driven Bairam from power. His governor Khan.
Zaman repelled the attack, but he himself proved insub-~-
ordinate. Akbar had to march in person to subdue
the recalcitrant governor: The same year (1562) be:
conquered the fortress of Merta in the Jodbpur State.

Conquest of Malwa,

The kingdom of Malwa was then governed by Baz
Bahadur who succeeded his father Shuja-at Khan in 1653.
Bairam Khan tried to remove this Pathan chief from
power, as it was found that he gave himself up to-
pleasure, and did not take sufficient care of his people.
As soon as Akbar came to power he gent an expe-
dition under Adham Khan, son of Maham Anka, with Pir
Muhammad Sherwani as second in command. Baz
Bahadur was defeated near his éapital Sarangpur in
1561. The Mughal generals perpetrated indescribable
cruelties upon the defeated people. The captive soldiers
were mercilessly slaughtered. For fear of dishonour
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the women of Baz Bahadur’s harem were put to death
by his orders. But the most beantiful of his mistresses,
Rupmati, fell into the hands of Adbam Khan, She
committed suicide by taking poison. The romantic love
stories of Baz Bahadur and Rupmati form the subject
©f various poems. Adham Khan and Pir Muhammad
kept all the valuable spoils, and beautiful women for
themselves. - This was an open act of defiance of the
authority of the Emperor. Akbar marched post haste
‘to punish the unruly generals (April 27, 1561). He
took them by surprise and received their submission.
Shortly afterwards Adham Khan was recalled from
Malwa, and the government of the province was entrus-
-ted to Pir Mubhammad Khap, a former tutor of Akbar.
‘Pir Muhammad was a scholar but lacked the qualifications
of a good administrator. He invaded - Burhanpur and
Bijagarh, and perpetrated great cruelties upen the inha-
bitants of these places. Baz Bahadur once attempted to
regain his lost position. But he was pursued by Pir
Muhammad bevond the Nerbada. Pir Muhammad, how-
.ever was drowned in the stream, and Baz Bahadur re-
sturned to his country. Then Abdulla Khan Uzbeg was
sent against him. Baz Babadur could not stand
against the Mughals, and fled from Malwa, He spent
.some vears as an exile in various Courts, but subse.
~quently entered into the service of Akbar as a Mansabdar
of 1000. The new governor Abdulla Khan Ulzbeg alzo
rebelled in July, 1563, On the approach of Akbar he
fled to Guzerat, and later on joined kis -tribesmen in
Jaucpur.
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End of the Petticoat Government. ‘

Although Akbar was now his’ own master his nurse
‘Mabam Avka had great mﬂueuce_mth him. I_t Was on
this account that her son Adham Khban was placed in
‘high position. He was an nnruly young man with wild
spirits.  He was overbearing and insolent. Since " his
recall from Malwa Akbar did not trust him with any
responsible  position. After the fall of Bairam Khan,
Munim Khan was appointed” Vmer He was in league
-with Maham Anka, and would not help Akbar in
“having his own- way On ‘the amval of Shamsuddm
Mahammad Khan At,,a from Kabul, Munin Khan was
-giadually superseded, and finally Shamsuddm be_came
‘the Prime Minister. This created great discontent among
the followers of the hurse. Adham Khan in his anxiety
'to remove this powerful rival came into the Palace Hall
where the minister was sitting with other officials, and

ad him- stabbed opbnly by two- of the assassins who -
,ﬁccompar‘licd him, (Mayllﬁ; 1562) The news of the crimé
was brought to Akbar-who was then sleeping io an inner
-apartment. He rushed out and threw ‘the mriscreant down
the terrace, and finding that the first throw was not
“fatal ‘he was throwi again. The death was instantaneds
:a8 his'neck was broken aund: the brains® burst out:
‘Muniok’ Khan and others suspeéted of  complicity in
‘the treason fled fromt the court, Maham = Anka who
was then lying ill received the sad news of the death
-of her son with the reply “Your Majesty did will” She
«died " broken-hearted in forty days. Munim Khan was
‘pardoned and restored to-his old position: as- minister.
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The conduct of Adham Khan was an eye-opener to the
young king, He could not rely upon anybody. Since
the fall of Bairam . Khan the affairs of the ,state had
deteriorated, finances had been mismanaged, and the
revenue misappropriated by the officials, Akbar row
took steps to stop the .corrupt practices and to introduce:
a better method of administration. He gradually felt
his way, devised regulations for the prevention of
corrupt practices, and tried to conciliate the people.

- The future development of Akbar’s policy is indica~
ted by cettaiu incidents in this period. He was by
nature religious, and in January, 1362, when he was
on a visit to the tomb of Khwaja Muin-ud-Din at
Ajmir Raje Bihari Mall of Ambar offered his eldést
daughter in marriage to him. This was the first alliance:
between the Rajputs and the Mughals, Man Singh,
son of Bhagwan Das who succeeded Bibari Mall to the
the throne of Ambar, was given high office. This
marriage brought the support of an important scction
of Rajputs to Akbar, The Ambar princess became
the mother of Jahangir, and was subsequently known
as Mariam-Zamani.  Shortly after this marriage he
abolished the tax on pilgrims in 1563, While he was.
engaged in a bunting expedition uvear Muttra it was
represented to him that taxes were collected from
pilgrims. He considered this unfair and issued orders.
for the remission of such taxes which used to bring
millions of rupees to the treasury, The next year he
took the bold step of abolishing the Jisiyak, a tax
imposed upon the wnon-believers by the Muslim rulers-
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In a country of Hindus a duty like this could not but
be opprobious. This was an important source of
revenue to the state. But Akbar considered the good-
will of the people of India as an asset of greater
value than a few crores of rupees. By these measures
he became known as a just and benevolent ruler and
the Hindus felt - that they would no longer be treated
a3 alieus in their own land. The appointment
of Man Singh to high office was a precursor of
many such appointments, The best act of Akbar’s to
release himself from undesirable influence was the
punishment of Khwaja Muazzam for murdering his wife,
He was a half brother of Akbar's mother, and had
.committed several heinous offences. So long he had
.escaped punishment on account of his connection with
the Royal family., He had married the daughter of a
Jlady holding high office in the Royal harem. This lady
.sought the help of Akbar to save her daughter from
the murderous intention of Muazzam. Akbar reached
the place too late when the murder had already been
perpetrated. Khwaja Muazzam was captured and sent
a3 a prisoner to Gwalior where he died insane. Akbar
appeared henceforth as a just and stern ruler who
would not be influenced by his mother or ralahves in
his state duties.

Rani Durgavati of Gondwana.

Akbar, like all rulers, felt that safety lay in follow-
ing a policy of sggression. A king must absorb all
the neighbouring states within his dominions or he may
e subsequently overthrown by them. After making



380 MEDIEVAL INDIA

himself strong tn his own dominions he cast his longing
looks upon the = suwrrounding countries. He obtained
the submission of the Rajah of Panna in Bundelkhand,
and then formed plans of invading Gondwana which
was then governed by Rani Durgavati a lady greatly
efficient in state-craft and art of warfare. He came
from the Chandel dynasty of Mahoba, and maintained
her dignity in the Gond country with great courage,
Akbar sent an expedition under Khwaja Abdul Majid
Asaf Khan, Governor of Karra in 1564, The Raui
boldly resisted the attack of the Mughals. But she died
fighting in abattle between Garha and Mandla in
Jubbulpur District. Her son Raja Bir Narayan conti-
nued the war for two months more. The fortress of
Chauragarh was capturéd, and the Raja followed in the
footsteps of his brave mother, Asaf Khan obtained im-
mense booty which he did not send to the Ewmperor.
Rebellions of his governors.

For about two years Akbar was troubled with
the rebellion of his Uzbeg officers. Abdulla Kban
Ugzbeg, the Governor of Malwa was the fiest to
challenge the authority of the Emperor. Akbar procecded
through Narwar to Manda, in July 1564 Unable
to stand against the Imperial troops Abdullah fled
into Guzerat, and later on went to Jaunpur, where
another Uzbeg chief Khan Zaman was posted as
Governor. There was a feeling among the Uzbeg
chiefs that the Emperor was not favourably disposed
towards them. They had helped Akbar and his father
Humayun - in  their. conquest of Hindustan and did not
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like that they should be made to. feel the authority~
of the new sovereign.  The fate of Abdulla, Khan.
created a consternatlon among them. Akbar. also showed.
his favours to the Persmn officers. ~ The next Uzbeg.
chief to rise was Khan Zaman of Jaunpur ., He was.
supported by other Uzbegs, and in . the. begmmng the
Imperial troops were driven out of Oudh. Akbar was-
obliged to march against -them .in May '1565. The
rebels were pushed eastwards, and the Emperor took_
up his position- at Jaunpur. ‘

Asaf Khan, whose conduct in Gondwana was so-
long overlooked, and who had hitherto been with the
Imperialists, went over to the rebels, The Uzbegs-
were not easily suppressed.  They eluded the grasp-
of the Imperialists, and remained on the other side
of the Ganges for sometime. Akbar returned to Agra.
in March 1566, without dealing any decisive blow..
Khan Zaman agreed that he would not cross the Ganges, .
butin May 1567 he broke the agreement. Akbar this.
time issued from Agra with a grim determination to-
quell the risings, He did not care the inconveniences-
of the mavch in the rainy season, crossed the river on.
the back of an elephant, and took the rebels by surprise
with about 20000 troops. Khan Zaman was killed.
in a battle mear Allahabad, and his associates were-
severely punished, After reducing the country round.
about Allabadad and Bepares the Emperor- returned.
to Agra in July 1597, the eastern provinces vvverev placed.
in charge of Munim Khan, ; ‘

. Besides the Uzbeg risings there were other trqub]gs.
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«confronting the young monarch. There were the Gakkars
.in the Punjab, who refused to submit to the governor
-sent by Akbar. An army was sent against them, and
‘their chief vas taken a prisoner. Abul Ma-ali and
“Sharf-ud-Din, two important nobles had revolted at
‘Nagor in 1561, They advanced as far as Narnaul, and
were finally driven beyond the Indus. Abul Ma-ali went to
Kabul. There he offered his services to Mirza Hakin
who owed nominal allegiance to Akbar. Hakim was a
.minor, and the actual work of administration was
rcarried on by his mother Mah Chuchak Begum. Abul
.Ma-ali tried to take up the government in his own hands
by procuring the assassination of the Begum, April 1564,
But he was defeated by Mirza Sulaiman of Badakhshan
:and  killed by him. Hakim finding the surveillance of
:Sulaiman too irksome fled into the Punjab. Akbar was
-then busy in suppressing the Uzbegss So he occupied
"Lahore and the greater portion of the Punjab. Akbar
ilost no time in expelling him from India (November
1566). On account of change of eircumstances at
.Kabu! Mirza Hakim had no difficulty in regnining his
Jlost pesition there. After spending some time at Lahore
.Akbar came back to deal with the rebellion of the
Mirzas at Sambal near Moradabad. They were easily
. defeated and driven into Malwa. The first eleven years
.of his reign were thus spent in quelling the distur-
+bances. He was not accepted as the undisputed monarch
of Hindustan from the start. He had to be on 'the
_constant watch regarding the attitude of his own officers,
.and relatives, By his prompt action he became the master
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of northern India, and removed the vanquished enemies
from his way or employed them in his service,

‘Mewar and the Rajputs.

Although Raja Bihari Mall of Ambar sought the
favours of Akbar by offering his daughter to him, and
the Emperor had acquired Merta in the state of Jodh-
pur, the Rana of Mewar, the most important of the
TRajput chiefs, kept hiz head aloft He had given
hospitality to Baz Bahadar of Malwa, and his son
Sakat  Siogh, who was present with Akbar in
his camp at Dholpur left him without leave.
Pana Tdai Singh, son of Rana Sangram Singh,
was ruling Mewar when Akbar was devising
plans of consolidating his powers. The Emperor consi-
dered him a formidable barrier in the way of his
ascendancy. 8o he proceeded against him in  Qctober
1567. Udai Singh was a coward. On the approach of the
Mughal troops he left the fortresa of Chitor which had
the reputation of being impregnable, and retreated
dnto the forests very far off from the capital. The garrison
‘however bravely held out under the leadership of Jai
Mall, a chief of great courage. The Rajputs defended
their country with extraordinary ability. Chitor stood
on the top of a emall hill, three miles and a quarter long,
.and it was very difficult to reach. Akbar invested the
place with a chain of military posts extending over
ten miles. The garrison repelled the attack of the
besiegers aud the fortress could not be easily stormed.
Mines were laid at two places but they caused damage

25
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to'both the parties, as the besiegers rushed in before:
the explosion of the second. The Rajputs managed to
build up the breach. While Jai Mall was  supervising
the operations he was shot dead by Akbar ( Feb, 23,
1568 ). On his death the Rajputs could not offer any
further resistance. They were joined by 40,000 peasants

“who ga]l:intly defended the fortress for some time.

" About 30,000 of them were killed, and the Rajput ladies
performed the noble sacrifice of burning themselves in a
big fire called Jauhar. Another leader whose name
appears in 'history is Patta, a young man of sixteen.
He was goaded” by his valiant mother to take up

* arms, ‘and died nobly in defending the honour of his
country. ' It is estimated that eight thousand Rajputs

" gave their lives in this war. The heroism of Jai Mall
and Patta was greatly appreciated by Akbar who erec-

" ted two statues in their honour in Delhi.

" The fall of Chitor ‘was considered a ‘great disgrace
to the Rajputs, Udai Singh who was still' enjoying his
freedom”did not refurn to the accursed place. He dicd
at Gogunda’ four years after the fall in 1572 He
was succeeded by Pratap Singh who made strenuous
efforts to recover the lost ground.

Rana Pratap was indomitable in his ambition to win

- back Chitor. But fortune was against him. The

" Rajput Statés of Marwar, Ambar, Bikanir and Bundi

“had gone over to Akbar. Even his own brother

" Sagarji sought the protection of the Mughal Emperor.

- For twenty-five years he cntertained the hopes of res-
toring the dignity of thé Sisodia family, He streng-
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thened the hill capital of Kumbhalmir " and the . fortress
of Gogunds. He organised " his- forces -within  his
mountain retreat. His kingdom was natrowed'to '‘the
hilly country from Kumbhalmir ‘to Ricumnath. north
to south and from Mirpur to Satolla west to-east,
eighty miles in length both ways. With such a champion
of Rajput cause still remaining unsubdued - . Akbar
was feeling ill at ease. It is related that one !day
when Raja Man Singh went to se¢ Pratap, the proud
Rana refused to see him, or' to  dine with “him,
as he had disgraced himself by the ‘Mughal  alliance.
This was too great an insult to the Emperor and he
sent a big army under Raja Man Singh, The Mughal
troops were concentrated at Mandalgarh between | Bundi
and Chitor, and marched towards Gogunda.’ Rana
Pratap opposed them with only three thousand - horse
‘men at the Pass of Haldighat. But the ' Rajputs
inspite of ‘their great valour and sacrifice could not"
‘hold the Pass against the Jarge army of the ' Mughals
who employed the artillery with great -effect. - The
Rana fled to the hills wounded, but thé Mughals: failed
to pursue the fugitives. (June 1576). - Kumbhalmiv - and
‘Glogunda fell into their hands. Pratap retired into- &
place called Chaond. It was a great disappointment
to Akbar that Pratap Singh could “not be  captured,
When the Emperor relaxed his watch over him on
"account of difficulties in other parts of the Empire
be issued out of his lonely retreat and managed to
regain his lost territories excepting Chitor, " Ajmir and
Mandalgarh,’ He' died exhausted in 1597, and his
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work of reconstructing Mewar was continued by his
gon Amar Singh. Rana Pratap’s memory is a source
of inspiration to the Rajputs. His house never formed
any matrimonial alliance with the Mughals, and his
heroic - stand against the powerful monarch of Delhi,
and his patriotic endeavours © recover Mewar from
the clutches of the alien rulers have been glorified
in legends and bardic songs.

Besides Chitor Akbar occupied the two strong
hill-forts of Rantambhor and Kalinjar. Rantambhor was
a fortress in the state of Bundi belonging to the Hara
section of the Chauhans. Akbar wanted to deprive the
Sisodias of all help from the Rajput states and therefore
besiged the fortress in February 1569, The Raja had agreed
to- hold it as a fief of Chitor. After a siege of a month
the surrender of the castle was brought about through the
intervention of Raja Man Singh. Akbar recognised the
independence of Bundi, and conceded to the Raja all the
rights as a free ruler. But Rantambhor, now in the
state of Jaipur, passed into the Mughal possession and
the  commandant Surjan Hara was made governor of
Benares. The Emperor’s next objective was Kalinjar, a
fortress reputed to be impregnable, situated in the
district of Banda. When it was closely invested its
owner Raja Ramchandra of Rewa found resistance impos-
gible. He handed over the keys of the fortress without
protest, and asked protection. He was granted a jagir
near Allahabad, and a Mughal governor was appointed
at Kalinjar (August 1569). The occupation of the forts
of Merta, Chitor, Rantambhor and- Kalinjar enbanced
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the reputation of Akbar as a military genius and secured
his position in the north-western India. It is also told
that Raja Maldeo of Jodhpur did not pay Akbar the -
usual respects, when the latter was near hir frontier, For’
this oftence Akbar made over his state to Rai Singh of
Bikanir, who however failed to enforce his rights. On’
the death of Maldeo his son submitted to the Emperor,
and was then recieved into favours . Thus all the
Rajput states except the Rana of Udaipur paid allegiance’
to the Mughal Emperor, ‘

Conquest of Guzerat

Akbar marched from Fathepur Sikr, to which
place he had now removed his capital, towards Guzerat
in July 1572. He was invited by Itimad Khan, the’
protector of the nominal King Muzaffar Shah III
to stop the anarchy in the province by annexing it to-
the Mughal empire. The province was very rich and'
prosperous, and the Delhi monarchs had all along
coveted its vast wealth. Humayun conquered it but had'
to withdraw on account of disturbances in the eastern-
provinees. Since then it had been ruled by Bahadur Shah
and his descendants. The rulers were incompetent and the
country was divided into seven principalities, and some of
these chiefs were opposed to the rule of Muzaffar Shah -
III. To one of these chiefs the rebel Mirzas of Sambhal
had fled for refuge. They were a source of trouble to
their protector, and when driven out from Guzerat they
tried to capture Malwa. But they soon returned to
Guzerat and added to the confusion of the mis-governed
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country. It was a great opportunity for Akbar to
estend his empire. He marched through Rajputana
along the route of Ajmir, Jalor, Sirohi At Patan
before he reached Ahmedabad Muzaffar Shah made his
submission (November 1572) and handed over his
kingdom to him. From there Akbar visited Cambay,
and saw the sea for the first time. He came into
contact with the Portuguese merchants who were
carrying on trade in the Western Coast. Although
the kingdom passed into his hands the country was
not yet thoroughly subjugated. Mirza Aziz Koka his
foster-brother, was appointed Governor of the province.
The troublesome Mirzas would not however let the
peaceful government be established. They either joined
the refractory chiefs or caused troubles in other ways.
A man of distinction named Rustan Khan was mur-
dered by Ibrahim Hussain Mirza. Akbar hastened from
Baroda in pursuit of the Mirza, who then was holding
Sarnal on the other side of the Mahi with a large
number of troops. He had scarcely two hundred
men with him, but he did not like to wait
for the arrival of the rest of his troops.
The town of Sarnal was attacked at grave personal risk.
He was valiantly supported by Raja Bhagwan Das and
Man Singh. When the Emperor was forced back by
the superior numbers of the enemy he took his
_stand behind the cactus hedges of the narrow lanes,
Not more than three men could warch through the
passage. This proved of great advantage to Akbar.
Rsja Bhagwan Das brought one of the pursuers down,
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and Akbar disabled two. In the meantime the rest of
‘the royal party reached the place, and the Mirzas fled
in all directions. This was a great triumph for Akbar.

Raja Bhagwan "Das was granted the high distinction
of possessinga banner and kettledrums, in recognition of
the great services rendered. Troops had already been sent
‘to subjugate Broach and Surat. Immediately after the

battle of Sarnal, Broach had fallen, ‘and Akbar went

personally to besiege Surat. The | siege lasted  more

thah a ‘month and a half. The Portuvuese who ‘were

likely to strengthen the defence were won over by’
friendly overtures. The city surrendered on the 26th

February 1573, After a stay of a few days more to
settle the affairs in the province he began his ‘return
.march, and reached Fathepur Sikri early in June.

The Mirzas had escaped from Sarnal and went
along’ Ahmedabad and Disa to Sirohi in  Rajputana.
‘One of them was killed in Guzerat, some were attacked
by Raja Raj Singh near Nagor and then proceeded to .
.Sambhal. There ‘also they were pursued, and made
itheir way towards the Punjab. Their leader Ibrahim
Hussain Mirza was overtaken near Multan and died
of a wound. "Masud Hussain Mirza was taken a
prisoner, ‘and the rest of the party were severely
punished. The danger was so great from the' Mirzas
that the siege of Kangra had to be raised. One of
the Mirzas however, named Mubammad Hussain, who had
fled into ‘the hills near Khandesh, joined another’
rebel chlef Tkhtiyaru-l Mulk, and shortly afterwards’
threatened Guzerat. The Governor had not sufficient
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troops with him to drive the enemy. On receipt of
the news Akbar marched with a small army towards

the end of August 1573, and covered the distance of
six hundred miles in nine days. It was a wonderful
feat of promptitude The en¢my had an army 20,000
strong, They were safe near Ahmedabad, and could
not believe that Akbar was so close upon them. The
Emperor had not more than 3000 troops all told. He-
split them up into three divisions. It was expected that
the garrison of Ahmedabad would be able to effect
a junction with the Imperial troops. But Ikhtiyar-ul-
Mulk had already occupied the gates of the city and
could not allow the garrison to come out. Akbar was
confronted by Muhammad Hussain. An impetuous battle-
ensued in which Akbar’s life was in danger. But another:
division came up and succeeded in inflicting a crushing
defeat. Muhammad Flussain was wounded and taken
prisoner. Ikhtiyarul Mulk with about 5000 troops then
barred the way. But he was killed in action and his
followers scattered in all dircctions. The captive
Muhammad Hussain was also killed. It was estimated
that about 2000 men had fallen in the battle.  Akbar
stayed at Ahmedabad for five days and made arrange--
ments for an orderly government. After an absence:
of forty-three days he returned to his capital. The-
conquest of Guzerat marks an important cpoch in the:
career of Akbar. He was now secure in his position
on the throne and could turn his attention to. certain

important administrative reforms. Raja  Todar Mall,

the eminent financier, brought shout a new settlement.
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of land revenue in the conquered province. This-
increased the income of the Emperor considerably.

The deposed king Muzaflar Shah ITT was taken to Agra
and was later oo granted jagir. He was given sufficient
freedom to move about, but he entered into an intrigue
with Sher Khan Fuladi, and fled into Kathiwar. In
1583 he captured Ahmedabad, assumed royal ftitle,
and forced the Imperial troops to withdraw to Patan.
Broach also fall into his hands, and for a few years
the province of Guzerat was lost to the Empire. Akbar
despatched Abdur Rahim, son of Bairam Khan against
the iosurgents. Muzaffar was driven out of Guzerat, but
be found shelter in Cutch from where it was difficult
for the Mughal officers to dislodge him. He was
captured in 1593, but committed suicide on the way
by cutting his throat with a razor. Abdur Rahim was
awarded the title of Khan-i-Khanan for crushing the
rebellion. Henceforth Guzerat remained qmet and
Aziz Koka was appointed its Governor.

Subjugation of Bengal

On account of its great distance from the capital
the eastern province of Bengal was never thoroughly
subjugated. The pgovernors sent from Delhi very-
often threw off their allegiance and since 1340 it was
practically an independent kingdom. In the time of
Sher Shah it was ruled by Afghan chiefs, and in 1564
Sulaiman Khan Kirrani of Behar occupied Gaur, and
became the founder of a new dynasty. He did not
challenge the authority of Akbar, but waintained
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friendly relations with him till his death in 1572, His
elder son and successor Bayazid was killed shortly after-
wards, and his younger son Daud was placed upon the
throne. Daud was 2 weak and dissolute young man,
and lacked both ability and intelligence to govern.
He provoked the hostility of Akbar by capturing
2 small fortress on the frontier, at a place called
Zamania, now in the district of Ghazipur, Dand had
-a large army and immeanse treasure. He was foolish
enough to think that he could measure his strength
with the Emperor. Akbar at once directed Munim
Khan, Governor of Jaunpur to march against him. An
engagament took place near Patna, but the old Gover-
nor did not like to cotinue hostilities, and granted
favourable terms to Daud through the intervention of the
latter’s minister Lodi Khan. The terms did not please
either Akbar or Daud. The latter cruelly murdered Lodi
Khan, and Akbar sent Raja Todar Mall to take the
command. Munim Khan made a desperate attempt to
retrieve his honour but failed to achieve anything. On
his return from Guzerat Akbar marched in person
( June 1574 ), He travelled the long distance on boats, |
and reached Benares in twenty-six days. During the
rains the Ganges was full to its banks, and consequently
the voyage was difficult. Akbar pushed on with great
determination, and reached near Patna on the 3rd
August 1574, He captured Hajipur on the other side
of the river, from where Daud used to receive his supplies
On the fall of Hajipur Daud fled towards Bengal.
Akbar then entered the city of Patna, and pursued
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Daud for about 30 Kos. He captured 265 eclephants,
and a large quantity of booty, but failed to overtake
the fugitive. The supreme command was delegated to
Munim Khan who was appointed Governor of Bengal
upto the Karamnasa with a number of competent officers
to assist him including Raja Todar Mall. After 2 stay
of six days at Daryapur he returned to Jaunpur. He
halted there for thirty-three days, and henceforth Jaunpur,
Benares and Chunar were placed under the direct
administration of the Crown. Munim Khan on the
other hand pursued Daud Khan along the Ganges. He
occupied in quick succession Monghyr, Bhagalpur,
Colgong, and the pass of Taliagarhi in the Rajmahal
Hills, In the plains of Bengal no resistance could be
offered to the Mughal troops. When the capital Tanda
fell into their hands Daud fled towads Orissa
through Satgaon, then a prosperous port on the Hooghly.
The Imperialists pressed on, and engaged Daud in a
battle at Tukaroi (Turka in Balasore District) March 3
1575. Daud’s general Gujar Khan was killed, and after vainly
resisting for more than a month Daud submitted.
Munim Khan agreed to leave him in possession of
Orissa, although Todar Mall protested against such
liberal terms. -

Munim Khan returned to Bengal. But he was not
ongood terms with Muzaffar Khan, Governor of Hajipur.
He removed his capital from Tanda to Gaur where the
old Governor along with a large number of officersand
men was carried away by a strong typhoon in October. There
was nobody now in Bengal to direct its affairs. In
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these distnrbed circumstances Daud Khan returned from
Orissa and in violation of the old treaty seized the country
up to the Teliagarhi Pass. The place of Munim Khan was
filled by Khan Jahan (Husain Kuli Khan), the Governor
of the Punjab who was then preparing an expedition
to Badakhshan. He was an able officer. He succeeded in
recovering the Teliagarhi Pass and took up his position at
Ak Mahal (Raj Mahal).. Ie was supported by Todar
Mall aad Muzaffar Khan. Daud was drawn to a battle
near Rajmahal {July 12, 1576) in which he was defeated
and brought as a prisoner . His head was cut off from
his body and sent to Akbar, who was then on his way
to Bengal. His uncle Junaid and general Kalapahur
died fighting. After the death of Daud Bengal lost its
independence.

For some years more Bengal did not return to the
settled condition. Akbar had weanwhile introduced new
regulations regarding the branding of horses, and had
ordered a thorough enquiry into the title of the jagirdars to
the Jands they enoyed. This created great discontent among
the officers. They also resented the action of the minis-
ter Khwaja Shah Mansur who had cut down the allow-
ances of the officers of Bengal and Behar by 50 and 20
per cent. although Akbar issued orders for increment by
100 and 50 per cent. Besides the Musalman officials
did not sympathise with the policy of universal tolera-
tion now cnunciated by the Emperor, The Mughal
officers were very reluctant to submit to the new state
of things. There was a movement to overthrow Akbar
and to place his brother Mirza Muhammad Hakim on
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the throne, A rebellion broke out in January 1580, and
on receiving the news Akbar sent Raja Todar Mall to
Bengal in February. Masum Khan, a jagidar of Patna
was carrying on correspondence with Hakim Mirza. The
Governor Muzaffar Khan was killed at Tanda. Raja
Todar Mall was besieged in Monghyr for four months.
But the rebels couldnot long retain their position. When
they weakened their attack the royal troops recovered
Teliagarhi. Shortly afterwards Mirza Aziz Koka, a foster-
brother of Akbar, came as Governor, assisted by Shahbaz
Khan who had been recalled from Rajputana. Further to
conciliate the officers Shah Mansur had been removed
from his office of Diwan. The rebels received a great
rebuff near Ajodhya in January 1581 The Mullas who
had instigated the rebellion were severely punished. By
1584 the rebellion was completely suppressed, and
Bengal subjugated. ‘

The Afghans rose in rebellion during the distarbed
condition in Bengal. They occupied Orissa and Bengal
upto to the river Damodar. The leader of these people
was a daring chief named Ruttw. Raja Man Singh
was recalled from Kabul to suppress this . new danger.
But he had to work against terrible odds.  Fortunately
Kuttu died in 1590, and Man Singh negotiated a treaty
with Isa Khan, the guardian of Kuttw’s sons by
which they were allowed to retain Orissa as a depend-
ency of the Mughal empire. Isa died two years later
and his successor became very unpopulst by forcibly
getting hold of the revenues of the temple of Jagannath
at Puri. Man Singh led an expedition into Orissa.
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‘and made the Afghans acknowledge the authority of
Akbar (1592). Since then Orissa had been added to Bengal.
Reduction of Kabul.

When Akbar was straining his resources to streng;th-
en his position in the eastern frontier he discovered
a great conspiracy to overthrow him, The orthodox
Muslim party disgusted with his liberal measures ~were
trying to replace him by his half-brother Mirza
Mubammad Hakim of Kabul. He owed nominal
“allegiance to the Emperor of Delhi. The disaffected
officials led by Shah Mansur the able Finance
Minister, invited him to invade. The rebels
in Behar and Bengal were his great supporters, but
on account of great distance form Kabul they could not
render him effective help. Akbar considered the
danger from Kabul more serious than the rebellion in the
distant provinces. Shah Mansur was suspended from
his office for a month and then reinstated. Dut the
ungrateful minister did not discontiuue his treacherous
tactics, He was an able financier, and Akbar did
not want to be too harsh upon him, and so he was
placed under custody. Towards the end of 1580 Hakim
Mirza sent his troops to the Punjab, and later on he
came personally with 15000 horsemen. But he found
the country strongly defended by Man Singh who in-
dignantly rejected his overtures. Hakim was wisled
by his advisers to come into the country, but returned
disappointed. " Akbar resolved to strike hard and
assembled a vast army with 50,000 horse and 500
elephants. He started from the capilal on the 6th
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February, 1581, and = marched through Sonpat,
Panipat, Thaneswar to Shahabad. There some corres-
_pondence between Hakim and Shah Mansur was dis-
covered and the guilty minister executed. The engineer
Kasim Ehan was also involved in the plot, but did not
receive the extreme penalty., After the execution of -
Shah Mansur the conspiracy * was thoroughly smashed,
Hakim Mirza retreated in precipitate haste towards
Kabul. But Akbar hotly pursned him. He marched
close to the foot of the hills through Kalanaur where-
he was crowned. On the banks of the Indus he had
to wait for fifty days. The river was in floods, and the
Imperial officers were reluctant to cross it. He built a
fort at Attock, and resolutely carried out his plan.
Prince Murad was first sent across with a large army,
and he himself crossed the river on July 12, leaving the
main camp behind in charge of Kasim Khan. By the
time Murad entered Kabul (August 3)Hakim had fled into the-
hills. Akbar reached the place on the 9th August 1581, and
stayed there for a week His half-sister who had marned
Ehwaja Hasan of Badakhshan came te see him. The-
province of Kabul was bestowed npon her, who however
allowed her brother Hakim to resume his charge. In ten
months Akbar succeeded in crushing all the adverse orces
and returned to the capital trinmphant. The government
of the Indus province was entrusted to Man Singh who-
had proved his ability in so many fields. The success of
the Kabul espedition made him feel so very happy that
he launched his big projects of religious reformation
unhampered. All opposition had been overborne, and the-
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authority of the Emperor were acknowledged all over
northern India from Kabul to Bengal.

Mirza Muhammad Hakim enjoyed the government of
Kabul till his death in. July 1585, After his death
Akbar - assumed direct administration of the country.
Man Siogh was sent in advance to maintain order and
Akbar himself proceeded in the autumn. The affairs of
Kabul and the north-western frontier kept the Emperor
away from his capital for thirteen years. In the course
of these years he subjugated the Uzbegs and conquered
Kashmir, Ishore was made the scat of the Imperial
‘Government in this period.

"The North-Western Expedition.

On the death of Hakim Mirza Kabul easily passed
‘into the Imperial sway but the frontier Province of
Badakhshan fell into the hands of the Uszbegs. It was
feared ~that they might prove dangerous to the
Mughal Empire. So Akbar went to the frontier
in * person. He reached Rawalpindi in November
1585 and from there he moved to the fort of
Attock. The Uszbegs however did not venture to come on
this side of Badakhshan, and Akbar did rot attempt to
recover it. So there was peace on that side. DBut
Akbar now made up his mind to subjugate the frontier
territories. The Kingdom of Kashmir, the Yusufzais
and the Baluchis engaged his serious attention, Three
big champaigns were organised under competent generals.

The conquest of Kashmir was not difficult, The
expedition was led by Kagim Khan, Raja Bhagawan Das
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and others. The beautiful valley in the heart of the
Himalayas could be approched by difficult passes, and at
times the roads were blocked by snow. The reigning
Sultan Yusuf Khan was not very safe in his position
on account of family disputes, and was willing to enter
into a friendly treaty. But the Emperor was determined
to annex. the conntry. He ordered the generals to press
their attack. Yusuf Khan took up his position in the
Buliyas pass on the Baramula route. The Mughal army
was 50 inconvenienced by rains and snow that the
generals agreed to a treaty by which the sovereignty of
Akbar was acknowledged. The Emperor was not pleased
with this arrangement. Sultan Yusuf Khan and his son
Yakub Khan surrendered but in violation of the treaty
the Sultan was made a prisoner. Yakub Khan fled and
prepared for a resistance. Kasim Khan marched through
Bhimbhar and crossing the Pir Panjal range reached
‘Srinagar almost unopposed. Yakub Xhan was not
supported by his own people, and therefore compelled
to surrender (1587). Henceforth Kashmir became a Mughal
province and the summer residence of the Emperor.
Yusuf Khan and his son were exiled to Bihar.

The Yusufzais were a more formidable foe.
“They inhabited the mountainous region round the plains
of Peshawar. They were a free and prosperous people
possessing a  thoroughly democratic government. Their
situation was inaccessible. The troubles in their country
arose on account of the teachings of a man named
Bayazid wno founded a new sect known as the
- Roshaniyyas or the enlightened. He discarded the

26
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infallibility of the Koran, and held that nothing
existed but God. His influence was very great
among the tribesmen of the Sulaiman Hills and Khy-
ber Pass. (fovernment tried hard to suppress him.
He was heavily defeated in (585, and died shortly
afterwards. His son Jalal kept up hostilities with
_great vigour. Man Singh failed to crush him, and in
1600 Jalal captured Ghazni. Although he was killed
shortly the war continued even in the time of Jahangir
and Shah Jaban, The danger was considered so very
great by Akbar in 1585 that he despatched two eminent
generals, his foster-brother Zain Khan, and his favourite
Raja Birbal. Zain Khan marched westwards through
Bajaur, and Birbal through the Samah DPlatean and
the Swat Valley. Hakim Abul Fath approached
through the Karakar Pass, and the three generals met
at Chakdara, north of the Swat river. They did not agree
with regard to the further plan of action, Zain I{han
wanted to hold Chakdara, while the two others expressed
their desire to withdraw to Attock. Against the advice
of Zain Khan, who had a fuller knowledge of the
situation, they marched through the Karakar and
Malandarai pagses, The tribesmen so harassed them
on the way that the retreat became diflicult. Abont
half the troops perished, and Raja Birbal was among
the slain. The death of his witty courtier caused Akbar
great grief. Raja Todar Mall repaired the prestige of
the Emperor by a successful campaign against the
tribes, Man Singh also won a great. victory in the
Khyber Pass. Todar Mall built a  number of forty,
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from which consant raids were sent against the tribes.
The Yusufzais were not still thoroughly subdued. Jalal,
although no longer leader of the tribesmen, was earrying
on his battles. To satisfy the Moslem sentiment Man
Singh was replaced by Zain Khan in the Government
of Kabul, and he was appointed as Governor of Bihar
and became Governor of Bengal after the death of
his father Raja Bhagwan Das in 1589, and shortly after-
wards added Orissa to his charge by annextion.
The frontier was for the time being reduced, and Akbar
visited Kashmir and Kabul in 1589, At the latter place
he stayed two months, and there he received the sad
news of the death of his trusted financier and general Raja
Todar Mall at Labore in November. At the same time
died the Rajput prince Raja Bhagwan Das of Jaipur.
'The deaths of these able officers and Hindu nobles
greatly reduced the infiuence of the Indians in the
Court.

Conquest of Sind.

The third campaign directed against Sind was more
successful. The safety of the Mughal Empire depended
upon the aequisition of all the provinces from the Bay of
Bengal to the Arabian Sea. On the south-west Akbar’s
dominions extended upto Multan which was on the border
of Sind. Thatta or southern Sind was still independent
and the conquest of this part and Daluchistan was
thought necessary to recover Kandahar. Abdur Rahim,
the son of Bairam Khan, who had distinguished himself
in the subjugation of Guzerat, and received the title
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of Khan-i-Khanan was appointed Goverher of Multan
with instructions t> aonex Sind (1590 ). The iude-
pendent ruler of the province, Mirza Jaui the Tarkhan,
did not easily submit. The attack upon the fortress of
Sihwan in 1591 was gallantly contested, and the Mu-
ghals could not make any progress in that direction.
Akbar sent another army through Amarkot, and when
attacked from both sides Mirza Jani Ber surrendered
Thatta and Sihwan. He was wade a noble of the
realm with the command of 3,000. He was allowed
to hold his old dominions as a vassal of the
Emperor. He accompanied Akbar in his Deccan expedi-
tion and died in 1601.

Baluchistan was invaded by Mir Masum in February
1595, His advance was opposed by the Parni  Afghans
at the fort of Sibi south-west of Quetta. DBut they
were overpowered by the Mughals with the result that
all Baluchistan upto the frontiers of Kandahar in
the north and Mekran in the south came under the
rule of Akbar. In April of the same year Muazaffar
Huosain Mirza, the Persian Gevernor of Kandabar,
was threatened by his own people as well as by the
Uzbegs. He sought the help of Akbar, who sent
Shah Beg to occupy the country. Thus Kaodahar was
annesed wlthout a blow. Akbar now became master
of the vast dominions from Bengal to the Dborder of
Persia and the whole of Hindustan to the north of
Nerbada except the Rajput principality of Udaipur.

The Deccan Expedition.
When Akbar was copsolidating his  Empire in
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Hindustan the independent rulers of the Deccan were
quarrelling amony themselves, On the break-up of the
Bahmani kingdom there were established five Sultanates,
Yusuf Adil Shah established the kingdom of Bijapur (1490)
Abmed Nizam Shah founded the kingdom of Avmad-
nagar the same year, Qutb Kuli Shah became the founder
of Golkonda and Imad-ul Malk of Berar, while Amir
Barid assumed the position of an independent mo-
varch in Bidar. Further sonth was the Hindu kingdom
of Vijaynagar. It was ruined by a combination of the
Moslem Powers at the battle of Talikota in 1565. Close
to Hindustan was the kingdom of Khandesh in the
lower part of the valley of the Tapti Burhanpur was
its cupital, and the king captured the strong bill-fort of
Asirgarh from a Hindu chief. It was a rich and pros-
perons country on the road to the Deccan. Akbar
took advautage of the weakness of the southern king-
doms. Abmadnagar was rent in dissensions when Burhan
Shah disputed the claims of his brother to the throne
(1586 AD). Akbar sent him some help from Malwa,
but Murtiza Nizam Shah was too strong for his brothers.
Bat on his death in 1592 Burhan became the king. He
died in 1593, and there were four claimants to the
throne, and one of them asked for the aid of Akbar
who had already sent his missions to the kings of
Khandesh, Ahmaduagar  Bijapur and Golkonda to
acknowledge him as their overlord (1591 AD.). The
kisg of Khandesh Raja Ali Khan readily agreed to
recognise Akbar as his suzerain but the other kings were
reluctant to part with their supreme authority. So
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when a claimant to the throne of Ahmadnagar requested
his intervention Prince Murad and Khan-i-Khanan
Abdur Rahim were sent with large armies. Murad
marched from Guzerat, and Abdur Rahim from Malwa,
and they formed junction at Chand thirty Kos from
Ahmadnagar,  Before they reached Ahmadnagar it
had fallen into the hands of Chand Bibi, a
remarkable lady with great talents for'leadership. She
became the regent of Bahadur Nizam Shah, the infant
grand-son of Burhan Nizam Shah. She succecded in
obtaining the help of Bijapur, and in settling the
internal dissensions for the time being. The Mughal
troops invested the city of Ahmadoagar, but Chand
Bibi- showed great heroistm in its defence. Mines laid
down by the Mughals were rendered ineffective, and
the breaches easily répaired under the dircet super-
vision of the Regent, who appeared in full armour with
open sword in her hand. After a protracted sicge both
parties agreed to a treaty by which the suzerainty of
Akbar was recognised, and Berar wae ceded to him
{ 1596 AD.)

Fresh troubles arose in Ahmadnagar on account of
intrigues in the Court. The authority of Chand Bibi
was overthrown, and the treaty with regard to the
surrender of Berar was challenged, and a war with
the Mughals ensued. The imperial position was wea-
kened by the differences between Murad and  Abdur
Rahim, ou the other hand Ahmadnagar was joined by
Bijapur and Golkonda. A battle took placo near Supa
on the Godavari, but the result was indecisive. Raja Ali
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Khan of Khandesh who fought on the Mughal side
was killed in action (1597). The affairs in the Deccan
drew the attention of Akbar. He recalled both Murad
aod Abdar Rabim. Mirza Shahrukh was given the
command of the army, and Abul Fazl was instructed to
send the Prioce to Court. It was represented to the
Emperor that his presence was necessary in the Deccan.
The affairs in the north west frontiers had improved
and the death of the Uzbeg King Abdulla Khan had freed
Akbar from fears of an Uzbeg invasion. He left Lahore
towards the end of 1598, and removed his ecapital to
Agra. Placing Prince Salim in cbarre of the capital
and Ajmir Akbar marched towards the south from
Agra in July 1389. In May of the same year Murad
had died. The Emperor reached the Nerbada shortly
afterwards, and oceapied Burhanpur without opposition.
Prince Daniyal, avd the Khan i-Khanan were despatched
to besieze Ahwadnagar. Chand Bibi had lost her old
position. She was opposed by her own people, and was
put to death by one of the parties. Within a few days
the city was stormed and the young king was sent a
prisover to Gwalior. But the kingdom of Ahmadoagar
still held out for a long time till its foal conquest by
Shah Jahan in 1637.

After the death of Raja Ali Khan of Khandesh his
son and successor Miran Bahadur did not like to
temain in subjection. When DBurbanpur fell into the
hands of Akbar, he retired into the hill fortress of
Asirgarh which commanded an important position on the
road to the Deccan. The fortress stood on a spur of the
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range, and was considered one of the wonders of the
world. It had many natural advantages and was stocked
with ample provisions and munitions of war so that in
case of an investment it could hold out long. Akbar on
the other hand lacked sufficient resources for an effective
siege. Shaikh Farid and Abul Fazl started operations
by the end of February, 1600. But the chances of
thorough investment were remote. Akbar reached the
place early in April, but his presence did not in any
way iwmprove matters. The news of the fall of Ahmad-
nagar unnerved Bahadur Shah, on the other hand Akbar
was anxious to return quickly to Agra on account of
the revolt of Salim. Bahadur Shah was persuaded to
come to the Mughal camp for discussing the terms of
treaty. When he reached the camp he was treacher-
ougly seized and made a prisoner. The officers of the
fortress were induced to betray their charge by means of
heavy bribes. The capitulation took place on Jany. 17,
1601, Miran DBabadur Shah was sent to the fort of
Gwalior, and the other Princes were confined in different
fortresses. The provinees in the Decean which fell into
the hands of Akbar were orzanised as Subuhs, and over
the Subahs of Ahmadnagar, Berar and Khandesh, with
Malwa and Guzerat Prince Daniyal was appointed as
Viceroy. The revolt of Salim required the prescuce of
Akbar at Agra. He left the Deecan in April, and
reached Agra early in May., Asirpuh closed  his  long
career of conquest.



CHAPTER IV

THE INSTITUTES OF AKBAR

Revolt of Salim,

Prince Salim was left in charge of Agra and Aj-
mir when Akbar went to the Deccan. He was directed
to reduce Rana Amar Singh of Udaipur with the help
of Raja Man Singh who was then residing at Ajmir.
A nobleman named Shahbaz Khan Kambu helped the
Prince in the administration of Ajmir. He left about

a crore of rupees when he died in 1600 A, D. Salim
" appropriated his vast wealth, and with this money
devised a plan of wresting the crown from his father
At this time Raja Man Singh was called away to
Bengal on account of the rebellion of Usman Khan, .
and did not return to court till 1604 A. D. Salim was
an impetuous young man of thirtyone, and was
anxious to replace his father as early as possible.
Akbar was very fond of this son although he en-
tertained some suspicion about him since 1591. He
was born with the blessings of Saint Salim Chisti, and
was called by his father Shaikhu Baba. Over-indul-
gence spoilt him and his constitution was injured
by excessive use of alcohol and opium. As Akbar
was still very strong Salim did not expect to succeed
to the thrme early. He took advantage of the dislike of
a large number of Musalmans to the religious views
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of Akbar, and began to enlist their sympathy during
his absence.

With the treasures acquired in Ajmir Salim proce-
cded towards Agra. But Kulij Khan the governor
of the place shut its gates against him. So he crossed
the Jumna and marched towards Allahabad, captor-
ing Oudh on the way, and then seized the revenues
of Bihar. He replaced the old officers by his own men
and assumed independence. Akbar hurried from the
Deccan and reached Agra in May 1601. A conciliatory
letter was despatched to Salim assaring him kind
treatment if he would give up his treasonable conduct.
The prince came as far as Etawah with a large army
but as his intentions were not quite clear he was
asked to return to Allahabad. The Emperor farther
conferred the Government of Bengal and Bihar upon
him, but heedless of these favours Salim remained
at Allahabad as an independent king. All negotiations
for reconciliation failed as Salim insisted that he should
be allowed to return to Agra with 70,000 troops. and
that the grants made to his officers should be confirmed
and his adherents should not be treated as rebels.

The situation was very painful for Akbar, Tle did
not desire to take extreme measures against his
beloved son nor was he willing to abdicate, Ile sent
a despatch to his favourite minister Abul TFazl who
was then in the Decean, giving him the full in-
formation of the conduct of Salim. Abul TFazl marched
with a emall escort promising to bring Salim a captive.
“The Prince had all along a great dislike for the minister.
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That he should be held in such great regard by his
father was galling to him. When he heard the news
of Abul Fazl's return from the Deccan he set about
a plot to murder him on the way. Bir Singh Bundela,
a chieftain of Orchha was engaged for the purpose.
When Abul Fazl was approaching Gwalior he was
attacked by Bir Singh near Narwar, and bis head was
" cut oft from his body and sent to the Prince (Aungust
12, 1602) The Emperor was mad with rage at the
sad news of this murder. He was so Jaid up with
grief at the loss of his friend and minister that he
did not appear at the court for three days. Prompt
orders were issued to deal condign punishment to the
author of the crime. But Bir Singh escaped the
séarch of the imperialists.

Akbar attempted to bring about a reconciliation
‘with his rebel son by sending Saltana Salima Begam,
‘who had brought up Salim after the death of his own :
mother. She succeeded in her misssion and brought the
Prince to Agra in April 1603. With the intervention of
Maryam Makani, Akbar’s mother, the Prince was
received with kindness. He was commissioned to
fight against Rana Amar Singh of Mewar, who, of all
the Rajput Chiefs, was still holding aloft the banner
-of independence. The war with the gallant Rajputs
was however distasteful to the Prince. He returned
from Fathpur Sikri to Allahabad with the permission
of the Emperor. (Nov. 10. 1603}, Then he gave himself
up to his evil habits without any restraint. Iis wife
:8Bhah Begam, the adoptive sister of Man Singh and mother
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of Khusra died about this time and this cansed him
great grief. Prince Daniyal who also lived a very
intemperate life died at DBorbanpur in April 1604,
leaving Salim as the sole heir to the threne. Dut Salim
still defied the authority of his father. Akbar then
resolved to march upon Allahabad and compel him to
submit. When he had proceeded some distance bis
aged  mother  fell  serionsly il and  shortly
afterwards departed this world on  August 29, 1604
Akbar then gave up the projected expedition, and
a final reconciliation was arranged with his son. There
waz a plot to place Khusru on the throne in case
Salim did not submit. So the Prince returned in
XNovember 1604, thinking prebaps that his interest
could be best served by remaining in court. For a
short time he was kept confined in a bathreom. but
Jater on allowed to reside in his own residence. He
was assigned the Government of the Deccan in place of
Daniyal, but he did not Jeave Agra. For about a year
he rvemained there without any demobstration of di=
loyalty. Raja Man Singh and Aziz Koka were busy in
setting aside the claims of Salim to succeed in favour
of hiz son Khusru, but they did not receive sufficient
support from the Rajputs and the other important
officials.  Akbar fell ill in Septewber 1605, The adhe-
reuts of Salim made him prowise that he would ~tand
by the side of Islam and woull not in apy way
punish the supporters of Khusro. He was adimitted to
the imperial presence and offered the turban as a sign
of being  acknowledged  ax the  heir-apparent.  Akbar
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expired at the age of sixty-three on the 27th October,
surrounded by a few faithful friends. His remains
were carried to Sikandra, three wiles “from Agra where
a grand mausoleum bad been built by his orders.

His personality and character

Akbar succeeded his father to the tottering throne
of Delhi when he had barely passed his childhood. He
gathered up the scattered foreés and built up the
empire which endured through a century and half with
undiminished glory. His able guardian and minister
was dismissed before he had attained his wmajority. His
administration of the difficult charge was marked by
his personality almost from the very beginning. He
was majestic in appearance and had a magnetism about
him. A man of moderate stature, he had a strongly
built constitution. He inspired awe in the hearts of
his foes and was considered by some as “the terror -
of the East” He was illiterate in the ordinary sense of
of the word, but his culture was very wide. Although
he could not read and write be had a capacious me-
mory for the things read out to him. His keen intel-
lect could easily follow the niceties of theological
discussions, the intricate problems of the State, as
well as the wider issues of military stratagem. He had
a perfect acquaintance with Moslem, Hindu and Chris-
tian literatures, and he was veéry familiar with Sufistic
writings. He knew history and other branches of
Jearning quite well. He could hold his own against
adepts in - different arts in acute controversies. In the
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mechanical arts he displayed great aptitude. He took a
special delight in making guns and in founding and
modelling cannons. The workshops were elosely super-
vised by him, which resulted in many inventions and
improvements. He showed great ability in managing
his ministers. He used to consult them on all
important matters, but they had all to acknowledge his
“great superiority, and to follow his guidance.

By nature he was affectionate and religious. A faith-
ful son, loving husband, and forgiving father as  he was
he could be stern whenever necessary. His friendship
was enduring, and true it is that he sometimes lost his
temper, but quickly he regained ecalinness. A Euro-
pean observer says: “Whether by training or innate
power he was so completely master of his emotions
that be would hardly ever be seen otherwise than as
perfectly pleasant and serene” He was bold and
courageous, and whenever necessary he could undertake
bard feats of endurance. He had a passion for hunting
especially tigers and wild elephants. He could walk
long distances of thirty or forty miles a day, and could
ride on horse-back 220 miles in two successive days.
He fought many a battle, but he never indulzed in wars
as a pastime. All his military activities were directed
towards the maintenance of the Fmpire. He had in
some cases to declare war without a just cause, eg.
against Rani Durgavati of Gondwana, or against the
Decean kingdoms, but in view of the wider problem of
establishing a strong central government in India it
was necessary to bring all the parts under the control
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of one king. In this matter Akbar therefore showed
great imagination. Unfortunately his comprehensive
plans were thwarted by the rebellion of his son,
and the indifference of the Musalman chiefs and officers.
His catholicity and Treligious doctrines alienated the
sympathy of the orthodox. But the way in which he
expanded the empire and maintained its integrity shows
his talents as the empire-builder of India. “He was uot
free from ambition;” says Elphinstone, “but as the
countries he invaded had been formerly subject to
Delhi, he would have incurred more blame than praise
among his contemporarics if he had forborne from
attempting to recover them.”

He ioherited the evil practice of his family in
taking drisk and opium. In his youth he used to
drink copiously, but later on he was reputed to be very
temperate. In his dress he was simple, and in diet he
was very moderate. He used to take one substantial:
meal a day, and was fond of fruits, He bad no attrac-
tion for meat, and towards the end of his life he became
almost a vegetarian, He was very regular in his habits
and his hours of sleep and leisure were limited. The
fact that he broke through several rigid customs of his
people and charted out new lines of progress on the
principles of broad eatholicity and universal toleration, and
improved the administration by the adoption of a
prudent fiscal policy, and organised civil and military

" government on a sound basis gives positive proof of
his genius. Every department of national life bears
the impress of his great intellect and comprehensive
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-statesmanship, By temperament he was thoughtful and
from his eavly life he showed a strong tendency towards
-devotionalism. He was not a fanatic but may be classed
‘with the mystics. He was not satisfied with the ordi-
‘nary tenets of religion but was anxious to fiud out the
truth.  In that spirit he spent the whole life. He was
fair and impartial in administering justice. He was
never vindictive but the punishments meted out were
-often harsh, slthough he had an abhorence for any
atrocious measures. The system of justice followed
the method of summary trials but Akbar insisted upon
‘thorough enquiry. People were happy with his substan-
tial and ready justice.

Akbar’s internal policy

Since he assumed direct management of the aftairs
-of the state Akbar realised that the old policy of the Turk
and Afghan rulers had to be modified. The old Sultans
o framed their method of Government as if India was »
Musalman country. They considered the devotion of
the Hindus to their religion ns an offence. The Hindus
were not admitted to high office, and they had to pay
heavy taxes for professing their faith, Akbar felt that
the loyalty of the Hindus was necessary for the main-
tenance of his empire. The support of the brave Rajputs
to his throne was an asset of very great value. IHe
coerced the rebellions of the Musalman chiefs and
officers with the gallantry of the Hindu princes. To
win the good-will of the people of India he introduced
he generons principle that the highest offices in the
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-state should be open to both Hindus and Musalmans
:according to merit, and that people should have com-
plete freedom to worship their God in the way they
preferred. These were the two cardinal principles of his
-government, and the Mughal empire endured so long
:as the monarchs adhered to these principles. Akbar had the
wisdom and sagacity to see through his position in
India. He admitted Hindus to the order of Mansabdars,
-abolished the pilgrim taxes aod the invidions Jiziyah when
his loyalty to Islam was unshaken. His matrimonial
-alliance with the honses of Ambar and Jodhpur produced
far-reaching consequenees. The, Rajput ladies coming
‘into the Mughal harem were allowed to retain their
-old religious views and practices. The Hindu temples
within the imperial palaces at Agra and Fathepur-Sikri
reassured the Hindus of the safety of their religion. The
Rajputs who were very catholic in their social matters
«did not think it beneath their dignity to be associated
with the Emperor who respected their religious senti-
ments and who did not interfere with the internal
management of their states. All the Rajput princes
-except the Rana of Mewar paid allegiance to him. On his
part Akbar offered positions of responsibility to a Jarge
uumber of brilliant Hindus. Raja Bhagwan Das, Raja Man
‘Singh, Raja Todar Mall, Birbal were entrusted with the
government of important provinces. This caused no
doubt some heart-burning in orthodox Moslem circle,
as it had been the practice till then to appoint only the
Musalmans to high offices. With great tact and ability Ak-
bar crushed all opposition to his policy of broadening the
278
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foundation of the empire. He had sometimes to take
strong measures against the mischievous leaders of the
orthodox parties, who tried to overthrow his rule. It will
be hardly correct to say that he was unduly severe
upon the Musalmans towards the end of his rale. In
his civil administration, fiseal arrangement, and military
organisation he followed this principle of toleration.
and impartiality,. He was anxious to be fair to his
subjects irrespective of creed, and his partiality for
those who fell in with his ideas was but natural.

His Religious views.

By npature Akbar :vvas greatly religious. e was-
born and brought up a Musalman but his religious
outlook changed as he grew in knowledge and ex-
perience. In the early part of his life he was an
orthodox Sunni. He used to go on prilgrimages to the
tombs of saints and to attend on holy men. He,
regularly visited the tomb of Shaikh Muin-ud-Din Chisti
at Ajmir every year till 1579, Shaikh Salim Chisti.
who lived at Sikri had the reputation of being a great saint..
It was with his blessings that Prince Salim was born in.
1569, The city of Fathepur-Sikri was built in comme-
moration of the good luck of the Lmperor there, and.
made his capital from 1571 to 85. The Saint died
in 1571, and he was buricd in the courtyard of the
great mosque which was completed in 1575-6. When.
Akbar went on his expedition againet Chitor in 1567, a
young mao who iofluenced his character considerably
was introduced to him. It was Shaikh Faizi then a
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young man of twenty. He and his - younger brother
Abul Fazl who came to the Court in 1574 -were
two remarkable personalities. Their father -Shaikh
Mubarak an inhabitant of Nagor in Rajputana was a
great scholar, He had an inquiring mind and a compre-
hensive genius. His religious views were very liberal.
He removed to Agra at the time of Humayun and
gave his son the best education. As early as 1573
he suggested to the Emperor to become the head of
the Church and the State. He had a great share in
the formulation of the Divine Faith of Akbar, He died
in August 1593, Faizi was born in 1547. A writer of
great eminence, and a poet, he earned his livelihood
by his profession as Physician, He distributed his
éarnings in charity, and had no ambition for high office.
Akbar appreciated his talents and engaged him as teacher
in the higher branches of knowledge to his sons, and he
was sent to the Deccan as an ambassador. He held the posi-
tion of the court-poet with the title of “King of the Poets”
and composed a large number of books. He had a big
library consisting of four thousand three hundred choice
manuseripts which were afterwards added to the Impe-
perial Library, He composed the introductory hymn
for the new liturgy. He died in 1595, His brother
Abul Fazl was associated with the Emperor more intimately.
His name is widely known as the author of the Albar
Nama and Ain-i-Akbori. He was born in 1551 and
was presented at Cowrt in 1574 at the age of twenty-
three, His love of learning was so great that at
the age of fifteen he was master of several branches
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of knowledge, and at the age of twenty he became =
teacher. His reputation as scholar was cetablished
when he restored the burnt half of the pages of a
rare manuscript of Ispahani, and the people were
‘amazed when a complete copy was later on discovered
that Abul Fazl had very closely kept to the original. He
was 2 voracious reader and was always anxious to read
new things and he says “My mind had no rest, and
my heart felt itself drawn to the sages of Mongolia, or
to the hermits of Lebanon; T longed for interviews
with the Llamas of Tibet, or with the Padris of
Portugal, and I would gladly sit with the priests of the
Parsis, and the learned of the Zendavesta” From the time'
he appeared at Court he earned the esteem of Akbar.
It is said that he had greater influence with the Iin-
peror than any other person. He was extraordinarily
intelligent and was assiduous in his devotion to Akbar.
Of all persons in the Court he had the greatest share
in moulding the policy of the Government. His contribu-
tions in the discussions in the Ibadat Khana at Fathe-
pur-Sikri on Thursday evenings led ultimately to make
‘the Emperor the head of the Church. He was an able
commander and when returning from the Deccan to
assist Akbar in reducing his rebellions son, was
murdered on the way,

Akbar’s mind was filled with a desive to  know the
truth, and he was eager to know the deeper problems
of religion. In 1575 lLe erccted the Jbadat Khana
(House of Worship) in the gardens behind the great
mosque for holding religious discussions with Shaikhs,
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Sayyids, Ulama and Amirs. The debates were originally
confined to the Musalmans, and in 1578 followers of
other religions were admitted. When the discussions
were thrown open to the representatives of all
religions the Tbadat Khana was abandoned and the
assembly was held in the Dewan-i-Khas ( Privy  Coun-
cil Chamber ). This Hall is an interesting structure
with an octagonal column in the centre having a top
ten feet in diameter, connected with the corners by
means of four stone beams, each ten feet long, The
audience used to sit in the galleries, aud the Emperor in
the centre on the top of the throne pillar, and a minister
stood at each corner awaiting imperial orders. It was
in course of these discussions that Akbar evolved his
famous doctrines. Most of these discussions pro-
duced bitter feelings, and the acrimonious quarrels
between the parties of Moslems led him to consult the
followers of other religions. Besides the Musalmans
there came Hindus, Zoroastrians, Jains and Christians.
The differences became still more acute, and by force of
circumstances the Emperor assumed the position of
the spiritual guide of his subjects at the suggestion of
Abul Fazl. At the end of June, 1579, Akbar promul-
gated the decree from the mosque at Fathepur-Sikri.
Faizi gave a poetical rendering to this position and
the passage has been thus translated :

“The Loid to me the Kingdom gave,

He made me wise, aud strong, and brave,

He guideth me in right and ruth,

Filling my mind with love of truth”
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No praise of man can sum his state—
Allahu Akbar '—God is great”

The principles of this decrce were later on put in
a formal document drafted by Shaikh Mubarak in the
month of September. “The document is” says Malleson
“n fact the Magna Charta of his reign.” Tt was signed
by a large number of Moslem theologians, including
some of those who did not agree with Akbar. They declared
in it that Akbar was a most just, wise, and piovs king and
therefore if there were a variance among the doctors upon
religious questions, and his Majesty gave his decree for the
benefit of mankind such decree would be binding on
them and on the whole nation. The position taken up*
by Akbar was very reasonable; in the State there should
be one authority with supreme power to settle disputes,
otherwise there would be uo end of quarrels and confu-
sion. Akbar did not however stop here. He
had been impressed with some aspects of truth and
beauty in each relizgion, and found that the protagonists
of each tried not only to prove the superiority of
their creed but that in each case an interested priest-
hood had distorted the broad, generous, far-reaching,
universal qualities attributed to the Almighty. By
conversation with the followers of different religions on
important questions he had learnt a great deal, and
found. something in each creed to respect and preserve.
Besides the public discourses in the Audience Hall he
met them privately and le rntthe mysteries of their faith.
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“He met a learned Zoroastrian teacher named Dastur
"Meherjee  Rana at Surat in 1573, and invited him to
-Court. From him he gathared the principles of the
fire-worshippers of Persia. He was also taught to
worship the sun by his friend Birbal. He prostrated
bimself before the sun and fire since 1580 as the sym-
"bols of divine energy. Under the influence of the great
Jain teacher Harivijay Suri of Guzerat he gave up
“hunting and prohibited the killing of animals ‘on certain
-days. Akbar had first come in contact with Christians
-at Cambay in 1572, and gathered some -information
regarding their religion on different occasions. Father
Ridolfo Aquaviva, and Father Antonio Monserrate from
“Gton, who visited Fathepur-Sikri in 1580 at the invitation
of the Emperor gave fuller iden of the doctrines of
“the Christian church. These Fathers = expected - to
convert the liberal-minded Akbar to their faith and
in this matter they were disappointed. The accounts
-they have left are vitiated by their religious fanaticism.
Although  the Emperor was not drawn  into
their net he absorbed a great deal from the Christian
theology and began to entertain great regard for Jesus
“Christ. On his return from Kabul Akbar summoned a ge-
neral council in 1582 and gave an exposition of
the universal religion which he called Din--Ilahi or
‘the Divine Fhaith, He asked his friends to
-accept the new faith as a reconciler of all religions,
But very few came forward to adopt it. It has been
~described as an’ eclectic monotheism consisting of prayer
ito one God believed by all people, and the performance



422 MEDIEVAL INDIA

of worship was done with some of the Hindw
ceremonials,

Akbar undertook a number of reforms in the spirit
of the new religion, This has been summarised by
Keene in the following passage : “Youthful marriage was-
forbidden, polygamy reproved. Sati (widow burning)
could only take place by the undoubted and persistent
desire of the victims. The Hijra year was disconti--
nued, and official computations dated from the year
of Akbar's accession, the solar year and months of
ancient Persians being restored to use”. This new
creed made some progress in his  life-time, but with.
his death it disappeared, as there was no administative-
machinery to carry it on. The spirit of his religion.
" js however now finding its expression in various.
forms in different parts of the world. Abdul Kadir-
Badaoni, a faithful courtier but hostile critic of this.
faith, has thus described the evolution of his religious
views : “From his carliest childhood to his manhood,.
and from his manhood to old age, his Majesty has.
passed through the most various phases, and throngh.
all sorts of religious practices and sectarian belicfs,
and has collected every thing which people can find in
books, with a talent of selection peculiar to him and.
a spirit of inquiry opposed to every (Islamite) principle.
Thus a faith based on some elementary principles
traced itself on the mirror of his heart, and as the
result of all the influences which were brought to bear
on his Majesty, there grew, pgradually as the outline
on a stone, the conviction on his heart that there were
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sensible men in all religions, and abstemious thinkers, and
men endowed with miraculous powers, among all
nations. If some knowledge were thus everywhere
to the found, why should truth be confined to one
religion or to a creed like Islam, which was compara-
tively pew, and scarcely a thousand years old; why
should one sect assert what another denies, and why
should one elaim a perference without having supe-
riority conferred upon itself?” Judging from the number
of adherents the new religion was not a success,
but it had its indirect effect in broadening the outlook
of the people, and its influence was felt upon the
entire administration. “A liberal spirit of inquiry, however
survived the system to which it owed its rise;” says
Elphinstone, “and if extriusic cauges had not interrup~
ted its progress, it might have ripened into some great
reform of the existing superstitions”.

The Administrative System

Akbar had to bind together the scattered parts of a
vast empire in an efficient system of administration.
His grand-father, Babar, hardly had time to organise
a regular system, and his father Humayun was so
busy with the battles for maintaniting himself on the
throne that the organisation of a civil government was
out of the question. The difficulties before Akbar were
no less formidable, but he grappled them in a states-
manlike spirit. He converted the unwilling masses of
India into a loyal nation, and he was so much 'admired
that he was considered as a representative of God.
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People began to say “Dilliswaro ba Jagadiswaro ba”
{the Lord of Delhi is another God). If the content-
‘ment and progperity of the people be any standard
-of efficiency of government then certainly Akbar’s rule
will stand very high. He carefully compared the
methods followed in the past in India, and those
. prevalent in the old empire' of Persia, He added the
‘bureaucratic system of Persia to the policy introduced
by Sher Shah. The narrow methods of the Sultans
of Delhi did not appeal to him. As an aviocratic
ruler he made his personal authority no doubt the
pivot of the whole system, but his aim had all along
‘been to promote the welfare of the people and to
cutivate their good-will. He had still to retain the
military character of the Government ~and his long
rale was marked by a series of campaigns almost
to the end of his life. All the responsible officers
held some ravk in the army, and they were granted
Mansabs according to their position. The order of
-of Mansabdars he instituted for the first time in India
-on Persian model. It was systematically organised in
1573-4 after the conquest of Guzerat, where the officers
were classified in thirtythree grades ranging from
-a Mansabdar of 10 to those of 10,000. The ranks of
the Mansabdars of 8000 and above were confined to
members of the royal family. Each Mansabdar was:
expected to keep a specified number of horses and
troops for which “they were granted a definite rate of
pay. But the numbers indieated in the rank were
nominal, cach officer being -allowed to fix his own'
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quota in consultation with the authorities. These Man-
sabdars were temporarily granted jagirs instead of
money in many cases, and an inquiry was set np into
the titles to the previous grants. It was found that the
number of persons enjoying more lands than they
were granted was considerably large and Akbar issued
orders for the resumption of superfluous lands. By this
method he *wanted the Mansabdars and other jagir-
holders to remsin strictly subordinate to the Government
so that they might not become too powerful in future as in
previous reigns. These Mansabdars bound to the
throne in various ways filled the offices in the army
and civil departments. The officers holding responsible
positions were granted military commands not only for
the purpose of maintaining peace and order but for
extending the empire as well. There were no less than
1800 Mansabdars towards the end of the reign.

The vast empire was divided into a number of
provinces called Subahs according to geographical and:
historical traditions. In 1575-6 he tried to remove the
old landmarks, and to divide the country into a large
number of artificial areas, each yielding a crore of
tankas (Rs. 250,000), and the officers in charge ef
these groups for the collection of revenue were known
as Amils or Karoris. This division did not increase the
efficiency of - administration, but on the other hand
they further enhanced the complications, Thereforein 1579-
80 the Subahs were organised almost on the lines of
modern provinces. Each Subah had within it a pumber
of Sarkars consisting of several Perganas or Mahals, as at
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present a Province is divided into districts and taluks.
There were twelve Subahs in 1580, with one bundred
and five Sarkars subdivided into 2737 townships.
The original Subahs were Allababad, Agra, Oudh, Ajmir,
Ahmadabad, Bihar, Bengal, Delhi, Kabul, Lahore, Multan
and Malwah. With the conguests in ihe Decean the
number was increased to fifteen by ereating Berar,
Khandesh and Ahmadnagar each a Subsh. The excutive
government of each Subah was entrusted to a governor
called Sipah-Salar. The title indicates that he was the
commander-in-chief of the forces, Later on his title
was changed to that of Subahdar. He had complete
control over the civil and the military government of
the province. He was a king in miniature with almost
all the fanctions that the king enjoyed. In the lin-i-
Akbari it is written: “He is the vicegerent of his
Majesty. The troops and the people of the province
are under his orders and their welfare depends upon his
just administration.” For judicial duties he was assisted
by the Kazi for carrying on inquiries and Mir Adl
for carrying out his findings. For the collection of
revenue there was a Dewan or revenue collector with
a Bitikehi who was a writer and accountant, while the
treasury was in charge of an officer called Klizanadar
or Fotader. The unit of government was the
Sarkar in charge of a Faujdor who was the deputy of
the Sipah-Salar in every respect. There was however
no interference with the village administration which
followed the same old method. The work of waintain-
ing peace and order in the town was in the hands of
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the Kotwal, whose functions were very compre-
hensive.

At the Centrsl Government the Emperor had a
pumber of principal ministers sach as the Vakil or
Prime Minister, the Vizier or Dewan as finance
minister, the Bakhshi with duties of recruiting and
supervising the army, the Sadr-Sadur as the highest
ecclesiastical officer. Besides these there were other im-
portant ministers in charge of the Palace, kitchen ete.
Akbar guided all the mibisters and consulted
them in all important matters, but the res-
ponsibility of chief control was not delegated to
any body. He was his own chief minister, and chief
commander. We are told by Delaet: “The Emperor
of India is an absolute wonarch : there are no written
laws: the will of the Emperor is held to be law.
Once a week (on Tuesday) he takes his seat on the
tribunal, and hears patiently all caases that are brought
before him, both civil and eriminal, and pronounces a
judgment on each which is final. Capital punishment is
generally inflicted before his eyes, and with great
cruelty, whether in the capital city or wherever he
is holding his court”. The Emperor used to appear
before the public thrice in the day at the window
opening on the andience hall, once after sunrisr, once
in the midday and once before the sun-set. Any
person could approach him with petition at the time
of the Jharokha Darsan. He used to hold a private
conference with the magnates in the evening in a most
beautifal hall called the Goshal Khana.
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The Land Revenue Policy

The revenue system of Akbar has endured much
longer than other institations. He did not devise
anything new but he extended the principles intro-
duced by Sher Shah who was the first monarch to draw
up a sound system of revenue, Sher Shah promoted the
welfare of the peasants and felt the necessity of leaving
a margin between the gross produce and the demand
of the king. He insisted upon a correct measurement of
the land, an estimate of the average production per
bigha, and a settlement of the proportion  of the
produce to be paid to the Government. [urther the
Government’s share was converted into a money value.
There was a man celled Todsr Mall in his serviee
who was trained in the method of scttlement. He
passed on to Akbar and became his chief adviser in
this matter. He was a Kyasth of the Punjab. He
was an earnest Hindu and performed his religious
duties with great sincerity, An honest and able officer, he
distingnished himself both in civil administration and in
military skill. In the fifteenth year of the reign of
Akbar  he  assisted Muzaffar  Khan  Turbati
in redistributing the assessment of revenue through ten
Kanungos who collected the statcments prepared by
the Provincial Kanungos (1570-1). Previous to this
assessments were made anuually. This practice was
not only tedious but led to great corruption. The
first important step was taken in the settlement of Gruzerat
in 1573, and there Todar Mall insisted upon a system-
atic measurement before scttlement of revenue, and
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introduced his other reforms. - The settlement was made-
for ten years, and the assessment was made according.
to the area and quality of the land.~ Payment in Kind
or coin was permitted. Akbar made the experiment of
dividing the country into the charges of Karoris in.
1574-5, but as this proved a failure, the division into-
Subshs was adopted in 1579-80. To remedy the evils.
of excessive exactions and heavy revenue balances a settle--
ment for ten years was ordered. We are told by Abul
Fazl ; * From the beginning of the fifteenth year: of
the Divine -era to the 24th an aggregate of the rates of
collection was formed and a tenth of the total was fixed
as the annual assessment ; but from the 20th to the 24th.
year the collections were accurately determined and the
five former anes accepted on the authority of the persons:
of probity. Statistics were thus available for 19 years.
from the 6th .to the 24th year of the reign, and the -
rates were fixed with reference to these figures. The
best crops were taken into account in each year and the-
year of the most abundant harvest accepted.”

Akbar adopted a fixed standard of measurement called
the Ilahi gax of 41 digits(i. e, 33 inches) The survey
was made with bamboo jarib instead of with hempen ropeé.
which very often gave fraudulent measurements. An area of
land measuring 60 gaz in length, and 60 in breadth or
3600 square gaz constituted a bigha, Lands were
classified as 1. Polaj or land which was annually cultivated,

and never allowed to lie follow 2. Parauti land which
was occasionally kept fallow to recover its strength, 3.
Chachar land which was kept fallow for three or four
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years, 4. Banjar land i. e. laod kept fallow for five yvears
or. more, The first two classes were again subdivided
into good, middling and bad. The average of the
three sub-classes was taken as the average produce
-of the class, and the state could demand ouly a third of
this average, assessment being made only in the case of
‘the area actually under cultivation. Concession was
made in the case of failure of crops. In each village
there was a DPatwari to keep an account of receipts
and disbursements, and their work was supervised by a
Kanungo in the district. The salary of the Kanungo
was fixed instead of their receiving a commission of
1 per cent as before. The commissions of the Shikdar,
Karkun and Amins were fixed at 1 dam for cach bigha.
“The system thus estahlished served its purpose admirably
in ensuring a sﬁeady income, and in giving a sense of
security to the -cultivator, “The organic difference
between this system and that of the British” says
Keene, “is that the latter donot found their estimate on
the productive power of the culturable area alone, but
on an assumed valuation of possibilities during the coming
thirty vyears, thus discounting the future. Todar Mall
seems to have got as much revenue, but in a more rational
manner learned from Sher Shah” The total vield from
land revenue amounted to Rupees seventeen crores and
fortyfive lakhs according to the estimate of President
van den Broecke. The assessment was not light, hut
the people were happy as they were relieved from the
irregnlar cxactions und could save something for their

-own use.
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Land revenue formed the principal source of in-
~come to the State. The income from other sources was
almost of the same value. Akbar remitted a large
number of imposts which he considered inequitable,including
capitation tax, the port duties, the poll tax on pilgrims ete.
“The expenditure of the Mughal court was vast, the income
was correspondingly large. The Emperor could save a
.considerable amount after meeting all the charges. He
-derived a large income from his extensive territories ;
he icherited the property of the dead persons and
received vast amount from gifts and presents. De Laet
tells us that on the death of Akbar his treasures amoun-
ted to Bs 345226386 including Rs. 19,83,46,666 in
specie of all descriptions, gold, silver and copper.

‘The Army Reforms

Akbar showed his ability in introducing great eco-
-nomy and efficiency in the management of the army.
He did not possess a big standing army. The contin-
.gents supplied by the Mansabdars, and the dependent
-chieftains  constituted the support of his military
strength. There were a large number of Indian Princes
alvays in attendance at his Court. They acknowledged
the superior rights of Akbar and rendered him mili-
tary service  whenever required. The number of
borses supplied by the Mansabdars was 10,558,248 as
-calculated by DeLaet. The Emperor maintained at ' his
own cost 6,751 elephants, 12,000 horses, 6,223 drome-
-daries and camels, 7,260 mules and oxen. In the time of
-of military expeditions large numbers were employed,

28—9
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for example we are told that at the time of his Kabul
expedition in 1581 Akbar had with him 45000 cavalry
5000 elephants, and innumerable foot soldiers. The
infantry were not sufficiently effective, although he had
a large number of them. About the equipment of the
army a European traveller says that the royal forces-
had very many guns, and many of them were of
exceptional size and drawn by elephants, They made:
skilful use of bombards which they lighted with mat-
ches ; and they manufaccured excellent gunpowder. They
also used javelins, shields, swords, bows and arrows.
The swords were curved like sickle and were so badly
tempered that they would break rather than bend. The-
horsemen were armed with sword, bow, quiver, shield and
bombard, and would carry a javelin in the right hand..
The Rajputs were superior tothe Mughals in martial
prowess but they were ignorant of military discipline and
tactics. Akbar tried to enlist these Rajputs in his army
by winning the allegiance of their chieftains,. The Por-
tuguese were superior in artillery, and he tried to-
engage their  services in the sicge. of Asirgarh. But they
declined his offer. There was no navy, but in riverine
tracts there were boats. The provincial militias were
innumerable, but they were hardly cmployed for im-
perial purpose. They were generally used for the
maintenance of local peace and order,

To prevent fraud Akbar introduced the system of
branding horses, insisted upon the preparation of minute
descriptive rolls, and strictly serutinised the grant of
jaghirs. This was greatly resented by the old bencficiarics,.
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and this was the main cause of the revolt in Bengalin
1580. The troops were paid in cash from the treasury
wherever practicable, and regular musters were held
before payment. This was an honest effort to keep the
military strength under proper control. DBut the. system
was still very nunsatisfactory. No discipline could be
enfored when the recruitment and training were not in
the hands of the Government, and the army was not
regulatly organised. The number of Mansabdars hold-
ing command of 200 and above was not more than 450. In
the absence of able officers there could not be a regular
division of the troops, and the strength of the army depen-
ded upon the persunality of the monarch. The Mansabdars
did not maintain the full strength of their rasks. They
were allowed to entertain the services of additional saiwars
fo. which they could draw extra grants. Besides these
troops under the Mansabdars there were supplementary
troops called Dokhilis paid directly by the State, and
gentlemen troopers, called Ahadis recruited separately
and having a distinct muster under a Bakhshi.

The movement of troops ordinarily was very slow,
although whenever necessary Akbar could organise
rapid marches, The royal expeditions were labori-
ously planned, so that the royal harem, the trea-
sures, and the other things necessary for a moving
Court could be carried “When the king himself goes
on a campaign” says De Laet, “his personal camp,
which they call Leskar, covers an immense space
of ground. The speed with which this camp is pitched -
is extraordinary. In a space of four or five hours so
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many tents are pitched that a town seems to have
sprung up. They are arranged so as to form various
broad streets in which everything needful for human life
is sold. The gradation of rank is so rigidly enforced that
every one in these camps, from the greatest to the least
knows precisely at what distance to pitch his own teuts
from those of the king ( which are ealled Atasi Ihana).
The details are given by Abul Fazl in his Ain-i Akbari. The
movement of the troops was necessarily slow and cumbrous
Akbar took a special care in carrying his workshops in
his equippage, and wherever he would be there was a tent
to be used for the audience hall. The camp was Akbar’s
Court, and he had with him the paraphernalia of the
Court wherever he happened to be.

He built & number of forts in strategic places. The
building of the Agra Fort started in 1561 and the cons-
truction continued for fifteen or sixteen years, On the
evidence of Abul Fazl it contained five hundred buildings
of masonry after the beautiful designs of Bengal and
Guzerat, which masterly sculptors and cunning artists of
form had fashioned as architectural models. Most of
these buildings were pulled down by Shah Jahan, e
completed the fort at Allahabad.  On his return
from Kabul in 1581 he built a fort at Attock. Ie also
strengthened the fort at Lahore where he lived for thirteen
years. There were considerable forts in almost every
part of the empire.

Art and Literature
Akbar had a pgrand imagination and noble ideas
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which found their expression in splendid * edifices,
well Jaid out cities, fine painting and works of art,
sweet music and rtich literature In his baildings
he retained the best features of JIndian architecture.
The City. of Fathepur-Sikri, now in its ruins gives
glimpses of the dreams that the great Emperor indulged
in, “His Majesty plans splendid edifices and dresses the
work of his mind and heart in the garment of stone and
clay” said Abul Fazl. Standing on the ridge not far
from the field of Kanwa where the great Rajput
leader Sangram Singh made his heroic stand against
the Mughal monarch Babar it marks a position where
the old Indian culture was fighting for its existence
against the inroads of the alien invaders. Akbar here
accomplished a happy blending of the two cultures,
as it was -here that he promulgated the doctrines
of toleration and universal brotherhood. The great
mosque with the lotty DBuland Durwaza strikes the
true note of Akbar’s life, his eager desire to attain
spiritual glory. An attempt has been made here to
express Moslem sentiments in Hindu ornamentation.
The Dewan-i-Khas where he held his religious meetings,
is a unique structure. Bir Bal’s Palace and Jodh DBai's
Palace bear ample traces of Hindu influence. It is indeed
“a romance in stone” “Nothing like Fathpur Sikri” says
V. A. Smith “ever was created before or can be crea-
ted again”

Akbar was very fond of painting and always
patronised good painters. Khwaja Abdus Samad, a
a native of Shiraz, was the most reputed artist in his
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Court. The art of fresco painting was also very
successfully cultivated. He encouraged music and
there were many musicians of various races at court.
Mian Tansen was the best singer. He received his
training at Gwalior and Akbar brought him from the
Raja of Rewa.

The Court of Akbar was specially rich in
literary men. There were thousands of poets, of
‘whom fifty-nine were recoguised as the best. Abul
Fazl and Faizi were favourites of the Emperor.
Faizi holds a very high place among the poets, and
according to some ‘“after Amir Khusru of Delhi,
Muhammadan India has seen no greater poet.” .Abul
Fazl’s literary merits were unrivall He had a
free style, and his diction and imagery were of a
very high order. But by far the most eminent writer
of the time was the great Hindu poet Tulsi Das, the
author of Ramchardt Manas. Another poet of great
ability was Sur Das. The fact that the Emperor did
not interfere with the religious sentiment of the people
led to the growth of a gennine Hindu literature.
“When we reflect what he did,” eays Malleson, “the
age in which be did it, the method he introduced to
accomplish it we are bound to recouise in  Akbar one
of those illustrious men whom I'rovidence sends in the
hour of a nation’s trouble, to reconduct it into those
paths of peace nod toleration which ulone can  as-ure
the happiness of millions.”
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~ CHAPTER V.
JAHANGIR. (1605-1627)

Accession of Jahangir

On the death of Akbar his son Sahm was ac-
knowledged as his successor to the throne. The claims
of Prince Khusru were not suppotted by the prineipal
nobles. Raja Man Singh, the maternal uncle of the
prince, was the only person who had espoused his cause.
His mother had already committed suicidg distracted
by the unhappy friction between the father and the
son. Failing to win the support of the Awmirs he fled
with Man Singh to his palace, A week after the death
of Akbar Salim was crowned at Agra with the title of
Nurud-Diu ~ Muhammad ~ Jahangir Padshah  Ghasi
on the 24th October, 1605 On assumption of
authority he promised that he would protect the
Muhammadan religion, and would do no harm to those
who had supported Khusru's claimg. A reconciliation
was brought about between Khusru and his father. The
old officers of Akbar were confirmed in their rank and
he inaugurated his benevolent reign by a number of re-
forme, He remitted some duties which cansed trouble
to the merchants, and forbade the quartering of soldiers
on private houses. The cruel practices of cutting off
noses and ears in the way of punishment were stopped,
the use of wine was forbidden, and the sale of opium
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regulated. He satisfied the Moslem sentiment by restor—-
ing the old inscriptions on the coins. From the very
beginning of the reign he assured the people that he
would administer justice impartially. A chain was hung
outside the palace, at a place accessible to all persons,
which when pulled would inform the Emperor of the
presence of a suitor with a complaint for his decision,
This gave the people a right to approach the Emperor
without the intervention of the officers. But we are
told that this method of asking for justice was rarely
adopted.

Jahaogir was the spoilt child of his father. He has
been aptly called the child of miracle. He was born
in the house of Saint Salim Chisti at Fathepur in
August, 1569, and Akbar used to call hine Shaikhu
Baba. Being the pet child of his father he grew up-
a wilful boy, and in his youth he acquired many evil
habits, He became: heir to all the weaknesses of a -
Mughal harem and the evils of a licentious Court. He
was a vietim of wine and opium. His education was
faulty although he acquired fine literary tastes. He was
benevolent, and would often bestow his gifts in lakhs.
But he was very fitful, and had all the qualities of a
despot. “Jahangir resembled bis father in a hundred
ways” Says Keene, “Only one feels in passing from
the reign of Akbar to that of his son as if the curtain
had risen for a burlesque after thedrama. Jahangir is a
comic Akbar, reproducing his father’s features in the
form of a caricature. In bim indulgence became
negligence, and reform ran riot. Eclecticisin in religion,.
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instead of "growing into a practical system of belief
-and practice took the shape of a successive acquiescence
in each creed, one by one. And when the follies of this
Jord of misrule bronght their npatural fruits into
existence, his notion of repression showed itself in
barbarous and grotesque sentences.”

Revolt of Khusru

Prince Khusru although apparently reconeiled to his
father, was not very happy. Jahangir on the other
hand was suspicious about his movements. He was
advised to put the prince’s eyes out. Khusru felt un-
easy at the way he was treated and asked his old
friend Hasan Beg Khan DBadakhshi, the Governor of
Kabul to came to his rescue. Hasan Beg hurried to-
wards Agra with some troops. On the Oth of April
1606 Khusru managed to escape from the fort of Agra
in the evening, and the next day met Ilasan Beg Khan
at Akbarpur, twenty-four AKos from Agra. With his
assistance he proceeded towards Lahore. In the mean-
time Jahangir pursued him with the swiftest eclephants
and a large number of followers. Khusru had collected
about 10,000 men, and some money on the way. Ou
the ninth day he reached Lahore, but the fort was
strongly defended by the Governor of the place. Jahan-
gir sent a message to the Prince with an offer of Kabul
and the Frontier Provinces, but Khusru demanded as
far as Sirhind. This the Emperor was not  willing to
concede. Khusra tried to capture Lahore by sicie, but
on the approach of Jahangir to the thanks of the Deas
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he gathered courage to oppose him at Bhaironwal
about 30 Kos from Lahore. At first he cut np the
advance party of 300 horsemen, but when the main
army came up the Prince fled, and his army was scat-
tered in all directions. He was captured while he was
trylng to cross the Chenab and brought to Lahore. His
followers were impaled on pointed stakes or hung down
from trees. The principal supporter Hasan Beg was
gewn up in a raw ox hide, and in that state he breathed
his last. Within a month the rebellion collapsed, and
Jahangir then spent about four months in hunting
expeditions near Lahore, The Prince was henceforth
kept as a prisoner. He was the favourite of the people
and there were some attempts made to = overthrow
Jahangir, and to place Khusru on the throne. So oa
his return from Kabul the Emperor adopted the cruel
measure of blindiog his son. He was kept confined in
the fort of Gwalior in the custody of Ani Rai Singh
Dalan till 1616, In course of time Jahangir relented
and showed some kindness towards him. There was a
strong party in the Court against him, and he
was handed over to Asat Khan, who in his
turn passed him on to Khan Jahan Lodi in 1619,
Later on he was committed to the charge of Prince
Khburram, then in the Deccan. The unfortunate Prince
was done to death in January 1622 at Burhanpur.
The dead body was carried to the tomb of his mother
at Allahabad under orders of the Emperor, and the
gavden henceforth received the name of Khusru Bagh.
The people loved him so much that they cherished his
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memory as a ‘martyred saint” Jahangir was greatly
grieved at the sad end of his son, and committed his
grandson Bulaqi to the care of Mirza Auiz, the maternal
grand-father of the boy for edueation,

Guru Arjun

Jahangir fined Guru Arjun, the head of the Sikhs,
Rupees two hundred thousand for giving help to
Khusru in his days of trouble. The Guru refused to
pay the fine, and for this act of disloyalty he was put
to severe torture to which he succoumbed in five days
{(June 1606) The punishment was considered by the
Sikhs as a sort of persecution of their religion.
But actually Jahangir had no such motive. He executed
him for high treason. The Sikh religion was a theistic
movement started by Nanak (1469-1538). He made
Kartarpur his main centre, and from there she preached
his doctrines of the unity of God, and the need of
devotional exercises as the only means of salvation.
He was succeeded by a number of Gorus who
carried on the movement in the Punjab. The second
teacher Guru Angad (1538-52) invented the Gurumukhi
characters in which the Sikhs write, the third Amar Das
(1552-74) organised the church and appointed a compe-
tent leader in each centre. The fourth Garn Ram Das
(1574-81) made Amritsar the sacred shrine of the Sikhs
and his successor Guru Arjun Dev (1581-1606) compiled
the Granth Sahib and improved considerably the
financial position of the church. Ile made the Sikhs
a thoroughly organised body with all the elements of a
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State. He became so powerful that Chandu Shah, the
Diwan of Lahore, sought his alliance, and offered his
daughter to the son of the Guru. But the Guru
declined the alliance, and thereby made him his greatest
enemy. It is believed that his execution was advised
by the dissappointed minister. The tomb of Arjun
Dev in the city of Lahore has become a place of pilgri-
mage, and on the occasion of the death anniversary
of the Guri a great fair is held every year.

Nur Jahan

The greatest influence upon the life of Jahangir was
the beautiful Nur dJahan whom he married in May,
1611, in the sixth year of his reign. - She was the
daughter of a Persian named Mirza Ghiyas, When
he was coming to seek his fortune in Indiz, on the
way a girl was born to him at Kandahar, who received
the pame of Mibr-un-Nisa. Ghiyas was not in a -
position to look after the infant and her mother, who
however were kindly attended to by a rich merchant,
aod  with him they came to  Tathepur-Sikri.
Mirza Ghiyas obtained an employment  under
Akbar and soon rose to eminence by his ability, His
son also was admitted to office. The young Mihr used
to visit the royal harem along with her mother, and
in course of these visits she drew the attention of
Prince Salim. But neither her father nor the Emperor
Akbar liked the idea of a marriage between these two.
Mihr-un-Nisa was already engaged to a young Persian
named Sher-Afghan Khan, and with him the marriage
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was duly celebrated. He was sent away to Bengal with a
jaghir in Burdwan. There they lived happily till 1607,
VWhen Jahangir came to the throne he heard of many
acts of insubordivation committed by Sher Afghan.
Shaikh Kutb-ud-Din Koka, a son-in-law of Salim
Chisti, was sent as Governor of Bengal with instructions
to send Sher Afghan to Court if the reports agnainst
him proved to be true. But the jaghirdar of Burdwan
killed :Kutb-ud-Din in an affray vear Rajmahal, but
he himself was killed by Kishwar Khan, son of Kuth-
ud-Din.  The family of the Afghan was sent to Agra.
His widow Mihr-un-Nisa with her little daughter Ladli
Begum was committed to the care of the quecn-mother,
Rukaya Begum, according to some Salima Begum.
She remained there four years and was treated very
kindly. On the occasion of a Nauroz festival she fell
in the way of Jahangir and awakened in him a strong
desire to marry lher. Her father Mirza Ghiyas was
about this time in disgrace. He was accused of
embezzlement, and his son bad complicity in a plot
against the king. When an offer was made to
him for this marriage he readily agreed, and
Mihr-uno-Nisa had to submit to the  request
of her father. On an auspicious day the nuptials were
celebrated, and her father was raised to the rank of a
Mansabdar of 7000 horse with the title of Itimad-
ud-Daula. Offices of dignity were conferred upon her
brother and other relatives. She became the chief queen
with the title of Nur~Jahan or Light of the world. She
was exceedingly beautiful, and at the age of thirty-four
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woen she was remarried she retained all the charms
of youth.

From the date of her union with Jahangir till his.
death she greatly influenced the affairs of the State
and by her magnetic powers she made the voluptuous-
emperor a thoroughly changed man. Her intelligence was.
on a match with her beauty. She became the chief ad-
viser of her husband, appeared before the publie, had her-
name struck along with that of Jahangir on the coins
as well as on the imperial seal. Jahanglr was so much
enamoured of her that he allowed her to conduct all
affairs of the state. Her father Itimad-ud-Daula was
made the Prime-Minister, and her brother was given a

" high office. Jahangir gave up the habit of driuking to
excess, and the advent of Nur Jahan brought about an
all-round improvement in the court circle. She was a
cultured woman of fine tastes. She showed her talents.
not only in imperial aftairs but in her own sphere of
dress and decorations she exhibited her sense of grace:
and elegance. She had ‘also a large heart, as we are
told that she provided out of her private purse dowries.
for the marriage of five hundred girls. By her acts of
benevolence, wise administratian of the state, and her
measures of both elegence and economy she won gol- .
den opinions from all quarters.

The situation in the provinces

Fortunately for Jahangir there was no serious distur--
bance in the provinces during his reign. He enjoyed the
fruits of labours of his great father. An Afghan named:
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“Osman Khan created some trouble in Bengal, but th
-discontent was local, and it came to an end with the deat]
-of the leader in a small engagement in (612 A. D. Th
:affairs in the Deccan however were not so casy tc
-deal with. The kingdom of Ahmadnagar could not be
-completely subjugated by Akbar. An able Abyssinian
named Malik Ambar had reorganised the government
-and was trying to recover the lost territories. When
-Jahangir was busy with the rebellion of Khusrn, Malik
Ambar defeated the imperial troops and in 1610 he
-succeeded in recovering the capital. The commander
-of the Mughal forces in the Deccan Khan-i-Khanan
Abdur Rahim was recalled aad Khan Jahan Lodi was sent
to take the command. But Malik Ambar proved too strong
for him. A concerted attack was planned to attack
Ahmadnagar in 1612, Abdullah Khan was to proceed
from Guzerat and Prince Parviz with Raja Man Singh
from Khandesh and Berar. Abdulla Khao reached the
place earlier than the other troops and a conjunction of
‘the armies could not be effected. He was harassed by Malik
Ambar and therefore fled towards Guzerat. The other
.armies concentrated at Burbunpur and did not venture
to undertake an attack upon the Deccanis. The failure
.-of the campaign greatly incensed the Emperor. The
war dragged on for some years. Raja Man Singh died
in the Deccan in 1614 A, D. In 1616 Prince Khurram
who had shown bhis ability in Mewar was sent
-against Malik Ambar. Jahangir proceeded to Mandu
to send the prince any help he hight require. Mean-
wwhile Malik Ambar had lost his popularity, the king
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of Bijapur had served his connection with the con-
federacy. In these circumstances Malik Ambar was
foreed to surrender Ahmadnagar, Prince Khurram was
greatly rewarded for his victory and was given the title
of Bhah Jahan, Jahanogir returned to Agra through
Guzerat where he stayed till September 1618. Fresh
risings took place in 1621 and Shah Jahan was again
entrusted with the command of the expedition. Malik
Ambar had driven the Mughals from the Deccan as
far as Burbanpur and occupied the territories held by
them, His troops had crossed the Nerbada and inva-
-ded Mandu. But Shah Jahan with his vast army
-defeated the Abyssinian in a general action. He how-
ever came to terms with him as the chances of his
suceess in subjugating the country were not very great.
Berar, Ahmadnagar aud the neighbouring districts were
.added to the empire. Shah Jahan established his
authority in the Deccan, With the death of - Malik
Ambar in 1626 the Deccan became an easy victim.

The greatest achievement in the reign of Jahangir
was the victory over the Rana of Udaipur. The hos-
tilities with the Rana had continued since the time of

_Akbar. Jahangir first sent Mahabat Khan, and then
Abdullah Khan but these veteran generals failed  to
.bring the war to a close. Ultimately Prince Khurram
was sent in 1615-14 with 20,000 men. Rava  Amar
.Bingh was hard pressed by his vigorous attacks, and
when farther resistance became impossible he sued for
.peace. Khurram asked him to send his son along
.with him to the Emperor at Ajmir. ' The Rana was

2610
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treated with great respect. - His son was offered the
rank of a Mansabdar of 5000, aud Udaipur and the
neighbouring countries were restored to him, The di-
guity of the Sisodias was not wounded by asking the
reigning Rana to attend court in person or demanding
a Sisodia bride for the royal harem. To mark his appre-
ciation of the heroic stand made by the Rajput ruler
Jahangir ordered to prepare two marble statues of
Rana Amar Singh and his son Karan, which were
placed in the gardens outisde the Agra fort, below the
audience window. The ecredit of this great victory
was entirely due to Prince Khurram (Shah Jahan). A
rebellion of the Roshanniyas which threatened Kabul
came to an end in 1611 with the death of the rebel
leader Ahdad. There was perfect peace in northern India..
There was a small risingin the Puajab in 1620 when
Jahangir succeeded in capturing the strong fortress of
Kangra. He built a mosque there, which was greatly
resented by the Hindus.

Jahangir and the Christian missionaries.

Although a Moslem by temperament Jabangir was.
a latitudinarian. To win the sympathy of the Musalman
nobility he declared his strict adherence to the religion
of Islam, and refrained from his Christian way of
living. The Portuguese missionaries were deprived
of the favours shown to them before. DBut as soon as
Jahaogir established his authority he removed all
restrictions, and the missionaries carried on their work
of prosclytising with great enthusiasm. The splendid
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charch and the collegium at Lahore were restored to
them. Christian processions were allowed openly
in the streets. Jahangir received a Persian version of
the Gospel and showed his great liking for pictures
representing Biblical stories. He used many of them
in decorations. The Christian missioparies were dis-
appointed when they could not convert him to their faith.
They had also tried their art upon Akbar and failing
in their mission they used many unkind expressions
regarding their character. Jahangir was broad in his
outlook, and was willing to establish relations with
the Christian powers of Europe. He sent an embassy
to Goa in 1607, but as the viceroy-designate had ot
arrived the envoys could not be properly received.
The Potuguese enjoyed the favours of the Emperor
till the arrival of the English.

English Embassies

- The report of the growing prosperity of the Mughal
empire reached Europe by this time, and many adven--
turers from different countries came out to seek fortune
here. The Portuguese were the first to come. Vasco da-
Gama first landed at Calicat in May, 1498, They
gradually penetrated into the country, and established trade
relations with Indians. They obtained Goa from the king of
Bijapur in 1510, and Dia from that of Guzcrat. The
old overland route along the Arab Coast was superseded
and the voyage round the Cape of Good Hope became
more regular. In the time of Akbar the Portuguese
received great favours, and with his help they built
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churches at Lahore and Agra. In the meantime there
~ has been great political changes in Portugal, as it was
annexed to Spainiu 1580, and the English fleet had
become supreme on the sea after the destruction of
the Spanish Armada in 1588, A trading company had
been formed in England in 1600, but the English
merchants could not compete with the Portuguese, They
now thought of diplomatic skill. An adventurer numed
Captain William Hawkins procured a letter from King
James I to Jahangir. He arrived at Surat on board
the Hector on August 24, 1608, and travelled to Agra
with great difficulty. = On receiving many valuable
presents the Emperor accorded him' a cordial reception.
The Captain could spesk in Turki, and therefore had
no necessity of an interpreter at the time of conversing
with the Emperor. He lived at Court for about three
years, and became a boon companion of Jahangir in his
drinking bouts. The Portuguese were greatly annoyed
at the favours shown to the English, and employed
their tactics in counteracting the influence of Hawkins.
As they were still very powerful on the sca the
concessions granted to the English were withdrawn. Thus
disappointed Hawkins left India in 1611. But the next
year the Portuguese suffered a defeat on the sca at the
hands of the English. Through indiscretion they attacked
four imperial ships, and captured immense booty in
1613. The.Emperor therefore ordered an attack upon
Daman. The Portuguese wherever found were captured,
and the public worship in Christian churches stopped.
Shortly after this another LEnglishman named William
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Edwards came with a letter from James I to Jahangir in
1615. But these informal negotiations were followed by a
regular mission led by Sir Thomas Roe.

Roe arrived at Surat in September, 1615, and
proceeded to Ajmir through Burhanpur and Chitor.
Jahangir was then holding his Court at Ajmir. Sir
Thomas Roe stayed at Court for three years, and
accompanied Jahangir to Mandu and Guzerat. He
was a nobleman with good education, and polished
manners, Being the representative of King James I
of England he was received with great honour. He
was thoroughly acquainted with the art of diplomacy,
Jahangir was pleased with his affability and granted
him the concessions he desired for promoting English
trade in India. He was accompanied by a young
clergyman named FEdward Terry who came to India
to see the country for himself. The accounts left by
Roe and Terry are very valuable for a study of the
court life, and the manners and customs of the people.

Sir Thomas Roe was greatly impressed with the
magnificeice of the Court. He was admitted to the
highest honours, and was allowed to hold free con-
versation with the Emperor on intimate terms. Although
the nobles were very courteous he found them extremely
venal, and he could not obtain the concessions for the
English till Asaf Khan was satisfied with rich presents.
He found the Governors tyrannical and exacting. The
merchants were greatly harassed at the ports, and
travel in the country was not so inconvenient. The
Deccan was at that time in a state of ruin. The
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administration in the Mughal empire had deteriorated
since the time of Akbar. The Emperor although very
free and jovial in his evening parties was very dignified
in public. He would punish anybody for referring to
his frivolities at night. Roe presented him an Inglish
coach, of which he was very fond. The craftmanship
was so perfect that a nwmber of coaches were shortly
built on this model. The art of painting was so
advanced that a picture presented by Roe was quickly
copied with perfection.

Loss of Kandahar

Shah Abbas, King of Persia sent an embassy to the
court of Jahangir in 1611, and the Emperor sent one to the
court of Persia in return in 1613, The diplomatic relations
with the Shah continued for some years. In 1620 the
Shah asked for the restoration of the city of Kandahar to
Persia, and in return promised to give territory else-
where. But Jahangir did not receive the proposal with
favour. The Shah was determined to get back their
ancient possession. The city was besieged in 1622, and
after six months the Persians occupied it. The Emperor
formed a plan of recovering the place by sending
Shah Jahan at the head of a big cxpedition. But the
Prince had then other schemes in his mind, and did
not comply with the orders, He was then directed to
place a considerable portion of his troops under the
command of Shahriyar. At the instigation of Asaf
Khan this order also was disregarded, and the Drince
prepnréd for a rebellion against his father.
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Rebellion of Shah Jahan
Shoh Jahan had been appointed as Viceroy of the
Decean, and had under him extensive territories. He
had married the danghter of Asaf Khan, brother of
Nur Jahan. With the support of the Empress ' and her
.brother he expected to supersede Parviz and become the
monarch, But in 1622 Nur Jahan’s daughter, Ladli
Begum by Sher Afghan was married to Prince Shah-
rigpar and since then there was a division in the rank
.of the supporters of Shah Jaban. = He felt that his
.absence in Kandahar might weaken his cause, On the
.other hand he tried to obtain possessions of the
‘immense treasures belonging to his father, He marched
with about 10,000 horse towards Agra. - Jahangir also
proceeded from Lahore to punish the rebel Prince.. While
Shah Jahan had reached Fathepur he found that the
‘Governor of Agra had shut the gates of the fort
-against him. Raja Bikramajit, the Governor of Guzerat,
generally known as Sundar was his chief adviser The
‘houses of a number of Amirs in the outskirts of the
city were plundered, and about sixty or seventy lakhs
-of Tupees were gathered in this way. Finding his retreat
difficult Shah Jahan decided to give battle to his father.
.Jahangir had summoned Mahabat Khan from - Kabul
and Prince Parviz from Patna. The Emperor found
4 number of nobles vacillating in their loyalty. Even
-the Khan-i-Khanan Abdur Rahim joined: the rebels,
In an engagement at Balochpur, forty miles south of
Delhi, Sundar was killed, and Shah Jahan was repulsed,
e then fled towards Mewat. Prince Parviz was
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despatched to pursue him. Prince Dawar Dakhsh,
son of Khusru was appointed the Viceroy of Guzerat.
Shah Jahan retreated towards Mandu. Jahangir was
willing to forgive him if he took an ocath net to
rebel again and asked him to come to Ajmir, but the
Prince did not listen. He set up another rebellion in
Guzerat, which however was crushed and then he crossed
the Nerbada and retreated into Borhanpur. Mahabat
' Khan pursued him to this place, and he then in great
distress went to Telingana, and through Masulipatam
made his way to Bengal, where he succeeded in obtaining
a foothold. The Governor of Bengal was taken un-
awares, and his treasures were captured. Jbrahim
Khan, the Governor of Dacca was slain in a battle
near Raj Mahal Shah Jahan then occupied- Patna
without resistance and was  contemplating an
attack upon Allahabad. In the mean time Parviz and
Mahabat Khan while at Burhanpur got the information
of the march of events in the east. They warched
in precipitate haste towards Allahabad. At a battle on
the banks of the Ganges hear its confluence with the
Chausa Shan Jahan was heavily defeated and put to
flicht. His followers deserted him, and those who had
sapported him were mercilessly treated by Parviz and
Mahabat Khan,  Shah Jhahan fled to Golkonda
through Orissa, and there he received some help from
Malik Ambar. With the assistance thus received
an attempt was made to capture Burbanpur. But in
the mean time Parviz and Mahabat Khan had returned
to the Deccan and forced Shah Jahan to raise the siege.



JAHANGIR ) 455+

Shah Jahan had now no escape, most of his adherents
had left his cause,-and in utter distress he agreed to
to the terms dictated to him. He surrendered the
forts of Rohtas in Bihar and Asirgarh in the Deccan
and sent his sons Dara and Aurangzeb as hostages
to the Court. Qut of his kindness Jahangir allowed him
to remain in the Deccan.

Rebellion of Mahabat Khan

Mahabat Khan was one of the most influential
Amirs of the time, But for him Parviz would not
have been able to reduce Shah Jahan. But neither
Nur Jahan nor her brother Asaf Khan was happy at
the gro..th of his influence. Khan-i-Khanan Abdur
Rahim who had now repented and sought royal favours
brought a number of accusations against Mahabat Khan
for ill-treatment during his captivity. Mahabat Khan
was summoned to Lahore, but instead of - going there-
he went to his own citadel at Rantambhor. There he
gathered his Rajput troops and- meditated resistance.
He further oftended the FEmperor by betrothing his
daughter without his permission. He was ordered to
surrender Rantambhor to Nur Jahan. This degradation he
could not brook and proceeded towards Lahore with 5000
Rajput troops, Jahangir was then on his march to Kabul
(1626 A.D.) When he approached the impirial camp-
on the banks of the Chenab he was ordered to come-
with his elephants in advance leaving the army behind,
But the veteran soldier did not like to come as a
criminal, Moreover he was afraid of the Persian party
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consisting of the Queen, her brother and other nobles
then surrounding the Emperor. Tn an engagement on
the Jhelum the royalists were defeated with the Joss
of 2000 men. Mahabat then attacked the tent of
Jahangir when he was still in his bed. The imperial
guards were easily overpowered and the Emperor was
taken on au elephant to Mahabat Khan’s tent. Asaf Khan
with his son fled towards Attock, but they were seized
by Mahabat’s son. In this catastrophe Nur Jahan showed
nncommon heroism, When all her efforts to rescue
her husband failed she joined him in his captivity.
The march to Kabul was continued, and when the
party reached that place the king was allowed some
freedom of movement, In the mean time Nur Jahan
developed her plan of releasing Jahangir from the hands
of Mahabat Khan, The general also had alienated the
Musalman troops by his overbearing menners. Po-
pular sympathy was still very strong with the Emperor.
‘One day when dJahangir was out hunting he was
Joined by a large number of Amirs with their troops
numbering about 30,000, Mahabat Khan then realised
his position, and withdrew to a distance of half a kos
from the royal camp. When demanded to release
Asaf Khan he asked for an assurance of eafety, and
was allowed to come to India without fear of any
harm to his person. Shortly afterwards the king and
.queen returned to Lahore.

When Jahangir was in the hands of Mahabat Khan
Shah Jahan marched northwards with a view to attack
Agra. DBut on the death of Iaja Kishen Singh at
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Ajmir his Rajput following melted away, and hopeless
of any success Shah Jahan turned towards Tatta. He
wasalso driven out of that place and then fled to Bhakkar.
His fortune however turned on the death of Parviz
at Burhanpur in 1626. = On receiving this news he
started for the Deccan through Guzerat, Mahabat
Khan finding his position unsafe in the royal Court fled
to Jesalmir, and then to Udaipur. Khan-i-Khanan
Abdur Rahima who had been ordered to pursue him
died at Delbi. With the advice of the Rana of
Udaipur Mahabat Khan joined Shah Jahan, most
probably with the connivance of Asaf Khan who had no
sympathy with his sister in pushing . the claims of
Shahriyar to the throne.

Death of Jahangir

The health of Jahangir had been thoroughly shattered.
He was suffering from asthma long since, and while
in Kashmir he had a relapse. On his way to Lahore
he died at Chengiz Hatli near Bhimbhar on October 28,
1627 at the age of fifty-nine. The body was taken to
Lahore for burial in the gardens of Shahdara. Nur-Jahan
lost all the influence she had along with his death. Her
efforts to place Shabriyar on the throne failed disas-
trously, and she spent the remaining part of her life
in seclusion. She died in 1646 and was buried in the neigh-
bourhood of Jahanpir's tomb.

Jahangir was in every respect inferior to his august father.
He did not win any fresh territories, but on the other
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hand lost Kandahar. Brought up as the favourite child
of the Emperor he became a pleasure seeker. The chief
occupation of his life was hunting, Although he maintained
the religion of the Muhammadans he never bothered
himself about religious questions, He practically conti-
nued the policy of toleration of his father. He did not
restrict the freedom of the Hindus nor did he withdraw
their privileges. The Christiaus were thankful to him
for favours shown. He was respectful towards eaints
and religious persons, and loved to be in their company.
He did not interfere with the administrative system of
his father, and extended his friendly relations with the
Rajput Princes. Since his marriage with Nur Jahan he
surrendered himself entirely into her hands. The ac-
complished queen became the real ruler of Hindustan.
She was very ably assisted by her father Itimad-ud
Daula, and after his death in 1622 by her brother Asaf
Khan. The administration went on smoothly till the
brother and the the sister pulled in different directions
regarding the succession to the throne, This was very
unfortunate both for the cmpire and for Nur Jahan.
Her influence was totally eclipsed on the death of
Jahangir. She also committed “a serious blunder by ex-
citing Mahabat IChan to rebellion. IHer valour and in-
genuity were however brilliantly  displayed in  the
manner in which she freed her husband. She was a
poet and artist and changed the atmosphere of the Court
by her graceful and dignified conduct. DBoth of them
were large-hearted and charitable. A picture of the
Court life and of the relations between Jahangir and
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Francisco Pelsaert. He says

“When the king comes home in the evening from
hunting, he takes his seat in his ghosalkhana, where all
the Jords come to present themselves, and where stran-
gers who have requests to make are received in audience.
He sits here till a quarter of the night or more has
passed, and during this time he drinks his three piyala,
or cups of wine, taking them successively at regular
intervals; and when he drinks, all the by-standers
shout or cry out wishes that it may do him good,
just ag in.our country when “the king drinks” is played.
Everyone leaves when the last cup has been drunk, and
the king goes to bed. As soon as all the men have
left, the Queen comes with the female slaves, and they
undress him, chafing and fondling him as if he were a
little child; for his three cups have made him so
“happy” that he is more disposed to rest than keep
awake, This is the time when his wife who knows so
well how to manage him that she obtains whatever she
asks for or desires, gets always ‘yes’ and hardly ever ‘no’
in reply.

Although ease-loving and indolent Jahangir had a
shrewd iotellipence. The “Memoirs” which he wrote
bears ample marks of his keen observation, and sound
judgement. He used to visit Kashmir almost every
summer and he deseribes the fauna and flora of the
place with perfect accuracy. One passage from the
“Memoirs” will give an idea of the style in which it is
‘written :
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“Kashmir is a garden of eternal spring, or an iron
port to a palace of kings—a delightful flower bed and
a heart-expanding hermitage for dervishes. Its pleasant
meads and enchanting cascades are beyond all desprip-
tion. There are running streams and fountains beyond
count. Wherever the eye reaches, there are verdure and
running water. The red rose, the violet, and the narcis-
sus grow of themselves ; in the field we there are all kinds
of flowers and all sorts of sweet scented herbs more
than can be calculated. In the soul-enchanting spring
the hills and plains are filled with blossoms ; the gates,
the walls, the courts, the roofs, are lighted up by the
torches of banquet-adorning tulips, what shall we say of
these things or of the wide meadows (julgaha) and the
fragrant trefoil ? verse. * * ¥ ¢ ¥ ¥

“The finest inflorescence is that of the almond and
the peach. OQutside the hill-country the commencement
of blossoming is the 1st Isfandarmuz (Febroary 10)
In the territory of Kashmir it is the 18th Farwardin
(March 10), and in the city gardens it is the 9th and
10th of that month, and the end of their blooming joins
on to the commencement of that of the blue jessamines.
In attendance on my revered father I frequently went
round the saffron fields, and beheld the epectacle of
the autumn. Thank God that on this occasion 1
beheld the beauties of the spring”

" Not only Jahangir was a fine writer himself he was
a great patron of learning. With his patronage was
compiled a dictionary entitled Farhanj-i-Jahangiri. e
aso was an artist, and bis fine taste is shown in the
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paintings and buidings he designed. There were a num-
ber of artists around the court and he himself could
draw and paint. The two renowned painters = of his.
reign were Abul Hasan and Ustad Mansur, some of
whose paintings can be still seen. He had a great share-
in giving a final shape to the splendid tomb of his
father at Sikandra, in designing thg tomb of Itimad-ud-
Daunla on the banks of the Jumna on the other side
of Agra which is considered to be a piece of perfect.
workmanship or in his own sepulchre in the gardens of.
Shahdara on the Ravi.

The Condition of India in the time of Jahanzir

From the writings of the European visitors an
idea may be formed of the condition of the counntry.
Besides Hawkins, Edwards, Roe, Terry and Ovington we-
have two valuable accounts from Duteh sources. Fran-
cisco Pelsaert came out to India in 1618 and remained
here till 1627. In his Remonstrantie he describes the
condition of trade in India, and the manners and
customs of the people. Another Dutch anthor was De
Laet, a director of the Dutch East India Company. His De-
Imperio Magni Mogolis is a satisfactory study of the eco-
nomic position of India, he supplented this by the Fragment
of Indian Ilistory. In. the conclusion of the latter
book the author writes:: “It will be -evideot however
from a study of my material that the Mogol empire is exce~
edingly large, embracing many great provinees, that its ruler-
possesses vast wealth and infinite power, as regards both
the number and strength of his troops and the ampli--
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tude of his military resources. If however a careful
‘{nvestigation be made of the affairs of each Provinee, it
will rapidly become apparent that the vast bulk of the
-empire labours under many discomforts, both disorders
within and assaults from without; nor is it stable
-enough even now to endure for long. For instance (as
is made abundantly apparent from the foregoing histori-
-cal fragment), the empire is tormented by numerons in-
-testine disorders and calamities. Sons cannot wait for
theic parents’ death, but fight amongst themselves
.and against their parents and readily discover among
the magnets a spirit eager and ripe lor .insurrection
.and revolution.

“The empire is not even strong ecnovgh to preserve
itself from the operation of internal canses of weakness
.and decay. One reason for this is to be found in its
:subjection to an absolute government, frequently tyran-
nical in character ; this leads to the existence of a revo-
lutionary spirit amongst the subjects of the empire,
spirit which is readily inflamed and at any opportunity
.of revolt produces an insurrection. Another reason
is the multitude of minor privees who can defend them-
selves against the king by virtue of the nature of
‘their strongholds, the mountainous character of lurge
tracts of the country, and the number and power of
their troops. This danger becomes particularly pressing
when it is increased ecither by the weakness of the
reigning emperor, or by his laziness, or by the preva-
lence of civil warfare”” The commentary was fully justi-
fied by the trend of subsequent events. The Court was
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aoverflowing with wealth. There was Juxury all around
"but the peasantry was poor and miserable. They
laboured for their masters, but got very little in
return. ‘The land would give a plentiful or even an
-extraordivary yield, if the peasants were not so cruelly
-or pitilessly oppressed,” says Pelsaert, “for villages
which owing to some small shortage of produce, are
unable to pay the full amount of the revenue-farm, are
made prize, so to speak, by their masters or governors,
:and wives and children sold on the pretext of a charge
of rebellion. Some peasants abscond to escape their
tyranny, and take refuge with Rajas who are in rebellion
:and consequently the fields lie empty and unsown, and
grow into wilderness. Such oppression is8 exceedingly
prevalent in this country.”
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CHAPTER VI
SHAH JAHAN (1628-1658 )

The Struggle for the Throne.

The death of Jahangir created a tangle in the
matter of succession. Both Kbusru and Parviz had died
before, Shah Jahan was in the Deccan, and the youngest
son Shahriyar had already procceeded to Lahore to scize
the throne as soon as the death of Jahangir would
take place. He would take possession of the royal
treasures and ftried to enlist the sympathy of the sol-
diers by a generous distribution of the mouey., DBut
Asaf Khan who was watching the interests of his son-
in-law  Shah  Jahan sent an urgent message
to him in the Deccan to come at once to Agra, and in
the meantime prevented Shahriysr from carrying out
his plan. Nur Jahan was put under arrest and Dawar
Bakhsh, popularly called Bulagi, the son of Khusruy, was
placed upon the throne as a temporary arcangement.
Shahrigar made desperate efforts to counteract the evil
designs of Asaf Khan, The people had no faith in his
ability and used to call him conteptously “Na-
Shudani’ (good for nothing) Oun the approach of Asaf
Khan he. took shelter within the fort of Lahore, but
could not stand against his superior forces. He was
taken a prisoner and was shortly put to death. The
sons of Daniyal who were with him, also shared his fate.
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Nur Jahan henceforth retired completely from public
life. She was granted a handsome stipend which she
spent in charity. Never again in life people saw her
joining any festivities, She died in 1646 honoured by
all as the devoted widow of a popular sovercign. ,

Shah Jahan received the message from Asaf Khan
at Juonair in six days. He was encouraged by Maha-
bat Khan in undertaking a journey to the capital. He
marched with only 7,000 troops through Surat and
Cambay and on the way received the active sympathy
of the nobles and princes. He sent a messenger to Lahore
with instructions to remove from his way the princes who.
had any claim to the throne. Shahriyar and the sons
of Daniyal were killed according to his wishes,
Bulagi escaped to Persia, and when Shah Jahan reached
Agra he was received by the nobles as the rightful
Emperor. ' On an auspicious day, the €th February 1628,
he entered the Fort where the formal coronation
ceremony was held. He asssumed the title of Sahabuddin
Muhammad. Fifty days after the coronation Asaf
Khan returned to Agra with Nur Jahan and other
lndies. The royal treasures were placed in the hands
of Shah Jahan, who made Asaf Khan the chief officer in
the Empire and conferved the highest honours upon
him and Mahabat Khan,

Distarbances in the early part of the reign

Shah Jahan was thirty-six when he came to the
throne. By his long association with the government
he bad acquired enough wisdom and esperience to
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manage the affairs of the state with ability. By bloody
assassinations all the rivals to the throne had been
removed, and immediately on assumption of power he
took steps for display of grandeur in various ways. But
in the early part of his reign he was troubled by &
few risings in the difterent parts of the empive, The
Uzbegs burst into the province of Kabul, but with-
drew when a small army was sent against them. Sharif-
ul Mulk of Sind also was anxious to declare himself
independent. The rebellion of Raja Jujhar Singh
Bundela was more serious. His turbulent followers
were a source of great danger on the road to Burhan-
pur. An expedition under the leadership of yomng
Aurangzeb assisted by three able generals succeeded
in crushing the rising for the time being, nlthough it
took eight years to completely end the trouble, when
the leader of the rebels was killed by the Gonds,

Khan Jahan Lodi, the cowmander of the forees in the
Deccan, was reluctant to pay alleglance to tue new
monarch, He was an Afghan promoted to high office
in the reign of Jabangir, and held chief command of
the army under Parviz, Ie was in friendly relations
with the son of Malik Ambar, and contemplated reersion
from the empire when Shoh Jahan went to Agra.
Shah Jahan transferred him to the province of Malwa
when his movements in the Deccan became  suepicious,
and appointed Mahabut Khan to take bhis place. To
the suppression of the DBundelas he offered ready
assistance, and was invited to the court by Hhah
Jahan, DBut after a short stay at Agra he suspected
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that the Emperor had some designs against him., - He
left the capital with 2000 troops, and although pursued
by the imperial troops managed to escape through
Bundelkand and Gondwana, Soon he  established
contact with his ally the king of Abmadnagar, Shsh
Jahau realising the seriousness of the situation took
the field himself, He was afraid that Khah Jahan
might form a strong combination of the Deccan king-
doms and thereby endanger the Mughal empire. Murtiza
Nizam Shah of Abmadnagar was an incompetent ruler.
He took Khan Jahan under his wings, and gave him
every possible help to stand against the Mughals, But
Khan Jahan was driven from place to place, and fled
to Bijapur. Muhammad Adil Shah, the king of Bijapur
was not prepared to eanter into hostility with Shah
Jahan, The other important king of the south, Abdulla
Kutb Shah of Golkonda, was busy with the Hindu
kingdom of Telingana and did not care to take part
in these contests. Khan Jaban went back to Ahmadnagar
but Murtiza Nizam Shah was heavily defeated a}
Daulatabad, The rebel pencral made a desperate
attemgt to join the Afghans in Peshawar. - He was
captured near Kalinjar and killed (1630 AD.). When
these troubles were over Shah Jalan was able to
arrange for a display of the magnificence of the treasures
he had inherited, He ordered the famous Peacock
throne which took seven years to the completed (1628~
35), It cost a crore of rupces. -
Death of Mumtaz Mahal (1631)

The Emperor Suffered a great loss on the death of
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his beloved wife Mumtaz Mahal at Burhanpur in June
1631. He was greatly devoted to her, and so long as
she lived she greatly woulded his life and conduct.
She was the daughter of Asaf Khan, the brother of
Nur Jaban. She was born in 1592 and married to
Shah Jahan in 1612, She bore to her husband fourtcen
children, eight sons and six daughters and died in
child bed at the age of thirty-nine. Four of her sons
survived and subsequently fizured in history, and along
with them were associated her two daughters. She
influenced the religious policy of Shah Jahan considerably.
She was a devout Muslim, and changed the attitude of
Shah Jahan towards other religions. Her body was
first buried at Burhanpur, and after six months removed
to Agra where the celebrated mausoleum was erected.

War with the Portuguese at Hughli

The Portugueﬂse traders at Hughli had offended
the Empress by capturing two of her slave-girls
with the intention of making them converts  to
Christianity, Their conduct had for sometime engaged
the attention of the Emperor. They fonnded a small
settlement on the banks of the Ganges, above Satgaon,
in 1579, and gradually built up the factory at Iughli.
The trade of the old city of Satgnon was ruined by
them, and they extended their business at the expense
of the Tndian merchants, They also carried on slave
trade, and usel to convert their vietims to Christianity.
When these things were reported to Shah  Jahan he
adopted measures to chastise the arrogant Christian x.
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Kasim Khan was appointed as Governor of Bengal with
this object. The Emperor was determined to crush the
-Christians throughout his dominions. Kasim Khan
laid siege to the town of Hughli on the 24th June,
1632, The Portuguese offered strong resistance, and
held out for three months. But they were overpowered
‘by superior numbers of the Mughals. Some of them
‘managed to escape by boat to the Saugor Island at  the
mouth of the Ganges. The casualtics were very
‘heavy and several thousands were carried as prisoners
to Agra. The fortifications and places of worship
at Hughli were destroyed, and the captives were forced
to accept Islam. Some of them were ransomed with
‘the generosity of Asaf Khan, and some saved through
the intervention the Armenian architect Geronimo Veroneo
who was engaged in building the Taj, A big church
-at Agra also suffered from the revengeful spirit of the
‘Emperor.  The Christians throughout the empire were

subjected to a state of misery and desolation unheard
of before.

The spirit of intolerance was also_ shown in his
~dealings with the Hindus, Orders were issued that
no new temples would be erccted and those in the
course of construction should be demolished. We

are told that seventy-six temples were destroyed in
‘the district of Benares alone.

"The Deccan War

Shah Jahan had marched into the Deccan to pursue
‘the rebellious general Khan Jahan Lodi, He remained
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there even after the death of the general as he found’
it an opportune oceasion to drive a wedge into the
Deccan by continuing war with Murtiza Nizam Shah
of Ahmadnagar. The Mughals had already acquired
Khandesh and part of Ahmadoagar including Berar.
Malik Ambar recovered the territories as far as Bur-
hanpur. The kingdoms of Bijapur aud Golkouda were
fully independent. Shah Jahan during his stay in the
Deccan carefully studied the situation. He now adopted
a forward policy and made an effort to extend his
empire in the south. He carried on his hostility with
the king of Ahmadnagar for espousing the cause of Khan
Jahan Lodi. The country was then in great distress
on account of the failure of raius. There was a large
number of deaths both of men and cattle, through
starvation, and opumbers were carried away by
pestilence. Those who could left the country, and a
vast proportion of these emigrants succoumbed on the
way. The Mughals ander Azam Khan pressed their
attacks when the entire south from Guzerat to Ahwad-
nagar was suffering from these calamitics. The internal
dissensions in Ahmadnagar still further weakened  the
Sultan. He was wot very popular, and his minister
Fath Khan whom he had recently released from  pri<on
was not very faithful. The ungrateful minister entered
into correspondence with the Emperor, treacherously
murdered his master, placed an infant named Hussuin
Shah on the throne. In the mcantime Muhammad
Adil Shah of Bijapur declared war against the Mughals
as he feared that he would not be safe if Ahmadnagar
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was ruined. But Murtiza Nizam Shah had been put
to death before he could send any help. When the
pegotiations were carried on with Fath Khan an
attack was directed against Bijapur although Muham-~
Adil Shah had given no offence to the Emperor. The
Mughal troops led by Asaf Khan laid siege to Bijapur
(1631) but on account of famine and pestilence he had
great difficulty in carrying on the operations, When
supplies failed him he was forced to withdraw. About
this time Shah Jahan returned to Agra leaving Maha-
bat Khan in full charge of the Government of the-
Deccan.

Fath Khan although offered his submission to the-
Emperor was not prepared to unconditionally surrender.
He held out for sometime in the fortress of Daulata-
bad which had been fortified by his father Malik Ambar,
He received occasional help from the King of Bijapur-.
But the perfidious minister surrendered the fortress on
receiving a large amount of money from Mahabat Khan..
The young Sultan whom he had placed on the throne
was made a prisoner in the fort of Gwalior, and Fath
Khan was admitted into the Mughal service on a high
salary (1632). The kingdom of Ahmadnagar henceforth
ceased to exist but hostilities with Bijapur still conti-
nued. The Mughals however could not bring the entire
territory belonging to the Nizam Shah under their con-
trol, parts of his dominions and some forts were taken
possession of by the Sultan of Bijapur who also took

into his service a large number of officers and troops
of Ahmadnagar,
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Mahabat Khan tried his best to reduce the kingdom
of Bijapur. But his effort failed. The Sultan held out
heroically, and forced the Moghals to raise the siege of
Parenda, Mahabat Khan fell back upon Burhanpur,
and was soon recalled. He died shortly afterwards
{1634 A. D) The Deccan was divided into two com-
mands under the generals Khan-i-Dauran and Khan-i-
Zaman. DBut these generals could not in any way im-
‘prove the situation. On the other hand a Mahratta chief
named Shahji Bhonsla set up on the throne of Ahmad-
nagar a Nizam Shahi boy named Ahmad Nizam Shah,
and managed to obtain possession of the country from
the the sea to Ahmadnagar. In these cirenmstances
‘Shah Jahan took the field over again, and marched from
Agra towards the end of 1635 A. D.

The Emperor reached Daulatabad on the 21st
TFebruary 1636, and then broke up his army into four
-divisions. One division he sent azainst Shahji and three
others were kept ready for Bijapur and Golkonda,
Shahji although driven out of the plains held out for a
long time in his mountain fastnesses, The kings of
Bijapur and Golkonds were asked to submit, to
recognise Shah Jahan as their suzerain, to pay an
annual tribute, and not to give any assistance to  Shahji,
Abdulla of Kutb Shah of Golkanda did not venture
to oppose the Emperor and agreed to pay a  regular
tribute and accept Shah Jahan as his  overlord. But
the king of Dijapur was not g0 vielding. He made »a
thorough preparation to mect the Mughal arms, laid
waste the countay round Bijapur so tl}ut the enemy

\
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might not carry the operations for want of supplies.
When Shah Jahan concentrated three armies upon that
country Muhammad Shah saved the capital by cutting
the dam of the lake of Shahpur. Ultimately both the
parties became tired, and they agreed to a settlement
(May 8, 1636 AD.) The terms were less onerous than
those offered to Golkonda. The Sultan of Bijapur
acknowledged the suzerainty of Shah Jahan but was
not required to pay an annual tribute. He simply paid
an indemnity of 20 lakhs of rupees, but received a
big slice out of the territories of the Ahmadnagar king-
dom yielding a revenue of 80 lakhs of rupees. The
other porton of that kingdom was annexed by Shah
dJahan. Shahji Bhonsla maintained his hostilitics for some-
time more. But he could not stand long against the
formidable army of the Mughals. He was forced to
surrender the forts and to give up the pretender, but
he was allowed to join the service of Bijapur. The
campaign was therefore a great success. The kingdom
of Ahmadnagar was destroyed, and Bijapur and Gol-
konda became subordinate states, After settling the
affairs in the Deccan Shah Jahan returned to Agra by
the middle of the year 1636 A.D. leaving there Aurangzeh
as viceroy, The young prince was only eighteen when
he became viccroy of this important province, which
included Xhandesh, Berar, Telingana and Daulatabad.

'Aurangzeb as viceroy of the Deccan (1634-44 A.D))

Avrangzeh had a difficult charge to manage. Within
the province there were 64 forts and he expeeted a
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.revenune of A crores of rupees when he took up the
administration (July 14, 1636 A. D.) Shahji Bhonsla was
still holding out, and he had control over a number of
forts, The Mahratta leader could not long resist the
Mughal attacks and survendered towards the eond of
the year. With the help of general Khao-i-Dauran
the Gond country was subjugated early in 1637 A.D.
The next year Daglana lying between Khandesh and
Guzerat was conquered. The main work of administra-
tion in the Deccan was performed by Khan-i-Zanan,
Aurangzeb bad thus ample leisure to enjoy himself.
During his incumbency as viceroy of the Deccan he
visited Agra several times. His sister Princess Jahanara
got burnt by an accident (March 26, 1644) and when
she was in a precarious condition, Aurangzeb came
to sce her in May. While at Agra he was deprived
of his charge as he incurred the displeasure of his father
by his suspicious attitude towards his eldest brother
Dara. Through the intervention of Jahanara on her
recovery he was subsequently appointed governor of
Guzerat (February, 1645 A. D) He won good opinion
of the Emperer by his able ndministration of this pro-
vince. He suppressed lawlessness and robbery by  his
vigorous rule during his two years sfay there,

Expedition to Central Asia

The dream of oceupying Samarkand, the capital  of
Timur, was inherited by Shah Jahan from his father
and grand-father.  The provinces of Balkh and Budakh-
shan were on the way. They were inclnded in the



SHAH JAHAN £i5

kingdom of Bokhara. In 1642 A. D. Nazar Muham-
mad became the King of these territories. He was
however soon deprived of the provinces beyond the
Oxus, and his attacks upon Xabul were repelled.
Shah Jahan considered these circumstances as favourable
to his plan, and sent an expedition under Prince
Murad Bakbsh and Ali Mardan Khan, 1645 A, D.
The Indian army marched through the country beyond
the Hindukush almost without opposition and entered
the city of Balkh on the 2nd July, 1646 A. D. Nazar
Muhammad fled to Persia, but his vast wealth was
plundered by his own people. Only 12 lakhs fell into
the hands of the conqueror. Although victorious the
Prince was ansious to return to India. He was not
very happy amidst the bleak wilderness of Balkh, and
was pining for the pleasures at home. He returned .
without permission of the Emperor, and for this he was
deprived of his Mansab and was superseded by Allami
Sa’'dulla Khan, the chief minister. Sa'dulla restored
order in the army which had lost its morale on
account of the vacillation of the Prince. To maintain
the position in Balkh Aurangzeb was  recalled
from Guzerat and sent to DBalkh carly in 1647
In his march across the Hindukush he was accom-
panied by Ali Mardan Khan and reached Balkh on
the 27th May. But the Mughal position became unte-
pable when they were attacked by the Uzbegs from all
sides. Aurangzeb had to beat a retreat after restoring
Balkh and Badakhshan to Nazar Muhammad. The
retreat was disastrous on account of an early setting in
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of the winter. About 5000 men perished on the way,
and the total loss in this wild projeet was about four
crores of rupees. Aurangzeb however showed great
courage in the midst of dangers, and for his heroism
he was rewarded and appointed governor of Multan,
March 1648. For sometime India had to guard against
the danger of an invasion from the Uzbegs. Shah Jahan
watched their movements from Lahore, and sometimes
moved to Kabul.

Loss of Kandahar

Kandahar which holds a strategic position between
India and Central Asia was in possession of the Mughal
Emperovs. But in 1622 Shah Abbas of Persia snatched
it from the hands of Jahangir. Shah Jahan recovered
it in 1638 A.D. by holding out promises of high posi-
tion to its governor Ali Mardan Khan who reccived a
sum of one lakh of rupees on surrendering the place.
The king of Persia, however, was not reconciled to
this position. He kept up his efforts to regain Kan-
dahar. The traffic from Persia to Kandahar viz Herat
was stopped, and the city was besieged on  the  16th
December, 1648, The Mughal commandant Daulat Khan
had not sufficient troops to defend, and Shuh Jahan
could not send any troops till next spring. o the
garrison surrendered on the 11th Kebruary, 1649, after
a sicge of 57 days. Sa’dulla Khan reached Kanduhar
in May, and Aurangzeb arrived two days later. The
combined army )aid siege to the city but they did not
bring with them a siege train of battering guns, skilled
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artillery men necessary for such operations, After an
ineffective siege lasting three months and a half they
were forced to raise it on the approach of the winter
( September 5, 1669 ). Aurangzeb lost almost two to-
three thousand men in this campaign.

Shah Jaban did not however give up the hope of
regaining this lost dominion. He gathered his forces in
the course of the next three years. A huge army was.
organised under Sa’dulla and  Aurangzeb, and
equipped with materials for an effective siege. Sa’dulla
marched from Kabul and Aurangzeb from Multan with
50 to 60 thousand troops, and reached Kandahar on
the 2o0d May 1652, AD. The operations were directed
by Shah Jahan from Kabul. The Indian troops were:
not sufficiently efficient in the use of guns, and they
were no match for the Persians. They suffered terribly -
in a few engagements, and realising that there was no
chance of recovering Kandahar Shah Jahan issued
orders to withdraw, Aurangzeb abandond the siege on
the 9th July and reached Kabul on the 7th of the
next month. For this failure Aurangzeb was sent to
the Deccan, although he was not chiefly to blame,

Another expedition was sent under Dara Shukoh next
year. But the Prince inspite of a thorough preparation.
failed to improve the situation. He carried on the invest-
ment for five months but he too had to admit defeat,.
and abandoned the place in September, 1653, In these
expeditions the Emperor spent 12 crores of rupees, and
engaged the best armies he could raise. His failure
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‘to take the place aflected his military glory, and lence-
forth Kandahar was lost to the Empire.

Aurangzeb’s second administration of the Deccan

It was with reluctance that Aurangzeb proceeded to
take charge of his new office. Leaving Agra in Novew-
ber, 1652, he reached Burhanpur on the 30th January
nest, but stayed there nine months enjoying the company
of a dancing girl. By the end of November he arrived
at Aurangabad the capital of the province. He however
-did not pay any attention to the administration, and
spent his time mostly in games and hunting. The condi-
tion of the people was miserable on account of the
neglect of the governors who succeeded him since 1644
Land  was lying uncultivated, jungles remained
unreclaimed, villages in many places abandoned and
the collections were far below the estimates. The
-expenses could not be met from the revenmue and
for years together the deficit had to be met from the
cash reserves and from the revenues of other provinces.
Aurangzeb asked for relief from his father, but Shah
Jahan felt that the DPrince wus not doing what he
ought to in improving the situation.

In this difficult position Aurangzeb was fortunate
in having an able financier named Murshid Kuli Khau
who was originally in the service of Ali Mardan Khan.
He was a fugitive from Persia and came to India  with
Ali Mardan. He was appointed Diwan of the Decean
in 1656, He followed the policy of Todar Mall in the
settlement of the province. Land was eurveped, and



SHAH JAHAN 419

Clagsified according to the fertility of the soil, and
the share of the Government fized. By a . careful
management productivity of the soil was increased and
«cultivation extended. These improvements brought in
iincreased revenue. Aurangzeb also tried to improve
the administration by appointing his own men to
responsible positions. But these wmeasures were nof
-enough to regain the confidence of the Emperor. The
Prince was warned and censured and he was .about
to be superseded by Shuja if that Prince had. agreed.
‘He then formed the plan of increasing his revenue by

an aggressive policy towards the neighbouring kingdom
of Golkonda.

‘War with Golkonda

Sultan Abdulla Kutb Shah of Golkonda had agreed
to pay an annual tribute of two lakhs of Huns, but as -
the amount was very heavy it could not be regularly
paid.  Moreover on account of a rise in the exchange
walue the Mughals demanded payment at this rate.
“The Sultan had also extended his. dominions in the
Karnatak with the help of his Persian minister Mir
"Jumla who was directly responsible for the breach of
friendly relations. Mir Jumla was a merchant from
Ardistan, and he came to the Deccan for trade. in
1630. In course of time he became the prime minister
of Golkonda. By his business in diamond he had
become immensely rich and acquired very great influence
with the people. He possessed wonderful talents for

. civil as well a3 military administration, The Govern~
81-12
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ment of Golkonda had greatly improved under his:
able guidance. It was with his help that the
Karnatak was conquered. He was granted a jaghir in that
province which he developed into a semi-independent
state with a well-organised army. His extensive estate
covering an area about 300 miles long and 50 broad
brought him a revenue of forty lakhs of rupees. Sultan
Abdulla became jealous of his influential minister and
tried to deprive him of his wealth by supporting a plot
to blind him when he came to the Court. But the
shrewd minister escaped before the plot matured,
and entered into negotiations with the Sultan of Bijapur,
the Shah of Persia and DPrince Aurangzeb for a
revenge. He was seecking an  opportunity to
leave for Persia with his vast wealth. But Aurangzeb-
was anxious to enlist him in the imperial service and
made tempting offers through the Mughal envoy at
Golkonda. He persuaded Shah Jahan to guarantee
him protection from the wrath of Sultan Abdulla. Mir
Jumla had further incurred the displeasure of his master
on account of the insolent conduct of his dissolute son
Muhammad Amin, For these offences the Sultan had
ordered the confiscation of all his property and im-
“prisoned the young man. Mir Jumla sought the help.
of Aurangzeb who brought from Shah Juhan a peremp-
tory order to Kutb Shah to release Mubammad Amin
and his property, and to send Mir Jumla and his son
to the Imperial Court. The Sultan was annoyed at this
encroachment upon his sovereign rights, and paid no
heed to the order. Shah Jahan then agreed to cnforce
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the orderby an appeal to arms. Mir Jumla was made
a commander of five thousand and his son of two
thousand.

Aurangzeb sent his son Sultan Muhammad with
instructions to take Abdulla Shah by surprise. The
Prince was osteusibly on his way to DBengal for cele-
brating bis marriage with the daughter of Shuja, and
Abdulla was preparing for his reception when the
Mughals suddenly attacked Hyderabad. .The king in
utter dismay fled to the Fort of Golkonda, where he
had kept his treasures (January 23, 1656). The rich
city was plundered and sacked for three days. The
Sultan offered 200 caskets of gems and jewels' to stop
the plunder, released Muhammad Amin, and restored
the - property of Mir Jumla, But Prince Muhammad
instead of coming to any settlement waited for orders
from his father who reached the place with large re-

inforcements on the 6th February. Golkonda was -

invested by the combined army. The siege continued
till the 30th March. The Sultan appealed to the king
of Bijapur for help, but he received no response.
Aurangzeb would have fain annexed the kingdom but
neither Shah Jahan nor Dara was agreeable to this
extreme step. The Fmperor, in compliance with an
appesd from the Sultan, had despatched a firman
granting’ him full pardon on payment of some indemnity,
but Aurangzeb had suppressed that letter. Kutb Shah
was almost ruined. On the representation of Dara and
Princess Jahanara the Emperor then issued an order to
Aurangzeb to "raise the siege immediately. Aurangzeb
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had no other alternative but to obey the order, but he
obtained from the Sultan as favourable terms as
possible, Kutb Shah was compelled to pay an indemuity
of one crore of rupees, and to give his danghter in
warriage to Sultan Muhammad. He also agreed to pay
up the arrears of tribute within two years. Henceforth
Mir Jumla was confirmed in the Mughal service with
the command of six thousand. His estate i the
Karnatak, however, still remained the bone of contention
between the powers. When he visited Agra he was made
the Waxir in place of Sa’dulla who had died reeently.

War with Bijapur

The neighbouring kingdom of Bijapur had greatly
profited by the treaty of 1636. Sultan Muhammad Adil
Shah had extended his dominions in all directions except
the north, and he became the most powerful monarch
in the south. He incurred the displeasure of Aurangzeb
on account of his friendship with Dara, He died in
November 1638, and was succeeded by his son Ali Adil
Shah, & young man of cighteen. Aurangzeb represented
to the Emperor that Ali was not the real son of the
late Sultan, and that his succession should not be
recognised, and that the kingdom should be anncxed if
resistance was offered. Iis view was held by Mir
Jumla now at Court, and the Emperor agreed to send
an army under the Wazir, Mir Jumla reached Auran-
gabad on the 18th January, 1657, and accompanicd by
Aurangzeb marched towards Bijapur. The Sultan was
not prepared for this war, and his army was engaged in
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.other parts in war with the Hindu chiefs of Karnatak,
‘The city of Bidar was . occupied after a siege of 27
days, and a large amount of wealth fell into the hands
of Aurangzeb. Kalyani surrendered on the 18th August,
and ithen they marched upon the capital. But before
they had carried their plan further Shah Jahan desired
cessafion of hostilities, It was a great disappointment
for Aurangzeb that he should be prevented by
imperial orders from annexing the southern kingdoms.
He however settled the terms of peace with the Sultan
who .agreed to cede Bidar, Kalyani, Parenda and some
other places in the Konkan and to pay an indemnity
of 1 erare of rupees. But before the settlement was
ratified mews of the serious illness of the Emperor
reached the Deccan. Aurangzeb then prepared for the
war of succession, and thus the southern kingdoms.
enjoyed a respite for about thirty years.

Illness of Shah Jahan

As soom as the news of the serious illness of the
Emperor leaked out there was a rush for the throne
by his four sons. All the four cherished the ambition
of encceeding to the throne as. there was no definite
rule regarding the succession. The .eldest son Dara
Shukoh was pecognised as the heir-apparent, and being
at Count exercised some of the .imperial prerogatives.
The second son Shuja was in Bengal, the third
Aurangzeh was in the' Decean and then engaged in & war
with Bijapur, and the youngest Murad was Viceroy of
Guzerst. Eaeh of them considered himself to possess as
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good a claim to the throne, and each prepared for a
deadly fight. Shah Jahan fell ill at Delhi on the 6th
September 1658, and as he could pot appear before
the window people took him for dead. The statements
issued by Dara were not believed. He took steps that
the alarming news might not spread in the country, and
asked the agents of his brothers not to ereate further
difficulties by sending false reports. Under the careful
nursing of Dara the Emperor improved, and when he
was slightly better he nominated Dara as his suecessor.
But the Prince did not put on the crown. He carried
on the administration of the Empire in the name of his
father. Although Shah Jahan improved under the able
treatment of his physicians he did not expect to live
long. So he desired to be at Agra, in the hallowed
precincts of the tomb of his beloved wife Mumtaz
Mahal. He left Delhi by boat on the 18th October,
and landed at Agra on the 2(th of the next month
By this river trip his health improved, but this did
not avert the contests of the brothers for the throne.
Shuja was the first to declare independence in Bengal.
Murad also had his name read in the Khutbs, and
struck on the coins. But Aurangzeb preferred to wait.
All of them however marched towards Agra. When
Shah Jaban assured them of his recovery and asked
them not to come to Agra they did not listen as they
thought that it was a trick of Dara.

The position of the brothers
All the four sons of Shah Jahan were competent
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4o undertake the business of gcvernment. They had
:sufficient experience in civil and military duties.  The
.eldest Dara was 43, and was recognised as the heir-
apparent. He was the favourite of the Emperor, buf
he was not very popular with the nobility. He was a
man of scholarly habits, had studied the religious books
-extensively, and was Liberal in his views, Thé Musal-
mans used to call him a Kefir for his sympathy with
the Hindus. He translated 50 Upanishads containing
the philosophy of the Vedanta, and had great respect
for the Vedas. But he had an irascible temper by
which he alienated many of his friends. He had no
.genuine friend excepting his sister Jahanara. No officer
was willing to take up his cause sincerely. The Italian
traveller Manucei says: “The first-born son of king
Shah Jahan was the Prince Dara, a man of dignified
manners, of a comely countenance, joyous and polite in
-conversation, ready aod gracious of speech, of most -
-extraordinary liberality, kindly and compassionate, but
over-confident in his opinion of himself, considering
himself competent in all things and having no need of
_advisers. He despised those who gave him counsel,
Thug it was that his dearest friends never ventured to
jaform bim of the most essential things. Still it was
very easy to discover his intentions. He assumed that
fortune would invariably favour him, and imagined that
cvery body loved him” This is a fine pen-picture of
Dara, and explains to some extent the cause of his
Aall,

The second son Shuja aged 41 was bold, steadfast
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and prudent. He was more discreet, and firmer of
purpose: than his brother. By means of gifts he won:
over a number of friends to his side. But he was in-
ordinately fond of pleasure. He loved songs, danees
and women, and used to drink too much, He was the
first to take the field. He marched towards Agra with
an army 'consisting of forty thousand horse and innu~
merable infantry. A strong fleet was also kept ready
on the Ganges, commanded by his Portuguese officers..
‘When the news of his advance reached Agra, Sulaiman
Shukoh the eldest son of Dara was sent to oppose him.
He was accompained by Raja Jai Singh of Ambar, and’
General Dilir Khan. The armies met at a village
named Bahadurpur, five miles from  Benares.
(February 14, 1658), and although Shuja was defeated,.
he was not pursued vigorously. according to the instruc-
tions of the Emperor. By this failure Shuja lost all
chances of getting the throne, Shulaiman Shukoh had
to return to the aid of his father against his other two.
brothers. .

~ Murad DBakhsh, the youngest of the brothers, then
thirty-three years old, was bold and courageous, but
lacked the sagacity of his other brothers, He was very
fond of wine and sports. Assoon as he heard of the
illnes of his father he declared himself independent.
The third brother Aurangzeb was the most shewd of
them all. He did not give out his mind like the others.
The French traveller Bernier describes him as “devoid
of that urbanity and engaging presence, so much admi-
red in Dara but he possessed a sounder judgement and
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was more skilful in selecting for confidants such persons.
as were best qualified to serve him with faithfulness and
ability. He distributed his presents with a liberal but.
discriminating hand among those whose good-will it was.
essential to preserve or cultivate. He was reserved, -
subtle and a complete master of the art of dissimulation.

When in his father’s court he feipned a devotion which

he never felt, and affected contempt for worldly gran--
deur while clandestinely endeavouring to pave the way

to future elevation.” Dara was always suspicious of
this hypocrite. Their sister Raushanara wat partial

towards Aurangzeb and used to keep him informed of
the movements at court. The elder sister Jahanara was.
the favourite of Shah Jahan, She was charmingly
beautifu), wise, witty, frank, generous and very attrac--
tive in her appearance. Both the sisters remained .
single as the daughters of the Mughal emperors could not.
be suitably married. Jabanara watched the interests. -
of Dara and she expected thathe would help her in get-
ting married. Raushanara though not very beautiful was.
not less clever, she was jealous of her elder sister as.
she did not enjoy the same rank and privilege.

Batttle of Dharmatpur

From the very beginning Aurangzeb moved cautiously.-

He did not declare war till he had strengthened his
position considerably. He formed an alliance with Sivaji
then a rebel against the king of Bijapur, and tried to

- engage Mir Jumla on his side. His next move was to
combine with Murad against Dara. He promised to-
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Murad that he would help him to the throne, and sent him
-a flattering letter offering submission to him. His only
-object in undertaklng the campaign, he said, was to
remove from the throne the apostate Dara. In a letter
-to Murad be wrote, “T have not the slightest liking
for or wish to take any part in the government of
this deceitful and unstable world, my only desire is that
I may make the pilgrimage to the temple of God
But whatever course you have resolved upon in opposi-
tion to the good for nothing and unjust conduct of our
-disgraceful brother (biradar-i-be-sukoh), you may consider
me your sincere friend and ally, Our revered father is
alive, and I think that we two brothers should devote
ourselves to his service, and to the punishment of the
‘wilfulness of that paughty one and the presumption
.and conceit of that apostate. “The simple-minded
Murad took him on his word and according to a con-
certed plan attacked Surat, and marched with his troops
fo join Aurangzeb on the Nerbada. Mir Jumla was
afraid of'joining Aurangzeb openly lest his son and
family might suffer in the hands of Dara. He allowed
himself to be made a prisoner at Aurangbad, and all
his wealth to be appropriated by Aurangazeb. After
-colleeting his troops Aurangzeb reached DBurhanpur Dby
the middle of February, and crossing the Nerbada at the
ford of Akbarpur formed a conjunction with Murad in
Mandu.

Shali Jahan had sent Maharaja Jaswant Singh and
Kasim Khban to oppose the brothers. They were instructed
to persuade the Princes to give up the march, and if



SHAH JAHAN 489

they would not listen then to stop their advance. The
friendly advice was disregarded, and the .messengers
were not allowed to return. Then the Imperial troops
took their position on the banks of the Sipra, 14 miles
south-west of Ujjain. Aurangzeb encamped on the
opposite side at Dharmatpur., When his entire army had
teached the place he tried to cross the river, Kasim
Khan stood aloof on account of a secret understanding
with the Prince, but the Rajputs under Jaswant Singh
fought valiantly till they were overpowered.  Jaswant
retreated with 500 troops ( April 20, 1558 A. D.) His
wife, a daughter of the Rana of Chitor closed the gates
of the castle against him for the disgraceful retreat.
The pews of the disaster created a great consternation
.at Agra, but the princes considered it as the promise
-of a better future.

The battle of Samugarh

The vietorious brothers marched slowly towards Agra.
Khalilullah Khan had been sent to oppose them on the
Chambal, Shah Jahan was willing to lead the army
with the hope that Murad and Aurangzeb would not
fight against their father. Moreover he could expect
the faithful service of the nobles. This touched the
sense of honour of Dara, Ile prepared to mect the
:advancing armies with about a lakh of horse soldiers
and twenty thousand infantry, There was however no
able general on his side, Shah Jahan advised him to
wait till the ‘arrival of Sulaiman Shukoh. Finding
the ford of Dholpur well-guarded Aurangzeb crossed
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the river with the help of a2 man called Champat
Bundela,  and: reached Samugarh by the midday of the
20d June. It was a little above the place where the
Chambal has fallen into the Jumna, and only five
leagues from Agra. Dara moved from the camp at
Dholpur to oppose them before they could reach the
place, Shah Jahan advised him to draw towards Agra
so that he could entrench himself within the fort till
the arrival of Sulaiman. But Dara feared that further
retreat would demoralise his troops. Aurangzeb had his
friends in Dara’s camp. Khalilullah Khan with about
thirty thousand troops occupied the right wing. lle
was a traitor and did'not fight. On the left Rustam
Khan and Raja Chattar Sal Rautela fought bravely.
Dara was Jeading the centre. Aurangzeb had arranged
his army in five divisions. On the right were Sultan
Mubammad and Najabat Khan, on the left was Murad,.
In front of both the armies were placed the artillery,
and musketeers, Dara was leading his army sitting upon
an elephant. The battle started at nine in the morning
(June 3, 1658) Dara checred up his troops in all parts,
and pressed on towards the centre of the enemy when
he received the news that Rustam Khan and Chatar
Sal had been killed. Ram Singh the leader of the
Rajput troops was also piereed by an arrow when he
vigorously engaged Murad Bakhsh. Dara sent reinforce-
ments to the left and had all the advantages on his
sidle when Khalilullah Xhan advised him to attack
Aurangzeb immediately on horse back. Dara lost the
battle by dismounting from the clephant, as the troops
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believed that he had been killed, and fled in all direc-
tions. The battle was over in three hours. Dara “was
hurled from the pinnacle of glory to be numbered
.among the most miserable of Princes,” Khalilullah went
over to Aurangzeb, and Dara fled towards Agra, The
nobles congratulated the conqueror and offered their
services to him. Dara reached Agra at nine in the evering,
but in shame did not see his father. Before the break
of the dawn he went towards Delhi.

.Shah Jahan a prisoner

The battle of Samugarh decided the fate of the Princes,
After four days Aurangzeb and Murad reached Agra,and
-encamped there outside the city. From there a messen-
ger was sent to Shah Jahan who asked Aurangzeb to
visit him. But Aurangzeb sent his son Sultan Mubam-
mad to take possession of the fort and the person of
the Emperor. Aurangzeb never came to see his father.-
Shah Jahan waa made a prisoncr in his own place, where
he remained confined till his death in 1666
A. D. Thus closed the reign of the most magnificent of
‘the Mughal monarchs.

.Shah Jahan's Magnificence

Shah Jahan was on the throne for . thirty years. His
reign was marked by peace throughout the empire and
there was sufficient evidence of prosperity. He followed
the system of government introduced by Akbar, and
-as he had not many wars to wage he could give his
.attention to the promotion of the welfare of the
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people.  According to an Indian  historian he
excelled other monarchs in good administration and
in the order and arrangement of territory aud finances,
Tavernier gives high praise to his civil government,
and says that he “reigned not so much as a king over
his subjeets, but rather as a father over his family
and children” He was after all a despot with no
responsibility to the pBople under him, or with no
higher authority to guide his activities, The system
of justice was stern, and may be said to be rough and
rude from the modern standard. But heavy punish~
ments, amounting to savage atrocities, were at times
‘necessary to keep down the lawless bandits and the
oppressive officers to whom was entrusted the welfare
of the people. It would not be fair to judge Shah
Jahan from the accounts of foreign travellers who were
staggered at the sight of a few  court incidents, The
vast country could not however be in a uniform state
of prosperity, Bengal was the richest and most pros-
perous. The trade in rice, sugar, cotton fabrics, silk,
galtpetre, opium, and other commodities was in a flouri-
shing coudition. So was Guzerat with its good ports,
and rich soil. Inthe less prosperous parts of northern
India Shah Jahan tried to increase fertility by large
irrigation canals, When the Augustinian friar Father
Manrique visited him at Lahore he was supervising the
works of the Ravi canal then under construction. Ali
Mardan Khan, the Persian general and statesman was
an cngineer of great ability, and it was with his
help that the big canal projects were executed. The
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Jumna canal which he laid out still bear his name.
These canals extending from “the Himalayas to Hissar
on one side, and to the middle of the Doab on the:
other, made the wilderness to bloom, and insured many
millions of human beings and cattle against perishing:
from famine.”

The expenditure of the court was very heavy. He
bad to maintain a regular army of 200,000 horse, a
big retinue, and other establishments. Besides he
had to find money for the wars in the Decean, in
Balkh and Kandahar. Shah Jahan indulged in a number-
of costly undertakings, He built the celebrated Taj,
Mahal in memory of his wife, founded the new ity of
Delhi, known as Shabjananabad, the Juma Musjid and
the Moti Musjid at Agra, and the Juma Musjid at.
Delhi. These gigantic public works cost a great
deal. But after defraying all these expenses he-
still left a vast amount estimated at various figures’
by different persons. Elphinstone puts it at £24,000,000
sterling in coin beside his vast accumulations in wrought .
gold and silver and in jewels. Another person caleu--
lated the value of his entire property at one hundred .
and eighty millions sterling. The annusl income from
land was about £27,000000 sterling, and a gimilar
_amount from other sources. Itis conceivable that this .
vast wealth was accumulated with great economy, and
some oppression - might have been resorted to in
collecting the revenues. But the spirit of the whole -
administration was benevolent. He was lavish in his.
grants to his sons and daughters. His waxir Asaf Khan.
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used to draw a salary of £300,000 a year. Similarly
the other ministers and governors enjoyed good income.

Shah Jahan was very fortunate in his ministers. The
administration was in the able hands of Asaf Khan
till 1641 A. D. He was succeeded by Allami Sa’dulla
Khan an able general and statesman, It was however
the Persion minister Mir Jumla who betrayed him in
the end. If he had stood by the Emperor and stopped
Aurangzed from ‘his fratricidal war probably the course
-of events would have taken a different turn. His fall was
due however to his own senility, and the indiscretion of
Dara, He came to the throne wading through blood,
and ended his life in misery, but still he is remembered
as the most magnificent monarch of India. In his time
the Mughals reached the high water mark of prosperity.
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CHAPTER VIL -
AURANGZEB (1658-1707 )

Assumption of powers' by Aurangzeb.

Murad sincerely believed that Aurangzeb was trying
to set him up on the throne, In fact the latter kept
ap the delusion for a few days. After the battle of
Samugarh he showed respects towards Murad as towards
a monarch. The foolish prince failed to. fathom the
intentions of his crafty brother. Securing. the position
at Agra the brothers marched towards Delhi in. pursnit
«of Dara. At Koli-ka-ghat near Muttra they halted for
a few days. There Murad was put in chains and sent.
to Delhi and kept confined for sometime in the fortress
of Salimgarh. Later on he was removed to Gwalior.
But the unhappy prince was not allowed to enjoy his-
life long. He was beheaded in December, 1661, on the
«<harge of murdering his Dewan Ali Nagi at Ahmedabad
in 1657, When Dara was defeated, Shuja was at a
istance and not in a position to contest, and Marad
in prison, Aurangzeb proclaimed himself Emperor
at Delhi on the 22nd July, 1658, His first business
was t0 run after Dara why was still at large. Since his
-overthrow at Samugarh Dara was moving from place to
place. From Agra he went to Delhi, where the gove.-
nor of the place under the influence of Aurangzcb re-
fused to deliver the fort to him. The soldiers of Darn,

32--13
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Murad and Solaiman Shukoh had already been wor
over by promises of double pay. Failing to find a foot—
hold at Delhi Dara went to Lahore and there he was-
loyally received. He also could not hold that position
long and fell back upon Multan by the end of October..
He was pursued by Aurangzeb till be fled into Sindh.
Sulaiman Shukoh had been betrayed by Jai Singh and
Dilir Khan and he was obliged to seek the protection
of the Raja of Srinagar. When Aurangzeb marched
agaiost Dara, Shuja made another attempt to oceupy
the throne, He came as far as Allahabad. Mir Jumla was.
released from Daulatabad in order that he might join
Aurangzeb in the expedition against Shuja who had
taken up his position at the village of Khajwah in the
district of Fathepur between the Ganges and Jumna. In
an engagement on the 5th January 1659 Shuja was
defeated through the treachery of Allahvardi Khan who
advised him to get down from the elephant and to ride
on a horse when he had all the advantages on his side.
He was pursued by Mic Jumls and Sultan Mubammad
whilst Aurangzeb returned to Agra lest Baja Jaswant
Singh who had left the field at his supersession by
Mir Jumla worked out a plot to releasc Bhuh
Jahan, Mir Jumla and Sultan Mubammad drove Shuja
into Bengal and his capital Raj Mahal was occupied
for four months by the victorious gencrals from
June to September. On account of differences
between Mir Jumla and Sultan Mahammad the latter
went to the side of Shuja but soon left him as he was
not satisfied with the position assigned to him. Shuja



AURANGZEB 49(

was ultimately driven out of Bengal and he ended his
miserable life in the woods of Arakan. No authentic
information is available regarding his last days. It is
generally believed that he and his family were killed
by the Arakanese. Sultan Mubammad was sent as «
prisoner and kept confined in the fortress of Gwalior,
Through Sind and Cuatch Dara went to (Fuzerat,
where he was received by Shah Nawaz Khan, the
governor of the provinces with due respects. He
succeeded in enlisting some troops, and was promised
the help of Raja Jaswant Singh in an attempt to
release Shah Jahan., Relying upon Rajput help he
marched towards Ajmir. But Jaswant Singh failed him
in the proper time. Under the influence of Raja Jai
Singh he had been reconciled to Aurangzeb. Dara
boldly confronted the imperialists at Deorai near Ajmir
and stood their attack for five days. On the fifth day

he was surrounded on all sides, and fled towards -

Abmedabad. Shah Nawaz Khan was slain in the
battle ( March 23, 1659 ). Most of the followers of
Dara deserted him. The new pgovernor of Ahmedabad
closed the gates against him. In great distress Dara
crossed the Rann of Cutch and reached Sindb. = Then
he sought the help of Malik Jiwan of Dadar in going
over to Persia. To his great grief his favourite wife
Nadira Begam died of dysentery, and with extreme diffi-
culty her body was carried to Lahore, according to the
wishes of the deceased. His cup of misery was filled to
the brim when he was betrayed by Jiwan Kban, Dara
was made a captive with his son Sipir Shukoh and other
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companions (June 9, 1659) and taken first to Lahore and
then to Delhi, They were paraded through the strects of
Delhi dressed like beggars on a worn-out elephant,
smeared with filth, It was a woeful sight to the people
and they lamented the fate of the princes bitterly. “From
every quarter I heard” says DBernier “piercing and
distressing shricks, for the Indian people lhave a very
tender heart, men, women and children wailing s if
some mighty calamity had happened to themselves.”
The people were so much indignant at the traitor
Jiwan Khan that he had to be protected by the Kotwal with
the help of the police. Aurangzeb became nervous at
the popular demonstration in favour of Dara. A council
was held to consider what to do with him. Death was
determined upon at the instigation of Raushanara
supported by Khalilullah Khan and Shaista Khan, on
the charge of apostacy. Dara was brutally murdered
by an old slave of his, named Aziz, The blood-stained
head was taken to Aurangzeb \.ho ordered it to be
buried in the tomb of Humayun, Sipir Shukoh was
sent to the fortress of Gwalior, and the duughter o
Dara was banded over to Shah Jahan and Jahanara
at their special request. Sulaiman Shukoh who was
with the Raja of Srinagar was also betrayed, and was
brought to Delhi. e was first imprisoned at Salimgarh
and then at Gwalior where both the brothers died of
slow poisoning, In this way all the claimants to the
throne were removed and Aurangzch mounted it
through the blood of his brothers and nephews
The war of succession lasted for about five years. The
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formal coronation took place in the month of June
1659, when he assumed the title of “Abdul Muzaffar
Muhi-nd-ud-Din-Muhammad Aurangzeb Bahadur Alamgir
Badshahi Ghazi” The title of Alamgir (world-
congueror ) was adopted by him from' an inscription on
the sword which was sent to him by his father after
the battle of Samugarh.

He held his court at Delhi so long as Shah Jahan
lived and on his death in 1666 he came to Agra for a
few months. But he returned again to Delbi in Octo-
ber, and stayed there for seven years more. From
December, 1669 to October, 1671 he held his court at
Agra. The discontent in the frontier drew him towards
Peshawar in” 1674, and he made Hasan Abdal his
headquarters from the 26th June, 1674 to the 23rd
December, 1675, He came back to Delhi in March of
the next year and was called away to Central India on
account of the troubles in Rajputana. On the 6th
September 1681 he marched towards the south, and
spent the rest of lis life there. On assuming' authority
he gave up the celebrations of Nauroz, and of calcula-
ting the year according to the solar method which was
very convenient for collecting revenues according to
scasons, He began to calculate the official year from
the 1st Ramzan according to the Arabic lunar year:.
and in the place of Nauroz he held the ceremony of

the anniversary of his coronation till the 21st year of
his reign. '

Tmmediately after the coronation he tried to reconcile:
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the ncbles and the influential men to the new arrange-
ments. He was afraid that any day they might combine
to overthrow him in the interest of Shah Jahan. Those
who had helped him in the strugeles were adequately
rewarded. Raja Jai Singh had already been made the
governor of Lahore, and he was also assigned the
revenues of Sambhar. The pay of many nobles was
increased and each was presented with a set of new robes.
He removed most of the old officers and appointed new
men in their places. He was afraid of Mahabat IKhan,
governor of Kabul, for his loyalty towards Shah Jahan
and sent him to Guzerat and in his place was appointed
Shaikh Mir. Khalilullah Kban who had betrayed Dara
at Samngarh was made the governor of Lahore while
Raja Jai Singh and Maharaja Jaswant Singh were sent
on military duty to the Deccan. Daneshmand Khan, a
great friend of Dara, remained governor of Delbi on
account of his great influence. Shaista Khan was
sent to the Deccan as governor and commander-in-chief
of the forces there and Mir Jumla was confirmed in
Bengal. Those who cxpressed dissatisfaction with the
distribution of offices and rewards were harshly treated.
The position of the Wazir was held by Jafar Khan,
belonging to the order of the old nobility, Ile had
married a sister of the Fmpress Mumtaz Mahal and
was polished in maanners. Shah Jahan held him in
great esteen.  Aurangzeb agreed to this appointment  ay
he did not want the return to court of the powerful
Mir Jumla who held the position before he went to the
Deccan lest he became too powerful.
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“The Campaigns in Bengal and Assam. IR
Mir Jumla had no leisure to watch. the. movements:

-of the logal chiefs when he was engaged in' his.
~wars-with Shah Shuja. In this period of confusion the Rajas
-of Cooch-Behar and Assam threw off their allegiance..
“The Raja of Cooch-Behar had stopped paying tribute,
and Kamrup was threatened by the Ahoms of Assam.
"Raja- Jayadhwaja of Assam in league with Raja Pran
“Narayan of Cooch-Behar tried to drive the Mughals from:
‘the DBrahmaputra Valley. After settling the aftairs
-of . Bengal Mir Jumla, now called Khan-i-Khanan
Muazzam XKhan proceeded to punish the rebel Rajas.
in 1661 A.D. On his approach the Raja of Cooch-Behar
fled to Bhutan and his territories were occupied with-
-out opposition, The Ahoms also could not resist his,
march into Assam, and by the 17th March, 1662 A. .

the Khan-i-Khanan reached Garhgaon the capital of-
Jayadhwaja. The Raja had already left the place. But
the Mughals had great difficulty in maintaining their posi-

tion during the rains. Mir Jumla was ably supported

by Dilic Khan. Towards .the end of the year he was
attacked with a severe illness and, the parties then came
to terms. The Ahom country up to the rivers Bharali
and Kallang was ceded to the Mughals, The Khan-i-
Khanan died on his way to Daceca at Khizrpur not

far from Cooch-Behar on the 11th April, 1663. By his

«death Aurangzeb lost an able general who not only
helped him in winning the empire but in further exten-

«ding it. He defeated Shah Shuja and established the
authority of Aurangzeb over Bengal. He was succeeded:
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by Shaista Khan who remained in Bengal for about:
thirty years. Within a short time the conquests made
in Assam were lost on account of the exacting nature-
of the Mughal officers. An expedition was sent under
Raja Ram Singh, son of Raja Jai Singh in 1669 A. D.
Although the operations were carried on till 1676 the
Mughal position did not improve. In 1681 the Mughals.
were driven out of Gaubati by Raja Gadadhar Singh.
On the death of Raja Pran Narayan of Cooch-Behar the
Mughals obtained some parts of Rungpur and Kamrup,

One of the achievements of Shaista Khan was the
conquest of Chittagong. Lower Bengal was infested by
the Maghs and the Feringhi pirates. They had occupied
the island of Sondwip at the mouth of the Meghna, and
the Arakanese had robbed Shuja of his jewels and
probably murdered him. Aurangzeb instructed bis uncle
Shaista Khan on his appointment as governor of Beugal
to punish the Portuguese pirates, and their accomplices-
the Maghs. Shaista Khan managed to win over the
Portuguese who had settled in large numbers in the
neighbourhood of Dacea and with their help captured
Chittagong, Jannary, 1666. Bengal wes then saved from
the incursion of the Maghs.

The Frontier Expeditions.

The Afghan tribes in the north-west frontier were
a source of great danger fo the empire. In 1667 the
Yusufzais broke into the districts of Peshawar and
Attock. Muhammad Amin Khao, son of Mir Jumla, was
seut to strengthen the hands of the locul officers. He
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was successful in the beginning in restoring order, and
was appointed governor of Kabul in recognition of
his services. But on his way to Kabul his army was
severely attacked by the Pathans in the Khyber Pass
and his family fell into the hands of the enemy. He
was degraded for this disaster and was sent te Guzerat.
Subsequent expeditions under Mahabat Khan and Shuja-
at Khan did not improve the situation. Realising the
formidable nature of the task Aurangzeb proceeded im
person in June 1674 and encamped at Hasan Abdal.
The operations were carried on vigorously whife:* the
Emperor was there. He used every means to crush the
Afghans. Mahabat Khan was removed from Kabul,
and Aghar Khan and Fidai Khan the newly apppointed
governor of Kabul, succeeded in scattering the hostile
tribes. When the situation improved by the end of
1675 Aurangzeb returped to Delhi, After a few more
battles peace was restored and Amir Khan, son of:
Khalilullah Khan governed the country with tact and
ability for twenty years. The Afghan war was of great
political importance, So long as Aurangzeb had to
send his troops to the froutier he could not employ
effective measures against either the Mahrattas or the
Rajputs.
Some administrative measures

The prices of grains had gone up on account of the
wars in the early ‘part of the reign, and the . distress . of
the people became still more acute when the rains failed
in some parts of the empire, Aurangzeb issued an order



504 MEDIEVAL INDIA

for the remission of a number of taxes which oppressed
the people. Imposts, about eighty in number, yielding crores
of rupees to the treasury were abandoved, But. these
orders were scarcely obeyed by local officers in the
distant provinces. “In most parts of the imperial
territories” writes Khafi Khan, “the Faujdar and jagir-
doars, by force and tyranny, now exact more than
ever from the traders and poor necessitons travellers,
The Zomindars also secing that no iuquiries are made,.
extort more on roads within their boundaries than is
<collected on-roads under royal officers” The noble
intentions of the Emperor were therefore frustrated by
the tyranny of his subordinates.

In the cleventh year of his reign he issued a num-
ber of orders which created great discontent. He
forbade the writing of history and the custom of
Jharolhia-i-Darshan, the practice of the Emperor to
appear before the public twice a day in the window,
As a puritan he had already stopped the distillation,
sale and consumption of liquora. But the Christians used to
sell wine clandestinely. He. had also issued an order
against music which was not only a source of great
enjoyment to ths people, but the means of livelihood for
not a few. The brothels were closed and dancing was
declared eriminal,  Dut these measures could hardly
improve the moral atmosphere of the country as  pecple
devised means of sccret enjoyment.

His attitude towards the Hindus did him great harm,
and ultimataly undermined the empire. As an ortho-
dox Musalman he paid no attention to the suscepti-
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bilities of his vast Hindu subjects. The new Hindn
temples were pulled down, and the old temples at
Somnath, Benares, Muttra, Ujjain and other places were
destroyed. A special officer was appointed to supervise
the work of the demolition of the . temples.
Preferenec was shown to the Musalmans 1o the
matter of trade. First no imposts wupon their
articles wore levied, but as this caused serious
loss of revenue the regulation was  modified.
Later on an order was issued thdt the Musalmans
would pay a duty of 2% per cent whereas the Hindus
had to pay 5 per cent. Further to alienate the
Hindus he issued an order to the governors and
revenue officers to dismiss the Hindu employees and
to appoint Musalmans in their places. As the Musal-
mans were nok good in accounts the order could not be
fully carried out, but many Hindus accepted Islam to
get rid of the disabilities from which they suffered.

But the greatest measure of iniquity was the
re-imposition of the Jiziyah in 1619 A. D. It is a
hated poll tax imposed upon all male " Hindus above
tho age of fourteen. The tax was not levied so long
as the great Rajput chiefs such as Raja Jai Singh
and Maharaja Jaswant Singh were alive. Emperor
Akbar had abolished this tax one handrded years: ago,
but Aurangzeb had recourse to it for two reasons:
“First, because by this time his treasures had begun
to shrink owing to expenditure on the campaigns;
secondly to force the Hindus to become Mahomedans”
says Manucel. The protests of the Hindus to this
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invidious levy were not listened to, The crowds
assembled to protest were dispersed by elephauts, and
many trodden to death. The Hindu feelings were
wounded by these obnoxious measures, and they felt
keenly the humiliation of living under an alien ruler.

The Jat Rebellion

The first demonstration of the great discontent that
agitated the minds of the Hindus was found in Muttra.
A Juma Musjid had not only been built in the bheart
of the great Hindu city but the great temple of Keshav
Rai to which Dara presented a stone railing had been
desecrated and later on the temple was destroyed 1661-
62 AD. The Hindus refused to pay the revenue
and therefore collection had to be made by force. A
great rising took place under the leadership cf Gokla,
the Zaminder of Tipat in 1669 A, D. When the Fauj-
dar Abdur Nabi went to suppress the rising he was
fatally attacked at a village called Bashara, The Jats
openly defied the authority of the Mughals, They threatened
the city of Agra and the sitoation became so serions
that Aurangzeb had to come from Dclhi to quell the
rising. Grokla had gathered about 20,000 peasants around
him, and fought stubbornly till he was captured witn his
family. He was cut up into picces and  his
family was forcibly converted into Islam. Many other
rcbels were made slaves. The rebellion was suppressed
for the time being, but it reappeared in 1681 when
Aurangzeb went to the Deccan, Rajagh Ram and  after
his death his brother Churaman Jat defied the  Mughuls,
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and the fire they set ablaze could not be exntinguished
in the life time of the Emperor.

The Satnami Rising

Another Hindu rebellion took place in the vicinity
of Delhi in 1672. A sect of Hindu Sanyasins called
the Satnamis lived-in the Perganas of Narpaul and
Mewat. These Sanyasins were more liberal than
orthodox Hindus and used to take the name of God as
Satnam (true name). They were householders and
earned their livelihood by agriculture and trade. They
were thoroughly organised as a self-respecting body,
carried arms and weapons, and would punish those who
would venture to insult or injure them, A Satnami
cultivator was one day cruelly beaten by a {foot-
soldier who was keeping watch ever the harvest. The
Satnamis in the neighbourhood gathered together and
violently attacked the watchman in retaliation. The.
Shildar who came to arrest the culprits was over-
powered, and the Faujdar of Narnaul was killed in
a battle. The Satnamis set up a government of their
own and started collecting taxes. Aurangzeb on his
return from Hasan Abdal had to take effective measures
against them. There,was a common belief that the
Satbamis possessed magic- powers. They were joined
by a number of zamindars and Rajputs. A strong
army was sent under Radandaz Khan, and Aurangzeb
appealed to the supernatural by writing prayers and
devices with his own hands and sewing them up om
the banners and standards. There was a deadly battle
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between the parties in which there was heavy loss on
both sides. Thousands of Satnamis were killed and the
rest put to flight. Henceforth the ‘Satnamis ceased to
be a danger. ‘

The Rajput War

Maharaja Jaswant Singh died at Jamrud on the
10th December, 167S. He had no son to succeed him
at the time of his death. Aarangzeb wanted to annex
his state, and so placed the administration of Jodhpur
under Musalman officers. He himself went to Ajmir
early in 1679 to complete the occupation, The Musal-
man officers took possesssion of the cities of Jodhpur,
destroyed the temples there and seized whatever they
could obtain in the palace. In the meantime the
widows of the Maharaja who had left Jamrud without
the permission of the Emperor were delivered of two
posthumous sons at Lahore in February' 1679. Oue of the
infants died shortly and the other was given the name
of Ajit Singh. The Emperor did not admit the claims of
the posthumous son to succeed his father. e desived
to bring him up as a Musalman, and to restore the
kingdom to him when he would come of age. The
Raois left Delhi in disguise with the infant when they
heard of the intention of Auranszeb. They reached
Marwar in  July. The Rathors became indignant at
the attitude of the Emperor. They were led by Durga
Das, a son of Askaran, the late minister of Jaswant
Singh. Aurangzeb brought up a spurious child left
by the Ranis as the real heir and did not recognise
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the claims of Ajit Singh till the Rana of Chitor

married him with a gl of his family.

The kingdom of Jodhpur was given to Indra Singh

Rathor a grandson of Amar Singh, the elder brother

of Jaswant Singh, on payment of the succession fee of
Rs. 3€ lakhs, although the Musalman officers still

carried on the administration. When the plan of

Aurangzeb failed he disgraced the Faujdar Tahir EKhan,

and removed Indra Singh from the throne. Open hosti-

lities were declared with the Rathors, the Emperor
came to Ajmir to watch the events, and in a pitched

battle pear the lake of Pushkar the Rathors were

heavily defeated. But their opposition grew in violence,

Prince Akbar was employed io cafrying a ruthless cam-

paigu against the Rajputs. The ravages committed by

the Mughals in the heart of Rajputana created great
consternation among the Rajput states; and the Rana

of Chitor joined the Rathors in defence of their common -
interests.

Rana Raj Singh was approached by the mother of
Ajit Singh to defend the honour of Rajputana and the
rights of the infant son of Maharaja Jaswant Singh. The
Rana occupied the pre-eminent position among the Rajput-
Princes as he had never paid homage to the Emper-
or of Delht. His indignation rose up when he found
the Hindu temples destroyed in Rajputana, Hindu reli-
gious fairs and ceremonies interfered with and when he
was asked to pay the Jiziyah and had to cede two or
three districts in commutation of the tax. All the Raj-
put princes excepting the Raja of Ambar expressed
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their sympathy with Ajit Singh of Marwar, and the
Rajputs flocked round the banuer of Rana Raj Singh in
defence of their country and religion. Aurangzeb mobi-
lised all his resources to crush the Rajputs. Muazzam
bad been vecalled from the Deccan and Muhammad
Azam from Bengal. Khan Jahan Bahadur fortified
Chitor and closed the Deobari pass. Prince Akbar led the
attack against the Rajpnts. The Rana finding it difficult
to stand against such formidable forces arrayed against
him left Udaipur aod retreated into the hills, Prince
Akbar with all the resources of the Mughal empire
at his disposal failed to trace the Rana in his impreg-
nable mountain retreat. On the other hand the Mughals
were cut off by the Rajputs, When he failed in Mewar
prince Akbar was sent to Marwar aud Prince Azam took
his position. Akbar made some progress in Marwar but
he was persuaded by the Rathors to take up their
cause and declared himself Emperor on the 1st January
1681,

Akbar was the fourth son of Aurangzeb and he was
a young man of twonty-three. e felt some sympathy
for the Rajputs in the way they were being persecuted
by his father. When promised the support of the Siso-
dias and the Rathors lie rebelled against the authority
of the Emperor. He marched towards Ajmir with the
Rajputs and his own troops. DBut before he could reach
the plece Aurangzeb had gathered up his forces. By
a trick he threw a letter into the hands of the Rajputs
who began to suspect the eincerity of the prince and
they fled when they heard of the approach of Aurangzeb
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Akbar was placed in a helpless position. But later on
-the Rajputs saw through the game, and the Rathor leader
Durga Das espoused his' cause. By a stroke of craftiness
Aurangzeb confounded his enemy. Akbar fled into the
Deccan with the help of Durga Das. Rana Raj Singh had
«died and his son Rana Jai Singh agreed to a freaty by
which he had to cede a few districts in lien of the
Jiziyah and was granted the Tank of a Mansabdar of five
thousand. The war with Marwar went on till the end
of the reign. The Rajput war proved disastrous to
Aurangzeb. He lost ‘the support of the brave soldiers
who had been so0 -helpful to the Mughals in the past.
By his anti-Hindu policy Aurangzeb alienated them for
ever - '

:Sivaji the Mahratta

Aurangzeb was called away to the Deccan from
.Ajmir, and spent the rest of his life there. A new power ..
bad arisen in the south, which proved to be the most
dangerous rock for wrecking the Mughal Empire. The
‘builder of this power was Sivaji, son of Shahji He
‘was born in the fort of Sivner near Junnair on the
10th April, 1627 A. D. His father was in the service of
Bijapur, and was always busy in state duties. The
boy Sivaji was therefore brought up by his mother
-Jijabai, and when he grew up he received a good
training under Dadaji Kondadev, an able officer of his
father, In his boyhood he mixed freely with the hill-
men of Maval, and by his frequent travels in the
/Ghats he gained intimate knowledge of the mountainous

33—14
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region, which proved very useful to him. He found a
‘large number of forts in these parts neglected and
unfortified. Sivaji cherished the ambition of taking
some of these forts and strengthening his position. When
he was ayoung man of nineteen he occupied the fort of
Torna, twenty miles south-west of Poons. (1646 A. D.)
With the money he obtained there by digging up the
ruins he built the fort of Rajgarh, three miles south-
west of that place. After the death of his preceptor
Dadaji he took upon himself the management of his
father’s jaghir of Poona. Within a short time he became
master of a npumber of forts and of the country
between Chakan and the Neera. The king of DBijapur
was then busy with the affairs of the Carnatic, and
did not consider these places very important. The
Mughals were at that time engaged in restoring order
in Ahmadnagar, and so Sivaji carried out his plans
without any interference. He next captured a number
¢+ hill forts in the Konkan, the narrow strip of land
between the Ghats and the sea, which Shab Jahan had
made over to the king of Bijapur. The forts of
Kalyan, Rairi, Lohgad and Rajmachi fell into bis hands.
He won the confidence and sympathy of the people of
these parts by a better system of administration, and
by restoring to the temples and DBrahmans there old
endowments. The king of Dijapur was annoyed at
"the occupation of these hill-forts in the Konkan, and
tried to reduce Sivaji by putting pressure upon his
father when Shabji was thrown into a dungeon and
threatened that it would be closed up unless his son



AURANGZEB 513

came to Bijapur within a short time, Sivaji appealed
to Shah Jaban to intercede. The Emperor took up his
cause and made Sivaji a Mansabdar of 5000. Shahji
was released for fear of the intervention of the Emperor,
but he was not allowed to go out of Bijapur for four
years. On the other hand the King gave secret ins-
tructions to one of his vassals, Balaji More of Jaoli to
make Sivaji a captive. But Sivaji got the information
of this conspiracy beforehand, occupied Mahableshwar,
_and killed Balaji More. His fort of Jaoli was invested
(1655 A. D) and his territory occupied. Aurangzeb at
* this time came as viceroy to the Deécan. In view of
the war of succession shortly he accepted the offer of
friendly alliance with the Mahratta leader.

Sivaji strengthened his position in the Deccan in
the absence of the Mughals, and enlisted in his army
a number of men discharged by the King of Bijapur,
He received a serious rebuff in 1659 A. D. when he
attacked the island fortress of Janjira which was held
by Fateh Khan, an Afghan governor under the king
of Bijapur. Emboldened by this success the king
sent a big army under his cousin Afzal Khan who
promised to bring the “Mountain rat” dead or alive.
He had with him 12,000 horse and sufficient quantity of
stores and ammunition. The Hindu temples at Tulja-
pur and Pandharpur were desecrated by him on his way
to Jaoli where Sivaji had taken up his position. He

_ first attempted diplomacy to bring Sivaji to his camp
by sending a Brahman envoy named Krisnaji Bhaskar
but he was persuaded by this man to visit the Mahratta
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leader at Jaoli, A special pavilion was erected for his
reception below the fort of Pratapgarh. The interview
“was anything but friendly, Afzal used insulting language
towards Sivaji which he retorted by calling his opponent
a son of the cook. He gave a blow to Sivaji for using
such languague. But his first attack was repelled, and
before he dealt the second blow Sivaji turned his left
arm round his waist and thrust the DBughnakh (tiger's
claws) which he had fized on his fingers into Afzal’s
stomach, and when he relaxed his grasp in bitter
agony he was stabbed in the back with the Bicchwak
dagger which Sivaji had kept concealed within his right
sleeve. Both Sivaji and Afzal were unattended, they had
only one companion each. The shrieks of Afzal called
in his troops who were waiting at a distance, and
the Mahratta soldiers also came forward, and a general
battle ensued. Afzal's head was cut off and of his
vast army only 300 managed to escape. The rest were
either killed or made captives, Those who agreed to
gerve under Sivaji were released. The Mahrattas
became very bold after wioning this victory. They
captured Panhala and four other forts. The king
of Bijapur made a few more attempts to crush the
Mahrattas, but when he found these measures futile
he appointed Shahji to negotiate terms  with his son.
Henceforth Sivaji was acknowledged as the indepen-
dent ruler of the country between Kalyan in the north
and Ponda in the south, Dabhol in the west and Inda-.
pur in the east, an area measuring about 160 miles
in length, and 100 miles in breadth. Rairi was
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made the capital, and its name was changed into
Rajgarh. }

Aurangzeb had appointed his uncle Shaista Khan
as vieeroy of the Deccan with instructions to crush the
Mahrattas (1660 A. D.) The Mughals captured Chakan
and Poona, but in the course of the campaigns they
found that jt was not an easy task to dislodge the
Mahrattas from their hili-forts, Shaista Khan remained at
Poona for two years while Maharaja Jaswant Singh
was engaged in rounding up the Mahrattas, Sivaji felt
bitterly the loss of Poona, the cradle of his early life.
By a clever trick he entered the city with 400 atten-
dants mixed up with a marriage party in April 1663.
He surprised the viceroy by a night attack, in which
Shaista Khans son Abdul Falik Khan was killed,
and the viceroy lost three of his fingers, This disaster
brought disgrace upon Shaista Khan. He was traos-
ferred to Bengal, and Prince Muazzam was sent to the
Deccan in his place.

The new viceroy assisted by Mahara]a Jaswant
Singh made a few fruitless attempts to curb the acti-
vities of Sivaji, The indomitable Mahratta sacked the
rich city of Surat for four days in Jaouary, 1664,
and carried away vast treasures worth not less than one
crore of rupees. About this time he assumed the title
of Raja on the death of his father, and began to strike
coins in his own pame as a mark of his independent
authority. He also tried to collect money by his raids
into the ports on the coast. Prince Muazzam and his
lientenant ~ Maharaju  Jaswant Singh were recalled
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for their failure in stopping the depradations
of the Mabrattas, They were replaced by Raja Jai
Singh and Dilir Khan, who brought with them a large
contingent of Rajput and Afghan soldiers. A vigorous
offensive was launched in 1665, when Jai Singh wanted
to drive a wedge between the kingdom of Bijapur and
the territories of Sivaji, He took up his position close
to the fort of Purandhar, while the fort was invested
by Dilir Khan. After a siege of two months Sivaji agreed
to the treaty of Purandhar ¢ June 11, 1665) by which
he surrendered 23 forts yielding revenue of 4 lakhs
of Huns and retained only 12 forts with the revenue of
about a lakh. Further he asked leave to capture
lands belonging to the king of Bijapur lying in
the Konkan and Balaghat-Bijapur, for which he was
prepared to pay 40 lakhs of Iluns in 13 instalments.
The terms of the treaty were confirmed by the Emperor.
Sivaji’s son was made a Mansabdar of 5000, The
Mahratta leader became a vassal of the Emperor and
rendered assistance in the Bijapur war. When Jai
Singh was engaged in his war with Sultan Ali Adi
Shak of Bijapur Aurangzeh sent an invitation to Sivaji
to visit the imperial court. After some hesitation he
accepted the invitation on an assurance of safety being
given to him by Jai Singh,

Sivaji visited the Court of Agra when Aurangzeh
was celebrating his fiftieth birthday (May 12, 1666 )
When he was ushered into the imperial presence by
Ram Siogh, son of Raja Jai Singh, he was assigned a
positio in the rank of the nobles of 5000, The proud
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Mabratta felt greatly humiliated for being placed among
the nobles of the third grade. His son Sambhuji and
general Netoji were already enjoying this rank. He
-grew furious at the insult, and lost his senses in anger
and had to be carried to an ante-room by the orders
of the Emperor and when he regained consciousness
he was allowed to go to his quarters. His conduct was
-considered very impertinent and he was not given the
customary robes of honour, Moreover he was forbidden
the Court and guards were placed round the Jaipur
House where he was putting up. The Emperor did
not even grant him a private interview. By a clever
trick the crafty Mahratta along with his son Sambhuji
managed to escape. He was reported ill for sometime,
and after recovery presents were sent to Brahmans
in long baskets. In two of these baskets the father
and the son concealed themselves. As previously
arranged horses were waiting for them outside the city. ..
It was too late when the flight was discovered. On
reaching Muttra Sivaji shaved his beard and took up
the disguise of a mendicant, and returned to the Dec~
can along the pilgrim route through Allahabad, Benares,
Gaya and Puri, and then through Gondwana and Gol-
konda. Ram Singh was degraded as it was believed
that he connived at his escape. Sivaji reached his
capital in December, after an absence of nine months.
By this insult Aurangzeb turned a friend and ally into an
open enemy,

The campaign against Bijapur did not make any
progress. The imperial troops were greatly embarrassed
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when they approached the capital of Bijapur, Ali Adil Shah.
had been joined by the Sultan of Golkonda. The country
round Bijapur was laid waste to render the march of
the Mughal army difficult,. When Jai Singh found his
army faced with starvation he decided to retreat { Jany.
5, 1666 ). But the retreat was disastrous as they were
attacked in several places, and suftered great loss
both in men and stores. The attack against the fort
of Panhala led by Sivaji had failed. Jai Singh reached
Aurangabad exhausted on the 26th November. The cam=
paign had involved great expenditure and caused great
loss of men and stores. The failure was a great blow
to the reputation of the veteran general. He was re-
called, and replaced by Prince Muazzam who brought
with him as his lieutenant Jaswant Singh. Jai Singh
died broken-hearted on his way to Agra at Burbanpur
(July 2, 1667 ).

Neither Muazzam nor Jaswant was in a position fo
push an effective offensive against Sivaji Aurangzeb
could not send a large army to the Deccan as he was
threatened at that time by the Persians and Yusufzais
on the frontierJaswant had made the acquaintance of
Sivaji at Agra and was favourably disposed towards
him. He therefore tried to bring about a reconciliation
between the Mahratta Jeader and the Mughal Emperor.
He persuaded the Fmperor to confer the title of Raja
upon Sivaji, to grant him a jagir in Berar, and to confirm.
his son in the rank of a Mansabdar of 5000. Some forts
were also restored to him. { March 21668 ). A treaty
was also arranged with Bijapur shortly after this. The
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kings of Bijapur and Golkonda agreed to pay am -
annual tribute to Sivaji in order that the Mahrattas.
might not carry their raids into their territories, al-
though Sivaji desired that his right to chauth and:
sardeshmukhi should be recognised. When hostilities.
with the Mughals and the neighbouring kings ceased
and Sivaji was assured of a good income he gave his
entire attention to the building up of the Mahratta
state.

The treaty did not endure long, Aurangzeb did not
like the friendly relations between Prince Muazzam and
the Mahrattas, and to curtail expenditure he ordered
the disbanding of some troops in the Deccan, who
were employed by Sivaji in his army. An order was.
also given to attack a part of Sivaji’s jaghir in Berar. This
was considered as an open violation of the treaty, and
Sivaji prepared for a vigorous offensive. He re-
occupied Sinhagarh, Purandhar and other forts (1670 .
AD.) The Mughal positon was weakened by quarrels
between Muazzam and Dilir Khan, Sivaji on the other
hand gained fresh accession of strength by the support
of the Hindus in the Decean, who looked upon him
as the restorer of their freedom. The Moslem powers
of Bijapur and Golkonda joined the Mughals in
reducing the growing influence of the Mahrattas. Om
account of a combination of these powers Sivaji’s attack
upon the island of Janjira failed. The Mughal governor
of Surat sent help to the Bijapuri governor of Janjira,
for this reason Sivaji sacked Surat for the second time in
October, 1670. He obtained 66 lakhs of rupees in cash
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besides other precious metals. With the money thus
-obtained he strengthened his military position. He
«carried on raids into Khandesh and captured several
forts on the other side of the Nasik Pass. Aurangzeb
" removed Jaswant Singh from the Deccan and sent
Mahabat Khan with 40,000 troops. Although Mahabat
gained success at a few places the Mughals were
heavily defeated at Salhir (January, 1672 ). Prince
Muazzam and Mahabat Khan were both recalled, and
Bahadur Khan Lodi was sent as viceroy with Dilir
Kban as second in command. But these two gencrals
were not agreed upon their plan of operation. The
Mahratta raids between Ahmadnagar and Avurangabad
could not be stopped. The king of Golkonda paid two
million pagodas to the Mahrattas as the price of peace.
Sultan Ali Adil Shah of Bijapur died in 1672, and was
succeeded by a boy of 5 years, Sivaji captured some
places from the kingdom, and the Mughal viceroy of
the Deccan ceased hostilities on receiving a large some
of money from him, The Mahratta leader now consi-
dered himself sufficiently strong and as a mark of his
greatness he held a formal coronation as Chhatrapati
at his capital at Raigarh on the 6th June, 1674,

Sivaji carried on his plundering raids on all sides
almost unopposed. Bahadur Khan lost about one crore
of rupees and 200 horses, and in great dismay he pro-
posed terms of peace which were also approved of by
the Emperor. But these terms were not aceeptable to
Sivaji. The affairs in Bijapur went from bad to worse,
and the Regent sought the help of Sivaji against the
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Mughals who to carry on a successful campaign
against Bijapur had proposed terms of peace with
Sivaji which the latter considered desirable in view
of his plans in the Carnatic. He intended to occupy
the jaghirs of his father which were held by his brother
Venkoji under the Government of Bijapur. He marched
in 1676 and on the way formed an alliance with the
king of Golkonda. He captured Jinji and Vellore and
made his brother hand over to him the Jaghirs of his
father. On account of the turn of affairs in the Deccan
he returned from the Carnatic by the end of November,
1677, and reached Raigarh in April 1678, The king of
Golkonda expected a share in his spoils, but he did not.
try to satisfy him. Whep the Mughals attacked
Bijapur, its Regent Sidi Masaud sought the help of
of the Mahrattas. Sivaji had been offended on a previous
occasion for not being entrusted with the defence of
one of the gates of Bijapur. His son Sambhuji had.
also gone over to the Mughals, Sivaji went personally
to Bijapur in August, 1679, and defeated the Mughal
general Dilir Khan at Panhala. Sambhuji quarrelled with
Dilir Khan and left the Mughal army. Masand Khan
in recognition of the services rendered to him by Sivaji
acknowledged him as the ruler of the Carnatic and of the
Doab and his brother Venkoji henceforth became his
vassal instead of that of Bijapur. Towards the end of
1679 Sivaji’s health declined and he died on the 5th
Avpril, 1680.
Rise of the Mahratta Power

Sivaji converted the rude peasantry of Maharashtra
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into a strong national state which wrecked the great.
Mughal Empire. Since the fall of Deogiri the Mahrattas.
bad been ruled by Musalman rulers but they satill
Tetained some local influence and they held good positions
under the Governments of Ahmadnagar and Bijapur.
But the people as a whole lost all political conscious-
ness. Sivaji awakened in them a desire to become a.
free pation. He had a full faith in the ability of his
own people. The Mahrattas were a hardy race of
active and industrious people. They were simple in
habits, and were very frugal in their living. Resolute
in their purpose they could undertake any amount of
risk and hardship upon themselves to attain their object.
They lived in the country from the Satpura range to
Goa, and from the sea to the Warda river. This part
of the country was run through by the range of moun-
tains ‘known as the Sahyadri which separates the Kon-
kan from the tableland on the eastern part. There.
were innumerable forts on the hill tops, which could
afford protection to the prople at the time of invasions
by outsiders, Most of these forts were neglected by the
Musalman rulers, and the mountainous tribe called the
Mavalis made them their chicf rallying centres, Sivaji
utilised these rude people in his army. The military
organisation which he set up suited the condition of the
people admirably. The army consisted maiuly of infan-
try controlled by different grades of officers ranging from
the Naik, a commandant of ten men, Havildar, Jumladar,
to the Sarnobat or Scnapati, The horse soldicrs were
divided into two classes viz. the Dargirs who were
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provided with horses by the Government and the Silahdars
who had to bring their own horses. The system of
granting jaghirs was not favoured but instead the men were
paid out of the treasury. Sivaji also organised a strong fleet.
The Mabrattas did not feel the necessity of organi-
“sing their forces till they were inspired by Sivaji. He
showed great courage when he tried to revive the
principality of Ahmadnagar. There were many Mahrattas
holding the position of Deshmukhs and other respon-
sible offices. Dadaji Kondadev convinced him of the
superiority of the Mahratta system - of government
over the loose method of the Musalmans. But the idea of
a4 Hindu state managed on the Hindu principles was
engendered in the youthful mind of Sivaji from the tea-
»chings he received from Ramdas and Tukaram. The
appeal to the Hindu sentiment brought to him a large
number of adherents. They all gathered under his banner
for the protection of gods, cows, Brahmans and religion,
Ramdas inculeated duties of a Hindu ruler. He urged
upon them to “gather the Mahrattas together, make
religion live again” and said “Our fathers laugh at us
“from Heaven.” Sivaji fulfilled the hope raised and made
“the Hiudu civilization live again. He was a God-fearing
pious man, Although he was the champion of a Hindu
revival he never cherished any ill-will towards Islam.
The Mubammadan historian Khafi Khan thus writes
about him : “But he made it a rule that wherever his
followers went plundering, they should do no harm to the
mosques, the Book of God, or the women of any one.
Whenever a copy of the sacred Kuran came into his
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bands, he treated it with respect, and gave it to some of
his Musalman followerss When the women of any
Hindu or Mubammadan were taken prisoners by his
men, and they had no friend to protect them, he watched
over them until their relations came with a suitable
ransom to buy their liberty.” He had great respect for
women, and punished his son Sambhuji for insulting a
Brahman woman., His religious fervour and intense
love of the country drew the admiration of the people.

The system of Government adopted by Sivaji was
very efficient, and it endured long. He had a council
of eight ministers, called Ashta Pradhan, to carry on
the administration. The chief officers of the state
were the astute Brahmans versed in Hindu law and
Sastras, and possessing knowledge of state-craft.
Whenever the ministers were away on military duty
the work of administration was carried on by their
deputies. Sivaji improved the system of revenue collec-
tion according to the lessong he received from Dadaji
Kondadev. The old system of farming out land was
dropped and assessment was made on the yield of the
land, the share of the state being two-fifths. This
inrceased the revenue of the state, The idea of demand-
ing Chauth and Sardeshmukhi from the nighbouring
countries as a price of peace is novel, and this has
brought upon the Mahrattas the opprobrium of a
plundering race. In fact this was another method of
extending their overlordship. This method helped the
Mahrattas in building up their own state, and also in
rotaining their hold upon other powers.



CHAPTER VIII
AURANGZEB IN THE DECCAR. (1681-1707)

Revolt of Prince Akbar.

The Emperor marched into the Deccan with the
object of capturing his rebellious son Akbar, and also-
of smashing the power of the Mahrattas and annexing
the kingdoms of Bijapur and Golkonda from which task
he had withdrawn at the outbreak of the war of succes-
sion. Sambhuji who had occupied the throne of Sivaji
after overthrowing his brother Raja Ram extended his
" welcome to the rebel Prince. Early in May 1681
Akbar crossed the Nerbada and entered the Konkan
in June. Khan-i-Jahan Bahadur Shah the new viceroy
of the Deccan failed to oppose his march. Akbar
set up a court of his own, and began to enlist troops, -
Aurangzeb sent his son Azam to the Deecan in July
and be himself marched from Ajmir in September, and
reached Burhaopur in November. He took up his
position at Aurangabad on the 220d March 1682, He first
directed his attacks against Akbar and the Mahrattas,

Sambhuji was not a popular ruler. He had offended
his father by hie profligacy, and for this reason he was
superseded by Raja Ram. But he won over a large
number of followers by promises of money and share
in plunder. The ministers and officers of Raja Ram
deserted their master and joined Sambhuji who with their
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help entered Raigarh iv June 1680. By establishing
‘himself upon the throne he carried on raids in the Mughal
territories.  The Mabrattas sacked the suburbs of
Burhanpur, the capital of Khandesh, but their attempt
to raid Aurangabad failed on account of the arrival of
Bahadur Shah in time, Sambhuji was engaged in an
attack upon the island of Janjira when the Mughals came
.down upon the North Konkan, He organised strong defence
:against the Mughals. Aurangzeb found that the Sultan
-of Bijapur was in league with the Mahrattas, and therefore
-sent Prince Azam against Adil Shah. The expeditions in
the different parts against Akbar, Sambhnji and Adil
‘Shah did not prove very successful. The Emperor
‘was upset. He had no faith in his own officers
-and feared that his other sons might revolt. The
troops sent against Akbar were = withdrawn and
Prince Azam and Dilir Khan who were suspected
of forming a conspiracy at Ahmadnagar were recalled.
‘A council of war was held at Aurangabad in which a
grand plan to attack the enemy from several points at
-the same time was decided upon. Shah Alam went to the
:South Konkan, Sihabuddin to the North Konkan, Azam
was posted at Nasik, Aurangzeb himself at Alunadnagar
.and Khan-i-Jahan took up his position at Akalkot to
prevent the Golkonda and Bijapur troops, from joining
-the Mahrattas, Sambhuji was then engaged in an attack
upon the Portuguese at Goa but on the approach of the
Mughals he raised the siege. But Shah Alam bad to soon
retreat on account of want of supplies near Goa. With
relief  reccived from Aurangzeb le managed to
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withdraw to Ahmadnagar. Akbar finding his - position
insecure went to Persia in a French vessel. He died
in exile in 1704. The campaigns in the Northern
Konkan were more successful, and the Mughals' occu-
pied a number of forts. Sambhuji lost his posi-
ition on account of a conspiracy against him.
He was a man of immoral character and appointed to
the office of chief minister a Prahman from Kanauj
wmamed Kavi-Kulesh. Dissatisfied - with him many
Mahratta generals went over to the Mughals, Mahrattas
<could not however be easily crushed so long as they
«could obtain help from Bijapur and Golkonda. Se
Aurangzeb wanted to destroy these kingdoms before he
-could deal an eftective blow at the Mahrattas,

" The Fallof Bijapur

The king of Bijapur was a young man named Sikan-
-dar Adil Shah. When he was asked by Aurangzeb to -
;join his forces with the Mughals against the Mahrattas the
Sultan felt his position as sovereign ruler might thereby
be affectod.. Auranggzeb therefore was bent upon reducing
him. He sent an expedition in 1682 and another by the
middle of the year under Prince Azam. But their expedi-
tions failed and Azam was recalled in June 1683. On ac-
-count of the situation in Maharashtra no vigorous campaign
-could be sent against Bijapur in 1684, Sikandar Adil Shah
had in the meantime secured the services of an able
general named Sharza Khan as his Wazir and his army
was thoroughly organised under him. When "Aurangzeb
demanded the dismissal of Sharza Khan the Sultan as a

34—15
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self-respecting man refused to comply with the orders.
So Aurangzeb launched a vigorous attack from all sides
in 1685, Adil Shah received help from the Mahrattas
as well as from Golkonda. To break the alliance between:
the two Sultans Shah Alam was sent against Golkonda
(June, 1635 Prince Arzam was placed in charge of the-
operations against Bijapur. The campaign against Gol-
konda proved a success. Shah Alam occupied Haidera-
bad, and forced the Sultan to accept his terms. On
return from Golkonda he was sent to Bijapur, where he
tried to settle the differences by diplomaey, But
Aurangzeb disapproved of the procedure and arrived
at the very gate of Bijapur. The country was suffering
from famine, men and horses died in large oumbers.
When further resistance became impossible Sultan
Sikandar Adil Shah surrendered. He was made a
Mansabdar, and granted a pension of Rupees one lakh
a year. His officers mostly joined the Mughal army. He
was subsequently kept as a prisoner at Daulatabad.
He died at Satara on the 3rd April 1700. Bijapur lost
all its glory as the capital of an independent kivgdow.

Annezxation of Golkonda.

The Sultan of Golkanda accepted the suzerainty
of the Mughal Emperor in 1636, and since then he had
pever given any cause of offesce. e had been paying
his tributes regularly, and the Mughal agent st his
capital had full powers, The old Sultan Abdulla Kutb
Shah died in 1672 and after some confusion his son-in~
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law Abul Hassan occupied the throne. He had 4
Brahman minister named Madanna who was responsible
for the administration of the country. His brother
Akkanna was the commander-in-chief. Auranpzeb
was annoyed at the appointment of these Hindus
to high offices. as they moulded the policy ' of the
king. Moreover Abul Hassan stood by the king of
Bijapur in his struggles with the Mughals, and paid large
subsidies to the Mahrattas in expectation of military
aid whenever necessary. On the commencement of
hostilities with Bijapur Prince Shah Alam was sent
against Golkonda ( 1655 ). He was opposed by a big
army of the Sultan. The Mughal progress was arrested
at Malkhed where they had to spend two months on
account of the approach of the rains. Shah Alam
occupied Haiderabad in October by influencing the
commander of Golkonda, the city was plundered, and
the Prince then agreed to a settlement on very severe
terms, which became difficult for the Sultan to fulfl.
He was asked to dismiss his Hindu ministers, aud to
cede Malkhed and Sirum. Besides he had to pay two
lakhs of Huns as annual tribute, and two crores and
twenty lakhs of rupees in satisfaction of old dues. The
Hiondu ministers were murdered by a party of Moslem
conspirators and other Hindu officers were cruelly
treated (March, 1686). On the fall of Bijapur
Aurangzeb became anxious to absorb the other Moslem
kingdom, and arrived at the pates of Golkonda on the
28th January, 1687, He did not accept the offer of sub-
mission made by Abul Hassan who in wild desparation
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put up a strong defence. The siege of Golkonda lasted
seven months and a half. Tle Sultan Lad still a large
number of soldiers outside the fort to harass the
Mughals, and the garrison strongly defended it. The
scarcity of grains also increased the troubles of the
Mughals. The position of the besicgers became very
extremely difficult during the rains. On the cessation
of the rains however supplies reached the Mughal cawmp.
When  open attack failed Aurangzeb entered the
fort by a postern gate which was opened to him by
a man named Abdulla on receiving bribe (Sept. 27,
1687.) The main gate was defended ably by a faithful
officer named Abdur Razzak. He bravely fought his
way out through the thousand troops of the Mughals
and fell down under & cocoanut tree covered with
seventy wounds over his body, His heroism drew the
admiration of the Emperor. He said if Abul Hassan
had another servant as loyal as Abdur Razzak the
siege would have continued much longer. On the fall
of the fort Abul Hasean surrendered. He was taken as
a prisoner to the fort of Daulatabad. Auranguch
obtained spoils worth abont seven crores, and added
Golkonda to his Empire. The destruction of the Shia
kingdoms of the Deccan no doubt enriched the Emperor,
enabled him to direct his attack against the Mahrattas
whole-heartedly, but the disbanded troops of these
kingdoms took service under the Malrattas, and Lelped
them in prolonging the war. The Mahrattas also could
give their undivided attention to defence when the
two rival kingdoms disappeared.



AURAXNGZEB IN THE DECCAN 531

The Fate of Sambhuji

The acquisition of fresh territories did not bring in
sufficient income, as it took time to restore settled
government in these parts. The fighting strength of the
Mahrattas on the other hand gradually increased. “Every
lawless man and dishanded soldier” says Grant Daff
“whether Mahomedan or Mahratta, who could command
a horse and a spear, joined the Mahratta parties, and
such adventorers were often enriched by the plunder
of a day” The anti-Hindu activities of Aurangzeb
further excited the Mahrattas, They felt greatly
aggrieved that the Emperor did not enlist them in
his service. Sambhuji was an incompetent ruler. He
failed to take full advantage of the weakness of the
Mughals. He was an indolent sensualist without any
power of organisation. Although the Mahrattas carried
on their usual raids they could not stop Aurangzeb from
capturing their territories. Their method of warfare has
been thus described by a writer: “As soon as the
enemy’s back was turned, Sivaji’s son Sambhuji swiftly
led his active little horsemen behind their flank, and
crossing over to Khandesh burned Burhanpur and set
the whole country-side in a blaze. Before the Mughals
could get at them, they were safe again in their
fastoesses in the Ghats. This stroke is a typical
method of their warfare. They never risked an engagement
in the open field unless their numbers made victory a
certainty. When the beavy Mughal cavalry attacked
them, the hard little warriors, mounted on wiry steeds
as inured to fatigue as themselves, and spendidly broken
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in for their tactics, would instantly scatter in all
directions, and observe the enemy from a neighbouring
hill or wood, ready to cut off solitary horsemen, or
surprise small parties in ambush, and then, if the
pursuers gave up the useless chase, in a moment the
Mahrattas were upon them, hanging on their flanks,
despatching stragglers, and firing at close guarters into
the unwieldy mass. To fight such people was to do
battle with the air or to strike blows upon water, like
wind or waves they scattered and bent before the blow,
only to close in again the moment the pressure was
taken off.”

During the wars with Bijapur and Golkonda the
Mahrattas carried on their raids and an expedition
was sent to the Carnatic against Venkoji. When the
Mughals threatened the Mahratta forts they withdrew
from the Carnatic. But their king Sambhuji was enjoy-
ing himself at Sangameswar careless of the danger
which was soon to overtake him, The Mughal gencral
Tukarrib Khan took him by surprise at his pleasant
retreat. His minister Kavi-Kulesh got together four
or five thousand spearmen to defend him, but the
Mughal attack was irrestible. Sambhuji and his minister
were hounded out of their hiding places and carried to
the imperial camp at DBahadurgarh. Aurangzeb offered
to epare the life of Sambhuji if he would accept Islam.
The king indignantly refused the offer and said that
he would become a Musalman if the Emperor
gave his daughter to him. Aurangzeb became furious,
ordered a red hot iron to be thrust into his eyces, his
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tongue to be cut out, and his head to be separated from:
his body. After cruel torfures prolonged through a fort-
night he was executed on the 11th March 1689. Such
barbarous treatment of their  ruler created great
resentment among the Mahrattas, and they took up the
-execution of Sambhuji as a challenge to the whole

race.
[

‘Maharashtra after the death of Sambhuji.

On the death of Sambhuji his son Sivaji II was
placed upon the throne at Raigarh, but as he was a
child of five years Raja Ram the brother of the late
king was appointed his Regent ' during his minority.
“The Mughal general Itigad Khan soon captured  Rai-
garh, and carried the - child-king with his ‘mother to
the imperial camp (November, 1689). A number of forts
in the Konkan also fell into the hands of the Mughals.
Tinding his position insecure Raja Ram retreated into:
Jinji. With the capture of Sivaji and the flight of
Raja Ram the ascendancy of the Mughals in Maharashtra
became complete. The Mahratta chiefs were dispersed
to their own villages. ~ Aurangzeb had reached the
zenith of his power. But he little dreamt that he was
oceupying a position from where he would be soon .
thrown out.

The Mahrattas were not daunted at the rcductlon
-of their capital. They kept up their predatory reids
which were directed by Ram Chandra Pant from:
Satara, while Raja Ram maintained his position at Jinji.
“They expected that when the Mughals would be ex-
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bausted in their attacks upon the forts in the Deccam
they wonld return and deal a decisive blow at the
enemy, Aurangzeb sent an expedition under Zulfikar
Khan against Raja Ram in 1690, With the resources
at his disposal the Mughal general could not invest
the place. When he asked for reinforcements the:
Emperor could not comply with his reguisition. Raja.
Ram on the other hand received the co-operation of the
Raja of Tanjore, and the Mahrattas in the Mughal.
service went over to him. Prince Kam Bakhsh was
asked to give up the siege of Wakinkera and to proceed
to Jinji. He suspended Zulfkar Khaun in the chief.
command. But the Prince was found carrying on freason-
able negotiations with the Mabrattas, and was therefore:
put under arrest. The operations at Jinji lasted cight
years, but immediately before the falli of the place
(1697) Raja Ram escaped with the connivance of
Zulfikar Khan, The Mughals had already subjugated.
Trichinopolly and Tanjore (1694). When his position
became untenable at Jinji Raja Ram fled to Vellore, and
shortly afterwards to Vishalgarh.

Aurangzeh encamped at Brahmapuri on  the Bhima
from May, 1695 to the end of 1699 while directing the
operations in the Deccan. Kasim Khan was killed in.
an action with Santaji Ghorpare, but the Mabratta
position became worse when Santaji wWas assassinated
in an internal fend with the other gencral Dhanaji
Jadhav, Raja Ram took up his position at Satara and
reconstituted his council with some of his faithful
men who had rendered him good service. Ho tried to
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strengthen his position in the forts of the Kopkan,.
which still remained unsubdued. Aurangzeb drew up-
a comprehensive plan of attacking the Mahratta raiders.
in the plain as well as the forts on the hills. Raja Ram’s
marauding parties visited Khandesh and Berar demanding-
Chauth and Sardeshmukhi, While Raja Ram went out
in his raids Aurangzeb reached Satara (December 1699):
The fort stood onthe summit of a steep hill, and
rendered any attack upon it difficult. Pragji Prabhu
defended the place with great skill and ability. Raja Ram-
died exhausted after his long espeditions at Sinhagarh-
on the 20d March 1700, and Satara surrendered on the
21st April, 1700. The Mughals nest besieged the fort of
Parli which surrendered on the 9th Jume. The two
victories cost the Emperor heavily. The rains made-
the movement of troops difficult. His camp at Khawas-
pur was washed away in the floods. The soldiers had
not been paid for three years, and they could not stand °
the hardships of the tedious journey. After the death of
Raja Ram the leadership in Maharashtra passed into
the hands of his widow Tara Bai. She was a remark—
able lady possessing great intelligence and enterprise. She-
was also well versed in the art of government. With
the help of Ramchandra Pant she placed her infant.
son Sivaji IIT on the throne, and managed the Govern-
ment herself. She cheered up her officers and took
vigorous measures for carrying on the raids. She steadi-~
ly improvel the position of the Mahrattas. Aurangzeb
on his part did not relax his attacks. In the course
of the next four years he conquered almost all the
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important Mahratta forts. Where open warfare failed he
adopted the method of bribery. He spared neither
men nor money in capturing these forts, He occupied
~ Panhala, Vishalgarh, Raigarh and Torna. His resources

“were exhausted in these operations. His last campaign
“was directed against Wakinkera (Feb, 1705). After the
subjugation of this place he made up his mind to go back
to Delhi. Age was crecping on him and he was already
eighty-seven.

The conquests made by Aurangzeb could not
however be maintained. The Mahrattas carried on their
extensive raids. With the money thus obtained and
with the help of the Mavlis most of the forts were reoccu-
pied. Tara Bai took up her residence at the fort of
Panbala. Aurangzeb tried to create a division in the
Mahratta camp by releasing Sahu, But the trick did not
work. He had further alienated the Mahratta sympa-
thies by marrying away the daughters of Raja Ram and
Sambhuji to Musalmans. The Mahrattas managed to
recover their position within a short time. They made
regular  arrangements for civil administration in
the places they occupied Khafi Khan states:
“Wherever they arrived they engaged in a regular
revenue collection of the place and passed months and
years there with wife and children in peace of wind,
‘They divided the Parganas among themselves, and in
imitation of the Imperial Government they appointed
their own Subahdors, Kamuvishdars (revenue colloctors),
and Rahdars (road-guards.” They built up a strong
government within a short time. The hard-won con-
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quests of Aurangzeb thus turned out to be a disastrous
failure.
Events in northern India.

During his long sojourn in the south the Emperor
could hardly pay attention to the affairs of thenorth,
“The Central Government became gradually weak. His
ambition to win the south led to the destruction of the
Empire. In Rajputana the Rathors were not reconciled
to the Mughal anministration. They never abandoned
the canse of Ajit Singh. Durga Das returned from the
Deccan in 1687, and led the opposition. Twice he ac-
cepted service under the Mughals but when the Mahrattas
raided Gezerat in 1706 the Rathors shook off their
bondage. Prince Bidar Bakht who was acting as gover-
nor on behalf of his father Azam could not stand
against them, and shortly after the death of Aurangzeb
the Rathors placed Ajit Singh on the throne,

The Jats who lived in the country round about Agra
became a source of trouble during the absence of the
Enperor in the Deccan. They robbed the Mughal troops
when they marched through their country. They plundered
the tomb of Akbar at Sikandra in 1686 and again in
1688. Ifor a few years peace was maintained by Raja
Bishan Singh of Ambar while he was Faujdar of Muttra,
But there arose a new leader among the Jats, named
“Churamap. He reconquered some of their old forts, and
during the last few years the Jats were still a great menace
to the Empire. Besides these troubles there was unrest
in other parts. Revenue was not regularly collected
excepting in Bengal.
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Death of Aurangzeb.

After the fall of Wakinkera Aurangzeb proceeded to
the village of Devapur on the Krishna, Here he became
suddenly ill. The stay of a few months there improved
his health, but he felt that the end was near. By
slow marches he rcached Ahmadnagar on the 20th
January, 1706. He came to that place twenty-three years
ago with great hopes of expanding his Empire. After
ceaseless wars in the long interval he returned a disap-
pointed man in broken health, His grand projects have
failed, and the end of the lonely lite was approaching.
The last day of his life he spent in great agony of
mind. He marched through blooed to the throne, kept
his father a prisoner, and when he was about to quit the
world there was none to console him, His eldest son
Muhammad had died in prison long ago, the fourth
Akbar who rebelled against him died in exile fu Persia
in 1704. The second Muazzam ( Shah Alam ) also was kept
confined for some years, and although restored to freedom
later on, he was sent away to Kabul. Azam was posted as
governor of Guzerat. He came to see his father on  recei-
ving the news of his illness. The youngest Kambakhsh was
with him at Ahmadnagar, but was ordered to go to Bijapur
when he quarrelled with Azam, while the latter was asked
to proceed to Malwa, Aurangzeb could not count upon
the fidelity of any of his sons. Ile had confidence in
none excepting in himself, and this too he lost as the
end approached. On Friday, the 20th Icbruary, 1707,
he breathed his last. It was his instruction that his
body should be interred in the nearest buril place.
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Prince Azam reached Ahmadnagar on the 220d and sent
the body to be buried at Khuldabad near Daulatabad
whbere lay the remains of the saint Zain-ud-Din. The
tomb of this last great monarch of Hindustan is a very
simple masonry work without any marble platform,
grass grows on the top, and this is emblematic of the
simplicity of his life.

An estimate of Aurangzeb’s Character

Aurangzeb died at the age of eighty-nine, in the
fftieth year of his reign. He drew the admiration
of his co-religionists for his devotion to his faith. His
administration was guided by his fidelity to Islam.
Whatever he did was to strengthen the position of
the Musalmans and to reduce that of other religionists.
He never wavered t: wound the susceptibilities of
others in pursuance of his own object. He had no
scruples in adopting means to remove the obstacles form
his way. In his instructions to Zulfikar Khan he wrote :
“When you have an enemy to destroy spare nothing
rather than fail, neither deceptions, subterfuges, nor
false oaths, for anything is permissible in open war.
Invent as many tricks, if possible, as there are grains
of purslane on your arm after you withdraw it from
a barrell of hongy. In one word, make use of every
pretext in the world that you judge capable of bring-
ing you success in your projects.” The passage indi-
cates the character of the last of the great Mughal
rulers. He was faithless as a son and brother and
suspicions as a father. He was cold and calculating
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and austere in his mode of living. He never indulged
in frivolities, and was always dignified in his conduct.
“He never puts on the clothes prohibited by religion,
nor does he ever use vessels of silver or gold” writes
a Moslem historian, “In his sacred court no improper
conversation, no word of back-biting, or of false-hood
is allowed” (Mirot-i-dlam). Dr. Gemelli Careri an
Ttalian physician visited the Emperor in his camp at
Galgala in 1695, When he saw him he was “an old
man with a white beard, trimmed round, contrasting
vividly with his olive skin. He was of low stature,
with a large nose, slender and stooping with age.
Aurangzeb took up his task as a ruler very seriously.
He possessed a keen semse of justice, unflinching
courage, and indomitable power of endurance. Ie
guided the military operations personally even at the
age of eighty-cight. He maintained his energy till his
last campaign. Dr. Gemelli Careri saw him endorsing
the petitions with his own hands without spectacles.
But his long life ended in failure. “Every plan that
he formed came to little good ; every enterprise failed.”
-says Khafi Khao. Immediately after his death the
empire was broken into pieces, the countries which
he tried to conquer became independent, and the move-
ments which he wanted to crush becnme strong. It is
intercsting to trace the causes of bis failure. The
historian Elphinstone says: “The real defect was in
heart. Had he been capable of any gencrous or noble
gentiment, he would have been a great prince, his gub-
jects would not have been alienated by his narrow
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views on religion, nor would the power - of his-
officers have been cramped, and their zeal chilled by
a constant spirit of suspicion and distrust.” The same-
writer further remarks ; “His glory is for himself alone..
The triumph of character ennobles onoly himself. To

his great Empire his devoted zeal was an unmitigated'
cwrse.” He kept his officers at a distance, and

centralised all the activities of the Empire in himself.

He would not trust his own sons or officers, He never

appointed any body with full powers. With any high.
dignitary, a governor or a commander he always

appointed an associate to watch him, aod so nobody

ever served him with genuive sincerity and true loyalty.

By his education and trainicg he was selfish, self-

centred and narrow, He did not find any body

better  than himself; and  aoything goed in

the religions or religious literature of others. This

was the keynote of his life; and this narrow outlook

made such a carcer of great talents and moral purity a '
great failure.

He spent the vast accumulated wealth of his father -
and grand-father on gigantic military projects. He did .
not encourage the pursait of art. No important architec- -
ture is associated with his name, on the other hand he
forbade music which was a source of enjoyment and
destroyed many beautiful Hindu tewples,

He did not interfere with the system of government
introduced by Akbar. The Mughal Empire reached the .
furthest limit in his time. The Empire was divided

_into 21 Subahs, 15 in Northern India and 6 in the-
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.Southern. He had a big arny, and the highest
-appointments were filled by military men. The maximum
income of Aurangzeb was about Rs. 80,00,00,000,
{eighty crores) The income fell down on account of
-misgovernment- towards the end of his reign.
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. CHAPTER IX
THE BREAK-UP OF THE EMPIRE.

Bahadur Shah '

The death of an emperor almost always led to a
contest for the throne among his surviving soms. The
question of succession was invariably decided by the-
sword, which necessarily produced an unsettled state
of things. The people had no voice in such matters, and law
and custom offered no solution. Immediately on the
the death of Aurangzeb his three surviving sons
followed the old traditions of their house. Each
asserted his right to succeed to the wvacant throne of
bis father. Muazzam, often called Shah Alam, was at
Kabul. He was the eldest of these. Hé bad wast
administrative experience. He was appointed Viceroy of
the Deccan in 1667 when ke was a youngman of twenty-
geven. He came to assist his father in his war with
the Bajputs and went with him to the Deccan. He lost
the favours of the Emperor on account of his softness
for the king of Golkonda and was kept under restraint
for seven years till 1695 AD. Prince Azam obtained
some predominance in the Court, and considered himself
the heir-apparent. Shah Alam was subsequently sent as
Governor of Kabul, and thus was away from the Court for
twelve years. Azam was Governor of Guzerat at the time
-7 1is father’s illness, and came to see him on receiving the

3516
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news. Kambakhsh was the favourite of the old Emperor..
His mother Udaipuri Begum attended him during his
illness. The two brothers quarrelled by the bedside of
the dying Emperor, and for this reason they were
sent away, Azam to Malwa, and Kambakhsh to
Bijapur. But Azam did not go very far. He reached
Ahmadragar two days after the death, and proclaimed
his accession and marched towards Agra to get hold
of the treasures, Shah Alam on the other hand left
Kabul, and forming a junction with Munim Khan at
Lahore proceeded towards Agra. Delhi easily sub--
mitted to him. From Muttra he sent a conciliatory
message to Azam offering to divide the empire between
themselves. It was also the desire of Aurangzeb that
the empire should be partitioned amongst his sons.
But Azam was overconfident in his own powers
and rejected the offer of his brother. Before he-
could reach Agra he had to encounter the vast army
of Shah Alam at a village called Jajau balf-way
between Dholpur and Agra ( Juve 10, 1707.) In the
battle Azam and his son Bidar DBakht were killed.
Shah Alam then ascended the throne at Agra under
the title of Bahadur Shah.

He had still another rival in the field. Kam DBukhsh.
was in possession of DBijapur and Golkonda. Instead
of submitting to the inevitable he wrote insolent letters
to Babadur Shah and tried to maintain his independence.
He would uot listen to any proposal of conciliation.
So Buahadur Shah proceeded to the Deccan in 1708 AD.
He was joined by Zulfikar Khan who commanded a large
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army in the Deccan. At a battle near Haiderabad in
Januz'u'y 1709 Kam Bakhsh was wounded, and brought
before his brother. He died of the wounds the same
night The Government of the Deccan was now
entrusted into the hands of Zulfikar Khan.

The new Emperor had to face three serious problems :
The Mahrattas were creating havoe in the Deccan, the
. Rajputs were discontented, and a new trouble was
arising in the Pnnjab where the Sikhs were defying the
authority of the Mughal rulers. On the advice of
Zulfkar Khan Azam had released Sahu the son of
Sambhuji before he marched against Bahadur Shah.
The plan worked admirably aod the Mahrattas were
divided into two rival parties. Tara Bai was working
as the Regent of her infant son Sivaji III, but there
were many Mahratta chiefs who welcomed the son
of Sambhuji as the direct descendant of Sivaji The
civil war left little leisure for marauding expeditions
into Mughal territories. Bahadur Shah was willing to-
acknowledge the claims of Sahu, but his Vizier
Munim Khan supported Tara Bai. In the midst
of this divided counsel the mnegotiations were
dropped. Zulfikar also soon left for Agra delegating
his task of administering the Deccan to Daud Kban
Parni who later on entered into an understanding with
Sahu thut he would be allowed to enjoy the Chauth
within his province during his incumbency of office,
but the collection would be made by Mughal officers
without the interference of the Mahrattas. This
arrangement maintained peace till the end of the reign.
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Bahadur Shah did not think it prodent to continue
hostilities with the sturdy Rajputs, and expected their
help in maintzining his throne. On his way to the
Deccan he concluded a treaty with the Rana of Udaipur,
restoring to him all his territories, giving up the right
to collect Jiziyah, and releasing him from the obligation
to furnish a contingent of troops in the Deccan. Similar
terms were offered to Ajit Singh of Marwar, but he had
still to supply a contingent. The Raja of Ambar had
joined Azam Shah and therefore more rigorous
conditions were imposed upon him. He was not allowed
to rule his own principality although he could command
the Jaipur contingent with the Mughal army.
Ajit Singh end Jai Singh formed a league and
offered resistance. When Bahadur Shah was proceeding
against them on his return from the Deccan he reccived
the news of the serious situation in the Punjab. Se
he sent his son Azim-us Shau to settle the differences
with the Rajputs. All their demands were conceded
to the full, and the Rajas of Ambar and Marwar were
placed on the same footing with the Rana of Udaipur.

Rise of the Sikhs

The atrocities of the Sikhs in Sirhind spread fast
towards the cast, and they even threatened Delhi. The
situation became so serious that Bahadur Shah had to
withdraw all his trops from other flelds and to proceed
personally to the Punjab. Since the execution of Guru
Arjun Dev in 1607 the Sikhs had developed into a
military race. His son Har Govind thoroughly changed
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the character of the quiet religious people. The of Gura
was no longer a simple religious teacher but the head
of a political state with the necessary institutions of
government. He was called the Sachha Padisha (the
True King), he had a Durber to advise him and a
throne called Akal Takht (the throne eternal) from where
he used to dispense justice. He organised an army and
taught his disciples the military art. Although he was
reconciled for sometime to Jabangir he communicated
his spirit of revenge to his people and inspired them
with batred towards the Musalmans. He became so
unrnly that he was kept confined by Jahangir for
twelve years in the fort of Gwalior. On his release he
kept up his hostilities so vehemently that he was driven
out of Amritsar, and his house and property . were
captured by the Mughals. "He had to fight constantly
with the troops of Shah Jahan, and he was compelled
to withdraw ioto the hills. He spent the rest of his
life at Kiratpur in the Kashmir Hills, where he died in’
1644, He was succeeded by his grand-son Har Rai
who incurred the displeasure of Aurangzeb for his friend-
ship with Dara Shukoh. His son Ram Rai who re-
presented him was disiherited for submitting to
Avrangzeb. On the death of Har Rai in 1661 his
infant son Har Kishan was placed on the Gaddi
according to his desire, but the child died in 1664. The
succession then passed on to Tegh DBabadur the
youngest son of Har Govind. These disputes over suc-
cession did not deviate the Sikhs from their main object.
Tegh Bahadur accompanied Raja Ram Singh of
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Ambar in his Assam campaign in 1669. On his return
journey he stopped for some time at Patna where was
born his famous son Govind Singh. He was asked by
Aurangzeb to accept Islam, which he indignantly de-
clined He was executed in 1675.

The tenth Gurn Govind Singh was a very capable
organiser. He transformed the Sikhs inte a military
commonwealth. He organised the Kkolse, and intro-
duced a number of reforms in the community, The
Sikhs became a brotherhood with a strong determi-
pation to take revenge for any insult to them. They
defied the authority of the Emperor, and for this they
had to fight ceaselessly with the imperial troops for
thirteen  years. Their headquarters, Anandpur, was
attacked five times, two sons of Govind Singh were
killed in action and two were put to death. When
resistance became impozsible Govind Singh fled (1702.
His spirit was so much curbed that he went to the Deccan
to offer his submission to Aarangzeb but before he
had reached the imperial camp the Emperor had died.
He was stabbed to death at Nander by an Afehan,
to avenge the death of his father. (1728). The leader-
ship of the Sikhs now passed into the hands of 1 man
called Banda.

Gurn Govind Singh met Banda in the Deccan. He
was a Sanyasi, but he had within him the Rajput
impetuousity, from which ruce he cawe. Tle was bold, reso-
late, and relentless in his disposition. On  Lis return
to the Panjab he enlisted in the Sikh army mien of all
descriptions. The Jats and Kshatris predowinated at
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fhe early stage. Gurn Govind Singh broke tue barrier
of caste, and introduced the system of initiation . by
.2 ceremony called pahul in which the candidate had
to drink concentrated water stirred by "a sword or
-dagger. A large number of low caste men joined .the
7band of disciples, and there were a number of scavengers,
leather-dressers and such like persons’ who were not
afraid of shedding blood, or undertaking avy task  of
atrocious cruelty. The oppression of the Moslem rulers
provoked their wild vengeance. They directed their
first attack against Wazir Khan, the Faujdar of Sirhind
who had buried alive the two sons of Guru Govind
Bingh. Wazir Khan was defeated and killed in a
pitched battle ( May 1710 ), and the city was given up
to plunder. The Musalmans were cruelly butchered,
-even women and children were not spared. The dead
were dug up and east to the birds and beasts of prey.
The mosques were pulled down, and the' Mullas were
killed. The fire of fanatical fury spread in all direc-
-tions. The Sikhs carried their victorious army from
rthe Sutle] to the Jumna, and they marched as far as
“Sabaranpur to the east. The local authoritics in a state
«of desperation organised a vigorous defence, and for a
-ghort time the Sikhs withdrew to the country between
Ludhiana and the bills and the upper course of the
Butlej. The Pathans of Muzaffarnagar rolled back
-the tide of the Sikh progress. The Sikhs however
-gathered up their forces in the Jalandhar Doab, and
-their number reached to 70,000 They devastated the country
:a8 far-as Delhi on one side and Lahore on the other.
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Bahadur Shah went from Ajmir with a strong army to crush
them. An engagement took place at Shahdara near
Delhi on the 5th December 1709, and then Munim
Khan pushed them back to the sub-Himalayan State-
of Nahan, . A large number of the Sikbs took refuge-
in the fort of Lohgarh which was besieged by the
Mughals, When the garrison could not hold out any
mote Banda escaped by a back door, changing his
clothes with a faithful follower. On the discovery of
the trick a part of. the army was sent towards the hills
in pursuit of the fugitive. The Emperor was annoyed
at the failure of Munim Khan to capture the Sikh leader,
and forbade him to come to his presence. This so
much wounded the sensitive general that he soon died.
of broken heart. '

The death” of the faithful general however told.
heavily upon Bahadur. Shah. He retired to Lahore to
improve his health, leaving a small army to watch the
movements of the Sikhs. He died there at the age
of 71, after a short reign of four years, He wasa
good king, but he could not arrest the process of
disintegration which started in the reign of his father.
There was confusion on account of the dispute
regarding succession, Taking advantage of the unsettled
state of things the Sikhs came out of their mountain
Tetreat and overran the country between Lahore and
Ambalz. In some places the imperial troops were
defeated. But Abdus Samad Khan, the governor of
Tahore took strong measures, defeated them in various
engagements, and forced Banda to surrender (1716}
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Two thousand Sikhs were killed, and Banda was taken
as a captive to Delhi with 740 other Sikhs. They were-
cruelly treated there. They were all executed when-
they refused to accept Islam. These faithful Sikhs
accepted death manfully rather than abandon their-
religion. Banda was handed a dagger to stab his own
son, When he declined the son was killed before bhis
eyes, and his heart was thrown into his face, and then he
he was brutally murdered. It was a cruel revenge of
the atrocities perpetrated by the Sikhs upon the Musal-
mans. They were thoroughly crushed, and wherever
found they were killed like wild beasts. On the-
down-fall of the Mughals they gradually raised their-
heads and under Ranjit Singh they became the rulers
of the Punjab in the first part of the nineteenth century..

The Later Mughals.

The successors of Bahadur 8hah were all incom--
petent men. They lacked the military genins and the -
administrative ability of the early monarchs, Undeér
their weak rule the vast empire fell into pieces. The
governers and ministers carved ont new kingdoms for-
themselves, When the empire was thus disintegrated,
the foreign adventurers then trading in India stepped in,.
and became the rulers of the country.

On the death of Bahadur Shah his sons quarrelled
over the throne. The minister Zulfikar Khan suggested
an amicable distribution of the ewpire. DBut as this
did not prove agreeable they entered into a sanguinary
contest. The second brother Azimush Shan, the ablest.
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-of the four, was defeated and killed by a combination
of the three others. At last the eldest Jahandar Shah
succeeded in obtaining the throne with the ‘help of
:Zulfikar Khan, Jahandar was an idle voluptuary,
and was completely " in the hands of a mistress
pamed Lal Konwar. He exalted to high offices the
“brothers and relatives of this danmcing girl. This
-produced disgust in the minds of the minister.
“The affairs of the Government suffered through the
neglect of both the Emperor and his Minister. The nobi-
‘lity of all ranks were incensed at the tyranny and high-
-handedness of Zualfkar.

In this state of things in the imperial court, Farrukh-
-giyar, the son of Azim-ush Shan, who was in Bengal,
was encouraged to put forward his claims by two
“brothers, Syed Husain Ali, governor of Behar, and Syed
Abdulla, governor of Allababad. They belonged to the
Barha tribe, and had served under Aurangzeh. They
-were in sympathy with Azam and Azim-ugh Shan, and
:now stood by Farrnkhsiyar. With their help he marched
towards the capital, Juhandar came down from Lahore,
.and at a battle on the Jumna near Allahabad Jahandar
was defeated. and then he fled from the field on the clephant
of his mistress, Zulfikar followed him, and both took
refuge in the house of the latter’s father Asad Khan
in Delhi, who on the approach of Farrukhsiyar handed
over the cowardly king into his hands on the expectation
that the father and the son would be spared. Although
Asad Khan escaped, his son was strangled to death, and
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Jahandar was murdered in prison, Farrukhsiyar ascended
the throne on the 9th Feb, 1713.

The new monarch was a young man without expe-
rience. The leadership of the state therefore passed
into the hands of the Syed brothers,  Abdulla - Khan
became the vizier, and the younger brother Husain
the commander-in-chief. Although the Syed brothers
. filled the highest offices the Emperor did not take
them into full confidence. His favourite was a man from
Multan named Mir Jumla. At his instigation Husain
Aliwas sent against Ajit Singh of Marwar. The vizier
Abdulla found that there was a plot to separate him
from his brother, so he wrote to Husain to return
immediately. Ajit Singh also was not in a position to resist
and agreed to terms favourable to the Emperor. On
his return to the capital it was arranged that Husain
Ali would go to the Decean as Viceroy, and Mir Jumla
to Behar. Daud Kban Parni was in charge of the.
Deccan Government. He was not willing to submit
to the new arrangement, and was killed in an engage-
ment, The death of Daud increased the bitterness
between the Mughals ‘and the Mahrattas. Husain Ali
when again asked by his brother to return to Delhi
proposed a treaty with Raja Sahu, but the terms were
not ratified by the Emperor (1717). Mir Jumnly also
returned from Patna, but he had lost the old position he
held in the eourt. He was 'sent away as pgovernor of
Lahore. In the meantime Banda had been executed and
the Siklis crushed. Farrukhsiyar  had alienated the
Hindus by re-imposing the Jiziyal. The powers of the
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vizier Abdulla became unbearable, and the Emperor
contemplated to seize his person. But the plot failed.
On the arrival of Husain Ali in 1719 the Emperor
sought the help of the opponents of the vizier. Raja
dJai  Singh of Ambar, the only faithful supporter
of the Emperor advised him to take prompt action
agaivst the Syed brothers. But Farrukhsiyar was a
coward and a hopeless debauchee. He dismissed Jai
Singh on the demand of Husain Ali, and when reduced
to a helpless situation he was dragged out of his place of
concealment in the female apartments and put to death
Feb. 1719. The Syed brothers were now masters of the
situation, and they set up two princes one after
another upon the throne, and the ﬂlir'(l’ Muohammad Shah
survived their intrignes. During this period of confusion-
Jai Singh threatened Agra, and Ajit Singh carried away
his widowed danghter who had .been married to-
Farrukhsiyar. The Jats and the Mahrattas ulso in-
creased their depredaticns.  One important iucident
in the reign of Farrukhsiyar was the grant of some
concessions to the English merchants in Bengal. Murshid
Kuli Khan, the goverpor of Bengal, was very exacting,
and the English merchants sent two representatives to
Delbi with a petition to the Emperor for exemption from
oppressive  duties. They had with them a Seottish
surgeon named William Iamilton. The mission waited two
years at Delhi, and found the vizier to be one of their
greatest opponents. About this time Farrukhsiyar suffered
from a tamor on the back and was cured by the kil
of amilton who procured from the Emperor the:
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.concession prayed for by the East India Company. They
were granted the right to carry on trade in Bengil free
«of duty, and some land in the vicinity of Calcutta,
Muhammad Shah was on the throne from 1718 to
1748 but during this long reign the empire of the
Mughals was thoroughly shattered by factions from
within and asseults from outside. The Syeds found
Mubammad ably advised by his mother and therefore
" could not use him as their tool. The Queen-mother
discovered that Asaf Jah (Chin Kilich Khan) an able
Turkman would be sufficiently strong to erush the Syed
brothers, He. had distinguished himself in various
fields and was governor of Malwa in 1719, He was
subsequently known a¢ the Nizam-ul-Mulk. According to
a secret understanding with the Emperor he proceeded
towards the south, .in violation of the orders of the
Syeds who asked him to come back to Delhi. - Asaf Jah
occupied Burhanpur and Aurangabad. When he
became very powerful the Syeds took steps to - erush °
him. They were joined by some Rajput chiefs. But
the Nizam defeated them at Ratanpur thirty miles
north of Burhaopur, June 10,1720. Syed Abdulla
went from Fathepur-Sikri where the new Emperor was
holding his court to Delhi. When the situation in the
gsouth became serious Husain Ali marched towards the
Decean accompanied by the Emperor and his mother.
On the way at a place about sixty miles from Fathepur-
Sikri he v.as assassinated, and the Queen-mother ap-
pointed Muhammad Amin as the new Vizier. Syed
Abdulla tried to get up a pretender on the throne at
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Delbi, but he was overpowered near Muttra (Nov. 3,
1720 ) and then Muhammad entered Delhi on the 10th.
He died soon after the defeat. On the death of Muham-
mad Amin, Asaf Jah was promoted to the position
of the Vizier, (Feb. 1721} and another supporter of
the Emperor Saadat Khan was offered the government
of Oudh. Ajit Singh of Jodhpur was appointed
Governor of the Province of Agra, and another Hindu
was given the charge of Malwa. To conciliate the
Hindus the poll-tax was removed, but the Nizam
was not agreeable to this remission. He also found
“that he was ridiculed in the court circle for his stiff
manners. About this time news of the ravages of the
Mahrattas iu the Deccan reached Delhi. So the Nizam
proceeded to look after his own province, He estab-
lished in the south the House of the Nizam. He was
engaged in constant war with the Mabrattas for several
years. In 1731 the old Nizam supported the Mahrattas
in their attack upon Hindustan, This course he
took partly with a view to divert the Mahrattas and
partly to destroy the hostile faction in the capital, When
Delhi was in danger the Nizam came to its rescue, but
he was defeated by the Mahrattas near Bhopal. IHe then
surrendered Malwa, and the country between the Chambal
and the Nerbada to the Mahrattas ( Feb. 11, 1733 ).
Invasion of Nadir Shah

Shortly after this a new danger visited India. Nadir
Shah, who had usurped the throne of Persia, only two
years ago, iovaded India. e became very popular in
Persia for overthrowing the Sufuvi dybasty, The
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report; of the confusion in Hindustan encouraged him to-
undertake this invasion, . He marched unopposed uwp to
Karnal a few miles north of Panipat. A Mughal
army under Saadat Khan opposed the march, and in an
engagement there the imperial troops were defeated,.
Saadat Khan was taken a prisoner, and about 20,000
Mughal soldiers were killed in the battle which lasted.
only two hours. ( Feb. 23, 1739). The Nizam tried to
send away the invaders by an offer of small indemnity.
But the craven-hearted Emperor threw himself upon the
merey of Nadir Shahy who said he would return
by taking rest at Delhi, and on receiving some indemnity.
He entered Delhi in the company of Muhammad Shah on
the 19th March, and took up his residence in the
Palace. His troops were scattered throughout the city.
On the second day a false report was circulated that
Nadir was dead, and the Indians mercilessly attacked
the Persian troops. At this unprovoked assault Nadir
ordered a general massacre of the Indians. The Persian
soldiers carried out the order with a thoroughness from
early in the morning to late in the evening, In the course
of nine hours about one hundred and twenty thousand
persons were killed. Nadir Shah watched the massacres
from the terrace of the Golden Mosque on the Chandney
Chauk. The city was a scene of destruction, blood, and
terror. QOu the entreaty of Muhammad the order was.
withdrawn.  After the general massacre the city
was given up to plunder. Indemnity was collected from the
citizens, the nobles were employed to levy the money..
After a residence of fifty-eicht days at Delhi the-
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invader went away with booty estimated at eighty
million of pounds sterling. Authorities differ about
the exact amount. Muhammad Shah received his
crown from his hands, and henceforth raled as
his vassal. The territories to the west of the Indus
were ceded to Nadir Shah. The dignity and prestige of
the Mughal throne were thoroughly undermined after the
invasion.

“For sometime after Nadir Shah's departure, the
inhabitants of Delhi remained in a sort of stupor.” Says
Elphinstone. “They had not recovered from the terror of
the past, and the destruction of their fortunes : many of
their houses were in ruins ; much of the city was entirely
deserted, and the whole infected by the stench of the
bodies which still lay unburied in the streets. It was
not long after Nadir was gone that the court awoke
as if from a lethargy. The view of the empire which
presented itsef was as full of ruin and desola-
tion as the capital. The army was destroyed, the
treasury emptied, the finances all but annihilated ; the
Mahrattas still threatened on the south, and the only
provinces which had not been laid waste by
their ' ravages had now been destroyed by Nadir's
army.” Mvhammad Shah had no personality,. He de-
pended upon the great officers of the realm, Asaf Jah
Nizam-ul-Mulk, Saadat Khan, the viceroy of Oudh and
the Vizier Kamar-ud-Din, s cousin of Asaf Juh,
Saadat Khan died in this troublous time, and his kinsman
Safdar Jang became the viceroy of Oudh.  The
affairs in  the Deccan called away Asaf Jub
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{1741) from Dehi, and his place in- the
~court was filled by his son Ghazi-ud-Din who was the
.captain'geneml and paymaster of the forces. Ghazi-ud-
‘Din had married a daughter of the Vizier, and the two
“together belonging to - the Turanian party crushed the
-opposition of other factions, specially of the Persians.
“The existence of these factions was a curse as they
~were not afraid of committing the worst erimes in further-
ance of their objects. As the Deccan was governed- by the
" Nizam, and Oudh by Safdar, so Bengal became practi-
cally independent under another Turkman named Aliverdi
" Khan. A tribe of Afghans known as the Rohillas who
first - settled to the east of Oudh with Jaunpur as their
" centre occupied the country at the foot of the Kumaon
" Hills, ‘now called Rohilkhand. They had a leader named
Ali Muhammad, and became so troublesome that the
Ewperor had to go in person to quell them (1745), The Jats
fortified the -city of Bharatpur, and became formidable
under Suraj Mal. In the midst of these turmoil Todia
was again threatened in the north-west,

Invasions of Ahmad Shah Duwrrani,

Nadir Shah on his retreat from India” became very
violent and he was assassinated by his own men on
the 20th June, 1747, His throne was captured by an
Afghan pamed Ahmad Khan of the Abdali tribe. The

" new Shah changed the name of the tribe to Durrani
He came with his restless countrymen in searchi of wealth
and adventure. Immediately after his coronation he
subjugated the country west of the Indus. He came

36—17
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as far as Sirhind, and there he was opposed by Prince-
Ahmad Shah, and the Vizier Kamar-ud-Din. Although.
the Mughals succeeded in driving away the Afghans.
the Vizier was shot dead in his tent while he was praying..
The report of the death of this able minister so wmuch.
upset the Emperor that he could not survive the
shock. In the course of his lamentations he was seized:
by a convulsion, and passed away immediately (April 8,
174). |
The reign of his successor Ahmad Shah was short~
lived. The Afghans still threatened on the frontier..
The veteran Asaf Jah also died this year. Safdar
Jang, Viceroy of Oudh, was appointed Vizier. The
first event which engaged the attention of the Vizier-
was the rebellion of the Rohillas, who became so formi-
dable that he had to call in the aid of the Mahrattas..
Malhar ‘Rao Holkar and Jeiapa Sindhia were induced
to attack the Rohillas on promise of a subsidy, and on.
the defeat of the Rohillas the Mahrattas were authorised.
to levy their subsidy from the conquered country. In.
the subjugation of the Rohillas the Vizier also enlisted the
services of the Jatss.  When Safdar Jang was.
engaged in the Rohilla war Ahmad Shah Durrani.
demanded the cession of the Punjab, and the fecble:
Emperor had no other alternative but to submit. Safdar-
Jang on his return from Rohilkhand found that his
influence bad waned in the court and that a eunuch
named Jawid had become the favourite of the Emperor.
" He attempted to win back his authority by murdering
_the eunuch, but the Emperor made up his mind to-
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avenge this outrage by appointing Mir Sshabuddin, a
grandson of Asaf Jah, and son of Ghazi-ud-din, as the
commander-in-chief, With the help of Sahabuddin,
generally known as Ghazi-ud-Din IT Safdar Jang
was driven out, The capital witnessed a civil war
between tha parties, which was fanned by religious
differences, as the vizier was a Shia and Ghazi-ud-Din
was & Sunni. Ghazi-ud-Din enlisted the help of the
Mahrattas, and finding his position difficult Safdar
Jang retired to his own province of Oudh, to which
he added Allahabad. The Jats had helped Safdar Jang
in the civil war, and for this offence the young
commander-in-chief directed his own troops as well
as of the Mahrattas against them. The Emperor now
adopted the suicidal policy of supporting the Jats
againet his powerful minister, and marched out of
Delbi to join them, A letter written to Suraj Mal,
the Jat Chief, fell into the hands of Ghazi-ud-Din,
The Emperor in great alarm retreated towards Delhi,
where he was seized and murdered, and a younger
gon of Jahandar Shah with the title of Alamgir II
was placed upon the the throne (1753),

Shortly after the enthronement of Alampir Safdar
Jang died, and his son Shuja-ud-Daula succeeded him
as ruler of Oudh and Allahabad, Ghazi-ud-Din assumed
the position of the Vizier. The two rival parties
stopped their hostilities for some time but the people
became furious at the arbitrary rule of Ghazi-ud-Din.
The state of anarchy has been thus described by a
writer; '
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“The country was torn to pieces with civil wars, and
groaned under every species of domestic confusion :
villainy +was practised in every form; all law and
religion were trodden uader foot; the bonds of private
friendship and connections, as well as of society aud
government, were broken ; and every individual, as if
amidst a forest of wild beasts, could rely upon nothing
but the strength of his own arms.”

Ghazi-ud-Din’s administration became so iatolerable
that the Emperor sought relief by inviting Ahmad
Darrani. The young vizier tried to capture the
province of the Punjab on the death of Mir Mauny,
the son of the late vizier Kamar-ud-Din, Taking advan-
tage of the strong feclings against Ghazi-ud-Din Ahmad
egain came into India, occupied the Punjab and
advanced as far as Delhi. The Afghan left the
capital on recciving a large amount of mooey. His
visit to Delhi repeated the horrible scenes connected with
the pame of Nadir Shah. He sent Ghazi-ud-Din to levy
contributions from Shuja-ud-Daula, and himself pro-
ceeded against the Jats, and inhumanly slaughtered the
Hindus assembled to celebrate a religious festival at
Muttra. He also laid siege to Agra, but on accoaunt of the
intolerable heat of the summer returned with the
money he had exacted, At the request of Alamypir
for protection agaiost the unruly vizier he appointed
a Rohilla chief named Najib-ud-Daula a3 eommander-in-
chicf. This arrangement was upset by the Vizier, and he
invited the Mabrattas to help him iu carrying out bis
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plans, Ghazi-ud-Din marched with Raghoba upon Delhi,
and besieged the fort, Najib-ud-Daula was not sufficiently
strong to defend the Emperor, and managed to escape
by offering a bribe to Malhar Rao Holkar. The son
of the Emperor, Prince Ali Gauhar also glipped away
into a place of safety. Delhi now fell into the
hands of the Mahrattas. Raghoba marched. into the
Punjab at the invitation of Adina Beg, a deputy to
Mir Manou and drove the Afghans beyond the Indus,
{ May, 1758 ). The Mahratta influence has now reached
the zenith of its glory, They turned their atten-
tion to crush the Rohxllas, and also formed a plan of
invading Qudh in consultation with Ghazi-ud-Din. When
they “invaded Rohilkhand Shuja-ud-Daula in league
with the Rohillas defeated them. The report of the
approach of Ahmad Shah Durrani towards the Punjab
made them conclude peace with Shuja-ud-Daula. Ahmad
Shah did not however meet with any opposition from
the Mahrattas in his march .through the Punjab.
Alamgir once again sought the help of the Afghan
invader for a release from his state of bondage under
the Vizier. The unhappy Emperor invited his own
r'ui’n, a8 Ghazi-ud-Din now took the extreme measure
of assassinating him ( Nov. 10, 1759 ), The Mughal rule
in India came to. an end with the death of Alamgir,
His son Ali Gauhar, who assumed the title of Shah
Alam, never enjoyed the sovereign position. He ended,
his life. under the protection. of other peoples.  The
last man to enjoy the title of Emperor was DBahadur
Shah Who was taken as a prisoner by the Dritish
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during the mutiny of the Indian sepoys in 1857, and
removed to Rangoon, where he died.

Progress of the Mahrattas,

At the time of the death of Aurangzeb the Mah-
rattas were divided into two factions, Prince Azam
set Sahu, the son of Sambhuji, at liberty in order that
he might fight against Tara Bai, the widow of Raja
Ram, who was acting as the Regent of her infant son.
Zulfikar Khan was in favour of recognising the claims
of Sahu, but the Vizier Munim Khan supported Tara
Bai. So Bahadur Shah left the parties to adjust
their claims. During the civil war the Mabrattas did not
disturb the Mughal territories, Daud Khan Parni, the
deputy of Zulfikar Khan in the Decean agreed that
so long as he would be in charge of the Government of
the province he would pay the Chauth or fourth part
of the revenue to Raja Sahu, but the collections would
be made by his own agents. Tara Bai, however, gave
up the contest and retired to Kolhapur with her infant
son. Sivaji III died in 1712, and his step-brother
Sambhuji was recognised as his successor at Kolhapur,
On the removal of Daud Khan to Guzerat in 1713 the
relations between the Mahrattas and the Mughals again
became bitter, Bands of Mahrattas plundered the Mughal
territories. When Syed Husain Ali failed to crush the rising
tide of the Mahrattas, and when he found that his presence
was necessary at Delhi on account of the complicated
situation there he entered into a treaty with Raja Sabu
(1717 A. D.). He ngreed (1) to recognise Sahu as the
ruler of the territories belonging to Bivaji, aud the
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‘later conquests made by the Marhattas, (2) to make
-over all the forts within that tract to Sahu, (3) to allow
him to collect Chauth in the Deccan, and (4) to pay
-one-tenth of the remaining revenue as Sardeshmulhi.
‘Sahu on his part promised to pay a tribute of ten
‘lakhs of rupees, to supply a contingent of 15000 horse,
:and to maintain thé peace of the country and to
«defend it against inroads from outside. This was
-practically the graot of full independence,. which
Karrukhsiyar refused ¢o ratify., Husain Al marched
-with 10,000 Mahratta troops upon Delhi and with their
‘help brought about the ruin of the Emperor. On the
“fall of the Syed brothers Asaf Jah employed them agamst
'his enemies at Delhi,

It was the policy of Asaf.Jah durmg his first' ad-
‘ministration of the Deccan (1715-16 A. D) to help
:Sambhuji against Sahu, but the latter had in the mean-
‘time organised bis Government with the assistance of -
Balaji Viswanath, Balaji was a Brahman from Konkan,
and was a hereditary accountant. He was a cunning
politician and able financier. Sahu obtained an accession.
-of enormous strength by his able management. He pro-
-moted kim .to the position of the Peshwa, which was
‘next in rank to that of the Pratinidhi. It was Balaji
who «carried on negotiations with Husain Al and
‘proceeded with his Mahratta contingents to Delhi, On
‘the death of Farrukhsiyar he got the treaty ratified by
‘his successor Muhammad Shah {1720), and thereby se-
cured the position of Sahu in the Decean. He died in
October of the same year, and was succeeded by his son
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Baji Rao to the office of the Peshwa and the Jeadership of
Maharashtra.,

Balaji Viswanath consolidated the power of the
Mahrattas over the whole of the Deccan. He made the
Mughals recognise their claims to Chauth and Sardesh-
mukhi as legal. By a clever distribution of the
revenues among the different chiefs he tried to reduee
their powers so that no one might become t®0 power-
ful. The method of calculating the share of the chiefs
required the services of able accountants, and as
Brahmans were ‘more fitted for this work than others,
the arrangement helped indirectly the growth of his
own influence.

His son Baji Rao was a consummate statesman with
a powerful imagination. “Unlike his cold-blooded
brethren of the priestly class, his temper was ardent
and his maoner frank,” says Elphinstone, “he never
flinched from fatigue or danger, and would make a
meal of dry grain rubbed out of the husks between
his hands as he rode along on a march” He realised
the necessity of an efficient army for maintaining pood
government and order in his owa country. The Mah-
ratta predatory hordes would be a source of great
danger unless they were employed against the Mughals
jn the north. He therefore formed the plsn of extend-
ing the dominions of the Mahrattas beyond the Nerbada.
As a keen observer he saw that the Empire was in the
process of dissolution. “Let us strike the withered trunk’”
gaid he, “and the branches will fall of themsclves.”
Sahu approved of his plan, and in allowing him to
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carry the standard he said “you shall plant it on the
Himalaya” Within a short time Baji Rao made the-
Governor of Guzerat agree to pay Chauth and Sardesh-..
mukhi from that province. Asaf Jah . tried to. create
dissension in the Mahratta camp by . withholding the
anoual tribute till Sahu and . Sambhuji,  could prove

as to whom the ~payment should be made. Baji Rao-
then marched upon. Burhanpur, and when he . was:
opposed by the combined troops of Asaf Jah and Sambhuji

he turned against Guzerat, and after ravaging the country

came down upon Asaf Jah, who placed in a difficult predi--
cament gave up the claims of Sambhuji (1727 A. D)
Shortly after this Sambhuji adknowledged the claims of
Sahu to the whole of the Mahratta country except

Kolhapur. Asaf Jah attempted another division in the-:
cauwp by inciting the Senapati Dabari aginst Baji - Rao..
Dabari was defeated near Baroda and killed  and his

infant son who was granted the right of collecting . the-...
Mabratta dues ' in  Guzerat was placed urder the .
tutelage of Pilaji Gaikwar, the founder of the present

Gaikwar family, About this time Malhar Rao Holkar

who was originally a shepherd and Ranaji Sindhia.
a- menial servant of Baji Rao rose to high offices and
gradually became important chiefs in the Mahratta -
confederacy. - The Mughal Emperor tried to cheek .
the progress of -the Mahrattas. by. appointing Abhai .
Singh of Jodhpur as governer of Guzernt and Jai Sing
of Ambar as governor of Malawa, but. Baji..Rao-
defeated both the chiefs, and - established his authority

in their provinces, The Emperor was compelled to concede-
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the right to levy tribute on the Rajputs and from the
Decean, with a view to create hostilities between Asaf
Jah and the Mahrattas. About this time Asaf Jah was
invited to Delhi, and Baji Rao also proceeded towards
it-and reached the outskirts of the capital in rapid
marches. Asaf Jah now combined with Saadat Khan
came to the rescue of the Emperor. Baji Rao hastily
etreated towards the Deccan, where he was required
-on account of other affairs. (1737 A. D) Asaf Jah
followed him with a strong army, but he was so attacked
by the Mahrattas near Bhopal that his retreat became
-difficult. He was then oblizged to make terms with
Baji Rao and agreed to cede to him all ‘the country
from the Nerbada to the Chambal including Malwa
{1738). The confirmation of this grint was delayed by
‘the visitation of the Persian invader Nadir Shah. Baji Rao
proposed that the Hindus and Musalmans should form a
league against their common foe. But on the withdrawal
-of Nadir Shah he devoted his attention to the affairs
in the Deccan. The Gaikwar of Guzerat, and the
Bhonsla of Berar were then thinking of overthrowing
his authority, which danger Baji Rao averted by sending
‘the Bhonsla in an expedition to the Carnatic. Dut he
was defeated by Nasir Jang, the son of Asaf Jah in
-an engagement near Burbanpur and was compelled to
offer terms of settlement. He was also embarrassed in
the Konkan on account of the hostilities of the pirate
Angria, the Abyssinians of Janjira, and the Portuguese.
His brother Chimnaji, inspite of wvery vigorous action,
failed to crush them. In the midst of these troubles
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Baji Rao died on his way "to Hindustan (April, 1740).
He was succeeded by his son Balaji Rao.

The third Peshwa Balaji Rao had to meet the
-opposition of the other chiefs such as Raghuji Bhonsla,
and Damaji Gaikwar. Raghuji encroached upon the
Peshwa’s rights by exacting tributes north of the
Nerbada, Balaji got his rights to the collection in
Hindustan except Guzerat confirmed by Raja Sahu
He then marched through the territory assigned to him,
but turned back when Damaji Gaikwar invaded Malwa.
Damaji however had no interest of his own. He tried
to make a diversion in favour of Raghuji who went
as far as ' Bengal, and along with his minister Bhaskar
Pandit attacked Aliverdi Khan, the Governor of
Beogal. Aliverdi asked the help of the Emperor to
ward off the Mahratta attack. The Emperor finding it
difficult to deal with the situation set Balaji Rao
-against Raghuji, by confirming the grant of Malwa to
‘him. Balaji marched by way of Allahabad and Behar
-and forced Raghuji to retire from Bengal. According to
the directions of the Emperor Aliverdi Khan paid the
arrears of the revenue of Bengal as the cost of the expe-
dition. On his return from Bengal Rughuji in conjunction
with Damaji marched upoun Satara. The danger was consi-
dered 5o very great that Balaji had to satisfy Raghuji by
onceding the right to levy tribute in Bengal and Behar
(1744 A. D). By adopting this policy Raghuji was
kept busy in Bengal, and Balaji could carry out his
own plan in Mabarashtra  uninterfered. Raghuji’s
minister Bhaskar Pandit was murdered by Aliverdi
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Khan (1643}, and for a time the Malrattas were driven
out of Bengal, but ultmately the Nawab had to pur-
chase peace by ceding. Cuttack and promising to pay an-
nually twelve lakhs of rupees out. of the revenues of
Bengal as Chanth (1751 A. D.)

. The, situation in the Deccan at the time was in a
state of confusion on account of the death of Asaf Jah
in 1748, and that of Raja Sahu the next year. The death
of Asaf Jah led to a war of succession, jn which the-
Luropean merchants of Madras and Pondicherry inter-
fered. For a time the French influence predominated in
the Deccan, In Maharashtra the Peshwa Balaji got the
Government transferred to him, only that he had
to  maintain the royal ftitle in the family
of Sivaji by recognising the grandson of Tara Bai as
Raja with the title of Ram Raja. Raghuji supported
Balaji who also secured the loyalty of Sindhia and
Holkar by assigning the revenue of Malwa to them.
The only chief who did not accept the arrangement was
Damaji Gaikwar. Henceforth Poona became the head-
quarters of the Mahratta confederaey with the Peshwa
at the head, and the titular Raja sack into insignificance.
Tara Bai engincered a rebellion in  conjunction with
Damaji Gaikwar, but Dalaji by a clever trick sccured
the person of Damaji and thereby averted the danger.
He was however soon involved in another trouble.
He supported the cause of Ghazi-ud-Din the eldest son
of Asaf Jah against his third son Salabat Jang who
had established his authority in the Decean with the
help of the French. He marched into the Nizam’s
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territory when he was called away by thie rébg]lion of
“Tara Bai and the Gaikwar. Salabat Jang accompanied
by M. Bussy now invaded Maharashtra, and -advanced
40 within twenty miles of Poona. Finding "that the
invaders formed a league with Tara Bai, Balaji was
prepared to conclude a peace when the - Nizam - left
the attack on account of financial diffiulties, Raghuji
Bhonsla on the other hand occupied Gawailgarh -and
Narnala in Berar belonging to the Nizam' so ~ Salabat
Jang was compelled to accept  an armistice - and to
withdraw, - ‘ N

About this time the Mahrattas ‘ were mv1ted by
Safdar Jang of Oudh to fight against the Rohillas who
were threatening his territories, With the help of
the Holkar and the Sindhia and Raja Suraj Mal . of
the Jats the Rohillas were driven towards the hills.
‘The Mahrattas were compensated by the right tolevy
their subsidy from the conquered territory. ‘The vizier
however wag soon involved in a civil war with Ghazi-ud-
Din II, the grandson of Asaf Jah, who had secured the
alliance of the Mahrattas, With their assistance Ghazi-
-ud-Din-brought pressure upon the Jats -and captured
the  LEwmperor - Ahmad : Bhah - who 'made an
attempt to release himself' from the control of
his minister. The King was blinded, and Alamgir = II
was raised to the throne. On the death of Safdar
Jang Ghazi-ud-Din became the Vizier (1754). Shortly
afterwards Ahmad 8hah Durrani came on his third
expedition. At the request of Alamgir he appointed
the Rohilla chief Najib-ud-Daula as the commander-in-
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chief with a view to reduce the authority of
Ghazi-ud-Din who now applied to the Mahrattas for
help. Balaji had released Damaji Gaikwar, who along
with the Peshwa’s brother Rayhoba brought the province
of Guzerat under subjection. Raghoba also establizhed
the authority of the Mahrattasin the Rajput states as
well as Malwva. He came to the rescue of Ghazi-ud-
Diu, and helped him to occupy Delhi The situation
in the Punjab allured the Mahratta general. He occupied
Lahore, and drove the Durranis from the Punjab in
1758. On the death of Adina Beg whom the Mahrattas
came to restore to power, a Mahratta was appointed
Governor of the Province. Another Mahratta army
under Dataji Sindhia pursued Najib-ud-Daula to his
retreat. The Mahrattas had now spread their influence
throughout India. The Musalman chiefs, in conster-
nation formed a combination. Shuja~ud-Daula forgot
his hostilities with the Rohillas, and marched against
the Mahrattas. He drove them to the other sida of the
Ganges, and forced them to come to terms, ( November,
1759 ). Dataji Sindhia submitted to their terms on
account of the advent of Ahmad Shah Abdali for the
the fourth time. The Afghan invader easily occupied
the Punjab, crushed Dataji Sindhia in an engagement,
and defeated Malhar Rao Holkar,

The Third Battle of Panipat.

The forward policy of Raghoba cost the Mahrattas
heavily, Sadasheo Rao Bhao, the cousin of the Peshwa
was now his chief adviser. Raghoba preferred to
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remain at home if the Bhao undertook the next expedi--
tion. The situation in the north was leading to a.
crisis. Ahmad Shah Durrani after driving the Mahrattas
from the Punjab, and the neighbourhood of Delhi,.
occupied the capital, and then marched into the friendly
territory of the Rohillas where he took up his-
position at  Anupsahar.  The  Rohilla  chief’
Najib Khan played an important part in shaping the-
trend of events. With the help of the powerful Afghan.
invader he wanted to crush the Mahrattas, and there-
by ruin the chances of the Hindus to obtain supremacy.-
He appealed to the other Moslem chiefs to join the-
banner of Ahmad Shah. He went to Shuja-ud-Doula,.
the Nawab Vizier of Qudh to persuade him to espouse
the Musalman cause, He tried to convince the Nawab.
who was a Shia that Shia or Sunni all Moslems were-
alike the object of Mahratta enmity. The Nawab ac~
cepted the advice of Najib, and joined the Shah at.
Anupsahar, o

Sadasheo Rao Bhao summoned all the chiefs in de--
fence of their common cause. He received the fulli
support of the Holkar, the Sindhia, the Gaikwar, many
Rajput Chiefs and Raja Suraj Mal of Bharatpur..
“Hinduism was uniting for a grand effort” says Keene.
“Islam was rallied into cohesion by the necessity of
resistance.” Bhao made preparations for a gigantic
operation. The Peshwa's youthful son Viswas Rao
was placed in charge of the army, but the Bhao-
was the real commander of the forces. He took
with him the pick of the Mahratta army consisting of
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*20,000 cavalry, and a trained army of 10,000 men under
Ibrahim Khan Gardi. Ibrahim bad learnt the method
-of modern warfare from M. Bussy, and Sadasheo Rao
“in disregard of the past traditions of the Malrattas
-assumed the pomp and splendour of the Mughals, and
determined to engage in open war with the help- of
his artillery. and trained infantry, Ile was joined on
the way by the other Mahratta chiefs, and Suraj Mal
' who came with 30,000 Jats. Both ' Suraj Mal aud
‘Holkar advised the Bhao to leave his park of heavy
.artillery, infantry and‘ heavy baggage in some
strong ‘place as Jhansi or Gwalior, and to harass
the enemy according to the old Mahratta method, till
" the Afghans left India. Tha Bhao rejected this advice
and marched upon Delhi which was held by a small
garrison, Here he let loose his spirit of rapacity,
plundered the palaces, tombs and shrines, and removed
the silver ceiling of the Diwan-i-Khas, which yielded
him scventeen lakhs of rupees. Suraj Mal protested
against these acts of vandalism, and when the DBhao
-did not listen to his protests he withdraw to his own
country,

The Shah had in the meantime moved from Anupsahar
and encamped at Shahdara on the Jumna on the op-
posite side of Delhi. The Bhao opened negotiations
with Shuja-ud-Daula through Kasi Raj Dandit who
was then in the serwice of Shuju. Sadusheo Rao pro-
posed that the country might be partitioned. The
Nawab-Vizier consulted Najib Khan and the Shah
about these terms, but before they could come to any
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decision the Bhao moved up the river -and invaded
Kunjpura about eighty miles from Delhi. - The Afghans
could not cross the Jumpba on acciunt of the
floods. But moved up and crossed the: river  at
Baghpat 24 miles north of Delhi. The Afghans now
occupied a position between the Mahrattas and Delhi,
and thus eut them off from their base. The Mahrattas
then marched northwards =and reached the plains of
Panipat. In this historic battle-field of India the Mah-
rattas encamped, and entrenched themselves by a broad
ditch, twelve feet deep and sixty feet wide. The guns
were mounted upon a rampart round the camp. Ahmad
Shah took up his position four miles to the South.
The Mahratta army was oumerically superior to the
Afghans ; there were 55,000 ecavalry, 15,000 predatory
horse and 15,000 infantry, with innumerable followers,
making the total not less than 300,000, Ahmad Shah .
had about 40,000 Afghans and Persians, and 13,000:
Indian horse-soldiers with an infantry of about 38,000
Indians. . The arwies did not come to any open conflict
for two months, During this period they indulged in
skirmishes and desultory attacks through which both
sides suffered. Pickets were placed by'_both parties.
A party of Mahrattas carrying bags of gold and silver
from Delhi was cut up on the way, as also a party
of 3000 Rohillas was destroyed. The soldiers . on
both sides demanded an immediate engagement.
Gradually Ahmad Shah extended a cordon round the
Mahrattas and threw a blockade round them. The
Mahrattas were cut off from their supplies, and the

37118
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soldiers uoder Ibrahim Khan Gardi became clamorous
for pay. In these circumstances Sadasheo Rao again
tried to negotiate terms with Shuja-ud-Daula. Both
Shuja and Abmad Shah were willing to come to terms,
but Najib was obdurate. He impressed upon the
Moslem chiefs that as soon as Ahmad Shah would leave
India they would be ruined by the Mahrattas. In the
shivering cold of January the Mahrattas could not stand
any more privations. Their resources were exhausted,
they had not tasted food for two days, and they
represented to the Bhao that they were ready to die
fighting and not to die of hunger. They resolved in
the night of the 6th January, 1761, to make the last
attempt. They would either drive away the invaders
or perish in the attempt. The Bbao wrote to Kasi
Raj Pandit: “The cup is full to the brim, and canaot
hold another drop. If ansthing can be done, do it
If not, let me know plainly and at once, for afterwards
there will be no time for writing or for speech.”

The note was handed to the Pandit at 3 am. and
when he was communicating it to Shuja-ud-Daula,
news reached the camp that the Mabrattas were on
their way to attack. The Shah was at once informed
and when he was speaking to Kasi Raj Pandit the news
was confirmed by a volley of fire from the Mahmitta camp.
Orders were issued to get ready for a general engage-
ment in the dawn.

The Mahrattas prepared for a deadly fight by taking
the last morsel of grain available in the camp. They
put off their turbans and smeared their faces with
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turmeric and marched from their lines like the devotees
of death. . They placed their guns in the front, with the
Bhao and Viswas Rao in the centre. The left wing
was led by Ibrahim Khan Gardi, and the right by
Holkar and Sindhia. On the side of the Shah the left
was in charge of Najib-ud-Daula, and the left-centre of
Shuja-ud-Danla, and the Shab’s Wazir Shah Wali,
The right centre consisted of the Rohillas under Hafiz
Rahmat Khan, and the other Indian Pathan chiefs.
The Shah directed the operation from a red tent behind
the lines.

The Mahratttas advanced as soon as they found
sufficient light to see things. Ibrahim Khan Gardi with
his diséiplined troops scattered the Rohillas and the
Bhao charged fiercely the left-centre under the Wazir
Shah Wali. Shuja-ud-Daula remained stationary, as he
was not inclined to fight against the Mahrattas. The
Wazir in his great distress sent a message to Shuja-
ud-Daula to support him immediately, but for which he
would perish. Shuja still remained unmoved. Najib-ud
Daula was hard pressed by the Sindhia. When the
Shah saw the critical position of his lines he sent
500 of his body-guards to drive all able-bodied
men out of camp and another 1500 he employed
to cut off the way of those who were away. THe
sent these troops with 4000 from his reserve to
support the Rohillag, and 1000 troops were sent to
reinforce the ranks of Shah Wali, The Wazir was
directed to charge the Bhao and the Mabratta centre in
close order and at full gallop, while Shah Pasand
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the chief of the staff, and Najib-ud-Daula were to
attack the flanks. The progress of the war is thus
described by Keene on the authority of Kasi Raj Pandit,
the most reliable witness of the events :

“The forward movement of the Moslems began at
one pm. The fight was close and obstinate; men fighting
with swords, spears, axes and even with daggers. DBet-
ween 2 and 3 pm. the Peshwa’s son was wouided
and having fallen from his horse, was placed upon an
elephant. The last thing seen of the Bhao was his
dismounting from the elephant and getting on his Arab
charger. Soon after the young chief was slain, The
next moment, Holkar and the Gaikwar left the field,
In that instant resistance ceased, and the Mahrattas all
at once became helpless victims of butchery. Thous-
ands were cut down; other thousands were drowned
in escaping, or were slaughtered by the country people
whom they had so long pillaged. ~The Shah, and his
principal commanders, then retired to camp, leaving the
pursuit to be completed by subordinate officers. [Forty
thousand prisoucrs are said to have been slain.  Among
_ the prisoners was Ibrahim, the valiant and skilful
leader of the Gardis. Though severcly wounded, he
was taken care of in  Shuja’s tents, and his wonnds
received surgical atteotion. Shuja also endeavoured
to extend protection to the head of the house of
Sindhia.” But neither Ibrahim Gardi nor Janakji
Sindhia could be saved from the barbarities of the
Shah. A headless trunk believed to be that of the
Bhao was found about twenty miles off. It has been
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-estimated 'that the total loss on the side of the Mahrat-
tas was about 200,000 slain. The result. of the war
was reported to' the Peshwa in metaphors : “Two
pearls have been dissolved, twenty-seven gold mohurs
have been lost, and ~of the silver and copper

the total cannot be cast up” The Pesiwa
did not survive the shock. He died Broken-heart’ed in
a temple wear Poona. " Amongst ‘those Who managed to
escape was' Malh " Rao Holkar; ‘Mahdsji Sindhia, and
Nana Fadnavis, The wreck of the great Mahiatta army
-erossed the Nerbada and the Mahratta acquisitions in’
Hindusthan had ‘to be abandoned. On the death of the
Peshwa Ralaji Rao the Mahratta confederacy lost its
importanace. The last-effort of the - Hindus to regain
their political supremacy thus erided in a disaster. The
Moslem chiefs on the other hand failed to profit by this’
victory. The troops of Ahmad Shah became mutinous’
.and demanded ' payment of their arrears for two years'
past, and insisted” upon immediate Teturn to Kabul.
Shuja-ud-Daula who did not take any active part in the
‘battle returned to his own province. The absent’ Shah
Alam was recognised by the Emperor, and Najib-ud~
‘Daula - became * the regent of - his son. The " battle
not only brought about the ruin of the Hindus, but
paved the way for an easy conquest of the country by
the foreigners who had already interested themselves in
thie affairs of the provinecial governments; At the battld
«of Plassey in 1757 the English drove Siraj-ud-Dauld
-out’ of Bengal, and placed a puppet Nawab in his place,
In the south they were still struggling with the Frenchi
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for an opportunity to control the government of the two
Moslem states. Thus the .great empire which the
Mughal . monarchs built with so much industry was
smashed almost in the twinkling of an eye. Panipat once
again decided the fate of India.

The land-marks of the Mughal Rule.

The Mughals were in power much longer than any
other Moslem dynasty. The early rulers were brave
soldiers, and wise administrators. Akbar was a
statesman of rare ability and built up an empire with
the loose and weak states of India. His work was
spoiled by his short-sighted successors who did not pay
sufficient attention to the stability of Government, or
to the promotion of the welfare of the people. The
monarchs who, occupied the throne were weak in Dbody
as well as in intellect. The government of the country
depended upon -personal character. So long as a
monarch possessed military skill, or strong personal
influence he could maintain his power. Inepite of all
their defects the Mughals have left their indelible marks
upon the history of India.

The first thing that India bas got from them is
their system of administration. Some of the features
of the Mughal rule still persist. The land revenue system,
the divisions of the country into Subshs and Sarkars,
collection of revenue both in coin and in kind were
Vistinet improvements upon the old state of things, “The

“ghal rulers laid out extensive gardeus, built splendid

Yes, mosques and tombs, constructed good roads, and
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excavated canals for the improvement of agriculture.
They built beautiful cities and strong forts. Many of
their works may be still seen. As the rulers showed
their love of pomp and sense of beauty in these edifices
they encouraged the development of artistic faculties.
Painting received a new impetus under them, music
and literature made great progress. It was in the
reizo of Aurangzeb that they received a set-back. Al-
though Persian was the court langusge Akbar promo-
ted Sanskrit learning. His great-grandson Dara trans-
lated mauy valuable books into Persian. The attempt
to bridge the gulf between the two great cultures was
frustrated by the relizious zeal of the orthodox.
But inspite of these difficulties in the way of a synthe-
,sis there is no doubt that the thought-currents of the
people were greatly influenced by the contact The
verpacular literaturez of the different provinces in
this period show how Islam contributed to the growth
of new ideas. The Bhakti movement started in Bengal
received a new impulse, as did the monotheistic move-
ment of the Sikhs in the Punjab. The Bengali Hindi,
Panjabi, and Marathi all the principal languages of
Tudia prodaced many thoughtful works. Kasi Ram
Das in Bengal, Tulsi Das in Hindustan, or Tuka Ram
in Maharashtra are still considered as writers
of great eminence, The blind poet Sur Das lived io
Agra anod his hymos bave been collected as Sur Sagor,
Tulsi Das (1532-1624) the author of Ram-charit-
manas was the greatest poet of Northern India. Tuka
" Ram (1608-1649) wrote his Abhangs from the very core
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of his heart. His songs are so very popular with the
Mahrattas that they can be heard anywhere, among
the educated as well as the uneducated. Besides the
growth of Chaitanya literature in Bengal we find a
pew literatare connected with Chandi, the conception
of God as mother. The songs of Ram Prosad (1718-
78, a saint and poet tell us the growth of a decply
devotional spirit in Bengal. All these things indicate
that the spirit of the Indians was not crushed under the
strong government of the Mughals. The Indian civiliza-
tion was revivified, and one thing more we find in
Northern India is the growth of the Urdu as the
common medium of expression between the Hindus
.and * Musalmans. The Hindus who accepted service
under the Moslem rulers, learnt Persian with perfection,,
and interpreted the spirit of Islam and Islamic literature
to their fellow-believers, The industries - developed
under the patronage of the rulers, and agriculture
prospered. The European merchants came to India
in  expectation of good trade. The conditions of the
peasants in villages was not very enviable, but there
i8 evidence to believe that they were not very miserable.
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